
 

 

 

 
Saltash Town Council 

Konsel An Dre Essa  
 

The Guildhall 
12 Lower Fore Street 

Saltash 
PL12 6JX 

Telephone: 01752 844846 
www.saltash.gov.uk 

 

6 September 2023 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
I write to summon you to the Meeting of Policy and Finance Committee to be held 
at the Guildhall on Tuesday 12th September 2023 at 6.30 pm. 
 
The meeting is open to members of the public and press.  Any member of the public 
requiring to put a question to the Town Council must do so by 12 noon the day 
before the meeting either by email to enquiries@saltash.gov.uk or sent to The 
Guildhall, 12 Lower Fore Street, Saltash PL12 6JX. Please provide your full name 
and indicate if you will be present at the meeting.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
S Burrows 
Town Clerk 
 
To: 

Essa Tamar Trematon 

R Bickford 
J Brady 
R Bullock 
J Foster 
M Griffiths 
S Lennox-Boyd 

J Dent 
S Gillies 
S Martin 
L Mortimore 
J Peggs 
P Samuels (Vice-
Chairman) 

S Miller (Chairman) 
B Samuels 
B Stoyel 
D Yates 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.saltash.gov.uk/
mailto:enquiries@saltash.gov.uk


 

 

Agenda 
 
1.   Health and Safety Announcements.   

 
2.   Apologies.   

 
3.   Declarations of Interest:   

a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of the 
Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in matters to be 
considered at this meeting. 

 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to the start 

of the meeting for consideration. 
 

4.   Questions - A 15-minute period when members of the public may ask questions 
of Members of the Council.   
 
Please note: Any member of the public requiring to put a question to the Town 
Council must do so by 12 noon the day before the meeting. 
 

5.   To receive and approve the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee held 
on 11th July 2023 as a true and correct record.  (Pages 5 - 20) 
 

6.   To note that all accounts and bank accounts are reconciled up to July.   
 

7.   To note that petty cash reconciled up to July.   
 

8.   To receive and note a report on VAT.  (Page 21) 
 

9.   To receive and note a report on investments.  (Pages 22 - 23) 
 

10.   To note that an audit on recent supplier payments was conducted by the 
Chairman of Policy & Finance in line with the Town Councils Financial 
Regulations. There are no discrepancies to report.   
 

11.   To receive the current STC and Committee budget statements and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure.  (Pages 24 - 36) 
 

12.   To receive a report from the Finance Officer and consider any actions and 
associated expenditure.  (Pages 37 - 39) 
 

13.   To receive a report on insurance claims and consider any actions and 
associated expenditure.  (Page 40) 
 

14.   To receive the Town Council Insurance Policy Renewal and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure.  (Pages 41 - 178) 
 

15.   To receive the Town Clerks report on delegated authority to spend and consider 
any actions and associated expenditure.   
 

Page 2



 

 

16.   To consider Risk Management reports as may be received.   
 

17.   To receive reports on funding awarded and consider any actions and associated 
expenditure:   
 

 a.   CC268  Saltash Old Cornwall Society.  (Page 179) 
 

 b.   CC269 Saltash United Football Club.  (Page 180) 
 

 c.   FF114 Saltash Sea Shanty Festival.  (Pages 181 - 195) 
 
 

18.   To receive the recommended Draft Allotment Policy and consider any actions.  
(Pages 196 - 207) 
 

19.   To receive amendments to existing Town Council policies and consider any 
actions:   
 

 a.   Communications;  (Pages 208 - 214) 
 

 b.   Protocol for Member Officer Relations;  (Pages 215 - 224) 
 

 c.   Standing Orders.  (Page 225) 
 
 

20.   To receive and note quarterly reports for the Commissioning of Professional 
Youth Work in Saltash:   
 

 a.   The Core;  (Pages 226 - 228) 
 

 b.   Livewire;  (Pages 229 - 230) 
 
 

21.   To receive reports from Working Groups and Outside Bodies:   
  

 a.   Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group;   
 

 b.   Saltash Team For Youth;   
 

 c.   Section 106 Panel.   
 
 

22.   Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960:   
To resolve that pursuant to Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies (Admission to 
meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the meeting because of the 
confidential nature of the business to be transacted. 
 

23.   To consider any items referred from the main part of the agenda.   
 
 

Page 3



 

 

24.   Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960:   
To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting. 
 

25.   To consider urgent non-financial items at the discretion of the Chairman.   
 

26.   To confirm any press and social media releases associated with any agreed 
actions and expenditure of the meeting.   
 

Date of Next Meeting: Tuesday 31 October 2023 at 6.30 pm 

Page 4



1122 

SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of the Policy and Finance Committee held at the 
Guildhall on Tuesday 11th July 2023 at 6.30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Councillors: R Bickford, J Brady, R Bullock, J Dent, S Gillies, 

S Martin, S Miller (Chairman), L Mortimore, B Samuels, 
P Samuels (Vice-Chairman), B Stoyel and D Yates. 

 
ALSO PRESENT: 1 Member of the Public, S Burrows (Town Clerk), W Peters 

(Finance Officer) and M Thomas (Senior Policy and Data 
Compliance Officer). 

 
APOLOGIES: M Griffiths and J Peggs. 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 
30/23/24 HEALTH AND SAFETY ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

 
The Chairman informed those present of the actions required in the 
event of a fire or emergency. 
 
 

31/23/24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: 
 
a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of 

the Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in 
matters to be considered at this meeting. 
 
 

Councillor Agenda 
Item 

Pecuniary/Non-
Pecuniary 

Reason Left 
Meeting 

P Samuels 17a Non-Pecuniary Presenter on the 
radio station. 

Yes 

B Samuels 17a Non-Pecuniary Husband is 
presenter on the 

radio station. 

Yes 

L Mortimore 15b Non-Pecuniary Chair of 
Summerfields 

Play. 

Yes 

 
 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to 

the start of the meeting for consideration. 
 
None. 

 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



1123 

32/23/24 QUESTIONS - A 15-MINUTE PERIOD WHEN MEMBERS OF THE 
PUBLIC MAY ASK QUESTIONS OF MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL. 
 
None received.  
 
 

33/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY AND 
FINANCE COMMITTEE HELD ON 10TH MAY 2023 AS A TRUE AND 
CORRECT RECORD. 
 
Please see a copy of the minutes on the STC website or request to see 
a copy at the Guildhall. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance 
Committee held on 10th May 2023 were confirmed as a true and correct 
record. 
 
 

34/23/24 TO NOTE THAT ALL ACCOUNTS AND BANK ACCOUNTS ARE 
RECONCILED UP TO 31ST MAY 2023. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

35/23/24 TO NOTE THAT PETTY CASH IS RECONCILED UP TO 30TH JUNE 
2023. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

36/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE A REPORT ON VAT. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

37/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE A REPORT ON INVESTMENTS. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

38/23/24 TO NOTE THAT AN AUDIT ON RECENT SUPPLIER PAYMENTS 
WAS CONDUCTED BY THE CHAIRMAN OF POLICY & FINANCE IN 
LINE WITH THE COUNCILS FINANCIAL REGULATIONS.  THERE 
ARE NO DISCREPANCIES TO REPORT. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 
 

Page 6



1124 

39/23/24 TO RECEIVE THE CURRENT STC AND COMMITTEE BUDGET 
STATEMENTS AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note the Town Clerk update on budget reports. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Martin and 
resolved to RECOMMEND to the Burial Authority Committee, Services 
Committee and Library Sub Committee to consider the virement of 
funds to bring budgets back within the set expenditure at their next 
available meeting. 
 
 

40/23/24 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM THE FINANCE OFFICER AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

41/23/24 TO RECEIVE THE TOWN CLERKS REPORT ON DELEGATED 
AUTHORITY TO SPEND AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND 
ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
 

42/23/24 TO CONSIDER RISK MANAGEMENT REPORTS AS MAY BE 
RECEIVED. 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



1125 

43/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING COMMITTEES 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
a. Burial Authority held on 23rd May 2023 

 
RECOMMENDATION 1 
 
11/23/24 TO RATIFY THE AMENDMENT TO CHURCHTOWN 
FEES AND CHARGES AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND 
ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Lennox-Boyd, seconded by Councillor 
Dent and resolved to RECOMMEND to the Policy and Finance 
Committee to ratify the Town Clerk’s amendment to Churchtown 
Fees and Charges.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor Bullock 
and RESOLVED to approve the above Burial Authority 
recommendation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



1126 

RECOMMENDATION 2 
 
12/23/24 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON CHURCHTOWN 
CEMETERY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND REGULATIONS AND 
CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
1. It was proposed by Councillor Bullock, seconded by Councillor 

Lennox-Boyd and RESOLVED to defer the question of 
maintenance at Churchtown Cemetery to the next meeting of The 
Burial Authority Committee on 7th November 2023.  Maintenance 
to be discussed in conjunction with the review of Fees and 
Charges for Churchtown Cemetery. 
 

2. It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor 
Bullock and resolved to RECOMMEND to Policy and Finance to 
approve the following additions to the Churchtown Cemetery 
Management Policy and Regulations in regard to grave markers 
as follows: 
 

Additional sections 4.3.5., 4.3.6. and 4.3.7. Management Policy 
and Regulations: 
 
4.3.5. Grave markers such as wooden crosses with plaques may 
be placed on a grave or cremation plot at the time of an interment 
at the discretion of the Town Council.  Such markers are 
temporary and are allowed in the interval between the interment 
and the installation of a memorial, which would normally take 
place within 12 months.   
 
4.3.6. If there are no family members remaining, the person 
arranging the interment may also organise for a marker to be 
placed on the grave or cremation plot.  Thereafter however, only 
the Town Council or the owner of the EROB may authorise work 
in connection with markers.  Only the owner of the EROB may 
authorize the installation of a permanent memorial. 
 
4.3.7. Usually, the Town Council would not remove a marker after 
12 months should there be no memorial stone. However, the 
Town Council may remove it if they so wish. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor 
Bullock and resolved to RECOMMEND to Full Council to be held 
on 3rd August 2023 to approve the above Burial Authority 
recommendation.  
 
Councillor Mortimore declared an interest in the next agenda item 
and left the meeting. 

 
 
 

Page 9



1127 

b. Services Committee held on 8th June 2023: 
 
RECOMMENDATION 1  
 
40/23/24 TO CONSIDER PLAY PARK MATCH FUNDING 
APPLICATIONS: 
 
Application Number Organisation         Amount Requested 
PPMF001                       Summerfields Play        £10,000 
 
Councillor Mortimore declared an interest in the agenda item.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Bickford, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED for Councillor Mortimore to remain in the 
room to answer questions on the application only. 
 
Members asked questions and discussed the application received 
and circulated within the reports pack. 
 
Councillor Mortimore left the meeting. 
 
Members further discussed the application and the funding that had 
been raised to date. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor B Samuels, seconded by Councillor 
Miller and resolved to RECOMMEND to the Policy and Finance 
Committee to be held on 11th July 2023 to award match funding up 
to £10,000 subject to Summerfields Play Park confirming funds 
raised and available five days prior to the above Policy and Finance 
Committee meeting taking place. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor P Samuels, seconded by Councillor 
Dent and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation.  
 
Councillor Mortimore was invited and returned to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



1128 

c. Personnel Committee held on 29th June 2023: 
 
RECOMMENDATION 1 
 
29/23/24 TO REVIEW EMPLOYMENT LAW TRAINING FOR 
MEMBERS OF THE PERSONNEL COMMITTEE AND CONSIDER 
ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Miller 
and RESOLVED to approve Members of the Personnel Committee, 
the Chairman of the Town Council and the Town Clerk to attend 
Employment Law training on Wednesday 26th July 2023 delivered by 
HR Support Consultancy. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Miller 
and resolved to RECOMMEND at the next Policy and Finance 
Committee meeting approval for Employment Law training cost of 
£450 allocated to budget code 6213 Councillor Training and 
Expenses. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Miller 
and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 2 
 
30/23/24 TO REVIEW EMPLOYMENT LAW TRAINING FOR LINE 
MANAGERS AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and RESOLVED to approve the Line Managers to attend 
Employment Law training delivered by HR Support Consultancy at a 
total cost of £450.  The Town Clerk to arrange a suitable training 
date subject to the appointment of a Service Delivery Manager. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and resolved to RECOMMEND at the next Policy and Finance 
Committee meeting approval for Employment Law training cost of 
£270 allocated to budget code P&F Staff Training; 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 11



1129 

RECOMMENDATION 3 
 
32/23/24 TO RATIFY RECRUITMENT AGENCY COST. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and RESOLVED to ratify the recruitment agency and HR cost of 
£6,504.70. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and resolved to RECOMMEND to the Policy and Finance Committee 
a virement of £6,000 from budget code P&F Staffing Contingency to 
6701 Staff Recruitment to cover the above associated cost. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Dent 
and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 4 
 
39/23/24 TO REVIEW ROSEVALE ACCOUNTANTS PAYROLL 
SERVICES AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and RESOLVED to continue with the temporary appointment of 
Rosevale Accountants to outsource processing payroll and to further 
review at the Personnel Committee meeting to be held on 29th 
February 2024 at a cost of £8.50 + VAT per employee per month. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and resolved to RECOMMEND to Policy and Finance to vire £1,034 
from Staff Contingency to 6305 Finance Software to cover the above 
associated cost. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Miller 
and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 12



1130 

RECOMMENDATION 5 
 
40/23/24 TO REVIEW ROSEVALE ACCOUNTANTS FINANCE 
SERVICE AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
Councillor Martin returned to the meeting. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor Dent 
and RESOLVED: 
 
1. To approve the training plan (12 month cycle) delivered by 

Rosevale Accountants to the Finance Officer up to and including 
w/c 25th March 2024, reporting to the Town Clerk / RFO, (as 
attached); 
 

2. The Town Clerk to oversee and manage reduction in training 
hours in accordance with the training plan or earlier; 

 
3. To approve Rosevale Accountants additional 68 hours worked at 

£29 + VAT per hour totalling £1,972 (as attached); 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor 
Dent and resolved to RECOMMEND to Policy and Finance: 
 

4. To continue with the appointment of Rosevale Accountants up to 
30hrs per week at a cost of £29 + VAT per hour up to 31st 
December 2023 and £33 + VAT from 1st January 2024, allocated 
to budget code 6661 P&F Finance Consultancy Fees; 

 
5. To recommend a virement of £21,487 from P&F staff contingency 

to 6661 P&F Finance Consultancy fees to cover the work of 
Rosevale Accountants from 1st July to 31st March 2024 plus 
additional 68 hours worked. 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor 
Dent and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 13



1131 

RECOMMENDATION 6  
 
41/23/24 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON THE BRIGHT HR 
CONTRACT AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND 
ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Stoyel, seconded by Councillor 
Dent and RESOLVED: 
 
1. To approve a 5-year Bright HR contract for absence 

management, annual leave, and HR needs at a monthly fee of 
£3.00 + VAT per employee; 
 

2. To allocate to budget code 6662 HR Professional Fees; 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Stoyel, seconded by Councillor 
Dent and resolved to RECOMMEND to Policy and Finance: 
 

3. To vire £2,700 from 6652 Staffing Contingency to 6662 HR 
Professional Fees, to cover the associated cost (HR Support 
Consultancy, Bright HR software and Rosevale Accountants 
processing data). 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Martin, seconded by Councillor 
Stoyel and RESOLVED to approve the above 
recommendation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 14



1132 

44/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING SUB 
COMMITTEES RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
a. Station Property held on 17th May 2023: 

 
RECOMMENDATION 1 
 
11/23/24 TO REVIEW ISAMBARD HOUSE FEES AND CHARGES 
AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
Members discussed the current Fees and Charges for Isambard 
House for community organsiations. 
 
Currently community organisations pay a community rate of £10.00 
per hour for a weekday booking between 9a.m. and 5p.m. and 
£15.00 per hour on weekends and evening bookings. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Bullock, seconded by Councillor 
Peggs and resolved to RECOMMEND to the Policy and Finance 
Committee to amend the Fees and Charges for Isambard House for 
community organisations only to a flat rate of £10 per hour inclusive 
of vat. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Bullock, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED to approve the above Station Property 
Sub Committee recommendation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



1133 

b. Property Maintenance held on 5th July 2023: 
 
RECOMMENDATION 1  
 
21/23/24 TO RECEIVE AN UPDATE ON THE GUILDHALL 
TENDER AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 

 
The Town Clerk informed Members the tender closing date is Friday 
7th July.  No bids received as yet, however, many visits to the 
Guildhall have taken place and Barron Surveying mentioned to three 
of their known contractors who might be interested in pricing. 
 
The Property Maintenance Sub Committee agreed for Cllrs Dent and 
Stoyel to open the received bids in the presence of the Town Clerk 
on 10th July.  The Town Clerk will send the bids to Barron Surveying 
to analyse and provide a tender report and recommendation to the 
Property Maintenance Sub Committee. 
 
The Chairman reminded Members that the Guildhall building is 
Grade II Listed therefore should Members wish to change the 
exterior colour Planning and Listed Building consent would be 
required.  Planning at a cost and Listed exempt from any fee. 

 
It was RESOLVED to note the above updates. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Brady, seconded by Councillor Dent 
and resolved to RECOMMEND to the next Policy and Finance 
Committee to appoint Barron Surveying at a cost of £100 + VAT per 
hour up to a maximum of five hours allocated to budget code 6224 
Professional Fees. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor Brady 
and RESOLVED to approve the above recommendation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



1134 

45/23/24 TO CONSIDER COMMUNITY CHEST AND FESTIVAL FUND 
APPLICATIONS: 
 
a. Community Chest. 

 
Councillor B Samuels declared an interest in the next item and left 
the meeting. 
 
Councillor P Samuels declared an interest in the next item. He 
remained in the meeting to answer questions on the application and 
then left the meeting while the debate and vote on the application 
took place. 
 
Application number Organisation  Amount 
Requested 
 
CC270    Saltash Radio  £500 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Stoyel, seconded by Councillor Martin 
and RESOLVED to award £500. 

 
Councillors B Samuels and P Samuels were invited and returned to the 
meeting. 
 
b. Festival Funds 

 
Application number Organisation  Amount 
Requested 
 
FF117   Saltash Music,   £1,000 
    Speech and  
    Drama Festival 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Bickford, seconded by Councillor 
Brady and RESOLVED to award £1,000 allocated from the 
Community Chest budget not the Festival Fund budget due to the 
application not meeting the Festival Fund criteria.  Applicant to be 
informed for future requests.  

 
Application number Organisation  Amount 
Requested 
 
FF118   Friends of Tincombe £639.90 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Stoyel 
and RESOLVED to award £639.90. 
 
 

Councillor Martin left the meeting. 
 

Page 17



1135 

46/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE A REPORT FROM MAY FAIR ON 
FUNDING AWARDED (FF113). 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

47/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE QUARTERLY REPORTS FOR THE 
COMMISSIONING OF PROFESSIONAL YOUTH WORK IN 
SALTASH: 
 
Councillor Martin returned to the meeting. 
 
a. The Core 

 
It was RESOLVED to note. 

 
b. Livewire 

 
It was RESOLVED to note. 

 
 

48/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE A REPORT ON DATA COMPLIANCE. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

49/23/24 TO RECEIVE AND NOTE A REPORT ON FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 
 

50/23/24 TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM WORKING GROUPS AND OUTSIDE 
BODIES: 
 
a. Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 

 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 

b. Saltash Team for Youth 
 
It was RESOLVED to note. 
 

c. Section 106 Panel 
 
Nothing to report. 

 
 
 
 

Page 18



1136 

51/23/24 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that pursuant to Section 1(2) of the Public Bodies 
(Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the 
meeting because of the confidential nature of the business to be 
transacted. 
 
 

52/23/24 TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE MAIN PART OF 
THE AGENDA. 
 
None. 
 
 

53/23/24 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting. 
 
 

54/23/24 TO CONSIDER URGENT NON-FINANCIAL ITEMS AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN. 
 
None. 
 
 

55/23/24 TO CONFIRM ANY PRESS AND SOCIAL MEDIA RELEASES 
ASSOCIATED WITH ANY AGREED ACTIONS AND EXPENDITURE 
OF THE MEETING. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Gillies, seconded by Councillor Bullock 
and RESOLVED to issue the following Press and Social Media 
releases: 
 
1. Playpark Match Funding in collaboration with Friends of 

Summerfield; 
 

2. Revised fees and charges at Isambard House subject to Full Council 
approval; 

 
3. Community Chest and Festival Fund awards; 

 
4. Saltash Team for Youth working in collaboration with The Core and 

Livewire delivering professional youth work. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



1137 

 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Tuesday 12 September 2023 at 6.30 pm 
 
Rising at: 8.03 pm 

 
 

Signed:  

 Chairman 
 

Dated: 
 
 

Page 20



To receive a report on VAT 
 
 
VAT Return for the period 1st April 2023 – 30th June 2023 was submitted on 4th 
August 2023. The refund amount was £22,977.15 
 
The next VAT Return for the period 1st July 2023 – 30th September 2023 is due 
on 7th November 2023. 
 
 
Finance Officer 
End of Report 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



To receive and note a report on investments 
 
 

Investment 
Description 

Amount Limit of 
Investment 

Required 
Period to 
Withdraw 

Maturity 
Date 

Percentage 
Rate 

CCLA Public 
Sector 
Deposit Fund 
 

£200,000 £500,000 Next Day N/A 4.97% - 
July 2023 

Barclays 
Active Saver 
 

£100,923 £500,000 Instant N/A 1.20% - 
July 2023 

Nationwide 
95 day Notice 
Account – 
Issue 11 
 

£500,650 £1,000,000 95 days notice N/A 3.8% - 
March 2023 

Cornwall 
Council 
Deposit Fund 

£1,000,023 £1,000,000 Before 9:30am, 
same day. 
After 9:30am, 
next day 
 

N/A 3.97% - 
August 
2023 

Lloyds Fixed 
Term Deposit 
Account (6 
months) 
 

£240,000 £500,000 6 months 
investment 

20th 
September 
2023 

2.9% Fixed 

 
 
CCLA Public Deposit 

 P&F - minute 10/23/24 – approve transfer of £300,000 from Barclays Active Saver to 
CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund.  

 We now have new signatories in place to instruct the transfer of funds and will 
proceed with the application in the next 14 days. 

 
Barclays Active Saver 

 Interest increased in July 23 from 0.9% to 1.2% 
 
Cornwall Council Deposit 

 £25,000 transferred to Barclays Active Saver on 6th September 2023 due to 
reaching the maximum threshold for the account. 

 
Lloyds Fixed Term Deposit 

 Maturity date 20th September 2023. Interest of £3,508.60 to be paid into Lloyds 
Current account.  

 
Members are asked to consider reinvesting £240,000 from the Lloyds Fixed Term deposit 
account when it matures later this month. In addition to this, investing £100,000 from the 
precept money received in September making a total investment of £340,000. The 

Page 22

Agenda Item 9



recommendation would be to fix the rate for 12 months at 3.5% therefore returning 
approximately interest of £11,900 
 
 
Investing options below  
 
 
 

Investment 
Description 

Limit of 
Investment 

Required 
Period to 
Withdraw 

Interest 
Percentage 
Rate 

Interest 
Rate Offer 
Available 
Until 

Approx 
Interest 
Paid 
Based on 
Investing 
£340,000 
  

Lloyds 
Fixed Term 
Deposit (6 
months) 

£5,000,000 No 
withdraws 
during 
investment 
term  

3.40% 21/09/2023 £5,780 

Lloyds 
Fixed Term 
Deposit (9 
months) 

£5,000,000 No 
withdraws 
during 
investment 
term  

3.45% 21/09/2023 £8,798  

Lloyds 
Fixed Term 
Deposit (12 
months) 

£5,000,000 No 
withdraws 
during 
investment 
term 

3.50%  21/09/2023 £11,900 

 
 

Finance Officer 

End of Report 

Page 23



To receive the current STC and Committee budget statements and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure 
 

Members are asked to consider to recommend to the Burial Authority and Joint Burial 

Board to review the budget codes in the following table due to overspent expenditure. 

 

 

 

To Note: Service Committee minute 51/23/24  

It was proposed by Councillor Yates, seconded by Councillor Griffiths and resolved to 

RECOMMEND to the Station Sub Committee to review budget code 6810 General 

Repairs & Maintenance - Isambard House due to limited funds remaining for the year 

2023/2024. 

 

 

 

 
Finance Officer 

End of Report 

Account
Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received/

Spend YTD 

2023/24

Actual 

Funds To 

Receive/A

vailable to 

Date 

2023/24

Details of overspend

Burial Authority Expenditure

6004 BA General Site Maintenance 613 642 (29)

£525 for 14 days hire of mower during 

period waiting for delivery of 

replacement secondhand mower

6014 BA Cemetery Software Subscription 329 377 (48)

Increase in annual fee for Rialtus 

software, more than anticipated during 

budgeting. 2022/23 £290   2023/24 

£377. 

Burial Board EMF Expenditure

6170 BB EMF Repairs to Cemetery Wall 15,286 15,763 (477)
Extra spend for repairs to wall, needed to 

instal new foundation to path. 

Isambard House Expenditure
Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received/

Spend YTD 

2023/24

Actual 

Funds To 

Receive/

Available 

to Date 

2023/24

Desription of Overspend

6810 SA General Repairs & Maintenance - Isambard House

1,000 902 98

Actual includes £300 5 yearly inspection, 

painting & shelf install £317, Heritage sign 

£115

Page 24

Agenda Item 11



Account

Actual 

Received/Spend 

2022/23

EMF 

Balances B/F 

2022/23

To/From 

Reserves & 

Budget 

Virements 

2023/24

Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received/Spend 

YTD 2023/24

Actual Funds To 

Receive/Available 

to Date 2023/24

Budget 

2024/25

Budget 

2025/26

Budget 

2026/27

Budget 

2027/28

Burial Authority Income 16,994 0 0 22,862 5,743 17,119 25,171 27,713 30,512 33,593

Burial Board Income 14,418 0 0 11,621 2,698 8,923 12,689 13,970 15,382 16,935

P&F Income 28,014 0 0 8,362 15,095 (6,733) 9,206 10,136 11,160 12,287

Guildhall Income 2,262 0 0 10,750 1,415 9,335 11,835 13,031 14,348 15,797

Library Income 2,485 0 0 1,868 757 1,111 2,057 2,264 2,494 2,745

Maurice Huggins Income 1,189 0 0 1,000 458 543 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469

Station Income 3,820 0 0 15,500 3,452 12,048 17,066 18,789 20,686 22,776

Service Delivery Income 17,683 0 0 28,900 17,961 10,939 27,899 30,717 33,819 37,235

Total Total Operating Income 86,866 0 0 100,863 47,579 53,284 107,024 117,832 129,736 142,837

Total Operating Income 86,866 0 0 100,863 47,579 53,284 107,024 117,832 129,736 142,837

Burial Authority Expenditure 23,753 0 0 25,143 11,903 13,240 25,522 28,102 30,938 34,065

Burial Authority Staffing Expenditure 7,556 0 (9,472) 9,472 0 0 10,429 11,482 12,642 13,918

Burial Board Expenditure 1,722 0 0 6,387 2,782 3,605 7,032 7,742 8,524 9,385

Burial Board Staffing Expenditure 18,309 0 (22,102) 22,102 0 0 24,334 26,792 29,498 32,477

P&F Expenditure 137,929 0 20,837 216,184 70,072 166,949 235,494 256,754 280,159 305,933

P&F Staffing Expenditure 290,631 0 42,353 329,561 109,274 262,640 361,435 397,404 437,007 479,364

Guildhall Expenditure 28,672 0 0 52,978 15,196 37,782 58,328 64,219 70,704 77,846

Guildhall Staffing Expenses 22,928 0 249 38,405 7,588 31,066 42,283 46,554 51,256 56,220

Library Expenditure 42,216 0 250 82,062 30,278 52,034 88,026 94,596 101,825 109,789

Library Staffing Expenses 131,778 0 875 139,434 44,459 95,850 131,126 144,371 158,952 174,485

Maurice Huggins Expenses 1,362 0 0 5,544 2,293 3,251 6,104 6,721 7,400 8,145

Station Expenditure 13,578 0 0 28,761 6,878 21,883 31,666 34,864 38,386 42,261

Station Staffing Expenses 0 0 0 1,411 0 1,411 1,553 1,710 1,882 2,072

Service Delivery Expenditure 74,261 0 0 107,236 15,984 91,252 118,068 129,987 143,114 157,569

Service Delivery Staffing Expenditure 213,436 0 39,246 233,916 65,477 207,685 257,542 283,553 312,192 341,139

Personnel Expenditure 15,013 0 2,700 11,975 5,187 9,488 13,185 14,517 15,983 17,597

Total Operating Expenditure 1,023,144 0 74,936 1,310,571 387,370 998,137 1,412,127 1,549,368 1,700,462 1,862,265

Total Operating Expenditure 1,023,144 0 74,936 1,310,571 387,370 998,137 1,412,127 1,549,368 1,700,462 1,862,265

Total Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (936,278) 0 (74,936) (1,209,708) (339,791) (944,853) (1,305,103) (1,431,536) (1,570,726) (1,719,428)

Burial Authority EMF Expenditure 2,264 26,571 (1,200) 0 371 25,000 0 0 0 0

Burial Board EMF Expenditure 0 18,086 (2,800) 0 15,763 (477) 0 0 0 0

P&F EMF Expenditure 28,344 214,552 19,062 29,418 60,202 202,830 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

Guildhall EMF Expenditure 7,290 63,303 11,660 20,739 335 95,367 0 0 0 0

Library EMF Expenditure 12,911 264,065 (168) 10,000 152 273,745 0 0 0 0

Maurice Huggins EMF Expenditure 0 820 0 0 0 820 0 0 0 0

Station EMF Expenditure 35,286 83,331 (35) 0 2,458 80,838 0 0 0 0

Service Delivery EMF Expenditure 21,636 126,846 96,859 37,207 18,007 242,905 27,000 27,000 27,000 27,000

Personnel EMF Expenditure 2,019 7,941 6,000 685 5,495 9,131 0 0 0 0

Total EMF Expenditure 109,748 805,515 129,378 98,049 102,783 930,159 37,000 37,000 37,000 37,000

Total Overall Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 1,132,892 805,515 204,314 1,408,620 490,153 1,928,296 1,449,127 1,586,368 1,737,462 1,899,265

Total Overall Budget Surplus/ Defecit (1,046,026) (805,515) (204,314) (1,307,757) (442,574) (1,875,012) (1,342,103) (1,468,536) (1,607,726) (1,756,428)

1. Virement of £477 to be recommended for BB EMF Expenditure (6104 BB General Maintenance)

Saltash Town Council Summary Budget Report 2023-24

Saltash Town Council

For the month ended 31 July 2023

Operating Income

Total Operating Income

Operating Expenditure

Operating Expenditure

EMF Expenditure

Notes

Page 25



Account

Actual 

Received/

Spend 

2022/23

EMF 

Balances 

B/F 

2022/23

To/From 

Reserves & 

Budget 

Virements 

2023/24

Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received/Spend 

YTD 2023/24

Actual Funds To 

Receive/ 

Available to 

Date 2023/24

Budget 

2024/25

Budget 

2025/26

Budget 

2026/27

Budget 

2027/28

4612 BA Cemetery Fees (Churchtown) 16,411 0 0 21,862 5,043 16,819 24,070 26,501 29,177 32,124

4614 BA Memorial Bench Income (Churchtown) 583 0 0 1,000 700 300 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469

Total Burial Authority Income 16,994 0 0 22,862 5,743 17,119 25,171 27,713 30,512 33,593

Total Operating Income 16,994 0 0 22,862 5,743 17,119 25,171 27,713 30,512 33,593

6000 BA Petrol 126 0 0 378 25 354 416 458 504 555

6001 BA Machinery Maintenance Costs 0 0 0 275 0 275 303 334 367 404

6003 BA Health & Safety 0 0 0 55 0 55 61 67 73 81

6004 BA General Site Maintenance 557 0 0 613 642 (29) 675 744 819 901

6005 BA Fire Extinguishers 41 0 0 90 0 90 99 109 120 133

6008 BA Tree Survey & Tree Maintenance 818 0 0 791 0 791 870 958 1,055 1,162

6009 BA Electricity Costs 230 0 0 690 44 646 760 836 921 1,014

6010 BA PWLB Loan Repayment & Interest 21,385 0 0 21,385 10,692 10,693 21,385 23,545 25,923 28,541

6011 BA Water 0 0 0 364 0 364 401 442 486 536

6012 BA Memorial Bench (Expenditure) 147 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6013 BA Security Alarm Maintenance 159 0 0 173 124 49 190 210 231 254

6014 BA Cemetery Software Subscription 288 0 0 329 377 (48) 362 399 439 484

Total Burial Authority Expenditure 23,753 0 0 25,143 11,903 13,240 25,522 28,102 30,938 34,065

Burial Authority Staffing Expenses 62 0 (296) 296 0 0 326 359 395 435

6666 ST BA Staff Training (Churchtown) 0 0 (227) 227 0 0 250 275 303 333

Burial Authority Staffing Costs 7,494 0 (8,949) 8,949 0 0 9,853 10,848 11,944 13,150

Total Burial Authority Staffing Expenditure 7,556 0 (9,472) 9,472 0 0 10,429 11,482 12,642 13,918

Total Operating Expenditure 31,309 0 (9,472) 34,615 11,903 13,240 35,951 39,584 43,580 47,983

Total Burial Authority Operating Expenditure 31,309 0 (9,472) 34,615 11,903 13,240 35,951 39,584 43,580 47,983

Total Burial Authority Operating Surplus/ (Deficit (14,314) 0 9,472 (11,753) (6,160) 3,879 (10,780) (11,871) (13,068) (14,390)

6070 BA EMF Churchtown Cemetery Capital Works 1,464 6,204 0 0 0 6,204 0 0 0 0

6071 BA EMF Replace Machinery & Equipment 0 14,967 0 0 0 14,967 0 0 0 0

6073 BA EMF Memorial Garden 800 4,200 0 0 371 3,829 0 0 0 0

6692 ST BA EMF Staff Contingency (Churchtown) 0 1,200 (1,200) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Burial Authority EMF Expenditure 2,264 26,571 (1,200) 0 371 25,000 0 0 0 0

Total Burial Authority Expenditure (Operational & 33,573 26,571 (10,672) 34,615 12,274 38,240 35,951 39,584 43,580 47,983

Total Burial Authority Budget Surplus/ Deficit (16,578) (26,571) 10,672 (11,753) (6,531) (21,121) (10,780) (11,871) (13,068) (14,390)

Operating Expenditure

Burial Authority Expenditure

Burial Authority Staffing Expenditure

Burial Authority EMF Expenditure

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2023/24

 1. Virement from General Reserves to Burial Authority Staffing Costs - £56 - PE 99/22/23

 2. Virement from General Reserves to 6692 ST BA EMF Staff Contingency (Churchtown) - £2,874 - FTC 58/23/24

 3. Virement from 6615 ST BA Cemetery Warden Gross Pay to 6618 ST SE Services Delivery Gross Pay - £7,038 - TBC

 4. Virement from 6616 ST BA Cemetery Warden Empers NI to 6619 ST SE Services Delivery Empers NI - £595 - TBC

 5. Virement from 6617 ST BA Cemetery Warden Empers Pension to 6620 ST SE Services Delivery Empers Pension - £1,372 - TBC

 6. Virement from 6663 ST BA Cemetery Staff Clothing (Churchtown) to 6673 ST SE Services Delivery Clothing - £59 - TBC

 7. Virement from 6664 ST BA Cemetery Staff Mobile Phones (Churchtown) to 6674 ST SE Services Delivery Mobiles - £203 - TBC

 8. Virement from 6665 ST BA Staff Travelling Costs (Churchtown) to 6675 ST SE Services Delivery Staff Travelling Expenses - £34 - TBC

 9. Virement from 6666 ST BA Staff Training (Churchtown) to 6676 ST SE Services Delivery Staff Training - £227 - TBC

 10. Virement from 6692 ST BA EMF Staff Contingency (Churchtown) to 6700 ST SE Services Delivery Staff Contingency - £4,074 - TBC

Burial Authority Committee - Burial Authority Budget 2023-24
Saltash Town Council
For the month ended 31 July 2023

Operating Income
Burial Authority Income

Page 26



Account

Actual 

Received/

Spend 

2022/23

EMF 

Balances 

B/F 

2022/23

To/From 

Reserves & 

Budget 

Virements 

2023/24

Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received/Spend 

YTD 2023/24

Actual 

Funds to 

Receive/ 

Available to 

Date 

2023/24

Budget 

2024/25

Budget 

2025/26

Budget 

2026/27

Budget 

2027/28

4600 BB Cemetery Fees (St. Stephens) 13,833 0 0 11,000 2,070 8,930 12,111 13,334 14,681 16,164

4605 BB SLA Payment Grass Cutting 585 0 0 621 628 (7) 578 636 701 771

Total Burial Board Income 14,418 0 0 11,621 2,698 8,923 12,689 13,970 15,382 16,935

Total Burial Board Operating Income 14,418 0 0 11,621 2,698 8,923 12,689 13,970 15,382 16,935

6100 BB Petrol 295 0 0 504 57 447 555 611 673 741

6101 BB Machinery Maintenance Costs 0 0 0 716 0 716 788 868 955 1,052

6103 BB Health & Safety 0 0 0 110 0 110 121 133 147 162

6104 BB General Site Maintenance 56 0 0 1,410 325 1,085 1,553 1,710 1,882 2,072

6108 BB Tree Survey & Tree Maintenance 1,370 0 0 3,647 2,400 1,247 4,015 4,420 4,867 5,358

Total Burial Board Expenditure 1,722 0 0 6,387 2,782 3,605 7,032 7,742 8,524 9,385

Burial Board Staff Expenses 145 0 (691) 691 0 0 761 838 923 1,016

6670 ST BB Staff Training (St. Stephens) 0 0 (530) 530 0 0 583 642 707 778

Burial Board Staffing Costs 18,164 0 (20,881) 20,881 0 0 22,990 25,312 27,868 30,683

Total Burial Board Staffing Expenditure 18,309 0 (22,102) 22,102 0 0 24,334 26,792 29,498 32,477

Total Burial Board Operating Expenditure 20,031 0 (22,102) 28,489 2,782 3,605 31,366 34,534 38,022 41,862

Total Burial Board Operating Expenditure 20,031 0 (22,102) 28,489 2,782 3,605 31,366 34,534 38,022 41,862

Total Burial Board Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (5,613) 0 22,102 (16,868) (83) 5,317 (18,677) (20,564) (22,640) (24,927)

6170 BB EMF Repairs to Cemetery Wall 0 15,286 0 0 15,763 (477) 0 0 0 0

6693 ST BB EMF Staff Contingency (St Stephens) 0 2,800 (2,800) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Burial Board EMF Expenditure 0 18,086 (2,800) 0 15,763 (477) 0 0 0 0

Total Burial Board Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 20,031 18,086 (24,902) 28,489 18,545 3,128 31,366 34,534 38,022 41,862

Total Burial Board Budget Surplus/Deficit (5,613) (18,086) 24,902 (16,868) (15,846) 5,794 (18,677) (20,564) (22,640) (24,927)

 1. Virement from General Reserves to Burial Board Staffing Costs - £131 - PE 99/22/23

 2. Virement from General Reserves to 6693 ST BB EMF Staff Contingency (St. Stephens) - £6,030 - FTC 58/23/24

 3. Virement from 6624 ST BB Cemetery Staff Gross Pay (St Stephens) to 6618 ST SE Services Delivery Gross Pay - £16,422 - TBC

 4. Virement from 6625 ST BB Cemetery – Employers NI to 6619 ST SE Services Delivery Employers NI - £1,387 - TBC

 5. Virement from 6626 ST BB Cemetery Staff – Employers Pension (St. Stephens) to 6620 ST SE Services Delivery Employers Pension - £3,203 - TBC

 6. Virement from 6667 ST BB Cemetery Staff – Clothing (St. Stephens) to 6673 ST SE Services Delivery – Clothing - £138.00 - TBC

 7. Virement from 6668 ST BB Cemetery Staff – Mobiles (St. Stephens) to 6674 ST SE Services Delivery – Mobiles - £473.00 - TBC

 8. Virement from 6669 ST BB Staff Travelling Expenses (St. Stephens) to 6675 ST SE Services Delivery Staff Travelling Expenses - £80.00 - TBC

 9. Virement from budget code 6670 ST BB Staff Training (St. Stephens) to 6676 ST SE Services Delivery Staff Training - £530.00 - TBC

10. Virement from budget code 6693 ST BB EMF Staff Contingency (St. Stephens) to 6700 ST SE Services Delivery Staff Contingency - £8,830.00 - TBC

Burial Board Operating Expenditure

Burial Board Expenditure

Burial Board Staffing Expenditure

Burial Board EMF Expenditure

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements

Joint Burial Board Committee - Burial Board Budget 2023-24

Saltash Town Council

For the month ended 31 July 2023

Burial Board Operating Income

Burial Board Income

Page 27



Account
Actual 

Received/Spend 
2022/23

EMF 
Balances 

B/F 
2022/23

To/From 
Reserves & 

Budget 
Virements 

2023/24

Budget 
2023/24

Actual 
Received/Spend 

YTD 2023/24

Actual Funds to 
Receive/Available 

to Date 2023/24

Budget 
2024/25

Budget 
2025/26

Budget 
2026/27

Budget 
2027/28

4200 GH Income - Guildhall Bookings 1,916 0 0 10,261 1,311 8,950 11,297 12,438 13,695 15,078
4201 GH Income - Guildhall Refreshments 342 0 0 257 101 156 283 312 343 378
4206 GH Income - Guildhall Misc Property Income 4 0 0 232 0 232 255 281 310 341
Total Guildhall Income 2,262 0 0 10,750 1,412 9,338 11,835 13,031 14,348 15,797

Total Guildhall Operating Income 2,262 0 0 10,750 1,412 9,338 11,835 13,031 14,348 15,797

6400 GH Rates - Guildhall 8,608 0 100 9,808 9,899 9 10,798 11,889 13,090 14,412
6401 GH Water Rates - Guildhall 517 0 0 847 103 744 932 1,026 1,130 1,244
6402 GH Gas - Guildhall 3,819 0 0 6,500 509 5,991 7,157 7,879 8,675 9,551
6403 GH Electricity - Guildhall 4,078 0 (100) 13,000 1,041 11,859 14,313 15,759 17,350 19,103
6404 GH Fire & Security Alarm - Guildhall 743 0 0 1,396 508 888 1,537 1,692 1,863 2,051
6408 GH Cleaning Materials & Equipment - Guildhall 1,270 0 0 1,129 560 569 1,243 1,368 1,506 1,658
6409 GH Boiler Service & Maintenance 463 0 0 1,135 0 1,135 1,250 1,376 1,515 1,668
6410 GH General Repairs & Maintenance 2,838 0 0 2,838 1,039 1,799 3,125 3,441 3,788 4,171
6411 GH Entertainment Licenses 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469
6412 GH Lift Service & Maintenance 3,691 0 0 3,303 1,073 2,230 3,637 4,004 4,408 4,854
6413 GH Refreshment Costs - Guildhall 133 0 0 414 117 297 456 502 553 608
6414 GH Equipment - Guildhall 176 0 0 1,108 0 1,108 1,219 1,343 1,478 1,628
6418 GH Professional Fees 1,950 0 0 10,000 300 9,700 11,010 12,122 13,346 14,694
6420 GH Legionella Risk Assessment (Guildhall) 385 0 0 500 140 360 550 606 667 735
Total Guildhall Expenditure 28,672 0 0 52,978 15,288 37,690 58,328 64,219 70,704 77,846

Guildhall Staffing Expenses 218 0 0 454 37 417 499 550 605 454
6678 ST GH Staff Training (Guildhall) 76 0 0 565 0 565 622 685 754 830
Guildhall Staffing Costs 22,634 0 249 37,386 7,550 30,085 41,162 45,319 49,897 54,936
Total Guildhall Staffing Expenditure 22,928 0 249 38,405 7,588 31,066 42,283 46,554 51,256 56,220

Total Operating Expenditure 51,600 0 249 91,383 22,876 68,756 100,611 110,773 121,960 134,066

Total Guildhall Operating Expenditure 51,600 0 249 91,383 22,876 68,756 100,611 110,773 121,960 134,066

Total Guildhall Operating Surplus/ Deficit (49,338) 0 (249) (80,633) (21,464) (59,418) (88,776) (97,742) (107,612) (118,269)

6470 GH EMF Guildhall Maintenance 7,290 60,303 0 20,000 335 79,968 0 0 0 0
6696 ST GH EMF Staff Contingency (Guildhall) 0 3,000 11,660 739 0 15,399 0 0 0 0

Total Guildhall EMF Expenditure 7,290 63,303 11,660 20,739 335 95,367 0 0 0 0

Total Guildhall Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 58,890 63,303 11,909 112,122 23,211 164,123 100,611 110,773 121,960 134,066

Total Guildhall Budget Surplus/ (Deficit) (56,627) (63,303) (11,909) (101,372) (21,799) (154,785) (88,776) (97,742) (107,612) (118,269)

 1. Virement from General Reserves to Guildhall Staffing Costs - £249 - PE 99/22/23
 2. Virement from General Reserves to 6696 ST GH EMF Staff Contingency - £11,660 - FTC 58/23/24
 3. Virement from 6403 Guildhall Electricity to 6400 Guildhall Rates - £100 - SE 51/23/24

Guildhall Operating Expenditure
Guildhall Expenditure

Guildhall Staffing Expenditure

Guildhall EMF Expenditure 

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2023/2024

Services Committee - Guildhall Budget 2023-24
Saltash Town Council
For the 4 months ended 31 July 2023

Guildhall Operating Income
Guildhall Income

Page 28



Account

Actual 

Received/Spend 

2022/23

EMF Balances 

B/F 2022/23

To/From 

Reserves & 

Budget 

Virements 

Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received/Spend 

YTD 2023/24

Actual Funds To 

Receive/Available 

to Date 2023/24

Budget 

2024/25

Budget 

2025/24

Budget 

2026/27

Budget 

2027/28

4517 LI Library - Replacement Membership Cards 656 0 0 48 300 (252) 53 58 64 71

4518 LI Library - Photocopying Fees 999 0 0 600 320 280 661 727 801 882

4524 LI Library Book Sales 481 0 0 320 138 182 352 388 427 470

4526 LI Library Activity Income 0 0 0 250 0 250 275 303 334 367

4527 LI Library Vending Machines Income 0 0 0 50 0 50 55 61 67 73

4529 LI Library Activities Funding Income 350 0 0 600 0 600 661 727 801 882

Total Library Income 2,485 0 0 1,868 757 1,111 2,057 2,264 2,494 2,745

Total  Library Operating Income 2,485 0 0 1,868 757 1,111 2,057 2,264 2,494 2,745

6900 LI Rates - Library 13,473 0 (220) 15,804 13,099 2,485 17,400 19,157 21,092 23,223

6901 LI Water Rates - Library 558 0 0 364 91 273 401 442 486 536

6902 LI Gas - Library 4,788 0 0 5,623 9 5,614 6,190 6,816 7,504 8,262

6903 LI Electricity - Library 1,494 0 0 5,000 743 4,257 5,505 6,061 6,673 7,347

6904 LI Fire & Security Alarm - Library 629 0 0 1,033 327 706 1,137 1,252 1,378 1,518

6908 LI Cleaning Materials & Equipment - Library 1,072 0 0 1,854 52 1,802 2,041 2,248 2,475 2,724

6909 LI Boiler Service & Maintenance - Library 858 0 0 1,135 194 941 1,250 1,376 1,515 1,668

6910 LI General Repairs & Maintenance - Library 991 0 1,000 2,270 1,409 1,861 2,500 2,752 3,030 3,336

6911 LI TV License & PRS - Library 0 0 0 428 0 428 471 519 571 629

6913 LI Refreshment Costs - Library 0 0 0 284 0 284 313 344 379 417

6914 LI Equipment - Library 155 0 0 750 0 750 826 909 1,001 1,102

6918 LI Professional Fees (Private Contractors) 11 0 0 20,000 0 20,000 22,020 24,244 26,693 29,389

6920 LI Legionella  Risk Assessment - Library 385 0 0 495 140 355 545 601 661 728

6921 LI IT & Office Costs - Library 2,498 0 0 1,652 806 846 1,818 2,002 2,204 2,427

6922 LI Library Activities 2,883 0 250 2,370 1,025 1,595 2,609 2,873 3,163 3,483

6923 LI PWLB Loan Repayment & Interest 12,420 0 2,000 23,000 12,299 12,701 23,000 23,000 23,000 23,000

Total Library Expenditure 42,216 0 3,030 82,062 30,193 54,899 88,026 94,596 101,825 109,789

Library Staff Expenses 103 0 0 2,144 16 2,128 1,996 2,198 2,420 2,144

6682 ST LI Staff Training (Library) 0 0 0 1,101 168 933 1,025 1,129 1,243 1,368

Library Staffing Costs 131,675 0 875 136,189 44,275 92,789 128,105 141,044 155,289 170,973

Total Library Staffing Expenditure 131,778 0 875 139,434 44,459 95,850 131,126 144,371 158,952 174,485

Total Operating Expenditure 173,994 0 3,905 221,496 74,652 150,749 219,152 238,967 260,777 284,274

Total Library Operating Expenditure 173,994 0 3,905 221,496 74,652 150,749 219,152 238,967 260,777 284,274

Total Library Operating Surplus/ Deficit (171,508) 0 (3,905) (219,628) (73,895) (149,638) (217,095) (236,703) (258,283) (281,529)

6971 LI EMF Saltash Library Property Refurbishment 10,741 213,363 21,000 10,000 0 244,363 0 0 0 0

6972 LI EMF Library Equipment & Furniture 830 11,522 (1,000) 0 0 10,522 0 0 0 0

6973 LI EMF Loan Repayments 0 23,000 (23,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6974 LI EMF Library Funding 1,340 1,180 (250) 0 0 930 0 0 0 0

6975 LI EMF Home Library Service 0 0 302 0 152 150 0 0 0 0

6698 ST LI EMF Staff Contingency (Library) 0 15,000 0 0 0 15,000 0 0 0 0

Total Library EMF Expenditure 12,911 264,065 (2,948) 10,000 152 270,965 0 0 0 0

Total Library Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 186,905 264,065 957 231,496 74,804 421,714 219,152 238,967 260,777 284,274

Total Library Budget Surplus/ (Deficit) (184,420) (264,065) (957) (229,628) (74,047) (420,603) (217,095) (236,703) (258,283) (281,529)

Services Committee - Library Budget 2023-24
Saltash Town Council

For the month ended 31 July 2023

 Library Operating Income

Library Income

Library Operating Expenditure

Library Expenditure

Library Staffing Expenditure

Library EMF Expenditure

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2023/24

 1. Virement from General Reserves to Library Staffing Costs - £875 - PE 99/22/23

 2. Virement from 6974 EMF Library Funding to 6922 Library Activities - £250 - LI 64/22/23                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

 3. Income from Cornwall Council - 6975 EMF Home Library Service - £82

4.  Virement from 6900 Rates - Library to 6975 EMF Home Library Service - £220 - LI 26/23/24                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

5. Virement from 6973 EMF Loan Repayment to 6971 EMF Saltash Library Property Refurbishment - £21,000 - LI 30/23/24                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

6. Virement from 6972 EMF Library Equipment & Furniture to 6910 General Repairs & Maintenance - £1,000 - LI 34/23/24

Page 29



Account

Actual 

Received/

Spend 

2022/23

EMF 

Balances 

B/F 

2022/23

To/From 

Reserves & 

Budget 

Virements 

2023/24

Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received

/Spend 

YTD 

2023/24

Actual 

Funds To 

Receive/

Available 

to Date 

2023/24

Budget 

2024/25

Budget 

2025/26

Budget 

2026/27

Budget 

2027/28

4207 MA Maurice Huggins Room Income 1,189 0 0 1,000 458 543 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469
Total Maurice Huggins Income 1,189 0 0 1,000 458 543 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469

Total Maurice Huggins Operating Income 1,189 0 0 1,000 458 543 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469

7000 MA Rates 429 0 0 486 429 57 535 589 648 713
7001 MA Water Rates 186 0 0 395 61 334 435 479 528 581
7003 MA Electricity (287) 0 0 2,563 1,235 1,328 2,821 3,106 3,420 3,765
7004 MA Fire & Security Alarm 201 0 0 178 127 51 196 216 238 262
7008 MA Cleaning Materials & Equipment 203 0 0 330 183 147 364 400 441 485
7010 MA General Repairs & Maintenance 245 0 0 565 118 447 622 685 754 830
7018 MA Professional Costs 0 0 0 565 0 565 622 685 754 830
7020 MA Legionella Risk Assessment 385 0 0 462 140 322 509 561 617 679
Total Maurice Huggins Expenditure 1,362 0 0 5,544 2,293 3,251 6,104 6,721 7,400 8,145

Total Maurice Huggins Operating Expenditure 1,362 0 0 5,544 2,293 3,251 6,104 6,721 7,400 8,145

Total Maurice Huggins Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (173) 0 0 (4,544) (1,836) (2,708) (5,003) (5,509) (6,065) (6,676)

6472 MA EMF Maurice Huggins Room 0 214 0 0 0 214 0 0 0 0
7071 MA EMF Maurice Huggins (Furniture & Sundry Items) 0 606 0 0 0 606 0 0 0 0

Total Maurice Huggins EMF Expenditure 0 820 0 0 0 820 0 0 0 0

Total Maurice Huggins Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 1,362 820 0 5,544 2,293 4,071 6,104 6,721 7,400 8,145

Total Maurice Huggins Budget Surplus/ (Deficit) (173) (820) 0 (4,544) (1,836) (3,528) (5,003) (5,509) (6,065) (6,676)

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2023/24
1.  7003 MA Electricity Actual includes £971 relating to 2022/23

Maurice Huggins Operating Expenditure
Maurice Huggins Expenditure

Maurice Huggins EMF Expenditure

Services Committee - Maurice Huggins Budget 2023-24
Saltash Town Council
For the month ended 31 July 2023

Maurice Huggins Operating Income
Maurice Huggins Income

Page 30



Account

Actual 

Received/Spend 

2022/23

EMF 

Balances 

B/F 

2022/23

To/From 

Reserves & 

Budget 

Virements 

2023/24

Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received

/Spend 

YTD 

2023/24

Actual 

Funds To 

Receive/

Available 

to Date 

2023/24

Budget 

2024/25

Budget 

2025/26

Budget 

2026/27

Budget 

2027/28

4901 PF Bank Interest Received 27,789 0 0 8,362 15,011 (6,649) 9,206 10,136 11,160 12,287

4908 PF Misc Income 225 0 0 0 84 (84) 0 0 0 0

Total P&F Income 28,014 0 0 8,362 15,095 (6,733) 9,206 10,136 11,160 12,287

Total P&F Operating Income 28,014 0 0 8,362 15,095 (6,733) 9,206 10,136 11,160 12,287

6200 PF Bank Charges 845 0 0 1,220 667 553 1,343 1,479 1,628 1,793

6201 PF Audit 3,100 0 0 4,000 (2,100) 6,100 4,404 4,849 5,339 5,878

6202 PF Civic Occasions (including Road Closures) 5,764 0 0 5,354 539 4,815 5,894 6,490 7,145 7,867

6203 PF Mayors' Allowance 4,959 0 0 5,160 1,032 4,128 5,682 6,255 6,887 7,583

6204 PF Councillors' Allowance 1,391 0 0 3,663 0 3,663 4,033 4,440 4,889 5,382

6205 PF Insurance 14,913 0 0 24,367 10,398 13,969 26,828 29,538 32,521 35,806

6206 PF Youth Council 4,000 0 0 4,404 0 4,404 4,849 5,339 5,878 6,471

6208 PF Subscriptions 14,270 0 0 16,515 14,102 2,413 18,183 20,019 22,041 24,268

6210 PF Community Chest 4,704 0 0 10,000 800 9,200 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

6211 PF Website Maintenance 675 0 0 1,101 90 1,011 1,212 1,335 1,469 1,618

6213 PF Councillor Training & Expenses 623 0 0 3,019 614 2,405 3,324 3,660 4,029 4,436

6214 PF Health & Safety 5,117 0 0 8,258 1,625 6,633 9,092 10,010 11,021 12,134

6217 PF Data Protection 115 0 0 200 55 145 220 242 267 294

6220 PF Festival Fund 6,793 0 0 15,000 5,540 9,460 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

6221 PF Town Messenger 3,188 0 0 5,505 1,650 3,855 6,061 6,673 7,347 8,089

6222 PF Commissioning Youth Work 35,517 0 4,828 55,050 19,959 39,919 60,610 66,732 73,472 80,892

6224 PF Professional Costs 1,586 0 10,000 2,257 2,893 9,364 2,485 2,736 3,012 3,317

6227 PF Town Speakers PRS Licence 2,855 0 0 3,303 1,972 1,331 3,637 4,004 4,408 4,854

6229 PF CCTV Annual Maintenance 0 0 0 7,000 0 7,000 7,707 8,485 9,342 10,286

6514 PF Town Leaflets/ Reprinting 36 0 0 593 7 586 653 719 792 872

6516 PF Road Safety Grant 0 0 0 215 0 215 237 261 287 316

P&F IT/Office Costs 27,479 0 6,009 40,000 10,155 35,854 44,040 48,488 53,385 58,777

Total P&F Expenditure 137,929 0 20,837 216,184 69,997 167,024 235,494 256,754 280,159 305,933

6652 ST PF Employers Pension - Monthly Fee 5,305 0 0 6,095 500 5,595 5,300 5,300 5,300 5,300

6659 ST PF Town Sergeant & Mace Bearer Fees 738 0 0 792 150 642 872 960 1,057 1,164

6661 ST PF Finance Consultancy Fees 36,173 0 27,797 5,000 15,196 17,601 5,505 6,061 6,673 7,347

P&F Staffing Expenses 358 0 0 2,657 336 2,321 2,925 3,220 3,546 2,657

6656 ST PF Staff Training 1,214 0 0 4,542 567 3,975 5,000 5,505 6,061 6,674

P&F Staffing Costs 246,844 0 14,556 310,475 92,526 232,505 341,833 376,358 414,370 456,222

Total P&F Staffing Expenditure 290,631 0 42,353 329,561 109,274 262,640 361,435 397,404 437,007 479,364

Total P &F Operating Expenditure 428,560 0 63,190 545,745 179,271 429,664 596,929 654,158 717,166 785,297

Total P & F Operating Expenditure 428,560 0 63,190 545,745 179,271 429,664 596,929 654,158 717,166 785,297

Total P&F Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (400,546) 0 (63,190) (537,383) (164,176) (436,397) (587,723) (644,022) (706,006) (773,010)

6270 PF EMF Crime Reduction 0 51,550 0 0 0 51,550 0 0 0 0

6271 PF EMF Election 265 17,942 0 20,000 11,485 26,457 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

6272 PF EMF Robes & Civic Regalia 1,430 570 0 0 45 525 0 0 0 0

6273 PF EMF Legal Fees 400 5,601 0 0 0 5,601 0 0 0 0

6275 PF EMF Neighbourhood Plan 135 6,267 0 0 499 5,768 0 0 0 0

6278 PF EMF CIL Planning Income 0 6,060 4,563 0 0 10,623 0 0 0 0

6279 PF EMF Restart Business Support Gant 0 7,581 0 0 0 7,581 0 0 0 0

6280 PF EMF Town Vision 0 10,450 0 0 0 10,450 0 0 0 0

6281 PF EMF Town Vitality Funding Grant 14,242 69,758 0 0 46,613 23,145 0 0 0 0

6282 PF EMF Funding Bids (Consultancy Fees) 1,500 8,500 0 0 0 8,500 0 0 0 0

6283 PF EMF Events 0 500 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0

P &F Operating Expenditure

P&F Expenditure

P&F Staffing Expenditure

P&F EMF Expenditure 

Policy & Finance (P&F) Committee - P & F Budget 2023-24

Saltash Town Council

For the month ended 31 July 2023

P&F Operating Income

P&F Income

Page 31



6284 PF EMF Consultations 0 1,500 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 0 0

6285 PF EMF Twinning 0 119 0 0 0 119 0 0 0 0

6370 PF EMF Computer Equipment Renewal 10,371 11,675 (4,975) 0 1,559 5,141 0 0 0 0

6694 ST PF EMF Staff Contingency (P&F) 0 16,479 19,474 9,418 0 45,371 0 0 0 0

Total P&F EMF Expenditure 28,344 214,552 19,062 29,418 60,202 202,830 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

Total P&F Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 456,904 214,552 82,252 575,163 239,473 632,494 606,929 664,158 727,166 795,297

Total P&F Budget Surplus/ (Deficit) (428,890) (214,552) (82,252) (566,801) (224,378) (639,227) (597,723) (654,022) (716,006) (783,010)

Nominal Code Budget 2023/24 Virements Total Budget

6300 Telephone £2,670  £2,670

6301 Stationary £4,748  £4,748

6302 Office and IT Equipment £7,716  £7,716

6303 Copier Maintenance £6,054  £6,054

6304 Broadband £546  £546

6305 Finance Software £3,782 £1,034 £4,816

6306 IT Maintenance £14,484 £4,975 £19,459

TOTALS £40,000 £6,000 £46,009

1. P&F IT/Office Costs

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2023/24

 1. Virement from General Reserves to 6222 Commissioning of Professional Youth Work - £4,828 - P&F 142/22/23

 2. Virement from 6370 PF EMF Computer Equipment Renewal to 6306 IT Maintenance - £4,975 - P&F 17/23/24

 3. Virement from General Reserves to 6224 Professional Costs - £10,000 - P&F 23/23/24

 4. Virement from General Reserves to P&F Staffing Costs - £1,935 - PE 99/22/23

 5. Virement from General Reserves to 6661 ST PF Finance Consultancy Fees - £6,310 - PE 100/22/23

 6. Income Received for 6278 PF EMF CIL Planning Income - April 2023 Income - £4,563

 7. Virement from General Reserves to 6694 ST PF EMF Staff Contingency - £63,316 - FTC 58/23/24

 8. Virement from 6694 ST PF Staff Contingency - P&F to P&F Staffing Costs - £12,621 - FTC 58/23/24

 9. Virement from 6694 ST PF Staff Contingency (P&F) to 6661 ST P&F Finance Consultancy Fees - £21,487 - P&F 43/23/24

 10. Virement from 6694 ST PF Staff Contingency (P&F) to 6662 PE HR Professional Fees - £2,700 - P&F 43/23/24

 11. Virement from 6694 ST PF Staff Contingency (P&F) to 6305 PF Finance Software - £1,034 - P&F 43/23/24

 12. Virement from 6694 ST PF Staff Contingency (P&F) to 6701 PE Staff Recruitment - £6,000 - P&F 43/23/24

Page 32



Account

Actual 

Received/Spend 

2022/23

EMF Balances 

B/F 2022/23

To/From 

Reserves & 

Budget 

Virements 

2023/24

Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received/Spend 

YTD 2023/24

Actual Funds 

Available to 

Date 2023/24

Budget 

2024/25

Budget 

2025/26

Budget 

2026/27

Budget 

2027/28

6654 ST PE Staff Welfare 627 0 0 1,693 85 1,608 1,864 2,053 2,260 2,488

6662 ST PE HR Professional Fees 14,386 0 2,700 10,282 5,102 7,880 11,321 12,464 13,723 15,109

Total Personnel Expenditure 15,013 0 2,700 11,975 5,187 9,488 13,185 14,517 15,983 17,597

Total Personnel Operating Expenditure 15,013 0 2,700 11,975 5,187 9,488 13,185 14,517 15,983 17,597

Total Personnel Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (15,013) 0 (2,700) (11,975) (5,187) (9,488) (13,185) (14,517) (15,983) (17,597)

6691 ST PE EMF Legal Fees (Staffing) 1,072 5,713 0 685 0 6,398 0 0 0 0

6701 ST PE EMF Staff Recruitment 947 2,228 6,000 0 5,495 2,733 0 0 0 0

Total EMF Personnel Expenditure 2,019 7,941 6,000 685 5,495 9,131 0 0 0 0

Total Personnel Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 17,031 7,941 8,700 12,660 10,681 18,620 13,185 14,517 15,983 17,597

Total Personnel Budget Surplus/ (Deficit) (17,031) (7,941) (8,700) (12,660) (10,681) (18,620) (13,185) (14,517) (15,983) (17,597)

EMF Personnel Expenditure

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2023/24

 1. Virement from 6694 P&F Staff Contingency to 6701 PE Staff Recruitment - £6,000 - P&F 43/23/24

 2. Virement from 6694 P&F Staff Contingency to 6662 ST PE HR Professional Fees - £2,700 - P&F 43/23/24

Personnel Committee - Personnel Budget 2023-24

Saltash Town Council

For the month ended 31 July 2023

Personnel Operating Expenditure

Personnel Expenditure

Page 33



Account

Actual 

Received/

Spend 

2022/23

EMF 

Balances 

B/F 

2022/23

To/From 

Reserves & 

Budget 

Virements 

2023/24

Budget 

2023/24

Actual 

Received

/Spend 

YTD 

2023/24

Actual 

Funds To 

Receive/

Available 

to Date 

2023/24

Budget 

2024/25

Budget 

2025/26

Budget 

2026/27

Budget 

2027/28

4500 SE Allotment Rents 3,432 0 0 4,000 3,922 78 4,404 4,849 5,339 5,878
4510 SE Public Footpath Grant 1,573 0 0 1,722 0 1,722 1,896 2,087 2,298 2,530
4511 SE Christmas Event income 0 0 0 150 0 150 165 182 200 220
4512 SE Misc Income Grounds & Premises 2,472 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4513 SE Water Rates Income 0 0 0 3,560 87 3,473 0 0 0 0
4523 SE Service Delivery Income - Seagull Bags 1,140 0 0 2,003 432 1,571 2,205 2,428 2,673 2,943

Total Grounds & Premises Income 8,617 0 0 11,435 4,441 6,994 8,670 9,546 10,510 11,571

4520 SE Waterfront Income - Trusted Boat Scheme 1,945 0 0 4,265 2,293 1,972 4,696 5,170 5,692 6,267
4521 SE Waterfront Income - Annual Mooring Fees 6,246 0 0 10,800 9,659 1,141 11,891 13,092 14,414 15,870
4522 SE Waterfront Income - Daily Mooring Fees 875 0 0 2,400 1,750 650 2,642 2,909 3,203 3,527

Total Town & Waterfront Income 9,066 0 0 17,465 13,703 3,762 19,229 21,171 23,309 25,664
Total Service Delivery Income 17,683 0 0 28,900 18,143 10,757 27,899 30,717 33,819 37,235

Total Service Delivery Operating Income 17,683 0 0 28,900 18,143 10,757 27,899 30,717 33,819 37,235

6209 SE Oyster Beds 3 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1
6500 SE Tree Survey and Tree Maintenance 7,297 0 0 11,010 0 11,010 12,122 13,346 14,694 16,178
6503 SE Allotments 1,700 0 0 1,321 127 1,194 1,455 1,602 1,763 1,941
6506 SE Grounds Maintenance & Watering 5,678 0 0 10,000 4,468 5,532 11,010 12,122 13,346 14,694
6508 SE Public Toilets (Operational Costs) 4,839 0 0 4,430 2,197 2,233 4,878 5,371 5,913 6,510
6517 SE Cross (Maintenance) 417 0 0 3,303 58 3,245 3,637 4,004 4,408 4,854
6525 SE Public Toilets (Repairs & Maintenance Costs) 2,048 0 0 2,753 111 2,642 3,031 3,337 3,674 4,045
6526 SE Tools, Equipment & Materials (Store & All Areas) 3,287 0 0 3,303 434 2,869 3,637 4,004 4,408 4,854
6529 SE Refuse Disposal 5,465 0 0 6,056 1,909 4,147 6,667 7,340 8,082 8,898
6907 SE Seagulls Bags 1,212 0 0 2,002 304 1,698 2,204 2,426 2,671 2,941

7100 LO Rates - Longstone 2,157 0 0 2,375 (6,261) 8,636 2,615 2,879 3,170 3,490
7101 LO Water Rates - Longstone 2,203 0 0 4,012 1,285 2,727 4,417 4,863 5,355 5,895
7103 LO Electricity - Longstone 1,086 0 0 6,153 161 5,992 6,774 7,458 8,211 9,041
7104 LO Fire & Security Alarm - Longstone 999 0 0 1,010 479 531 1,112 1,224 1,347 1,484
7107 LO Rent - Longstone 4,620 0 0 4,955 1,925 3,030 5,455 6,006 6,612 7,280
7108 LO Cleaning Materials & Equipment - Longstone 537 0 0 677 132 545 746 821 904 995
7110 LO General Repairs & Maintenance - Longstone 456 0 0 551 50 501 606 667 735 809
7114 LO Equipment - Longstone 52 0 0 1,129 0 1,129 1,243 1,368 1,506 1,658
7121 LO IT & Office Costs - Longstone 578 0 0 750 36 714 826 909 1,001 1,102
Total Longstone Expenditure 12,687 0 0 21,612 (2,192) 23,804 23,794 26,195 28,841 31,754

Total Grounds & Premises Expendture 44,634 0 0 65,791 7,416 58,375 72,436 79,748 87,801 96,670

6504 SE Street Furniture (Maintenance) 893 0 0 2,000 233 1,767 2,202 2,424 2,669 2,939
6505 SE Street Lighting 160 0 0 750 0 750 826 909 1,001 1,102
6511 SE Tourism & Signage 746 0 0 250 182 68 275 303 334 367
6512 SE Bus Shelters (Maintenance) 0 0 0 565 0 565 622 685 754 830
6515 SE Festive Lights Maintenance & Electricity 1,319 0 0 3,500 (343) 3,843 3,854 4,243 4,671 5,143
6519 SE Flags & Bunting 1,780 0 0 2,753 946 1,807 3,031 3,337 3,674 4,045
6522 SE Pontoon (Maintenance Costs) (6522) 7,484 0 0 6,606 422 6,184 7,273 8,008 8,817 9,707
6524 SE Vehicle Maintenance and Repair Costs 10,775 0 0 12,600 4,541 8,059 13,873 15,274 16,816 18,515
6527 SE Salt Bins Refill 188 0 0 500 0 500 551 606 667 735
6528 SE Pontoon Accommodation 6,282 0 0 11,921 2,186 9,735 13,125 14,450 15,910 17,516

Total Town & Waterfront Expenditure 29,627 0 0 41,445 8,165 33,280 45,632 50,239 55,313 60,899
Total Service Delivery Expenditure 74,261 0 0 107,236 15,581 91,655 118,068 129,987 143,114 157,569

Service Delivery Staffing Expenses 3,906 0 987 5,504 1,377 5,114 6,060 6,672 7,346 5,504
6676 ST SE Services Delivery Staff Training 6,536 0 757 11,010 1,947 9,820 12,122 13,346 14,694 16,178

Services Committee - Service Delivery Budget 23-2024
Saltash Town Council
For the month ended 31 July 2023

Service Delivery Operating Income 
Service Delivery Income
Grounds & Premises Income

Town & Waterfront Income

Service Delivery Operating Expenditure
Service Delivery Expenditure
Grounds & Premises Expendture

Longstone Expenditure

Town & Waterfront Expenditure

Service Delivery Staffing Expenditure

Page 34



Service Delivery Staffing Costs 202,994 0 37,502 217,402 62,152 192,752 239,360 263,535 290,152 319,457
Total Service Delivery Staffing Expenditure 213,436 0 39,246 233,916 65,477 207,685 257,542 283,553 312,192 341,139

Total Operating Expenditure 287,697 0 39,246 341,152 81,058 299,340 375,610 413,540 455,306 498,708

Total Service Delivery Operating Expenditure 287,697 0 39,246 341,152 81,058 299,340 375,610 413,540 455,306 498,708

Total Service Delivery Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (270,014) 0 (39,246) (312,252) (62,915) (288,583) (347,711) (382,823) (421,487) (461,473)

6471 SE EMF Heritage Centre 2,071 7,889 0 0 0 7,889 0 0 0 0
6571 SE EMF Saltash Recreation Areas 506 39,054 0 20,000 502 58,552 0 0 0 0
6580 SE EMF Public Toilets (Capital Works) 1,690 8,310 0 0 0 8,310 0 0 0 0
6588 SE EMF Victoria Gardens 0 10,000 0 0 0 10,000 0 0 0 0
6589 SE EMF Community Tree Planting Initiatives 532 1,468 0 2,000 0 3,468 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000

7170 LO EMF Longstone Depot Capital Works 0 500 0 2,000 0 2,500 0 0 0 0
Total Longstone EMF Expenditure 0 500 0 2,000 0 2,500 0 0 0 0

Total Grounds & Premises EMF Expenditure 4,800 67,221 0 24,000 502 90,719 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000

6570 SE EMF Notice Boards (Repair & Replace) 685 1,154 0 0 0 1,154 0 0 0 0
6572 SE EMF Festive Lights 14,668 51 0 10,000 0 10,051 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
6573 SE EMF Public Art & Maintenance 0 1,443 0 0 0 1,443 0 0 0 0
6574 SE EMF Salt Bins 0 2,464 0 0 0 2,464 0 0 0 0
6575 SE EMF Street Furniture (New & Replace) 1,411 1,037 0 0 0 1,037 0 0 0 0
6578 SE EMF Equipment and Vehicles (Capital Works) 0 24,749 0 0 11,084 13,665 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
6582 SE EMF Town War Memorial 0 1,978 0 0 0 1,978 0 0 0 0
6584 SE EMF Pontoon Maintenance Costs 73 6,058 0 0 0 6,058 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
6590 SE EMF Utilities & Rates 0 2,157 0 0 0 2,157 0 0 0 0
6700 EMF Staff Contingency (Service Delivery) 0 18,534 96,849 3,207 6,421 112,169 0 0 0 0

Total Town & Waterfront EMF Expenditure 16,836 59,625 96,849 13,207 17,505 152,176 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000
Total Service Delivery EMF Expenditure 21,636 126,846 96,849 37,207 18,007 242,895 27,000 27,000 27,000 27,000

Total Service Delivery Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 309,333 126,846 136,095 378,359 99,065 542,235 402,610 440,540 482,306 525,708

Total Service Delivery Budget Surplus/ (Deficit) (291,650) (126,846) (136,095) (349,459) (80,922) (531,478) (374,711) (409,823) (448,487) (488,473)

Service Delivery EMF Expenditure 
Grounds & Premises EMF Expenditure

Longstone EMF Expenditure

Town & Waterfront EMF Expenditure

 To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2023/24

 1. Virement from General Reserves to Service Delivery Staffing Costs - £1,366 PE 99/22/23

 2. Virement from General Reserves to 6700 ST SE EMF Staff Contingency - £89,865 - FTC 58/23/24

 3. Virement from 6700 ST SE Staff Contingency to Service Delivery Staffing Costs - £5,920 - FTC 58/23/24

 4. Virement from 6624 ST BB Cemetery Staff Gross Pay to 6618 ST SE Service Delivery Gross Pay - £16,622 - BB 5/23/24

 5. Virement from 6625 ST BB Cemetery Empers NI to 6619 ST SE Service Delivery Empers NI - £1,387 - BB 5/23/24

 6. Virement from 6626 ST BB Cemetery Staff Empers Pension to 6620 ST SE Service Delivery Empers Pension - £3,202 - BB 5/23/24

 7. Virement from 6667 ST BB Cemetery Staff Clothing to 6673 ST SE Service Delivery Clothing - £138 - BB 5/23/24

 8. Virement from 6668 ST BB Cemetery Staff Mobiles to 6674 ST SE Service Delivery Mobiles - £473 - BB 5/23/24

 9. Virement from 6669 ST BB Staff Travelling Expenses to 6675 ST SE Service Delivery Travelling Expenses - £80 - BB 5/23/24

 10. Virement from 6670 ST BB Staff Training to 6676 ST SE Services Staff Training - £530 - BB 5/23/24

 11. Virement from 6693 ST BB EMF Staff Contingency to 6700 ST SE Service Delivery Staff Contingency - £8,830 - BB 5/23/24

 12. Virement from 6615 ST BA Cemetery Warden Gross Pay to 6618 ST SE Services Delivery GrossPay - £7,038 - TBC

 13. Virement from 6616 ST BA Cemetery Warden Empers NI to 6619 ST SEServices Delivery Empers NI - £595 - TBC

 14. Virement from 6617 ST BA Cemetery Warden Empers Pension to 6620 ST SE Services DeliveryEmpers Pension - £1,372 - TBC 

 15. Virement from 6663 ST BA Cemetery Staff Clothing (Churchtown) to 6673 ST SE ServicesDelivery Clothing - £59 - TBC 

16. Virement from 6664 ST BA Cemetery Staff Mobile Phones (Churchtown) to 6674 ST SEServices Delivery Mobiles - £203 - TBC 

17. Virement from 6665 ST BA Staff Travelling Costs (Churchtown) to 6675 STSE Services Delivery Staff Travelling Expenses - £34 - TBC

18. Virement from 6666 ST BA Staff Training (Churchtown) to 6676 ST SE Services DeliveryStaff Training - £227 - TBC 

19. Virement from 6692 ST BA EMF Staff Contingency (Churchtown) to 6700 STSE Services Delivery Staff Contingency - £4,074 - TBC

Page 35



Account

Actual 
Received/ 

Spend 
2022/23

EMF 
Balances 

B/F 2022/23

To/From 
Reserves & 

Budget 
Virements 

2023/24

Budget 
2023/24

Actual 
Received/

Spend 
YTD 

2023/24

Actual 
Funds To 
Receive/
Available 

to Date 
2023/24

Budget 
2024/25

Budget 
2025/26

Budget 
2026/27

Budget 
2027/28

4301 SA Isambard House - Bookings 3,800 0 0 10,000 3,402 6,598 11,010 12,122 13,346 14,694
4302 SA Isambard - Refreshment Income 20 0 0 500 25 475 551 606 667 735
4304 SA Isambard House - Cafe Rental 0 0 0 5,000 0 5,000 5,505 6,061 6,673 7,347
Total Isambard House Income 3,820 0 0 15,500 3,427 12,073 17,066 18,789 20,686 22,776

Total Isambard House Operating Income 3,820 0 0 15,500 3,427 12,073 17,066 18,789 20,686 22,776

6800 SA Rates - Isambard House 3,543 0 0 4,129 3,720 409 4,546 5,005 5,510 6,067
6801 SA Water Rates - Isambard House 586 0 0 645 (586) 1,231 710 782 861 948
6802 SA Gas - Isambard House 573 0 0 6,075 (12) 6,087 6,689 7,364 8,108 8,927
6803 SA Electricity - Isambard House 3,480 0 0 9,020 1,011 8,009 9,931 10,934 12,038 13,254
6804 SA Fire & Security Alarm - Isambard House 603 0 0 1,000 425 575 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469
6808 SA Cleaning Materials & Equipment - Isambard House 1,724 0 0 1,693 210 1,483 1,864 2,053 2,260 2,488
6810 SA General Repairs & Maintenance - Isambard House 758 0 0 1,000 902 98 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469
6813 SA Refreshments Costs - Isambard House 0 0 0 210 0 210 231 255 280 309
6814 SA Equipment - Isambard House 650 0 0 989 0 989 1,089 1,199 1,320 1,453
6818 SA Professional Costs - Isambard House 1,660 0 0 2,000 668 1,333 2,202 2,424 2,669 2,939
6821 SA IT & Office Costs - Isambard House 0 0 0 1,000 37 963 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469
6822 SA Activities & Events 0 0 0 1,000 505 495 1,101 1,212 1,335 1,469
Total Isambard House Expenditure 13,578 0 0 28,761 6,878 21,883 31,666 34,864 38,386 42,261

6671 ST SA Staff Expenses - Isambard House 0 0 0 282 0 282 310 342 376 414
6672 ST SA Staff Training - Isambard House 0 0 0 1,129 0 1,129 1,243 1,368 1,506 1,658
Total Isambard House Staffing Expenditure 0 0 0 1,411 0 1,411 1,553 1,710 1,882 2,072

Total Operating Expenditure 13,578 0 0 30,172 6,878 23,294 33,219 36,574 40,268 44,333

Total Isambard House Operating Expenditure 13,578 0 0 30,172 6,878 23,294 33,219 36,574 40,268 44,333

Total Isambard House Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (9,758) 0 0 (14,672) (3,452) (11,220) (16,153) (17,785) (19,582) (21,557)

6473 SA EMF Station Building (Purchase & Capital Works) 35,000 57,745 0 0 0 57,745 0 0 0 0
6870 SA EMF Isambard House 0 18,492 0 0 0 18,492 0 0 0 0
6871 SA EMF Tresorys Kernow Funding 286 2,962 (35) 0 2,458 469 0 0 0 0
6872 SA EMF Entertainment Licenses 0 2,132 0 0 0 2,132 0 0 0 0
6695 ST SA EMF Staff Contingency - Isambard House 0 2,000 0 0 0 2,000 0 0 0 0

Total Isambard House EMF Expenditure 35,286 83,331 (35) 0 2,458 80,838 0 0 0 0

Total Isambard House Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 48,863 83,331 (35) 30,172 9,337 104,131 33,219 36,574 40,268 44,333

Total Isambard House Budget Surplus/ (Deficit) (45,043) (83,331) 35 (14,672) (5,910) (92,058) (16,153) (17,785) (19,582) (21,557)

1.  6871 SA EMF Tresorys Kernow Funding - £35 refund relating to last year's cancelled Beating of the Bounds event
2.  6822 SA Activities & Events - Expenditure includes £450 Murder Mystery offset against income 4301 SA Isambard House Bookings

Isambard House Operating Expenditure
Isambard House Expenditure

Isambard House Staffing Expenditure

Isambard House EMF Expenditure 

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2023/24

Services Committee - Isambard House (Station Building) Budget 2023-24
Saltash Town Council
For the month ended 31 July 2023

Isambard House Operating Income
Isambard House Income

Page 36



 
 
To receive a report from the Finance Officer 
 
 

1. Price increase for Adobe Pro Licences – 10 x Annual licences increased from £1,720 to 
£2,426 (+£706 +41%). 
Alternative provider Nitro, recommended by our IT Consultants. The new software has all 
the functionality of Adobe Pro at a total annual cost of £1,440 for 10 users making a saving 
of £986 compared to Adobe. The software is saved on the individual’s computers so will be 
GDPR compliant.  

 Budget code  6208 PF Suscriptions  

 Budget Availability £2,413 

 Nitro Cost  £1,440 

 Budget Balance       £973 

 

 
 

2. Debtors  
This is a list of the current outstanding invoices.  
Note: There are no overdue accounts and as Finance Officer I have no areas of concern. 
St Stephen Parish Church overpaid by £75 and will be deducting the amount from the next 
invoice they receive.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact

Less 

than 1 

Month

1 Month

2 

Months 

& Older

Total Notes

Churchtown - Plot 40 85.00 0.00 0.00 85.00
Churchtown Allotment                    

Inv 04-08-23. Due 11-09-23

Coombe Creek Moorings 

Association
45.80 0.00 0.00 45.80

Guildhall booking November.                  

Inv 06-09-23 Due 13-09-23

Saltash Bowling Club 930.02 0.00 0.00 930.02
Recharge for water. Invoice dated 

01-09-23. Due 08-09-23

St Stephen Parish Church 0.00 (75.00) 0.00 (75.00)

St Stephens Burial Fees.  

Overpaid, due to be deducted 

from next invoice

We Are With You 60.00 0.00 0.00 60.00

Maurice Huggings booking.                 

Invoice dated 01-09-23. Due 08-

09-23

Total 1,120.82 (75.00) 0.00 1,045.82

Page 37

Agenda Item 12



 
 

3. General Reserves (Free Reserves) 
 

 Year-End for 2021-22 shows a figure of £259,921 
 

 Year-End for 2022-23 shows a figure of £506,294 (an increase on 2021-22 of 
£246,373 as a result of capital adjustments (EMFs) and underspend on income and 
expenditure) 

 

 Year-End 2023-24 to 31st July 2023  The General Reserve figure is currently 
£287,048 after virements of £219,246. The following table shows the detailed 
transactions 

 
 

 
Note: 2022-23 surplus staffing funds of approximately £176k returned to General 
Reserves. It was RESOLVED at FTC to vire £173,745 to cover staffing costs for 2023-24  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Total Funds Available - 1st April 2023 £506,294

Expenditure Minute No.

Maurice Huggins Room £6,000

Virement to 6222 Commissioning of Professional Youth Work £4,828 P&F 142/22/23

Virement to 6224 Professional Costs £10,000 P&F 23/23/24

Virement to Employers Pension Costs £4,613 PE 99/22/23

Virement to 6661 ST PF Finance Consultancy Fees £6,310 PE 100/22/23

50% of Community Network Highways Scheme Application - £7,500 £3,750 FTC 7/23/24

Virement to 6692 ST BA EMF Staff Contingency (Churchtown) £2,874 FTC 58/23/24

Virement to 6693 ST BB EMF Staff Contingency (St Stephens) £6,030 FTC 58/23/24

Virement to 6694 ST PF EMF Staff Contingency £63,316 FTC 58/23/24

Virement to 6696 ST GH EMF Staff Contingency £11,660 FTC 58/23/24

Virement to 6700 ST GH EMF Staff Contingency £89,865 FTC 58/23/24

Virement to 6282 PF EMF Funding Bids (Consultancy Fees) £10,000 FTC 132/23/24

£219,246

General Reserves Balance at 31st July 2023 £287,048

Page 38



 

4. Precept 2nd Instalment  
£653,876.50 paid into Barclays Current Account on 7th September  
Members to consider the following table to transfer funds between accounts.  
 
 

 
 
Note: Based on average monthly expenditure for suppliers & salaries of £125,000, Saltash 
Town Council have funds in the Barclays current account to cover September, and Barclays 
Active Saver for October and November. Members are asked to consider delegating to the 
Finance Officer to make regular withdrawals from the Nationwide account to cover future 
liabilities from December 2023 to March 2024.  
 
 

 

Finance Officer 

End of Report 

Barclays 

Currrent 

Account

CCLA 

Public 

Sector 

Deposit 

Fund

Barclays 

Active 

Saver

Nationwide 

95 day 

Notice 

Account

Cornwall 

Council 

Deposit 

Fund

Lloyds 

Fixed 

Term 

Deposit 

Account 

(6 

months)

NEW 

Lloyds 

Fixed 

Term 

Deposit 

Account 

12 

months)

Interest 

Rate at 

Sept 23

n/a 4.97% 1.20% 3.80% 3.97% 2.90% 3.50%

Balance at 

07-09-23 £775,614 £200,000 £60,831 £500,650 £975,023 £240,000

-£300,000 £300,000

-£200,000 £200,000

-£240,000 £240,000

-£100,000 £100,000

BALANCE £175,614 £500,000 £260,831 £500,650 £975,023 £0 £340,000

Transfer 

To / From

Bank Account / Investment Description

Page 39



To receive a report on insurance claims 
 

 

 

 

Finance Officer 

End of Report 
 

Date of 
Claim 

Date of 
Incident 

Description Value Of 
Claim 

Action Taken Claim 
Settled 
Yes/No/On
going 

18/07/2023 01/06/2023 Stone chip 
damage to door 
of black Audi 
whilst strimming 
Pilmere 
roundabout 
  

Quotation 
for repairs 
£440.80 
Excess 
£100 

Zurich 
reviewing 
documents 
and will 
confirm 
settlement 
decision w/e 
08-09-23 
  

Ongoing 

07/08/2023 05/07/2023 STC vehicle 
(BX15HWJ) 
reversed into 
parked van.  

Quotation 
for repairs 
£1,030 & 
£1,129 
Excess 
£500 
  

Insurers 
currently  
assessing 
claim.  

Ongoing 

28/07/2023 23/07/2023 Attempted break 
in of STC 
vehicle (EA14 
ZCZ) at 
Longstone 
Depot 
  

Quotation 
for repairs 
£858 
Excess 
£100 

Insurers 
currently  
assessing 
claim.  

Ongoing 

Page 40

Agenda Item 13



To receive the Town Council Insurance Policy Renewal and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure 

 
 
Policy and Finance Committee – 28th September 2022 
 
 
73/22/23 TO RECEIVE THE TOWN COUNCIL INSURANCE POLICY RENEWAL 

AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor P Samuels and 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. To approve the proposal from Zurich of a new 3 year insurance policy with the option 

of a 2 year extension at a cost of £10,455.72 (including all applicable taxes); 
 

2. To allocate the cost to budget code 6205 P&F Insurance. 
 

 
 
Members are asked to review the policy renewal document on the next page and 
consider approving the renewal for the year 2024-25. 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 14



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 1 of 21

Ms Sinead Burrows
Saltash Town Council
The Guildhall
12 Lower Fore Street
Saltash
Cornwall
PL12 6JX

Select for Local Councils Policy Schedule
This insurance policy, which meets your demands and needs, has been based on the latest information obtained 
from you. The Policy, the Policy Schedule, any Certificates of Insurance and Endorsements form one document and 
should be read together. This Schedule replaces any previous Schedule.
  
Policy Number YLL-2720862183
  
Insured Saltash Town Council
  
Business Parish / Town Council
  
Period of Insurance
From 10th October 2023
To 09th October 2024
and any other period for which cover has been agreed.
  
Renewal Premium £ 11,023.40
  
Premiums are inclusive of Insurance Premium Tax and/or VAT as appropriate.
  
Schedule Number 118118478
  
Long term agreement active until 10th October 2025
  
Preparation Date 05th September 2023
  
Prepared by Mr Jonathan Meiseles
  
Policy Form Reference MLAACG08

Policy Cover Declaration:
You, the Insured, are not aware of any known losses or events that could give rise to a claim, or circumstances that 
would be prejudicial to us, the Insurer, should the basis of cover on the below given insurance product (s) be 
changed. 

This is important information, please read it carefully and check that the facts given about you are correct and that 
we have included all the covers that you require. We are unable to give you advice so it is your responsibility to 
check the cover is correct for your organisation. 

Page 42



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 2 of 21

Statement of Fact

If you provide services or activities to children, or adults who are in need of care and support and therefore may be 
unable to protect themselves against abuse or neglect:

• Your organisation has not had any third-party inspections with a grading of Inadequate, Requires Urgent 
Improvement, Weak or Unsatisfactory 

• You have in place a written safeguarding policy and accompanying procedures that clearly set out the 
actions to take in response to child and vulnerable adult abuse 

• You carry out safer recruitment and selection processes that include the seeking of appropriate criminal 
records checks, alongside a renewal and update process 

• All employees and volunteers engaged in regulated activity and/or activity that brings them into contact 
with children or vulnerable adults receive safeguarding awareness training including refresher training 

• You have one or more designated practitioners for safeguarding to support other practitioners in the 
organisation to recognise and respond to concerns about Abuse 

• You retain employment records, safeguarding checks, safeguarding policies and procedures and 
safeguarding records for at least the prevailing regulatory best practice period. 

If you provide services or activities to children, or adults who are in need of care and support and therefore may be 
unable to protect themselves against abuse or neglect, and you become non-compliant with any of the above 
statements, you must tell us, as it may affect your ability to claim under this policy. 

Important information

Taking reasonable care 

We require that you take reasonable care in managing your activities. Where appropriate this requires you to do 

the following:

• Keep written risk assessments for your key activities 

• Keep written records of your staff and volunteer training. For example, manual handling training, or for use 

of tools and machinery 

• Abide by any rules, guidelines or advice that is given to you by any relevant authority, such as a Local 

Authority, or the Health and Safety Executive 

We want you to be confident about your insurance and understand what is required of you. Please contact us if you 

have any questions relating to the above. 

Page 43



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 3 of 21

Lines of Cover applying 

Part A – Material Damage 

Table Headings
Contents (a) Furniture, fixtures, fittings and tenants improvements
Contents (b) Other contents and consumable stock not specified below including printed books and 

unused stationery
Contents (c) Computer equipment, other office equipment and sports equipment
Contents (d) Televisions, audio-visual and photographic equipment (excluding videos), beer, wine, 

spirits, tools and gardening equipment
Contents (e) Tobacco
Contents (f) Camcorders, videos and gaming machines
Contents (g) Civic Regalia

Sums Insured 
Premises Address Buildings Sum 

Insured
Loss of Rent Contents 

(a)
Contents (b) Contents (c)Contents 

(d)
Contents 

(e)
Contents 

(f)
Contents 

(g)
1. The 

Guildhall, Address, 
12 Lower Fore 
Street, Saltash, 

Cornwall, PL12 6JX

£2,019,946.50£40,000.00£39,665.99 £0.00 £40,319.51 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £36,059.99

2. Heritage 
Centre, Address, 
15-17 Lower Fore 

Street, Saltash, 
Cornwall, PL12 6JX

£681,747.00 N/A £10,283.11 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

3. Maurice 
Huggins 

Room, Address, 
Callington Road, 

Saltash, Cornwall, 
PL12 6LA

£191,515.50 N/A £6,010.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

4. Caretakers 
Building, Address, 

Church Town 
Cemetery, Saltash, 

Cornwall, PL12 
4AR

£75,883.50 N/A £1,202.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

5. Saltash 
Library, Address, 
Saltash Library, 

Callington Road, 
Saltash, Cornwall, 

PL12 6DX

£2,384,910.00 N/A £12,236.36£150,081.68£60,099.99 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Page 44



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 4 of 21

6. Longstone 
Depot, Address, 
Glebe Avenue, 

Callington Road, 
Saltash, Cornwall, 

PL12 6DN

£538,411.50 N/A £16,337.86 £0.00 £3,500.97 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

7. Saltash Station 
Building, Address, 

Station Road, 
Saltash, Cornwall, 

PL12 4DY

£873,262.50 N/A £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

8. Waterside 
Toilets, Address, 
Old Ferry Road, 

Saltash, Cornwall, 
PL12 6BJ

£186,697.50 N/A £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

9. Toilet 
Block, Address, 

Alexandra Square, 
Saltash, Cornwall, 

PL12 6AN

£118,041.00 N/A £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

10. Toilet 
Block, Address, 
Longstone Park, 

Saltash, Cornwall, 
PL12 6EU

£124,952.40 N/A £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

11. Toilet 
Block, Address, 
Belle Vue Road, 

Saltash, Cornwall, 
PL12 6ES

£87,928.50 N/A £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

12. Toilet 
Block, Address, 

Churchtown 
Cemetery, Off 

Farm Lane, 
Saltash, Cornwall, 

PL12 4AR

£72,270.00 N/A £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

For Premises: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12
Insured Perils applicable to Material Damage : 1-13, 15 & 16 

Excesses Applicable to Premises 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 & 12 
The following Excesses apply to each and every loss arising in respect of each and every separate premises:
Accidental Damage £250
Theft £250

Page 45



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 5 of 21

Riot civil commotion and Malicious Persons £250
Storm or Flood £250
Escape of Water £250
Falling Trees or Branches £250
  
Variable contents excess active:

Premises Contents Excess 
Premises 1: 12 Lower Fore Street, 
Saltash, Cornwall, PL12 6JX

Office, Computer and Sports Equipment £250

Premises 1: 12 Lower Fore Street, 
Saltash, Cornwall, PL12 6JX

Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings £250

Premises 1: 12 Lower Fore Street, 
Saltash, Cornwall, PL12 6JX

Civic Regalia £250

Premises 2: 15-17 Lower Fore 
Street, Saltash, Cornwall, PL12 6JX

Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings £250

Premises 3: Callington Road, 
Saltash, Cornwall, PL12 6LA

Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings £250

Premises 4: Church Town 
Cemetery, Saltash, Cornwall, PL12 
4AR

Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings £250

Premises 5: Saltash Library, 
Callington Road, Saltash, 
Cornwall, PL12 6DX

Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings £250

Premises 5: Saltash Library, 
Callington Road, Saltash, 
Cornwall, PL12 6DX

Stock & Other Unspecified Contents £250

Premises 5: Saltash Library, 
Callington Road, Saltash, 
Cornwall, PL12 6DX

Office, Computer and Sports Equipment £250

Premises 6: Glebe Avenue, 
Callington Road, Saltash, 
Cornwall, PL12 6DN

Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings £250

Premises 6: Glebe Avenue, 
Callington Road, Saltash, 
Cornwall, PL12 6DN

Office, Computer and Sports Equipment £250

Operative Endorsements: 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8 & 9 (please refer to the Endorsement section of the policy wording)

Page 46



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 6 of 21

Part B – Business Interruption 
Premises Address Additional 

Expenditure 
Indemnity 

Period 
(Months) 

Loss of 
Data 

Indemnity 
Period 

(Months) 

Loss of 
Gross 

Revenue 

Indemnity 
Period 

(Months) 

All Premises £250,000 36 N/A £10,000 36

For Premises: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12
Insured Perils applicable to Business Interruption : 1-13, 15 & 16 

Operative Endorsements: 

None

Page 47



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 7 of 21

Part C – All Risks 
Table Headings
Contents (a) Furniture, fixtures, fittings and tenants improvements
Contents (b) Other Contents and consumable stock not specified below including printed books and 

unused stationery
Contents (c) Computer Equipment, other office equipment and sports equipment
Contents (d) Televisions, audio-visual and photographic equipment (excluding videos), beer, wine, 

spirits, tools and gardening equipment
Contents (e) Tobacco
Contents (f) Camcorders, videos and gaming machines
Contents (g) Civic Regalia

Additional Items: 
Where no premises address is shown, the item is not based at one location and cover is provided anywhere within 
the territorial limits.

Item Description Sum Insured Excess 
Prefab Shed £16,966.22 £250

Portacabin & Contents £11,366.11 £250
The Cornish Cross £435,393.13 £250

St Stephens Cemetery- Boundary Wall £349,170.10 £250
Street Furniture £92,007.48 £250
Watering Station £5,933.07 £250

Gates, Fences & Walls £60,099.99 £250
Ferry Sculpture £46,207.27 £250
Play Equipment £148,297.92 £250
Talking Bench £15,287.04 £250
Civic Regalia £784,699.59 £250

Garden & Maintenance Machinery/Tools & Associated Equipment £60,099.99 £250
Market Equipment £2,134.75 £250

Laptops & Portable Electronic Equipment £7,700.00 £250
Christmas Lights & Waterfront Lighting £12,020.00 £250

Bunting £2,404.00 £250
Display Cabinet £2,905.11 £250

Model of Cornish Cross £6,010.00 £250
IT Equipment including Laptops for use at home £1,808.84 £250

Sanitising Equipment £1,750.49 £250
BT Phone Box at Saltash Railway Station £5,665.00 £250

12 speakers to be installed in Fore Street, Saltash and the associated 
equipment which will be kept at the Guildhall

£6,764.01 £250

Metal Work Bench in Fore Street £9,900.00 £250

The excess stated applies to each and every loss.

Page 48



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 8 of 21

Operative Endorsements: 1, 2, 3 & 7 (please refer to the Endorsement section of the policy wording)

Page 49



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 9 of 21

Part D – Money 
Limit any one loss 

  
1. Loss of Non-Negotiable Money in the situations specified in items 2(a), 2(b), 2(c)(i) 

and 2(c)(ii):
£250,000

  
2. Loss of other Money:

(a) in transit in the custody of any Member or Employee or in transit by registered 
post (limit £250), or in a Bank Night Safe

£5,000

  
(b) in the private residence of any Member or Employee £500

  
(c) in the premises 

(i)   in the custody of or under the actual supervision of any Member or 
Employee 

£5,000

  
(ii)  in locked safes or strongrooms £5,000

  
(iii) in locked receptacles other than safes or strongrooms £500

  
  
Excess: £50 each and every loss 
  
Personal Accident Assault Limits: Stated in Section 3(c) of the policy wording 
  
Operative Endorsements: 
  
1.In respect of Section 1 – Special Definitions, the definition of Person Insured is extended to include any person 
between the ages of 16 and 90. 

Page 50



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 10 of 21

Part E – Public Liability 

Limit of Indemnity: £15,000,000
  
Excess: £100 each and every claim in respect of Section 2(d)(ii)

Operative Endorsements: 
    
1. Environmental Clean Up Costs. The following Special Definitions are added to Section 1:
  
Clean Up Costs 
a) Testing for or monitoring of Pollution or Contamination
  
b) the costs of Remediation required by any Enforcing Authority to a standard reasonably achievable 

by the methods available at the time that such Remediation commences. 
  
Remediation 
Remedying the effects of Pollution or Contamination including primary, complementary and compensatory actions 
as specified in the Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) Regulations 2009.
  
Enforcing Authority 
Any government or statutory authority or body implementing or enforcing environmental protection legislation 
within the territorial limits. 
  
Cover 
With effect from 01 July 2009 or the inception of the policy if later, the insurer will indemnify the insured in respect 
of all sums including statutory debts that the insured is legally liable to pay in respect of Clean Up Costs arising from 
environmental damage caused by Pollution or Contamination where such liability arises under an environmental 
directive, statute or statutory instrument.
  
Provided always that:
  
a) liability arises from Pollution or Contamination caused by a sudden, identifiable, unintended and 

unexpected incident which takes place in its entirety at a specific time and place during the Period of 
Insurance. All Pollution or Contamination which arises out of one incident shall be deemed to have 
occurred at the same time such incident takes place

  
b) the insurer’s liability under this Extension shall not exceed £1,000,000 for any one occurrence and in 

the aggregate in any one Period of Insurance and will be the maximum the insurer will pay inclusive 
all costs and expenses. This limit will form part of and not be in addition to the Limit of Indemnity 
stated in the Schedule

  
c) immediate loss prevention or salvage action is taken and the appropriate authorities are notified
  
  
  

Page 51



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 11 of 21

  
  
Exclusions 
The insurer shall be under no liability:
  
1. in respect of Clean up Costs for damage to the Insured’s land, premises, watercourse or body of 

water whether owned, leased, hired, tenanted or otherwise in the insured’s care, custody or control
  
2. for damage connected with pre-existing contaminated property
  
3. for damage caused by a succession of several events where such individual event would not warrant 

immediate action
  
4. in respect of removal of any risk of an adverse effect on human health on the Insured’s land, 

premises, watercourse or body of water whether owned, leased, hired, tenanted or otherwise in the 
insured’s care, custody or control

  
5. in respect of costs in achieving an improvement or alteration in the condition of the land, 

atmosphere or any watercourse or body of water beyond that required under any relevant and 
applicable law or statutory enactment at the time Remediation commences

  
6. in respect of costs for prevention of imminent threat of environmental damage where such costs are 

incurred without there being Pollution or Contamination caused by a sudden, identifiable, 
unintended and unexpected incident

  
7. for damage resulting from an alteration to subterranean stores of groundwater or to flow patterns
  
8. in respect of costs for the reinstatement or reintroduction of flora or fauna
  
9. for damage caused deliberately or intentionally by the insured or where they have knowingly 

deviated from environmental protection rulings or where the insured has knowingly omitted to 
inspect, maintain or perform necessary repairs to plant or machinery for which they are responsible

  
10. in respect of fines or penalties of any kind
  
11. for damage caused by the ownership or operation on behalf of the insured of any mining operations 

or storage, treatment or disposal of waste or waste products other than caused by composting, 
purification or pre-treatment of waste water

  
12. for damage which is covered by a more specific insurance policy 
  
13. for damage caused by persons aware of the defectiveness or harmfulness of products they have 

placed on the market or works or other services they have performed
  
14. for damage caused by disease in animals belonging to or kept or sold by the insured. 
  
    

Page 52



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 12 of 21

Part F – Hirers' Liability 

Limit of Indemnity: £2,000,000
  
Excess: £100 each and every claim for damage to the premises or contents caused other than by fire or explosion
 
Operative Endorsements 
  
None

  
Part G – Employers Liability 

Limit of Indemnity: £10,000,000

Operative Endorsements: 
  
None

Page 53



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 13 of 21

Part H – Libel and Slander 

Sum Insured £500,000
  
Excess: 10% each and every claim or £1,000 whichever is the lower
  
Operative Endorsements 
  
None

Page 54



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 14 of 21

Part I – Motor Vehicles 

Additional Cover : Section 24
  
U. Occasional Business Use Not Operative
V. Loss of No Claim Discount/Excess Operative

Operative Endorsements: 
  
None 

Part J – Motor Legal Expenses and Uninsured Loss Recovery 
  
Limit of Indemnity: £100,000 per insured incident

Operative Endorsements: 
  
None 

Page 55



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 15 of 21

Part K – Inspection Contract 

Service: Inspections of each item of Plant described in the Plant Specification under Contract Number 
EI2720862187.

Operative Endorsements: 
  
None 

Part L – Plant Protection 

Cover: As described in the Plant Specification by means of cover codes as defined in Section 12 in respect of each 
item of plant

Limits of Indemnity 
  
Section 2(a) Insured Damage to Plant £500,000
  
Section 2(b) Own Surrounding Property Damage £500,000
  
Excess: £100 each and every loss

Operative Endorsements: 
  
None 

Page 56



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 16 of 21

Part N – Fidelity Guarantee 

Persons Guaranteed: Sum Guaranteed 
All members and employees £5,000,000

Excess: £100 each and every loss

Operative Endorsements: 
  
None 
  
Part O – Personal Accident 

Cover is limited to £500,000 any one person and £2,000,000 any one incident.

Persons Insured: 

Employees 
Capital Sum £100,000.00
Weekly Sum £400.00
Cover Sections 2 and 3 - Accident and Assault Cover

  
Volunteers 

Capital Sum £100,000.00
Weekly Sum £400.00
Cover Sections 2 and 3 - Accident and Assault Cover

  
Directors/Councillors 

Capital Sum £100,000.00
Weekly Sum £400.00
Cover Sections 2 and 3 - Accident and Assault Cover

  
Key Personnel 

Key Personnel Clerk, Finance Officer
Capital Sum £100,000.00
Weekly Sum £500 for up to 10 weeks and £100 per 

week thereafter
Cover Sections 2 and 3 - Accident and Assault Cover

  
 
Operative Endorsements:
 
1) Special Condition 4 of Section 5 is inoperative provided always that the insurer will not make any payment of any 
benefit or in respect of any expense or loss arising from any Person Insured who has attained the age of 90 years 
unless such expense or loss arises during the period of insurance during which the Person Insured attains the age of 
90
 

Page 57



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 17 of 21

2) Key Personnel endorsement 
It is agreed that Section 2 and Section 3 will be extended to a 24hr basis for Key Personnel. 
and 
Section 4 - Exclusions is amended to read; 
Section 4 - Exclusions 
The insurer will not be liable to pay compensation in respect of death or disablement or provide indemnity for 
damage caused directly or indirectly by: 
a) intoxication of, or the illegal use of drugs by any Person Insured, or through sexually transmitted disease 
b) deliberate exposure to unnecessary danger (except in an attempt to save human life) 
c) racing of any kind other than on foot 
d) air travel other than as a passenger in a licensed passenger carrying aircraft 
e) with effect from the 2004 renewal date the insurer will not be liable for any actual loss directly or indirectly 
arising out of, contributed to by, or resulting from actual, threatened, feared or perceived use of biological, 
chemical, radioactive or nuclear agent, material, device or weapon. 
f) motor cycling, winter sports other than skiing or snowboarding in the United Kingdom or on a dry ski slope or 
within a snow dome, skating or curling, aerial pursuits including but not limited to ballooning, bungee jumping, 
gliding, hang-gliding, micro lighting, parachuting, paragliding or parascending, jet skiing or white water rafting, 
mountaineering or rock climbing using guides or ropes, hiking, trekking or mountaineering above 3,000 metres, 
caving, and diving using external breathing apparatus 

Page 58



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 18 of 21

Part P – Legal Expenses 

Section: 
  
3. Employment Disputes and Compensation Awards Operative
  
4. Legal Defence Operative
  
5. Property Protection and Bodily Injury Operative
  
6. Tax Protection Operative
  
7. Contract Disputes - £5,000 Limit Operative
  
8. Statutory Licence Protection Operative
  
Limit of Indemnity: £200,000
  
Operative Endorsements 
  
  
The following is also operative: Debt Recovery 
Insured Incident 
The insurer will negotiate for the insured’s legal rights including enforcement of judgment to recover money and 
interest due from the sale or provision of goods or of services, provided always that: 

a) the amount of the debt exceeds £250 (incl VAT)
b) the claim under this Part is made within 90 days of the money becoming due and payable
c) the insurer has the right to select the method of enforcement, or to forego enforcing judgment if the insurer is 
not satisfied that there are, or will be, sufficient assets available to satisfy judgment.

Exceptions
We will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:
a) any debt arising from an agreement entered into prior to the inception date of the indemnity
provided by this section if the debt is due within the first 90 days of the indemnity provided by this
section
b) the recovery of money and interest due from another party where the other party intimates that a defence 
exists
c) any claim relating to:
i) any settlement payable under an insurance policy
ii) any lease, licence or tenancy of land or buildings
iii) any motor vehicle owned by, or hired or leased to you other than agreements relating to the sale of motor 
vehicles where you are engaged in the business of selling motor vehicles
d) any dispute which arises out of the purchase, hire, sale or provision of computer hardware, software, systems or 
services. 

Page 59



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 19 of 21

General Notes

1. Fair presentation of the risk 

You must make a fair presentation of the risk to us at inception, renewal and variation of your policy. This means that we 
must be told about all facts and circumstances which may be material to the risks covered by the policy and that you 
must not make a misrepresentation to us about any material facts. As part of your duty of fair presentation, you must 
ensure that the information detailed within the schedule is correct and complete. A material fact is one which would 
influence the acceptance or assessment of the risk. If you have any doubt about facts considered material, it is in your 
interests to disclose them to us. 

Failure to make a fair presentation of the risk could result in the policy either being avoided, written on different terms 
or a higher premium being charged, depending on the circumstances surrounding the failure to present the risk fairly.

This policy is compliant with the principles of the Insurance Act 2015 law reforms. It also incorporates an 'opt out' which 
has the aim to promote good customer outcomes. We have opted-out of the ‘proportionate reduction of claim remedy’ 
available to insurers under the Insurance Act 2015. This means that in cases of non-disclosure or misrepresentation 
which are neither deliberate nor reckless, if we would have charged an additional premium had we known the relevant 
facts, we will charge that premium and pay any claims in full rather than reducing claims payments in proportion to the 
amount of premium that would have been charged. 

We believe that our ‘additional premium approach’ should, in most situations, be more favourable to our customers 
when compared to the proportionate reduction of claim remedy. Our additional premium approach does not affect our 
right to apply the other remedies available under the Act for non-disclosure or misrepresentation. 

2. Cancellation 

All insurance policies run for a fixed period of time. The Insured can terminate an insurance contract verbally or in writing 
at any time by calling 0800 917 9531 or emailing Customers.team@uk.zurich.com. Zurich may cancel the policy by giving 
30 days’ notice in writing. In such an event the insured will be entitled to a return of premium in respect of the unexpired 
portion of the period of insurance. 

If you cancel your policy before the start date, you will be entitled to a full refund of premium. If you cancel within 14 
days of the start date, you will be entitled to a full refund of premium, providing no claim has been made. After 14 days, 
if no claim has been made, we may offer a full or partial refund, depending on the time the policy was on risk and the 
circumstances at the time of the cancellation request. Please note, a cancellation charge of £50 may be applied. 

3. Bonus and fee structure

Employees and businesses who carry out work for ZIC UK are remunerated in various different ways for selling insurance 
contracts. Employees receive a basic salary and also receive a bonus based on a number of factors, including the 
achievement of sales and quality targets. Businesses which work for the insurer on an outsourced basis receive a fee and 
also additional payments based on a number of factors, including the achievement of sales and quality targets. 

Page 60



Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 20 of 21

Claims contact information

If you need advice on a claim, it is important that you speak to the appropriate specialist. Claims specialists are 
available to discuss your cover and advise you on how to make a claim. Their contact details are: 

Type of Claim Claims 
team

Claims contact details

Buildings, contents including "All Risks" 
Items
Business interruption
Money
Works in progress

Property 
Claims

Tel: 

Email: 

Address:

0800 028 0336 

farnboroughpropertyclaims@uk.zurich.com 

Zurich Municipal Property Claims, Zurich Financial Services, 
PO Box 3303, Interface Business Park, Swindon, SN4 8WF 

Public liability
Employers liability
Personal assault under Money
Personal accident
Financial and administrative liability
Professional negligence
Hirers liability
Fidelity guarantee
Libel and slander
Engineering insurance
Engineering – Deterioration of stock
Business travel

Liability 
Claims

Tel: 

Email: 

Address:

0800 876 6984 

fnlc@uk.zurich.com (new claims)

zmflc@uk.zurich.com (subsequent correspondence)

Zurich Municipal Casualty Claims, Zurich House, 1 Gladiator 
Way, Farnborough, Hampshire, GU14 6GB (DX 140850, 
Farnborough 4) 

Motor

Motor 
Claims

Tel: 

Email: 

Address:

0800 916 8872 (new motor claims)
0800 232 1913 (customer damage) 

zmmotorclaimsoffice@uk.zurich.com 

Zurich Municipal Motor Claims, PO Box 3322, Interface 
Business Park, Swindon, SN4 8XW 

Legal Expenses DAS 
Legal 
Claims

Tel: 0117 934 2116 (Switchboard) 

General claims procedure

This is a description of the general claims procedure you will need to follow:
1. Contact the relevant claims office, to notify the claim 
2. If necessary, a claim form will be sent out to you for completion, or you will be asked to send details in writing
3. In the event of uncertainty, please call the relevant office for guidance.
4. Out of hours/Emergency Property losses - please contact 0800 028 0336
5. Track open claims on-line at: https://www.zurich.co.uk/municipal/existing-customers 

Page 61

mailto:farnboroughpropertyclaims@uk.zurich.com
mailto:fnlc@uk.zurich.com
mailto:zmflc@uk.zurich.com
mailto:zmmotorclaimsoffice@uk.zurich.com
https://www.zurich.co.uk/municipal/existing-customers


Doc. No.ZTS160910.4 Page 21 of 21

  

DAS Head and Registered Office: 
DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited | DAS House | Quay Side | Temple Back | Bristol | BS1 6NH
Registered in England and Wales | Company Number 103274 Website: www.das.co.uk
DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority
and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FRN202106) and the Prudential Regulation Authority.

DAS Law Limited Head and Registered Office: 
DAS Law Limited | North Quay | Temple Back | Bristol | BS1 6FL
Registered in England and Wales | Company Number 5417859 Website: www.daslaw.co.uk
DAS Law Limited is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority (registered number 423113). 

Zurich Municipal is a trading name of Zurich Insurance Company Ltd. A public limited company incorporated in Switzerland. Registered in the Canton of Zurich, 
No. CHE-105.833.114, registered offices at Mythenquai 2, 8002 Zurich. UK Branch registered in England and Wales no BR000105. UK Branch Head Office: The 
Zurich Centre, 3000 Parkway, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire PO15 7JZ. 

Zurich Insurance Company Ltd is authorised and regulated in Switzerland by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA. Authorised by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority. Subject to regulation by the Financial Conduct Authority and limited regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Details 
about the extent of our regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority are available from us on request. Our firm reference number is 959113.

Communications may be monitored or recorded to improve our service and for security and regulatory purposes. © Copyright – Zurich Insurance Company Ltd. 
All rights reserved. Reproduction, adaptation, or translation without prior written permission is prohibited except as allowed under copyright laws. 

Page 62



1

Ms Sinead Burrows
Saltash Town Council
The Guildhall
12 Lower Fore Street
Saltash
Cornwall
PL12 6JX

Date: 

Certificate of Insurance for Terrorism

Zurich Town and Parish Council Team

PO Box 276

Chichester

PO19 9PS

Direct Phone: 01243 832117

Direct Fax: 01243 210101  

E-mail:  jonathan.meiseles@uk.zurich.com

Zurich Municipal is a trading name of 

Zurich Insurance Company Ltd. A public 

limited company incorporated in 

Switzerland. Registered in the Canton of 

Zurich, No. CHE-105.833.114, 

registered offices at Mythenquai 2, 8002 

Zurich. UK Branch registered in England 

and Wales no BR000105. UK Branch 

Head Office: The Zurich Centre, 3000 

Parkway, Whiteley, Fareham, 

Hampshire PO15 7JZ.

Zurich Insurance Company Ltd is 

authorised and regulated in Switzerland 

by the Swiss Financial Market 

Supervisory Authority FINMA. 

Authorised by the Prudential Regulation 

Authority. Subject to regulation by the 

Financial Conduct Authority and limited 

regulation by the Prudential Regulation 

Authority. Details about the extent of our 

regulation by the Prudential Regulation 

Authority are available from us on 

request. Our firm reference number is 

959113.

Communications may be monitored or 

recorded to improve our service and for 

security and regulatory purposes.

Underlying Policy Number: YLL-2720862183

Reference Number: TBC

Insured: Saltash Town Council

We have pleasure in enclosing the Certificate of Insurance for Terrorism

The premium stated in the Certificate is required for the provision of terrorism 

cover and will form part of your premium. This premium is in addition to the 

amount stated on your underlying policy documentation.

There is no requirement for specific acceptance of the quotation. Cover effected 

by your Certificate is assumed (in absence of indications to the contrary) to be in 

force and the premium her been debited to your account.

This quote for terrorism cover for property and business interruption, is only 

available in circumstances where you insure all your property against such risk, 

either with Zurich Municipal or via another insurer who is a Pool Re member. If 

you have other property and have not placed terrorism cover in respect of this 

property either with Zurich Municipal or another Pool Re member, then please 

contact us.

Page 63



2

Certificate of Insurance 
It is warranted that the under mentioned particulars are identical to the corresponding particulars detailed in 
the General Cover Policy of Insurance identified below:

Particulars

General Cover Policy Number: YLL-2720862183
Reference Number: TBC
Insurer(s): Zurich Municipal

Insured: Saltash Town Council
Period of Insurance: From: 10/10/2023 To: 09/10/2024 Renewal: 10/10/2024
Effective date: Date: 10/10/2023

Effective Date: 10/10/2023

Premium: £600.65
Insurance Premium Tax (IPT) £72.08
Premium Inclusive of IPT: £672.73

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Policy to the contrary in consideration of the payment of the 

Premium and its Insurance Premium Tax in respect of the Period of Insurance:

 

A. In the event that Her Majesty’s Government or Her Majesty’s Treasury or any successor relevant 

authority issue a certificate certifying an event or occurrence to have been an Act of Terrorism (defined 

for the purpose of this Certificate as “any act or acts of persons acting on behalf of, or in connection 

with, any organisation which carries out activities directed towards the overthrowing or influencing, by 

force or violence, of Her Majesty’s Government in the United Kingdom or any other government de jure 

or de facto”), or in the event that Her Majesty’s Government or Her Majesty’s Treasury or any successor 

relevant authority refuse to issue a certificate certifying an event or occurrence to have been an Act of 

Terrorism and that refusal is reversed by the decision of a validly constituted Tribunal, we by this 

Certificate to the Policy shall provide cover for damage and/or business interruption (if requested by 

you) proximately caused by such Act of Terrorism provided that:

Page 64



3

B.

1 Such damage and/or business interruption occurs in England, Wales or Scotland but not the territorial 

seas adjacent thereto as defined by the Territorial Seas Act 1987 and not Northern Ireland, the Channel 

Islands or the Isle of Man

2 In any action suit or other proceedings where we allege that any damage or business interruption 

resulting from damage is not covered by this Certificate the burden of proving that such damage or 

business interruption is covered shall fall upon you

3 The insurance effected by this Certificate excludes any losses whatsoever:-

(a) occasioned by riot, civil commotion, war, invasion, act of foreign enemy, hostilities (whether war 

be declared or not), civil war, rebellion, revolution, insurrection or military or usurped power;

(b) directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or arising from or occasioned by or resulting 

from:

i.    the alteration, modification, distortion, corruption of or damage to any computer or other 

equipment or component or system or item which processes, stores, transmits, retrieves or 

receives data or any part thereof whether tangible or intangible (including but without limitation 

any information or programs or software), or and 

ii.    any alteration modification distortion erasure, corruption of data processed by any such 

computer or other equipment or component or system or item

whether the property of the insured or not, where such loss damage is directly or indirectly caused 

by or contributed to by or arising from or occasioned by or resulting from Virus or Similar 

Mechanism or Hacking or Phishing or Denial of Service Attack; including consequential loss 

directly or indirectly caused by or arising from Virus or Similar Mechanism, Hacking or Denial of 

Service Attack

Page 65



4

Definitions

For the purposes of 3 (b) above the following special meanings shall apply:

“Virus or Similar Mechanism” means program code, programming instruction or any set of 

instructions intentionally constructed with the ability to damage, interfere with or otherwise 

adversely affect computer programs, data files or operations, whether involving self-replication or 

not. The definition of Virus or Similar Mechanism includes but is not limited to trojan horses worms 

and logic bombs.

“Hacking” means unauthorised access to any computer or other equipment or component or 

system or item which processes stores transmits retrieves or receives data whether your property 

or not.

“Denial of Service Attack” means any actions or instructions constructed or generated with the 

ability to damage, interfere with or otherwise affect the availability of networks, network services, 

network connectivity or information systems. Denial of Service Attacks include, but are not limited, 

to the generation of excess traffic into the network addresses, the exploitation of system or 

network weaknesses and the generation of excess or non-genuine traffic between and amongst 

networks.

4 The insurance effected by this Certificate excludes:

(a) any type of property which has been specifically excluded in the Policy;

(b) any Nuclear Installation or Nuclear Reactor and all fixtures and fittings situated thereon and 

attached thereto and all pipes wires cables drains or other conduits or service media of any 

description which are affixed or connected to or in any way serve such Nuclear Installation or 

Nuclear Reactor.

Page 66



5

Definitions

For the purposes of 4 (b) above the following special meanings shall apply:

“Nuclear Installation” means any installation of such class or description as may be prescribed by 

regulations made by the relevant Secretary of State from time to time by statutory instrument, 

being an installation designed or adapted for:

i) the production or use of atomic energy;

ii) the carrying out of any process which is preparatory or ancillary to the production or use of 

atomic energy and which involves or is capable of causing the emission of ionising radiations; 

or

iii) the storage processing or disposal of nuclear fuel or of bulk quantities of other radioactive 

matter, being matter which has been produced or irradiated in the course of the production or 

use of nuclear fuel.

“Nuclear Reactor” means any plant (including any machinery equipment or appliance whether 

affixed to land or not) designed or adapted for the production of atomic energy by a fission process 

in which a controlled chain reaction can be maintained without an additional source of neutrons.

5 Save for the exclusions listed in sections 3 and 4 above no other exclusions in the Policy shall apply to 

the insurance effected by part A of this Certificate.  All the other terms definitions and conditions of the 

Policy (including but not limited to any Excess or Deductible to be borne by you) shall apply to the 

insurance effected by part A of this Certificate except for:

(a) any provision for the automatic reinstatement of sums insured contained in the Policy;

(b) any Long Term Undertaking applying to the Policy;

(c) any terms in the Policy which provide for adjustments of premium based upon declarations on 

expiry or during the Period of Insurance;

(d) any aggregate limit contained in the Policy regarding the amount borne by you as a result of the 

operation of a deductible;

(e) any extension of Premises to locations outside England and Wales and Scotland.

B In the event that Her Majesty’s Government or Her Majesty’s Treasury or any successor relevant 

authority refuse to issue a certificate certifying an event or occurrence to have been an Act of Terrorism, 

and such refusal is upheld by the decision of a validly constituted Tribunal, this Certificate to the Policy 

amends the insurance by the Policy as follows:
Page 67



6

1 The Exclusion in respect of Terrorism in the Policy shall not apply in respect of such event or 

occurrence, but

2 The Policy will not cover damage or business interruption  directly or indirectly caused by, 

contributed to by, resulting from, or arising out of or in connection with biological, chemical or 

nuclear pollution or contamination

Save for 1 and 2 above the terms definitions exclusions provisions and conditions of the Policy shall 

apply.

Endorsements

Signed on behalf of Zurich Insurance Company Ltd (Authorised Insurer).

Signature

Tim Bailey
Chief Executive Officer of Zurich Insurance Company Ltd, UK Branch

Zurich Municipal is a trading name of Zurich Insurance Company Ltd. A public limited company incorporated in Switzerland. Registered in the 
Canton of Zurich, No. CHE-105.833.114, registered offices at Mythenquai 2, 8002 Zurich. UK Branch registered in England and Wales no 
BR000105. UK Branch Head Office: The Zurich Centre, 3000 Parkway, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire PO15 7JZ.

Zurich Insurance Company Ltd is authorised and regulated in Switzerland by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA. Authorised 
by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Subject to regulation by the Financial Conduct Authority and limited regulation by the Prudential Regulation 
Authority. Details about the extent of our regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority are available from us on request. Our firm reference 
number is 959113.

Communications may be monitored or recorded to improve our service and for security and regulatory purposes.

Page 68



 

 

Select for Local Councils 
Notice to policyholders 
 

 
Part E - Public Liability 

Abuse - Special Provision 
• Abuse cover is still provided. Multiple incidents to a claimant will constitute one claim which will be recorded as 

the date the first claim was made against the insured.  

• Associated definitions of Abuse and Abuse Event have been included for clarity. 
 

Part I - Motor Vehicles 

Motor - Law Applicable - Special Condition 
• A new law applicable special condition has been added so that the law and courts of the place where the 

vehicle is used for the majority of the period of insurance applies. If there is any disagreement about which law 
applies, the law and courts of the place where the vehicle is registered will apply. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Zurich Municipal is a trading name of Zurich Insurance Company Ltd 
A public limited company incorporated in Switzerland. Registered in the Canton of Zurich, No. CHE-105.833.114, registered offices at 
Mythenquai 2, 8002 Zurich. UK Branch registered in England and Wales no BR000105. UK Branch Head Office: The Zurich Centre, 3000 
Parkway, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire PO15 7JZ. 

Zurich Insurance Company Ltd is authorised and regulated in Switzerland by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA. 
Authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Subject to regulation by the Financial Conduct Authority and limited regulation by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority. Details about the extent of our regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority are available from us on 
request. Our firm reference number is 959113. 

Communications may be monitored or recorded to improve our service and for security and regulatory purposes. 

© Copyright – Zurich Insurance Company Ltd 2023. All rights reserved. Reproduction, adaptation or translation without prior written permission is 
prohibited except as allowed under copyright laws. 
 
MLABNA05 (04/23) 

This document details the main changes to the updated policy wording. It does not contain a 
record of every amendment or those made to individual client policies. Please ensure that you 
read in full any documentation provided in conjunction with the updated policy wording to 
determine the full terms, conditions, limitations and exclusions of the policy cover. 

Page 69



Select for Local Councils
Policy document

Page 70



Contents
Please click the titles below to navigate to the section 

Data protection statement� 3

Important notes � 4

Our complaints procedure� 5

Helpline Services� 6

Your Select for Local Councils policy� 8

General Definitions (not applicable to Part K)� 9

General Exclusions (not applicable to Part K)� 13

General Conditions (not applicable to Part K)� 15

Part A – Material Damage� 19

Part B – Business Interruption� 21

Insured Perils� 25

Part C – All Risks� 28

Additional Covers� 29

Special Conditions� 33

Exclusions to Parts A, B and C� 34

Endorsements� 36

Part D – Money� 38

Part E – Public Liability� 40

Part F – Hirers Liability� 47

Part G – Employers Liability� 50

Part H – Libel and Slander� 53

Part I – Motor Vehicles� 55

Part J – Motor Legal Expenses and Uninsured Loss Recovery� 65

Part K – Inspection Contract� 71

Part L – Plant Protection� 78

Part M – Deterioration of Stock� 84

Part N – Fidelity Guarantee� 86

Part O – Personal Accident� 88

Part P – Legal expenses� 92

Part Q – Impact Damage (Street Furniture)� 105

Part R – Terrorism� 106

2

Page 71



Data protection statement
Not applicable to parts J and P

Zurich takes the privacy and security of your personal information seriously. We collect, use and share your personal 
information so that we can provide policies and services that meet your insurance needs, in accordance with applicable 
data protection laws.

The type of personal information we will collect includes: basic personal information (i.e. name, address and date of 
birth), occupation and financial details, health and family information, claims and convictions information and where you 
have requested other individuals be included in the arrangement, personal information about those individuals.

We and our selected third parties will only collect and use personal information (i) where the processing is necessary 
in connection with providing a quotation and/or contract of insurance; (ii) to meet our legal or regulatory obligations; 
(iii) where you have provided the appropriate consent; (iv) for our ‘legitimate interests’. 

It is in our legitimate interests to collect personal information as it provides us with the information that we need to 
provide our services more effectively including providing information about our products and services. We will always 
ensure that we keep the amount of information collected and the extent of any processing to the absolute minimum to 
meet this legitimate interest. 

A full copy of our data protection statement can be viewed via www.zurich.co.uk/dataprotection

How you can contact us 
If you have any questions or queries about how we use your data, or require a paper copy of the statement, you can 
contact us via gbz.general.data.protection@uk.zurich.com or alternatively contact our Data Protection Officer at Zurich 
Insurance, Unity Place, 1 Carfax Close, Swindon, SN1 1AP.

3

Page 72

http://www.zurich.co.uk/dataprotection


Important notes 
Not applicable to parts J, K and P

Fraud prevention and detection
In order to prevent and detect fraud we may at any time:

•	 check your personal data against counter fraud systems

•	 use your information to search against various publicly available and third party resources

•	 use industry fraud tools including undertaking credit searches and to review your claims history

•	 share information about you with other organisations including but not limited to the police, the Insurance Fraud 
Bureau (IFB), other insurers and other interested parties.

If you provide false or inaccurate information and fraud is identified, the matter will be investigated and appropriate 
action taken. This may result in your case being referred to the Insurance Fraud Enforcement Department (IFED) or other 
police forces and fraud prevention agencies. You may face fines or criminal prosecution. In addition, Zurich may register 
your name on the Insurance Fraud Register, an industry-wide fraud database.

Claims history
We may pass information relating to claims or potential claims to the Claims and Underwriting Exchange Register (CUE) 
and the Motor Insurance Anti-Fraud and Theft Register (MIAFTR), where the data is controlled by the Motor Insurers’ 
Bureau, and other relevant databases.

We and other insurers may search these databases when you apply for insurance, when claims or potential claims are 
notified to us or at time of renewal to validate your claims history or that of any other person or property likely to be 
involved in the policy or claim.

This helps to check information provided and prevent fraudulent claims.

Employers’ Liability Tracing Office (ELTO)
We are members of the Employers’ Liability Tracing Office (ELTO), an independent industry body who maintains a 
centralised database that helps those who have suffered injury or disease in the workplace to identify the relevant 
Employers’ Liability insurer quickly and efficiently. 

It is important, for the services of ELTO to be fully effective, that you inform us of your ERN (Employer Reference 
Number also known as the Employer PAYE reference) and all subsidiary company names and their ERNs if applicable.

As members of ELTO we will forward details of your policy if it contains Employers’ Liability cover to ELTO together with 
details of any ERNs you have supplied to us.

Motor Insurance Database
Information relating to your insurance policy will be added to the Motor Insurance Database (MID) managed by the 
Motor Insurers’ Bureau (MIB). MID and the data stored on it may be used by certain statutory or authorised bodies 
including the police, the DVLA, the DVANI, the Insurance Fraud Bureau and other bodies permitted by law for purposes 
not limited to but including:

a)	 electronic licensing; 

b)	 continuous insurance enforcement;

c)	 law enforcement (prevention, detection, apprehension and/or prosecution of offenders);

d)	 the provision of government services or other services aimed at reducing the level and incidence of uninsured driving. 

If a vehicle of yours is involved in a road traffic accident (either in the United Kingdom, the EEA or certain other territories), 
insurers and/or the MIB may search the MID to obtain relevant information.

Persons (including their appointed representatives) pursuing a claim in respect of a road traffic accident (including citizens 
of other countries) may also obtain relevant information which is held on the MID.

It is vital that the MID holds correct registration numbers for your vehicles. If incorrect details for any of your vehicles are 
shown on the MID you are at risk of having the relevant vehicle seized by the police. You can check that correct registration 
number details for your vehicles are shown on the MID at www.askmid.com.

4

Page 73

http://www.askmid.com


Our complaints procedure
Not applicable to parts J and P

Our commitment to customer service
We are committed to providing a high level of customer service. If you feel we have not delivered this, we would welcome 
the opportunity to put things right for you. 

Who to contact in the first instance
Many concerns can be resolved straight away. Therefore in the first instance, please get in touch with your usual contact 
at Zurich as they will generally be able to provide you with a prompt response to your satisfaction.

Contact details will be provided on correspondence that we or our representatives have sent you.

Many complaints can be resolved within a few days of receipt
If we can resolve your complaint to your satisfaction within the first few days of receipt, we will do so. Otherwise, we will 
keep you updated with progress and will provide you with our decision as quickly as possible.

The following steps are not applicable to part K

Next steps if you are still unhappy 
If you are not happy with the outcome of your complaint, you may be able to ask the Financial Ombudsman Service to 
review your case. 

We will let you know if we believe the ombudsman service can consider your complaint when we provide you with our 
decision. The service they provide is free and impartial, but you would need to contact them within 6 months of the date 
of our decision.

More information about the ombudsman and the type of complaints they can review is available via their website  
www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk.

You can also contact them as follows: 

Post:	 Financial Ombudsman Service, Exchange Tower, London, E14 9SR 

Telephone:	 08000 234567 (free on mobile phones and landlines)

Email:	 complaint.info@financial-ombudsman.org.uk 

If the Financial Ombudsman Service is unable to consider your complaint, you may wish to obtain advice from the 
Citizens Advice Bureau or seek legal advice

The Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS)
We are covered by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS) which means that you may be entitled to 
compensation if we are unable to meet our obligations to you. Further information is available on www.fscs.org.uk  
or by contacting the FSCS directly on 0800 678 1100.

5

Page 74

http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk
mailto:complaint.info%40financial-ombudsman.org.uk?subject=
http://www.fscs.org.uk


Helpline Services
Risk Management Advice Line 
Call 0800 302 9052
To help you proactively identify and manage issues before they occur, our risk management advice line operates during 
normal business hours, providing free practical guidance on risk issues such as property, security, food hygiene, 
business continuity, environmental and health and safety management.

Please note that this helpline includes services provided by Zurich Management Services Limited and may include 
services provided by third parties. 

The following services are provided by DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited.

DAS Helplines, Employment Manual and DAS Businesslaw
The insured can contact our UK-based call centre 24 hours a day, seven days a week during the period of insurance. 
However, we may need to arrange to call the insured back depending on the enquiry. To help us check and improve our 
service standards, we may record all calls. When phoning, please quote the policy number and the name of the 
insurance provider who sold the insured the policy.

Meaning of words
The following words have these meanings wherever they appear in this section in bold:

Business 
The organisation declared to us and covered by the main policy to which this section attaches.

Insured
The organisation that has taken out the main policy to which this section attaches.

We, Us, Our, DAS 
DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited.

Commercial Legal Advice – 0117 934 2116
Advice can be provided on any commercial legal problem affecting the business, under the laws of the United Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, any European Union country, the Isle of Man, the Channel Islands, Switzerland 
and Norway.

Wherever possible the Legal Advice helpline aims to provide immediate advice from a qualified legal advisor. However if 
this is not possible they will arrange a call back at a time to suit the insured.

Advice on the laws of England and Wales can be provided 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. Beyond this jurisdiction, or 
for very specialist matters, we will refer the insured to one of our specialist advisors. 

Specialist advice is provided 9am - 5pm, Monday to Friday, excluding public and bank holidays. If calls are made outside 
of these times, we will arrange to call the insured back.

Tax Advice – 0117 934 2116
Advice can be provided on any tax matters affecting the business, under UK law.

This service is provided 9am - 5pm, Monday to Friday, excluding public and bank holidays. If calls are made outside 
these times, we will arrange to call the insured back.

Counselling service – 0117 934 2121
We will provide all employees (including any members of their immediate family who permanently live with them) of the 
insured’s organisation with a confidential counselling service over the phone if they are aged 18 or over (or aged 
between 16 and 18 and in full-time employment). This includes, where appropriate, onward referral to relevant voluntary 
and/or professional services. Any costs arising from the use of these referral services will not be paid by us or Zurich 
Insurance Company Ltd.

The counselling service helpline is open 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 

6

Page 75



Employment Manual
The DAS Employment Manual offers comprehensive, up to date guidance on employment law. To view it, please visit 
www.dasinsurance.co.uk/employment-manual 

If the insured would like notifications of when updates are made to the Employment Manual, please email DAS at 
employmentmanual@das.co.uk quoting the insured’s policy number.

DAS Businesslaw
DAS Businesslaw contains a range of regularly updated business and legal guides, document builders, interactive 
checklists and videos that can help the insured with the day-to-day running of their business, as well as helping to 
manage its exposure to legal risk.

DAS Businesslaw’s document builders can help the insured quickly create documents such as:

•	 HR policies

•	 T&C documentation

•	 Privacy statements

•	 Copyright and trademark licences

•	 Data protection policy

•	 Employee contracts

•	 Debt recovery letters.

In addition, DAS Businesslaw contains hundreds of regularly updated expert guides and videos on topics such as 
branding, crowdfunding, financial and tax planning, and marketing strategy to help build and grow the insured’s 
business. 

How do I get started?
1.	 Visit www.dasbusinesslaw.co.uk;

2.	 Enter DASBZUR100 into the ‘voucher code’ text box and press Validate Voucher;

3.	 Fill out the insured’s name and email address, create a password, and specify the type of business;

4.	 Validate the email address by pressing the link in the confirmation email that is received.

In using these services the insured acknowledges that all rights and obligations relating to the provision of these services 
rest with DAS and that they will have no recourse to Zurich Insurance Company Ltd in this regard.

Data protection 
To comply with data protection regulations we are committed to processing personal information fairly and transparently. 
Please refer to www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement for DAS’ privacy notice and details of the insured’s rights.

Zurich Insurance Company Ltd, Zurich Management Services Limited and DAS will not accept responsibility if any of 
the helplines are unavailable for reasons Zurich Insurance Company Ltd, Zurich Management Services Limited and 
DAS cannot control.

7

Page 76

http://www.dasinsurance.co.uk/employment-manual
mailto:employmentmanual%40das.co.uk?subject=
http://www.dasbusinesslaw.co.uk
http://www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement


Your Select for Local Councils policy
Applicable to the whole policy except Part K

This Policy is a contract between the insured (also referred to as you, your, yours or yourselves) and the insurer (also 
referred to as we, us, our or ours).

This Policy and any Schedule, Endorsement and Certificate should be read as if they are one document.

We will insure you under those Parts stated in the Schedule during any Period of Insurance for which we have accepted 
your premium. Our liability will in no case exceed the amount of any sum insured or limit of indemnity stated in this Policy, 
the Schedule or any Endorsement to this Policy.

Any reference to the singular will include the plural and vice versa.

Any reference to any statute or statutory instrument will include any amendments thereto or re-enactment thereof. 

Any heading in this Policy is for ease of reference only and does not affect its interpretation.

Please read this Policy and any Schedule, Endorsement and Certificate carefully and contact us if they do not meet 
your needs.

Applicable to Part K

This contract is an agreement between the contract holder (also referred to as you or your) and the contractor (also 
referred to as we, us or our).

In this contract:

a)	 any reference to the singular will include the plural and vice versa

b)	 any reference to any statute or statutory instrument will include any amendments thereto or re-enactment thereof

c)	 any reference to a “clause” means a clause of this agreement

d)	 the words “include”, “includes”, “including”, “included” and “in particular” will not be construed as terms of limitation; 
and

e)	 any heading in this contract is for ease of reference only and does not affect its interpretation.

Please read this contract carefully and ensure that it meets your needs. Please notify us immediately if you have any 
queries about this contract or you are concerned that it does not meet your needs or if there are any other circumstances 
which may affect this contract. 

Law applicable to this contract
Not applicable to parts I, J and P

In the UK the law allows both you and us to choose the law applicable to this contract. This contract will be subject to 
the relevant law of England and Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man or the Channel Islands depending 
upon your address stated in the schedule. If there is any dispute as to which law applies it will be English law. The 
parties agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts.

This is a legal document and should be kept in a safe place.

8

Page 77



General Definitions (not applicable to Part K)
Wherever the words defined below appear in this Policy in bold they will have the same special meaning. 

However, certain words have special meanings that only apply to a particular Part of this Policy. These are stated at the 
beginning of the relevant Part as special definitions and will apply in that Part wherever the defined words commence 
with a capital letter.

AVERAGE
if at the commencement of damage a sum insured under any item which is declared to be subject to average is less 
than the value of the property covered by that item, the insured will be considered as being its own insurer for the 
difference and will bear a rateable proportion of the loss accordingly.

For the avoidance of doubt solely in respect of the application of average to any item under this Policy clause c) iii) of 
General Condition 4 will not apply.

BUILDINGS
the buildings at the premises including:

a)	 landlords’s fixtures and fittings

b)	 outbuildings, yards, forecourts, car parks

c)	 roads and pavements, but only to the extent of the insured’s responsibility

d)	 walls, gates, fences, canopies and fixed signs

e)	 foundations

f)	 oil tanks, piping, ducting, cables, wires and associated control gear and accessories on the premises and extending 
to the public mains but only to the extent of the insured’s responsibility.

BUSINESS
the business specified in the Schedule including:

a)	 the provision and management of catering, social, sports, first aid and welfare activities for employees

b)	 the insured’s fire, security and ambulance services.

c)	 maintenance of the buildings, plant and equipment

d)	 activities of employees and members approved by the insured in connection with outside organisations but only 
where the insured is legally entitled to:

i)	 approve such activities; and

ii)	 indemnify such employees and members in respect of such activities.

COMMUNICABLE DISEASE
any disease which can be transmitted by means of any substance or agent from any organism to another organism where: 

a)	 the substance or agent includes, but is not limited to, a virus, bacterium, parasite or other organism or any variation 
thereof, whether deemed living or not; and

b)	 the method of transmission, whether direct or indirect, includes but is not limited to, airborne transmission, bodily fluid 
transmission, transmission from or to any surface or object, solid, liquid or gas or between organisms; and

c)	 the disease, substance or agent can cause or threaten damage to human health or human welfare or can cause or 
threaten damage to, deterioration of, loss of value of, marketability of or loss of use of property.

COMPUTER EQUIPMENT
computer equipment owned, leased, hired or rented by the insured including:

a) 	 personal computers, monitors, printers, file servers, minicomputers, disk drives, modems and associated and 
peripheral equipment

b) 	 mainframe systems including all inter-connected wiring, fixed disks, and associated and peripheral equipment 
(including associated telecommunication equipment)

c) 	 terminal equipment linked into mainframe systems

d) 	 operating systems and proprietary software packages.

9

Page 78



CONSEQUENTIAL LOSS
loss resulting from interruption of or interference with the business carried on by the insured at the premises in consequence 
of damage to property used by the insured at the premises for the purpose of the business.

CONTENTS
the contents situated at the buildings including:

a)	 tenants’ improvements, alterations and decorations

b)	 patterns, models, moulds, plans or designs but only for an amount not exceeding £1,000 for any one item or set of items

c)	 i)	� documents, manuscripts and other business books but only for their value as stationary plus the clerical cost of 
reproducing them

ii)	 computer systems records but only for the cost of the materials and of clerical labour and computer time 
expended in reproducing them and not exceeding £10,000 in total

excluding any expense in connection with the production of information to be recorded therein

d) 	 personal effects and tools of any member, employee, customer or visitor but only for an amount not exceeding £750 
in respect of any one person provided that they are not otherwise insured

contents excludes:

i) 	 landlord’s fixtures and fittings

ii) 	 any contents more specifically insured

iii) 	 money, credit cards or securities of any description.

DAMAGE
material loss, destruction or damage.

DATA PROCESSING SYSTEM
any computer or data processing equipment or media or microchip or integrated circuit or any similar device or any 
computer software or computer firmware.

DEFINED PERIL
fire, lightning, explosion, aircraft or other aerial devices or articles dropped therefrom, riot, civil commotion, strikers, 
locked-out workers, persons taking part in labour disturbances, malicious persons other than thieves, earthquake, storm, 
flood, escape or water from any tank apparatus or pipe or impact by any road vehicle or animal.

DENIAL OF SERVICE ATTACK
Any actions or instructions constructed or generated with the ability to damage, interfere with or otherwise affect the 
availability of networks, network services, network connectivity or information systems including but not limited to the 
generation of excess network traffic into network addresses, the exploitation of system or network weaknesses and the 
generation of excess or non-genuine traffic between and amongst networks.

EMPLOYEE
any person who is:

a) 	 under a contract of service or apprenticeship with the insured

b) 	 supplied to or hired or borrowed by the insured under the terms of a written agreement

c) 	 engaged under any work experience or similar scheme

whilst employed or engaged by the insured in connection with the business.

EXCESS
the amount for which the insured is responsible and which will be deducted from any payment under this Policy as 
ascertained after the application of all other terms and conditions of this Policy.

HACKING
Unauthorised access to any computer or other equipment or component or system or item which processes, stores, 
transmits, retrieves or receives data.

INSURED
as specified in the Schedule to this Policy.

10

Page 79



INSURER
in respect of:

a)	 part K Zurich Management Services Limited

b)	 parts J and P DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited

c)	 all other parts Zurich Insurance Company Ltd.

MEMBER
any elected or co-opted member of the insured or the insured’s committees or sub-committees.

MONEY
coinage, bank and currency notes, bills of exchange, luncheon vouchers, cheques, giro cheques, giro cash cheques, 
bankers’ drafts, national giro drafts, money orders, postal orders, current postage stamps, unused franking machine units, 
national insurance stamps, national savings stamps, national savings certificates, holiday with pay stamps (provided the 
insured is not otherwise indemnified), credit company sales vouchers, Value Added Tax purchase invoices and trading 
stamps, belonging to the insured or for which the insured has accepted responsibility and held in connection with the 
business.

NUCLEAR INSTALLATION 
any installation of such class or description as may be prescribed by regulations made by the relevant Secretary of State 
from time to time by statutory instrument being an installation designed or adapted for:

a)	 the production or use of atomic energy

b)	 the carrying out of any process which is preparatory or ancillary to the production or use of atomic energy and which 
involves or is capable of causing the emission of ionising radiation

c)	 the storage, processing or disposal of nuclear fuel or of bulk quantities of other radioactive matter being matter which 
has been produced or irradiated in the production or use of nuclear fuel. 

NUCLEAR REACTOR
any plant including any machinery, equipment or appliance whether affixed to land or not designed or adapted for the 
production of atomic energy by a fission process in which a controlled chain reaction can be maintained without an 
additional source of neutrons.

PREMISES
the premises specified in the Schedule owned and/or occupied by the insured for the purposes ofthe business.

PROPERTY
material property.

TERRITORIAL LIMITS
Great Britain, Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man and the Channel Islands.

TERRORISM
a)	 any act or preparation in respect of action or threat of action designed to influence the government de jure or de facto 

of any nation or any political division thereof or in pursuit of political, religious, ideological or similar purposes to intimidate 
the public or a section of the public of any nation by any person or group whether acting alone or on behalf of or in 
connection with any organisation or government de jure or de facto and which:

i)	 involves violence against one or more persons

ii)	 involves damage to property

iii)	 endangers life other than that of the person committing the action

iv)	 creates a risk to health or safety of the public or a section of the public

v)	 is designed to interfere with or to disrupt an electronic system

b)	 any action in controlling, preventing, suppressing, retaliating against or responding to any act or preparation in respect 
of action or threat of action described in a) above.

UNOCCUPIED
vacant empty untenanted or not in use.

11

Page 80



VIRUS OR SIMILAR MECHANISM
Program code, programming instruction or any set of instructions intentionally constructed with the ability to damage, 
interfere with or otherwise adversely affect computer programs, data files or operations whether involving self-
replication or not including but not limited to Trojan horses, worms and logic bombs.

VOLUNTEER
any person volunteering to assist or co-opted to assist the insured in the business.

12

Page 81



General Exclusions (not applicable to Part K)
The insurer will not be liable for:

1.	 Radiation 
death, injury or disablement, loss, destruction or damage whatsoever or any loss or expense whatsoever relating or 
arising therefrom or any legal liability of whatsoever nature directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or 
arising from:

a)	 ionising radiations from or contamination by radioactivity from any nuclear fuel or from any nuclear waste or from 
the combustion of nuclear fuel

b)	 the radioactive, toxic, explosive or other hazardous or contaminating properties of any nuclear installation, 
nuclear reactor or other nuclear assembly or nuclear component thereof

c)	 any weapon employing atomic or nuclear fission and/or fusion or other like reaction or radioactive force or matter

d)	 the radioactive, toxic, explosive or other hazardous or contaminating properties of any radioactive matter but this 
exclusion d) will not apply to radioactive isotopes other than nuclear fuel when such isotopes are being 
prepared, carried, stored or used for commercial, agricultural, medical, scientific or other peaceful purposes.

This Exclusion will not apply to injury to an employee insured under Part G except where the insured has undertaken 
under a contract or agreement either to indemnify another party or to assume the liability of another party in respect 
of such injury

2.	� War Risks or Government or Public Authority Order (not applicable to Part G)
any consequence (except so far as necessary to meet the requirements of the Road Traffic Acts) of war, invasion, 
act of foreign enemy, hostilities (whether war be declared or not), civil war, rebellion, revolution, insurrection or military 
or usurped power, nationalisation, confiscation or requisition, seizure or destruction by the government or any 
public authority

3.	� Civil Commotion and Terrorism (not applicable to Parts J and K)
a)	 in England and Wales and Scotland but not the territorial seas adjacent thereto (as defined by the Territorial Sea 

Act 1987) and not the Channel Islands nor the Isle of Man, loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense by fire or 
explosion occasioned by or happening through or in consequence directly or indirectly of terrorism except to 
the extent stated in the Special Provision incorporated in this Policy

b)	 in Northern Ireland loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense occasioned by or happening through or in 
consequence directly or indirectly of:

i)	 civil commotion

ii)	 terrorism

In any action, suit or other proceedings where the insurer alleges that by reason of this Exclusion any loss, 
destruction, damage, cost or expense is not covered by this Policy (or is covered only up to a specified limit of 
liability) the burden of proving that such loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense is covered (or is covered beyond 
that limit of liability) will be upon the insured

4.	 Sonic Bangs
	 not applicable to part I

loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense by pressure waves caused by aircraft or other aerial devices travelling at 
sonic or supersonic speeds

5.	 Communicable Diseases 
	 not applicable to parts E, F, G, H, I, J, N, O, P, Q and R

any loss, damage, liability, claim, cost or expense of whatsoever nature, directly or indirectly caused by, contributed 
to by, resulting from, arising out of, or in connection with the following:

a)	 a communicable disease; or 

b)	 the fear or threat (whether actual or perceived) of a communicable disease

regardless of any other cause or event contributing concurrently or in any other sequence thereto.

This exclusion does not however apply in respect of and only to the extent of cover expressly stated as being provided 
under the extension applicable to Part B – Business Interruption titled Named Diseases, Murder, Suicide or Rape

13

Page 82



6.	 Electronic Risks
	 not applicable to parts E, F, G, H, I, J, N, O, P and R

a)	 loss, destruction or damage caused by virus or similar mechanism or hacking or denial of service attack to any 
computer or other equipment or component or system or item which processes, stores, transmits, retrieves or 
receives data or any part thereof whether tangible or intangible including but without limitation any information or 
programs or software and whether the property is insured or not

b)	 loss, cost or expense directly or indirectly caused by or arising from virus or similar mechanism or hacking or 
denial of service attack.

14

Page 83



General Conditions (not applicable to Part K)
1.	 Policy Interpretation

Each Part of this Policy is declared to be a separate contract but will be subject to the General Conditions, General 
Definitions and General Exclusions.

2.	 Compulsory Insurance
The insured must repay the insurer any amounts which the insurer is required by compulsory insurance legislation 
to pay out under this Policy to the extent that the insurer would not otherwise have been liable to make such payments 
on account of a breach of any of the terms or conditions of this Policy. 

3.	 Reasonable Precautions
The insured will comply with all regulations imposed by any competent authority and take all reasonable precautions to 
prevent or minimise accident, injury, loss or damage. In addition, the insured will comply with makers recommendations 
made in respect of plant and machinery wherever reasonably practicable.

4.	 Fair Presentation of the Risk
a)	 At inception and renewal of this Policy and also whenever changes are made to it at the insured’s request the 

insured must:

i)	 disclose to the insurer all material facts in a clear and accessible manner; and

ii)	 not misrepresent any material facts.

b)	 If the insured does not comply with clause a) of this condition and the non-disclosure or misrepresentation by 
the insured is proven by the insurer to be deliberate or reckless the insurer may from the relevant date specified 
in clause d): 

i)	 treat this Policy as if it had not existed; and 

ii)	 not return the premium paid by the insured. 

c)	 If the insured does not comply with clause a) of this condition and the non-disclosure or misrepresentation is 
not deliberate or reckless the cover, meaning this Policy or the changes made to it, may be affected from the 
relevant date in clause d) in one or more of the following ways depending on what the insurer would have done if 
the insured had known about the facts which the insured failed to disclose or misrepresented: 

i)	 if the insurer would not have provided the insured with the cover the insured will have the option to treat the 
cover as if it had not existed and repay the premium paid for such cover; or 

ii)	 if the insurer would have applied different terms to the cover the insurer will have the option to treat this 
Policy as if those different terms apply; and/or 

iii)	 if the insurer would have charged the insured a higher premium for providing the cover the insurer will 
charge the insured the additional premium which the insured must pay in full. 

d)	 Clauses b) and c) apply with effect from inception, renewal or the date of the changes, depending on when the 
non-compliance occurred. The insurer may also recover any claims payments which have already been made to 
the extent that the cover under which such payments were made is being treated as if it did not exist or as if it 
had been subject to different terms under which the claim would not have been payable.

e)	 Where this Policy provides cover for any person other than the insured and that person would if they had taken 
out such cover in their own name have done so for purposes wholly or mainly unconnected with their trade, 
business or profession the insurer will not invoke the remedies which might otherwise have been available to the 
insurer under this condition if the failure to make a fair presentation of the risk concerns only facts or information 
which relate to a particular insured person other than the insured.

Provided always that if the person concerned or the insured acting on their behalf makes a careless 
misrepresentation of fact the insurer may invoke the remedies available to the insurer under this condition as 
against that particular person as if a separate insurance contract had been issued to them leaving the remainder 
of the Policy unaffected.

15

Page 84



5.	 Change in Circumstances 
The insured must notify the insurer as soon as possible during the Period of Insurance if there is any change in 
circumstances which materially increases the risk of accident, injury, loss, damage or liability.  

Upon notification of any such change the insurer will be entitled to vary the premium and terms for the rest of the 
Period of Insurance. If the changes make the risk unacceptable to the insurer then the insurer may no longer be 
able to provide the insured with cover. 

If the insured does not notify the insurer of any such change this Policy may be affected in one or more of the 
following ways depending on what the insurer would have done had the insurer known about the change in 
circumstances: 

a)	 if the insurer would not have continued to provide the insured with any cover the insurer may treat this Policy as 
if it did not exist from the date of the change in circumstances; or 

b)	 if the insurer would have applied different terms to the cover the insurer may treat this Policy as if those 
different terms applied from the date of the change in circumstances; and/or 

c)	 if the insurer would have charged the insured a higher premium for providing the cover the insurer will charge 
the insured the additional premium which the insured must pay in full. 

This Policy will come to an end immediately if the insured’s organisation ceases to exist or if the insured dies where 
the insured is an individual except that the insured’s executors or personal administrators will be entitled to benefit 
from any cover until the insured’s estate has been administered.

6.	 Claims Procedures
a)	 Action by the insured 

On the happening of any event which could give rise to a claim or on receiving verbal or written notice of any 
claim the insured will:

i) 	 as soon as possible give notice to the insurer

ii)	 as soon as possible notify the Police in respect of any loss or damage caused by theft or malicious persons

iii)	 immediately forward to the insurer any writ or summons issued against the insured

iv)	 at the insured’s own expense and within:

1)	 7 days of damage caused by riot, civil commotion, strikers, locked-out workers or persons taking part in 
labour disturbances or malicious persons

2)	 30 days of expiry of the Indemnity Period in respect of Part B

3)	 30 days in all other cases

supply full details of the claim in writing to the insurer together with any evidence and information that 
may be required by the insurer for the purpose of investigating or verifying the claim.

No settlement, admission or repudiation of liability, payment or promise of payment will be made without the 
written consent of the insurer.

b)	 Rights of the insurer 
The insurer may take over in the name of and on behalf of the insured the absolute conduct and control of all 
negotiations and proceedings which may arise in respect of any claim for indemnity or damages and the insured 
will provide all information and assistance which the insurer may require. On the happening of damage to any 
property in respect of which a claim is made, the insurer and any person authorised by the insurer may, without 
incurring any liability or diminishing any of the insurer’s rights under this Policy, enter, take or keep possession of 
the premises where such damage has occurred and take possession of or require to be delivered to the insurer 
any insured property and deal with such property in any reasonable manner. This Policy will be evidence of the 
insurer’s licence so to act. No property may be abandoned to the insurer whether taken possession of by the 
insurer or not.

c)	 Subrogation 
The insurer may take legal proceedings in the name of the insured (but at its own expense) for the purpose of 
exercising for its own benefit any right of recovery of the insured against any other party and this Condition will 
be evidence of the insurer’s right so to do, whether before or after the insured has received an indemnity.

16

Page 85



7.	 Other Insurances
	 Not applicable to parts J and P

If at the time of any occurrence giving rise to the claim there is any other insurance or risk transfer mechanism or 
other similar arrangements effected by or on behalf of the insured providing an indemnity the insurer’s liability will 
be limited to its rateable proportion. If any other insurance is subject to any provision whereby it is excluded from 
ranking concurrently with this Policy in whole or in part or from contributing proportionately the liability of the insurer 
under this Policy will be limited to any excess beyond the amount which would be payable under such other 
insurance had this Policy not been effected.

8.	 Fraudulent Claims
If the insured or anyone acting on the insured’s behalf:

a) 	 makes a fraudulent or exaggerated claim under this Policy; or

b) 	 uses fraudulent means or devices including the submission of false or forged documents in support of a claim 
whether or not the claim is itself genuine; or

c)	 makes a false statement in support of a claim whether or not the claim is itself genuine; or

d) 	 submits a claim under this Policy for loss or damage which the insured or anyone acting on the insured’s behalf 
or in connivance with the insured deliberately caused; or

e) 	 realises after submitting what the insured reasonably believed was a genuine claim under this Policy and then 
fails to tell the insurer that the insured has not suffered any loss or damage; or

f)	 suppresses information which the insured knows would otherwise enable the insurer to refuse to pay a claim 
under this Policy

the insurer will be entitled to refuse to pay the whole of the claim and recover any sums that the insurer has already 
paid in respect of the claim.

The insurer may also notify the insured that the insurer will be treating this Policy as having terminated with effect 
from the date of any of the acts or omissions set out in clauses a) to f) of this condition.

If the insurer terminates this policy under this condition the insured will have no cover under this Policy from the 
date of termination and not be entitled to any refund of premium.

If any fraud is perpetrated by or on behalf of an insured person and not on behalf of the insured this condition 
should be read as if it applies only to that insured person’s claim and references to this Policy should be read as if 
they were references to the cover effected for that person alone and not to the Policy as a whole.

9.	 Reinstatement
The insurer at its option may indemnify the insured by payment, reinstatement, replacement or repair in respect of 
damage to any property or part thereof. If the insurer elects to reinstate or replace any property it will not be bound 
to reinstate or replace exactly or completely but only as circumstances permit and in reasonably sufficient manner 
and will not in any case be bound to expend in respect of any one of the items insured under any Part more than the 
sum insured specified in the Schedule.

10.	 Long Term Agreement 
	 (Applicable separately to each Part of this Policy unless otherwise stated in the Schedule).

In consideration of a discount being incorporated in the premiums on Parts of this Policy the insured undertakes to 
offer annually the insurance under each such Part on the terms and conditions in force at the expiry of each Period 
of Insurance and to pay the premiums in advance, it being understood that:

a)	 the insurer will be under no obligation to accept an offer made in accordance with the above mentioned 
undertaking

b)	 the sum insured may be reduced at any time to correspond with any reduction in value or in the business

c)	 Parts I, K and L only. Rates will be amended at each renewal date in line with the change in an index selected by 
the insurer during the period of 12 months which expires 3 months prior to the month of renewal.

The above mentioned undertaking applies to any policy (or Part) which may be issued by the insurer in 
substitution for this Policy (or Part) and the same discount will be incorporated in the premium on any 
substituted policy (or Part) issued by the insurer.

Payment of the first or renewal premium will be deemed acceptance by the insured of this Condition.

17

Page 86



11.	 Premium Adjustment
If the premium for any Part of this Policy has been calculated on estimates furnished by the insured, the insured will 
within one month of the expiry of each Period of Insurance furnish to the insurer such particulars and information as 
the insurer may require. The premium for such period will then be adjusted and the difference paid by or allowed to 
the insured as the case may be, subject to the retention by the insurer of any amount described as a minimum 
premium.

12.	 Observance
The due observance and fulfilment of the terms and conditions of this Policy by the insured in so far as they relate 
to anything to be done or complied with by the insured will be a condition precedent to any liability of the insurer to 
make any payment under this Policy.

13.	 Arbitration
	 Not applicable to parts J and P

If the insurer admits liability for a claim but there is a dispute as to the amount to be paid the dispute will be referred 
to an arbitrator. The arbitrator will be appointed jointly by the insured and the insurer in accordance with the law at 
the time. The insured may not take any legal action against the insurer over the dispute before the arbitrator has 
reached a decision.

14. Cancellation
The insurer may cancel this Policy or any Part thereof by giving 30 days notice in writing by recorded delivery to the 
insured at the insured’s last known address. The insured will be entitled to a pro rata return of premium calculated 
from the date of cancellation.

15.	 Sanctions 
Notwithstanding any other terms of this Policy the insurer will be deemed not to provide cover nor will the insurer 
make any payment or provide any service or benefit to the insured or any other party to the extent that such cover, 
payment, service, benefit and/or any business or activity of the insured would violate any applicable trade or 
economic sanctions law or regulation.

18

Page 87



Part A – Material Damage
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Damage
damage by any of the Insured Perils specified in the Schedule.

One Event
the total of all losses arising from one occurrence or all occurrences of a series consequent upon or attributable to one 
original cause after the application of all the terms and conditions of this Part.

Reinstatement
a)	 the rebuilding or replacement of property lost or destroyed which may be carried out:

i)	 in any manner suitable to the requirements of the insured

ii)	 upon another site

provided the liability of the insurer is not increased

b)	 the repair or restoration of property damaged

in either case to a condition equivalent to or substantially the same as but not better or more extensive than its condition 
when new.

Section 2 – Cover
In the event of Damage to the property insured specified in the Schedule and occurring at the premises during the Period 
of Insurance the insurer will pay to the insured the value of the property at the time of the Damage or the amount of 
such Damage or at the insurer’s option replace, reinstate or repair the property or any part of it provided that the liability 
of the insurer will not exceed:

a)	 i)	 in the whole the total Sum Insured

ii)	 in respect of any item its Sum Insured

iii)	 any other Limit of Liability specified in the Schedule

at the time of the Damage

b)	 the sum Insured (or Limit) remaining after deduction for any other Damage occurring during the same Period of 
Insurance, unless the insurer has agreed to reinstate any such Sum Insured (or Limit).

(Note: for Exclusions please see Exclusions to Parts A and B).

Rent
The insurance on rent applies only whilst any part of the Buildings is sufficiently damaged to render it unfit for occupation. 
The amount payable will not exceed the proportion of the Sum Insured on rent that the period necessary for reinstatement 
bears to the period of rent insured.

Section 3 – Additional Covers

Contracting Purchaser’s Interest
If at the time of Damage to property the insured has contracted to sell its interest in any of the buildings and the sale has 
not been completed, the contracting purchaser who completes the purchase (providing the property is not otherwise 
insured by the purchaser or on the purchaser’s behalf) will be entitled until completion to benefit under this Part without 
prejudice to the rights and liabilities of the insured or insurer.

19

Page 88



Temporary Removal
The following are insured whilst temporarily removed to premises not in the insured’s occupation but whilst remaining 
within the territorial limits:

a)	 Deeds and other documents, manuscripts, plans and writings of every description and books (but excluding 
computer system records) up to an amount not exceeding £10,000 any one loss

b) 	 computer system records up to an amount not exceeding £2,000 any one loss

c) 	 contents up to 15% of the Sum Insured on contents.

This Additional Cover does not apply to:

i) 	 property insofar as it is otherwise insured

ii) 	 stock in trade or goods in process of manufacture

iii)	 motor vehicles and motor chassis licensed for road use.

Section 4 – Special Conditions

Repairs and Alterations
Tradesmen may be employed to effect repairs or minor structural alterations in or to the buildings without prejudice to 
this insurance.

Mortgagees, Freeholders and Lessors Clause
Any increase in the risk of Damage resulting from any act or neglect of any Mortgagor, Leaseholder, Lessee or Occupier 
of any of the buildings insured by this Part will not prejudice the interest of any Mortgagee, Freeholder or Lessor provided 
such increase in risk is without their prior knowledge or authority and that the insurer is notified immediately they become 
aware of such increase in risk and they pay any additional premium required.

20

Page 89



Part B – Business Interruption
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Annual Gross Revenue
the Gross Revenue during the 12 months immediately before the date of the Incident.

Damage
damage by any of the Insured Perils specified in the Schedule.

Gross Revenue
the money paid or payable to the insured for goods sold or for services rendered in the course of the business at 
the premises.

Incident
accidental damage to property used by the insured at the premises for the purposes of the business.

Indemnity Period
the period during which the results of the business are affected in consequence of the Incident, beginning with the 
Incident and lasting not longer than the Maximum Indemnity Period specified in the Schedule.

Standard Gross Revenue
the Gross Revenue during that period in the 12 months immediately before the date of the Incident which corresponds 
with the Indemnity Period.

Notes:
1.	 Where the Maximum Indemnity Period exceeds 12 months the amount calculated using the definition Standard 

Gross Revenue will be proportionately increased.

2.	 Provision will be made for the trend of the business and for variations in or other circumstances, either before or 
after the date of the Incident, which affect the business or would have affected the business had the Incident not 
occurred, and the figures for Annual Gross Revenue and Standard Gross Revenue adjusted to represent as nearly 
as reasonably practicable the results which would have been obtained during the relative period after the Incident if 
the Incident had not happened.

3.	 To the extent that the insured is accountable for Value Added Tax, all terms in this Part will be exclusive of such Tax.

4.	 For the purpose of the above special definitions any adjustment implemented in current cost accounting will be 
disregarded.

Section 2 – Cover
In the event of an Incident during the Period of Insurance the insurer will pay to the insured:

a) 	 under Item 1 in respect of Additional Expenditure the amount of any additional expenditure necessarily and reasonably 
incurred for the sole purpose of avoiding or diminishing the interruption of or interference with the business which 
but for the expenditure would have taken place during the Indemnity Period in consequence of the Incident

b)	 under Item 2 in respect of Loss of Gross Revenue and Increase in Cost of Working the amount of any 
consequential loss.

Provided that:

i)	 insurance is in force at the time of the Incident covering the interest of the insured in the property at the premises 
against such Damage; and

ii)	 payment has been made or liability admitted for such Damage (or payment would have been made or liability 
admitted for such Damage but for a proviso excluding liability for losses below a certain amount).

The liability of the insurer will not exceed:

1)	 in the whole the total Sum Insured or in respect of any item its Sum Insured or any other Limit of Liability specified in 
the Schedule at the time of the Damage

2)	 the Sum Insured (or Limit) remaining after deduction for any other interruption or interference consequent upon 
Damage occurring during the same Period of Insurance, unless the insurer has agreed to reinstate any such Sum 
Insured (or Limit).

(Note: For Exclusions please see Exclusion to Parts A and B).

21

Page 90



Section 3 – Additional Cover

Automatic Reinstatement of Sum Insured
In consideration of the insurance not being reduced by the amount of any loss the insured will pay the appropriate extra 
premium on the amount of the loss from the date of the Incident to the date of expiry of the Period of Insurance.

Section 4 – Special Conditions

Basis of Claims Settlement
The amount payable as indemnity will be:

a)	 in respect of Additional Expenditure:

i) 	 additional costs incurred in order effectively to continue administration and maintain services including the fitting 
out of temporary premises, costs of removal, hiring of vehicles plant and machinery and incidental expenses 
relating thereto

ii) 	 increased costs incurred for rent, rates taxes lighting heating cleaning and insurance due to the enforced 
occupation of temporary premises

iii)	 legal clerical and other charges incurred in the replacement or restoration of deeds plans specifications documents 
books of account, card indices and other office records

less any sum saved during the Indemnity Period in the insured’s normal expenditure which may have been effected 
in consequence of the Incident

b)	 i)	� in respect of Loss of Gross Revenue: the amount by which the Gross Revenue during the Indemnity Period falls 
short of the Standard Gross Revenue in consequence of the Incident

ii)	 in respect of Increase in Cost of Working: the additional expenditure incurred solely to avoid or diminish the 
reduction in Gross Revenue which but for the expenditure would have taken place during the Indemnity period 
in consequence of the incident, provided that such additional expenditure:

1)	 is necessarily and reasonably incurred

2)	 does not exceed the amount of reduction in Gross Revenue thereby avoided

less any sum saved during the Indemnity Period in respect of charges and expenses of the business payable out of 
Gross Revenue which cease or are reduced in consequence of the Incident.

AVERAGE (Applicable to paragraph (b) above)
If the Sum Insured specified in the Schedule in respect of Gross Revenue is less than the Annual Gross Revenue (or a 
proportionately increased multiple where the Maximum Indemnity Period exceeds 12 months) the amount payable will 
be proportionately reduced.

For the avoidance of doubt solely in respect of the application of average to any item under this Policy clause c) iii) of 
General Condition 4 will not apply.

Professional Accountants
Any details contained in the insured’s business books required by the insurer for the purpose investigating or verifying 
any claim may be produced by professional accountants if at the time they are regularly acting as such for the insured 
and their report will be prima facie evidence of the details to which such report relates. The insurer will pay to the insured 
the reasonable charges payable to its professional accountants for producing such evidence and reporting to the insurer 
and the insured that such details are in accordance with the insured’s books of account provided that the total amount 
payable does not exceed the liability of the insurer as specified.

Alternative Trading
If during the Indemnity Period goods are sold or services rendered elsewhere than at the premises for the benefit of the 
business either by the insured or by others on behalf of the insured the money paid or payable in respect of such sales 
or services will be brought into account in arriving at the Gross Revenue during the Indemnity Period.

22

Page 91



Section 5 – Special Extensions

1.	 Public Utilities and Denial of Access
Any loss as insured under this Part resulting from interruption of or interference with the business in consequence 
of Damage to the property at the undernoted sites within the territorial limits will be deemed to be an Incident

a)	 any generating station or sub-station of any public electricity supply undertaking

b)	 any land-based premises of any public gas supply undertaking or any natural gas producer linked directly to 
them

c)	 any water works and pumping stations of any public water supply undertaking

d)	 any land-based premises of any public telecommunications undertaking

from which the insured obtains electricity, gas, water or telecommunications services

e)	 within a one mile radius of the premises which prevents or hinders the use of or access to the premises 
excluding loss, destruction or damage to property of any supply undertaking which prevents or hinders the 
supply of services by any electricity, gas, water or telecommunications undertaking to the premises.

Provided always that:

i)	 the Maximum Indemnity Period will mean 3 months

ii)	 the limit is £1,000,000 any One Event and in the aggregate in any one period of insurance.

2.	 Named Diseases, Murder, Suicide or Rape 
The insurance in respect of each item under this Part includes loss resulting from interruption of or interference with 
the business carried on by the insured at the premises in consequence of: 

a)	 i)	 any occurrence of a Named Disease at the premises or attributable to food or drink supplied from the premises

ii)	 any discovery of an organism at the premises likely to result in the occurrence of a Named Disease 

b)	 the discovery of vermin or pests at the premises

c)	 any accident causing defects in the drains or other sanitary arrangements at the premises which causes restrictions 
on the use of the premises on the order or advice of the competent local authority

d)	 any occurrence of murder, suicide or rape at the premises. 

Provided always that: 

i)	 Named Disease will mean illness sustained by any person resulting from:

1)	 food or drink poisoning 

2)	 one of the following specified human infectious or human contagious diseases: 

Acute encephalitis

Acute poliomyelitis

Bubonic plague

Cholera

Diphtheria

Dysentery

Legionellosis

Legionnaires disease

Leprosy

Leptospirosis

Malaria

Measles

Meningitis

Meningococcal infection

Mumps 

Ophthalmia neonatorum

Paratyphoid fever

Rabies

Relapsing fever

Rubella

Scarlet fever

Smallpox

Tetanus

Tuberculosis

Typhoid fever

Typhus fever

Viral haemorrhagic

Viral hepatitis

Whooping cough

Yellow fever

an outbreak of which the competent local authority has stipulated will be notified to them. 

ii)	 For the purposes of this clause:

1)	 Indemnity Period will mean the period during which the results of the business are affected in consequence 
of the occurrence, discovery or accident beginning with the date from which the restrictions on the premises 
are applied or in the case of d) above with the date of the occurrence and ending not later than the Maximum 
Indemnity Period thereafter. 

2)	 Maximum Indemnity Period will mean 3 months. 

iii)	 In the event that this part includes an extension which deems loss at other locations to be loss at the premises 
such extension will not apply to this clause.

23

Page 92



iv)	 The insurer will not be liable under this clause for:

1)	 loss arising from restrictions on the use of the premises in consequence of an emergency prohibition notice 
or emergency prohibition order being served against the insured or the manager of the premises in relation to 
a breach of the Food Safety Act 1990, General Food Regulations 2004 or Food Hygiene Regulations 2006 
including any amendments or re-enactment thereto 

2)	 any costs incurred in the cleaning, repair, replacement, recall or checking of property. 

v)	 The insured will comply with all issues identified as contraventions arising from a Food Premises Inspection Report 
within the timescales stated in such report.

vi)	 The insured will notify the insurer immediately of any prohibition notice, emergency prohibition notice or 
emergency prohibition order served against them or the manager of the premises in relation to a breach of the 
Food Safety Act 1990, General Food Regulations 2004 or Food Hygiene Regulations 2006 including any 
amendments or re-enactment thereto.

vii)	 The insurer will only be liable for the loss arising at those premises which are directly affected by the occurrence, 
discovery or accident and then only for an amount not exceeding £100,000 any One Event and in the aggregate 
in any one period of insurance.

3.	 The insurance by this Part extends to include loss or damage to data or information on computer equipment not 
accompanied by visible and identifiable damage to the data carrying media. Limit £5,000 any one loss.

Excluding loss or damage occasioned to data or information by defects in the data, information or other records or 
caused by a defect of design, material or workmanship in the computer equipment or any computer software.

24

Page 93



Insured Perils
Applicable to Parts A and B
1.	 Fire but excluding damage to property or consequential loss caused by:

a)	 explosion resulting from fire

b)	 earthquake or subterranean fire

c)	 i)	 its own spontaneous fermentation or heating; or

ii)	 its undergoing any heating process or any process involving the application of heat

d)	 Lightning

e)	 Explosion:

i)	 of gas used for domestic purposes only

ii)	 of boilers used for domestic purposes only,

iii)	 in respect of Part B – of any other boilers or economisers on the premises but excluding damage or 
consequential loss caused by earthquake or subterranean fire

2.	 Explosion excluding:

a)	 in respect of Part A – damage:

i)	 caused by or consisting of the bursting of a boiler, economiser or other vessel machine or apparatus in which 
internal pressure is due to steam only and belonging to or under the control of the insured

ii)	 in respect of and originating in any vessel, machinery or apparatus, or its contents, belonging to or under the 
control of the insured which requires to be examined to comply with any statutory regulations unless such vessel 
machinery or apparatus is the subject of a policy or other contract providing the required inspection service

b)	 in respect of Part B – consequential loss caused by the bursting of any vessel machine or apparatus (not being 
a boiler or economiser on the premises) in which internal pressure is due to steam only and belonging to or 
under the control of the insured

3.	 Aircraft or other aerial devices or articles dropped from them

4.	 Riot civil commotion strikers locked-out workers or persons taking part in labour disturbances or malicious persons 
excluding:

a)	 damage or consequential loss;

i)	 arising from confiscation, requisition or destruction by order of the government or any public authority

ii)	 arising from cessation of work

iii)	 caused (other than by fire or explosion) by malicious persons (not acting on behalf of or in connection with 
any political organisation) in respect of any building which has been unoccupied for a period of more than 
30 consecutive days.

b)	 damage by theft directly caused by malicious persons not acting on behalf of or in connection with any political 
organisation

c)	 consequential loss arising from deliberate erasure, loss, distortion or corruption of information on computer 
systems or other records, programs or software

5. 	 Earthquake

6. 	 Subterranean fire

7. 	 Storm or flood excluding damage or consequential loss:

a) 	 attributable solely to change in the water table level

b) 	 caused by frost, subsidence, ground heave or landslip

c) 	 in respect of movable property in the open, fences and gates

8. 	 Escape of water or beer from any tank apparatus or pipe excluding damage or consequential loss:

a) 	 caused by water discharged or leaking from any automatic sprinkler installation

b)	 in respect of any building which has been unoccupied for a period of more than 30 consecutive days

25

Page 94



9.	 Impact by any road vehicle or animal

10.	 Breakage or collapse of television or radio signal receiving apparatus

11.	 Falling trees or branches

12.	 Leakage of oil from any fixed oil-fired heating installation, including smoke and smudge damage arising from 
defective vaporisation

13.	 Accidental damage to fixed glass, associated framework and sanitaryware for which the insured is responsible at 
the premises.

In addition the insurer will pay the cost necessarily incurred, of boarding up until the broken glass is replaced

The insurer will not be liable for damage:

a) 	 caused by scratching

b) 	 to bent, curved, moveable, laminated or special glass unless such glass has been specially noted by the insurer

c) 	 when the premises are unoccupied

d) 	 caused by repairs or alterations to the premises

e) 	 caused by Insured Perils 1 to 12, 14 or 15 whether insured or not

14.	 Subsidence or ground heave of any part of the site on which the property; stands or landslip excluding:

a) 	 damage to or consequential loss arising from damage to yards, car parks, roads, pavements, walls, gates and 
fences unless also affecting a building insured under Part A

b) 	 damage or consequential loss caused by or consisting of:

i) 	 the normal settlement or bedding down of new structures

ii) 	 the settlement or movement of made up ground

iii) 	 coastal or river erosion

iv) 	 defective design or workmanship or the use of defective materials

v) 	 fire, subterranean fire, explosion, earthquake or the escape of water from any tank, apparatus or pipe

c) 	 damage or consequential loss which originated prior to the inception of this cover

d) 	 damage or consequential loss resulting from:

i)	 demolition, construction, structural alteration or repair of any property; or

ii)	 groundworks or excavation at the premises

Special Condition

The insurer’s liability under this Insured Peril will be avoided if the risk of damage or consequential loss is increased 
by reason of demolition, groundworks, excavation or construction being carried out on any adjoining site unless 
admitted by the insurer in writing

15.	 Theft involving:

a)	 forcible and violent entry to or exit from any building or part of any building at the premises

b) 	 personal violence or threat of personal violence to any employee

or any attempt at such theft, other than:

a) 	 by any person lawfully in or on the premises or involving the insured or any employee

b)	 involving parting with title or possession of any property insured if induced to do so by fraud, trick or false pretence

c) 	 of money, credit cards or securities of any description

d) 	 from a vending machine unless other property at the premises suffers damage at the same time

unless specifically mentioned as insured.

The insurer will also indemnify the insured for the cost of:

i)	 repair of damage to the buildings caused by theft or attempted theft of the property insured where the insured 
is legally responsible for the cost of repairing such damage

ii)	 external glazing and the cost of boarding up provided this is directly accompanied by theft or attempted theft of 
property insured

26

Page 95



iii)	 replacement of locks at the premises made necessary by theft or attempted theft that is not excluded by this 
insurance of keys from the premises or from the home of any adult person authorised to hold such keys, but 
excluding the cost of replacing safe or strongroom locks and in no case exceeding the sum of £500

iv)	 damage by theft accompanied by forcible and violent entry to or exit from buildings at the premises caused with 
the connivance of any employee

16.	 Accidental damage being all risks of damage to the property insured excluding:

a) 	 damage or consequential loss caused by Insured Perils 1 to 13 above whether insured or not or specifically excluded 
by those Insured Perils

b) 	 damage or consequential loss caused by or consisting of:

i)	 inherent vice, latent defect, gradual deterioration, wear and tear, its own faulty or defective design or materials

ii)	 faulty or defective workmanship, operational error or omission on the part of the insured or any employee

but this will not exclude subsequent damage or consequential loss which itself results from a cause not otherwise 
excluded

c)	 damage or consequential loss caused by or consisting of:

i)	 corrosion, rust, wet or dry rot, shrinkage, evaporation, loss of weight, dampness, dryness, marring, scratching, 
vermin or insects

ii)	 change in temperature, colour, flavour, texture or finish

iii)	 theft or attempted theft

iv)	 joint leakage, failure of welds, cracking, fracturing, collapse or overheating of boilers, economisers, superheaters, 
pressure vessels or any range of associated steam and feed piping

v)	 mechanical or electrical breakdown or derangement of the particular machine, apparatus or equipment in which 
such breakdown or derangement originates

vi)	 the deliberate act of a supply undertaking in withholding the supply of water, gas, electricity, fuel or 
telecommunications services

but this will not exclude:

1)	 such damage or consequential loss not otherwise excluded which itself results from any other accidental 
damage

2)	 subsequent damage or consequential loss which itself results from a cause not otherwise excluded

d)	 damage or consequential loss caused by or consisting of:

i)	 subsidence, ground heave, or landslip

ii)	 normal settlement or bedding down of new structures

iii)	 acts of fraud or dishonesty

iv)	 disappearance, unexplained or inventory shortage, misfiling or misplacing of information

e)	 damage to buildings or any structure caused by its own collapse or cracking

f)	 damage or consequential loss (other than by fire or explosion) resulting from its undergoing any process of 
production packing treatment testing commissioning servicing or repair

g)	 damage to:

i)	 jewellery, precious metals, bullion, furs, curiosities, works of art or rare books

ii)	 property in transit

iii)	 glass, china, earthenware, marble or other fragile or brittle objects

iv)	 money, credit cards or securities of any description

h)	 in respect of Part A unless specifically mentioned as insured, and in respect of Part B:

i)	 vehicles licensed for road use (including accessories on such vehicles), caravans, trailers, railway locomotives, 
rolling stock, watercraft or aircraft

ii)	 Land, roads, pavements, piers, jetties, bridges, culverts or excavation

iii)	 Livestock, growing crops or trees

iv)	 property or structures in course of construction or erection and materials or supplies in connection with all 
such property in course of construction or erection.

27

Page 96



Part C – All Risks
Section 1 – Cover
In the event of accidental damage to the property insured specified in the Schedule arising during the Period of Insurance 
within the territorial limits the insurer will pay to the insured the value of the property at the time of the damage or the 
amount of such damage or at the insurer’s option replace, reinstate or repair the property or any part of it provided that 
the liability of the insurer will not exceed:

a)	 i)	 in the whole the total Sum Insured

ii)	 in respect of any item its Sum Insured

iii)	 any other Limit of Liability specified in the Schedule at the time of the Damage

b)	 the Sum Insured (or Limit) remaining after deduction for any other damage occurring during the same Period of Insurance, 
unless the insurer has agreed to reinstate any such Sum Insured (or Limit).

Section 2 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

a)	 theft of property from an unattended vehicle unless all the doors, windows and other means of access have been 
secured and locked and all keys of the vehicle removed to a place of safety, and the property is placed in the boot 
of the vehicle or is otherwise out of sight

b)	 damage caused by:

i)	 depreciation, inherent vice, latent defect, gradual deterioration, wear and tear, frost, change in water table level

ii)	 corrosion, rust, wet or dry rot, shrinkage, evaporation, loss of weight, dampness, dryness, vermin or insect, marring 
or scratching

iii)	 pollution, contamination, change in temperature colour texture or finish

iv)	 mechanical or electrical breakdown or derangement of the particular machine, apparatus or equipment in which 
such breakdown or derangement originates not accompanied by damage to the machine, apparatus or equipment

v)	 disappearance, unexplained or inventory shortage

vi)	 any testing, repairing, adjusting, servicing or maintenance operation

c)	 damage to data-processing media and computer systems records caused by:

i)	 data-processing media failure or breakdown or malfunction of the data-processing system including equipment 
and component parts whilst the said media is being run through the system unless fire or explosion

ii)	 electrical or magnetic injury, disturbance or erasure of electronic recordings except by lightning.

Section 3 – Special Condition
The sum insured by each item of this Part is declared to be separately subject to average.

For the avoidance of doubt clause c) iii) of general condition 4 will not apply.

Section 4 – Special Extension
The insurance by this Part on computer equipment includes the actual breaking or burning out of any part whilst actually 
in use, arising from either mechanical or electrical defect (including fluctuations in power supply) or derangement to the 
computer equipment causing sudden stoppage of its functions and necessitating repair, replacement of rearrangement 
before it can resume working. Limit £5,000 any one loss.

This Special Extension will not apply to computer equipment not covered by a maintenance contract, leasing contract 
or guarantee providing for repair or replacement.

28

Page 97



Additional Covers
Applicable to Parts A and C 
European Community and Public Authorities Clause
Subject to the following special conditions the insurance by each item on buildings and contents includes such additional 
cost of reinstatement as may be incurred solely by reason of the necessity to comply with the Stipulations of:

1.	 European Community Legislation; or

2.	 Building or other Regulations under or framed in pursuance of any Act of Parliament or Bye-Laws of any Public Authority

(hereafter referred to as ‘the Stipulations’) in respect of:

a)	 Damage to property insured

b)	 undamaged portions

excluding:

i)	 the cost incurred in complying with the Stipulations:

1)	 in respect of loss, destruction, or damage occurring prior to the granting of cover by this extension

2)	 in respect of loss, destruction, or damage not insured by the policy

3)	 under which notice has been served upon the insured prior to the happening of the Damage

4)	 for which there is an existing requirement which has to be implemented within a given period

5)	 in respect of property entirely undamaged by any cause hereby insured against

ii)	 the additional cost that would have been required to make good the property lost destroyed or damaged to a 
condition equal to its condition when new had the necessity to comply with the Stipulations not arisen

iii)	 the amount of any charge or assessment arising out of capital appreciation which may be payable in respect of the 
property or by the owner thereof by reason of compliance with the Stipulations.

Special Conditions
1.	 The work of reinstatement must be commenced and carried out without unreasonable delay and in any case must 

be completed within 12 months of the Damage or within such further time as the insurer may allow (during the said 
12 months) and may be carried out upon another site (if the Stipulations so necessitate) subject to the liability of the 
insurer under this extension not being thereby increased.

2.	 If the liability of the insurer under this Part other than from this Additional Cover shall be reduced by the application 
of any of the terms and conditions of this Part then the liability of the insurer under this Additional Cover shall be 
reduced in like proportion.

3.	 The total amount recoverable under any item of this Part in respect of this Additional Cover shall not exceed:

a)	 in respect of the lost destroyed or damaged property:

i) 	 15% of its sum insured

ii) 	 where the sum insured by the item applies to property at more than one premises 15% of the total amount for 
which the insurer would have been liable had the property insured by the item at the premises where the 
Damage has occurred been wholly destroyed

b)	 in respect of undamaged portions of property (other than foundations) 15% of the total amount for which the 
insurer would have been liable had the property insured at the premises where the damage has occurred been 
wholly destroyed.

4.	 The total amount recoverable under this Part will not exceed its sum insured.

5.	 All the terms and conditions of this Part except in so far as they are varied by this Additional Cover will apply as if 
they had been incorporated in this Additional Cover.

29

Page 98



Removal of Debris
The insurance by each item on buildings and/or contents extends to include costs and expenses necessarily and 
reasonably incurred by the insured with the consent of the insurer in:

a)	 removing debris of

b)	 dismantling or demolishing

c)	 shoring up or propping

the property insured following Damage.

The amount payable under each item will not exceed in total its Sum Insured.

The insured will not pay any costs or expenses:

i)	 incurred in removing debris except from the site of the property destroyed or damaged and the area immediately 
adjacent to the site

ii)	 arising from pollution or contamination of property not insured by this Part.

Non-Invalidation
This insurance will not be invalidated by any act or omission or by any alteration which increases the risk of Damage 
without the authority or knowledge of or beyond the control of the insured, provided that immediately the insured 
becomes aware of the increased risk of Damage notice is given to the insurer and any additional premium paid.

Professional Fees
The insurance by each item on buildings or contents includes an amount in respect of Architects’, Surveyors’, Legal 
and Consulting Engineers’ fees necessarily and reasonably incurred in the reinstatement or repair of property insured 
consequent upon its Damage but not for preparing any claim. The amount payable under each item will not exceed in 
total its Sum Insured.

Capital Additions
This insurance extends to include buildings and contents acquired during its currency including additions and extensions 
to existing structures but not any appreciation in value provided that:

a)	 the Additional Cover will not apply to stock in trade or goods in process of manufacture

b)	 in any one situation this Additional Cover will not exceed £1,000,000

c)	 the insured gives particulars of such extensions of cover as soon as practicable but not later than 6 months after 
such cover has applied and will effect specific insurance on such buildings and contents retrospective to the time 
the insured became responsible

d)	 immediately such specific insurance is effected, cover by the Additional Cover will be fully reinstated.

Drains and Gutters
The insurance by each item on buildings or contents extends to include costs and expenses necessarily and reasonably 
incurred by the insured with the consent of the insurer in cleaning and/or clearing drains and/or sewers and/or gutters, 
the property of the insured or for which the insured is responsible following Damage to the property insured.

The amount payable under each item will not exceed in total its Sum Insured.

Trace and Access
In the event of damage resulting from escape of water if insured this insurance is extended in addition to the Sum 
Insured to pay the reasonable costs and expenses necessarily incurred with the insurer’s consent in locating the source 
of such damage and the subsequent making good of any damage caused provided always that the insurer’s liability 
any One Event and in the aggregate in any one period of insurance will not exceed £25,000.

Underground Services
The insurance by each item on buildings or contents extends to include accidental damage to oil tanks, piping, ducting, 
cables, wires and associated control gear and accessories serving the buildings but only to the extent of the insured’s 
responsibility. Limit £1,000 any one loss.

Automatic Reinstatement of Sum Insured
In consideration of the insurance not being reduced by the amount of any loss the insured will pay the appropriate extra 
premium on the amount of the loss from the date of the occurrence to the date of expiry of the Period of Insurance.

30

Page 99



Adaptation (Energy Performance and Sustainable Buildings) Clause
This part includes:

a)	 the additional cost of reinstatement incurred with the prior written consent of the insurer to comply with the 
recommendations made under any current energy performance certificate in respect of Damage

b)	 additional cost of reinstatement incurred with the prior written consent of the insurer to reinstate the Damage to a 
standard above the minimum required under the prevailing European Union or Building or other regulations under or 
framed in pursuance of any Act of Parliament or bye-laws of any public authority where such standard would otherwise 
result in a recommendation for improvement to be made in a subsequent energy performance certificate assessment

c)	 the reasonable additional cost of reinstatement incurred with the prior written consent of the insurer arising from 
the use of alternative materials or sources of materials in accordance with the principles of the Building Research 
Establishment Environmental and Sustainability Standard.

Provided always that:

i)	 the insurer will not be liable for any undamaged portions of the property insured

ii)	 the insurer will not be liable for the amount of any charge or assessment arising out of capital appreciation which 
may be payable in respect of the property insured by reason of the works funded by the application of this clause

iii)	 the insurer will not be liable for the cost incurred in complying with prevailing European Union or Building or other 
regulations under or framed in pursuance of any Act of Parliament or bye-laws of any public authority under which 
notice has been served upon the insured prior to the happening of the Damage

iv)	 if the liability of the insurer under any item of this part other than this clause is reduced by the application of any of 
the terms and conditions of this part then the liability of the insurer under this clause in respect of any such item will 
be reduced in like proportion

v)	 the total amount recoverable under this clause in respect of any One Event and in total in any one period of insurance 
will not exceed 5% otherwise payable in respect of buildings in the absence of this clause or £100,000 whichever is 
the lesser.

Bequeathed Property
This part includes property anywhere in the territorial limits bequeathed to the insured excluding:

a)	 motor vehicles licensed for road use or their accessories, trailers, caravans, watercraft or aircraft

b)	 property insured under any other policy.

Cover is in force from the commencement date of the insured’s interest in the property.

Provided always that:

i)	 the insurer’s liability will not exceed £10,000 any one item other than buildings for which the limit is £500,000 at 
any one site

ii)	 the insured will supply to the insurer details of all such bequeathed property at the end of each period of insurance 
and pay any additional premium required.

Damage to Reputation
This part includes reasonable costs incurred by the insured to mitigate resultant damage to the insured’s reputation 
subsequent to any One Event insured under this part.

Provided always that:

a)	 the damage to the insured’s reputation is a consequence of media coverage in print, by radio, television or news agency

b)	 the value of any One Event is in excess of £1,000,000 after the application of any deductible or excess

c)	 the insurer’s liability under Parts A and B combined will not exceed £50,000 in any one period of insurance

d)	 the insurer will not be liable unless subsequent to any One Event the sole conduct and control of any claim or series 
of claims under this clause rests with the insurer.

31

Page 100



Fire Extinguishment Expenses
This part includes reasonable costs and expenses necessarily incurred by the insured for:

a)	 refilling fire extinguishing appliances

b)	 recharging gas flooding systems

c)	 replacing used sprinkler heads

d)	 refilling sprinkler tanks where water costs are metered

e)	 resetting fire and intruder alarms

f)	 fire brigade charges

following Damage.

Provided always that the insurer’s liability any One Event will not exceed £25,000.

Groundsmens’ Equipment
This part includes groundsmens’ tools, machines and equipment at the premises.

Provided always that:

a)	 the insurer’s liability any One Event will not exceed £10,000

b)	 moveable items are returned to secure premises whilst not in use

c)	 moveable items will not be left unattended.

Landscaped Gardens
This Part includes reasonable costs and expenses necessarily incurred with the insurer’s consent in making good damage 
caused by the emergency services to landscaped gardens or grounds at the premises caused by Damage but excluding:

a)	 the cost of movement of soil other than as necessary for surface preparation

b)	 the failure of trees, shrubs, plants or turf to become established following replanting

c)	 the failure of seeds to germinate.

Provided always that the insurer’s liability any One Event will not exceed £15,000.

Loss Minimisation and Prevention Expenditure
This Part includes reasonable costs and expenses necessarily incurred by the insured in:

a)	 preventing or mitigating Damage to insured property in the event of imminent Damage

b)	 preventing or mitigating further Damage to insured property after or in consequence of actual Damage.

Provided always that:

i)	 the impending Damage was not reasonably foreseeable and would be the natural outcome if such costs and expenses 
were not incurred

ii)	 the costs and expenses incurred prevented or mitigated the Damage

iii)	 the insurer’s limit of liability does not exceed £100,000 in the aggregate in any one period of insurance.

Metered Water
This part includes the cost of metered water for which the insured is legally responsible arising from its escape.

Provided always that:

a)	 the amount payable in respect of any one premises is limited to such excess water charges resulting from accidental 
escape of water from pipes, apparatus or tanks in consequence of Damage

b)	 the insurer’s liability any One Event will not exceed £15,000.

32

Page 101



Special Conditions
Applicable to Parts A and C

Average
The Sum Insured by each item of this Part (other than those applying solely to fees, rent or removal of debris) is declared 
to be separately subject to average.

For the avoidance of doubt clause c) iii) of general condition 4 will not apply.

Fire Extinguishing Appliances
In consideration of any discount for Fire Extinguishing Appliances allowed from the premium the appliances will be inspected 
every week and any defect disclosed by such inspection or otherwise will be promptly remedied.

Providing the above is observed by the insured this insurance will not be affected by any defect in any of the appliances 
due to circumstances unknown to or beyond the control of the insured.

Designation
For the purpose of determining where necessary the heading under which any property is insured, it is agreed to accept 
the designation under which such property has been entered in the insured’s books.

Other interests
It is agreed and understood that where the insured so intend the interests of parties other than the insured in this insurance 
are admitted, the nature of such interests to be declared in the event of loss.

Security Protections
a)	 All protections will be fitted in accordance with the insurer’s requirements and together with all other devices for the 

protection of the property insured will be kept in good order and put into full and effective operation when the premises 
are closed for business or are unattended.

b)	 All keys including duplicate keys relative to the security of the premises will be removed from the secured premises 
whenever they are closed or unattended.

c)	 Any intruder alarm system will be:

i)	 installed in accordance with the specification agreed by the insurer and no alteration or variation of the system 
or the procedures agreed with the insurer for Police or any other response to any activation of the system or any 
structural alteration to the premises which would affect the system will be made without the written consent of 
the insurer

ii)	 maintained in full and effective working order at all times under a contract to provide both corrective and preventive 
maintenance with the installing company or such other company as approved by the insurer with no alteration 
being made thereto without the written consent of the insurer

iii)	 tested and set whenever the alarmed portion of the premises are closed or unattended by the insured or any 
person authorised by the insured to be responsible for the security of the premises.

d)	 Immediate advice will be given to the insurer

i)	 of any notice from the Police or a security organisation that the intruder alarm system signals will be disregarded

ii)	 of any notice from the local authority or a magistrate of any requirement imposed under the terms of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 or other legislation requiring modification of the intruder alarm system

iii)	 if the intruder alarm system cannot be turned on or maintained in full working order.

e)	 All keys to the intruder alarm system are removed from the premises when they are left unattended.

f)	 The insured maintains secrecy of codes for the operation of the intruder alarm system and no details of same are 
left on the premises.

g)	 The insured shall appoint at least two keyholders and lodge written details (which must be kept up to date) with the 
alarm company and Police.

h)	 In the event of notification of any activation of the intruder alarm system or interruption of the means of communication 
during any period that the intruder alarm system is set, a keyholder shall attend the premises as soon as reasonably 
possible.

33

Page 102



Exclusions to Parts A, B and C
Applicable to Part A

Excesses
Each claim arising from the undernoted Insured Perils will be subject to an excess applying to each and every loss, each 
and every separate premises, the amount of which is specified in the Schedule.

4	 Malicious Persons

7	 Storm or Flood

8 	 Escape of Water or Beer

11	 Falling Trees

14	 Subsidence, Ground Heave or Landslip

15	 Theft

16	 Accidental Damage

The insurer will not be liable for:

a)	 damage to any property more specifically insured by or on behalf of the insured

b)	 consequential loss of any kind other than loss of rent if insured.

Applicable to Part B
The insurer will not be liable for loss, cost or expense arising directly or indirectly from erasure, loss, distortion or 
corruption of information on computer systems or other records, programs or software:

a)	 whilst mounted in or on any machine or data-processing apparatus

b)	 due to the presence of a magnetic flux

c)	 caused deliberately by rioters, strikers, locked-out workers, persons taking part in labour disturbances or civil commotion 
or malicious persons

d)	 caused otherwise unless resulting from Damage.

Applicable to Parts A and B
The insurer will not be liable for:

a)	 loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense caused by or resulting from pollution or contamination but this will not 
exclude damage or consequential loss not otherwise excluded caused by:

i)	 pollution or contamination which itself results from Damage

ii)	 Damage which itself results from pollution or contamination

b)	 loss, destruction, or damage to any property or any loss, cost or expense arising from riot or civil commotion unless 
these Perils are specified and then only to the extent stated.

Applicable to Part C
The insurer will not be liable for an excess the amount of which is specified in the Schedule. Unless otherwise stated 
the excess will apply to each and every loss.

Applicable to Parts A, B and C
1.	 The insurer will not be liable for loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense directly or indirectly caused by or 

contributed to by or consisting of or arising in whole or in part from:

a)	 the way in which any data processing system responds to or deals with or fails to respond to or fails to deal with 
any true calendar date

b)	 any data processing system responding to or dealing in any way with:

i)	 any data denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data did not denote a calendar date or dates

ii)	 any data not denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data denoted a calendar date or dates

whether such data processing system is the property of the insured or not but in respect of damage or consequential 
loss insured by Parts A and B this general exclusion will apply only to insured Peril 16 (if insured) and in respect of 
Insured Peril 16 will not exclude subsequent damage or consequential loss not otherwise excluded which results 
from a Defined Peril

34

Page 103



This exclusion does not apply to damage caused by theft as defined under Peril 15 in the Insured Perils section.

2a.	Exclusion in respect of terrorism
This Policy does not cover loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense directly or indirectly caused by, contributed to 
by, resulting from, or arising out of or in connection with:

a)	 any act, or preparation in respect of action, or threat of action designed to influence the government de jure or 
de facto of any nation or any political division thereof, or in pursuit of political, religious, ideological, or similar 
purposes to intimidate the public or a section of the public of any nation by any person or group(s) of persons 
whether acting alone or on behalf of or in connection with any organisation(s) or government(s) de jure or de facto, 
and which:

i)	 involves violence against one or more persons; or

ii)	 involves damage to property; or

iii)	 endangers life other than that of the person committing the action; or

iv)	 creates a risk to health or safety of the public or a section of the public; or

v)	 is designed to interfere with or to disrupt an electronic system

b)	 any action in controlling, preventing, suppressing, retaliating against, or responding to any act, or preparation in 
respect of action, or threat of action described in a) above.

In any action or suit or other proceedings where the insurer alleges that by reason of this Exclusion cover is not 
provided under this Policy, the burden of proving that cover is provided under this Policy shall be upon the insured

2b.	Northern Ireland Exclusion
This Policy does not cover loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense in Northern Ireland occasioned by or 
happening through or in consequence directly or indirectly of civil commotion.

35

Page 104



Endorsements
Applicable only where specified in the Schedule.

1.	 Reinstatement
Subject to the following Special Conditions the basis upon which the amount payable in respect of buildings and 
contents is to be calculated will be the Reinstatement of the property suffering damage.

	 Special Conditions
1.	 The liability of the insurer for the repair or restoration of property which is only partially damaged will not exceed 

the amount which would have been payable had such property been wholly destroyed.

2. 	 In respect of any item which is declared to be subject to average: if the sum insured at the commencement of 
Damage is less than 85% of the cost, at the time of reinstatement, of reinstating the whole of the property covered 
by that item the insured will bear a proportional share of the loss directly related to the difference between the 
Sum Insured and the estimated cost of reinstating the whole of the property.

3. 	 Any additional amount which may be payable solely due to this Reinstatement Condition will be paid only if:

a)	 Reinstatement commences and proceeds without unreasonable delay

b)	 the cost of Reinstatement has been actually incurred

c)	 at the time of its Damage the property insured is not insured by any other insurance effected by or on behalf 
of the insured which is not upon the same basis of Reinstatement.

4. 	 All the terms and conditions of this Part will apply:

a)	 in respect of any claim payable under the provisions of this Reinstatement Condition except in so far as they 
are varied hereby.

b)	 where claims are payable as if this Reinstatement Condition had not been incorporated.

2.	 Index-linking
The Sum Insured in respect of each of the items specified under Parts A and C in the Schedule will be adjusted 
monthly in line with the indices selected by the insurer. At each renewal the premium will be calculated on the 
adjusted Sum Insured.

3. 	 Unoccupied Buildings
a)	 The insured undertake in respect of unoccupied buildings

i)	 to notify the insurer immediately they become aware that any buildings or portion thereof is unoccupied or 
any unoccupied buildings or portion thereof becomes tenanted

ii)	 that all mains services will be turned off (except electricity supply to maintain any fire or intruder alarm system)

iii)	 that the water system be completely drained or, during the period 1 October to 1 April each year any central 
heating system may be kept working at a minimum temperature of 5 degrees C. (additionally, where sprinkler 
systems are installed it may be necessary to maintain water supplies. In these circumstances heating must be 
maintained at a minimum temperature of 5 degrees C)

iv)	 to arrange the inspection of the buildings internally and externally by an authorised representative, removing 
waste where necessary. Frequency to be notified in writing by the insurer

v)	 to seal up all letter boxes and take steps to prevent accumulations of mail

vi)	 to secure the buildings against unlawful entry by closing and locking doors and windows and setting any 
security and alarm systems.

4.	 Day one basis (non-adjustable)
The following special definition and Declaration Conditions apply in respect of the items specified in the Schedule 
under Part A:

	 Special Definition

	 Declared Value
The insured’s assessment of the cost of Reinstatement of the property insured arrived at in accordance with the 
Reinstatement provisions at the level of costs applying at the inception of each Period of Insurance (ignoring 
inflationary factors which may operate subsequently) together with, insofar as the insurance by the item provides, 
due allowances for:

a)	 the additional costs of reinstatement to comply with European Community and Public Authority requirements

b)	 professional fees

c)	 debris removal costs.

36

Page 105



	 Declaration Conditions

1.	 The insured having stated in writing the Declared Value which is shown in the Schedule as the sum insured for 
each of the said items the premium has been calculated accordingly. The actual sum insured is 125% of the 
Declared Value.

2.	 At the inception of each Period of Insurance the insured will notify the insurer of the Declared Value of the property 
by each of the item(s). In the absence of such declaration the last amount declared by the insured Index Linked 
in accordance with Endorsement 2 will be taken for the ensuing Period of Insurance.

3.	 The following wording replaces Special Condition 2 of Endorsement 1:

2.	 If at the commencement of Damage the Declared Value of the property covered by an item is less than the 
cost of Reinstatement at the inception of the Period of Insurance then the insurer’s liability for any loss will be 
limited to the proportion which the Declared Value bears to such cost of Reinstatement.

4.	 Where claims are payable as if Endorsement 1 had not been incorporated all the terms and conditions of the Part 
will apply except that the Sums Insured will be limited to the percentage specified in the Schedule of each 
Declared Value.

5.	 Automatic fire alarm installations
In respect of automatic fire alarm installation(s) the insured hereby undertake to:

a)	 carry out the testing and checking requirements referred to on the completion certificate and remedy promptly 
any defect disclosed

b)	 carry out the maintenance procedures specified by the manufacturers of the equipment

c)	 notify the insurer immediately of any disconnection or failure of the automatic fire alarm installation likely to leave 
any area unprotected for 12 hours or more

d)	 record details of all events such as alarms faults, tests, maintenance and disconnections and keep such details 
available for examination by the insurer.

6.	 Portable Heating
Portable Heating appliances are allowed for use in the premises on a maximum of 2 days of any week subject to 
their type conforming to the following:

a)	 Electrical Appliances

heaters with enclosed elements or forced convection heaters incorporating a fan failure cut-out device and/or an 
overheat cut-out device

b)	 Gas Appliances having both:

i)	 an integral fuel source; and

ii)	 one or more of the following safety features: a flame failure device, an overheat cut-out device and where 
relevant, a fan failure cut-out device.

All Portable Heating Appliances must be located in a safe position:

i)	 at least 1 metre clear of any combustible material

ii)	 where they cannot be accidentally knocked over

and in addition in respect of paragraph b):

iii)	 away from draughts

iv)	 provided with an independent non-combustible guard.

7.	 Electrical
The electrical installation must be checked by an Institution of Electrical Engineers qualified electrician with any defects 
being attended to within 3 months of inception of this Policy.

8.	 Basement storage
It is a condition precedent to the insurer’s liability that all property kept in any cellar, basement or sub-basement will 
be kept on racks or shelves at least 30cm above floor level.

9.	 Fire break doors and shutters
It is a condition precedent to the insurer’s liability that all fire break doors and shutters will be kept closed (except 
during working hours) and will be maintained in efficient working order.

37

Page 106



Part D – Money
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Assault
a)	 violent or criminal assault; or

b)	 attack by animals.

Non-Negotiable Money
crossed cheques, crossed girocheques, crossed bankers’ drafts, crossed national giro drafts, crossed money orders, 
crossed postal orders, franking machine units, used national insurance stamps, national savings certificates, credit 
company sales vouchers and Value Added Tax purchase invoices.

Person Insured
any person aged between 16 and 65 years inclusive other than:

a)	 an employee of a security company or similar organisation

b)	 any person committing or attempting robbery.

Section 2 – Cover
The insurer will pay to the insured in the event of loss of money from any cause which is not excluded arising during the 
Period of Insurance, the amount of such loss not exceeding the Limits specified in the Schedule.

Section 3 – Additional Cover

Limit of Liability

a)	 Accidental damage as a direct result of robbery or attempted robbery to:

i)	 personal effects of any employee

ii)	 any franking machine, safe, strongroom or security case, bag specially designed container 
for the carriage of money

£500

Reinstatement or 
other Value

b)	 the cost of replacing safe or strongroom locks made necessary by theft of keys from the 
premises or from the home of any adult authorised to hold such keys, but excluding such cost 
where the keys have been left on the premises whilst closed for business purposes £1,000

c)	 provided that no other personal accident insurance is operative the insurer will pay to the 
insured such of the amounts below as are applicable if a Person Insured sustains bodily injury 
by Assault whilst entrusted with money by the insured, as a result of which death or 
disablement occurs within 24 months of such injury:

i)	� death, total loss of use of one or more hands and feet or total loss of sight in one or 
both eyes

ii)	 permanent total disablement (other than stated in (i) above) from engaging in usual 
profession or occupation

iii)	� temporary disablement from engaging in usual profession or occupation for a maximum 
period of 104 weeks from date of disablement 

 
£10,000

 
£10,000

Normal weekly 
wage or salary up 
to £150 per week

All sums paid under iii) will be deducted from any sums payable under i) or ii) in respect of the 
same injury to the same Person Insured.

38

Page 107



Section 4 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

a)	 any loss arising from error or omission in receipts, payments, accounting practice or depreciation in value

b)	 any loss due to fraud or dishonesty on the part of an employee but this Exclusion will not apply to loss arising from 
fraud or dishonesty which is discovered within 72 hours, provided that:

i)	 such loss is not recoverable under a Fidelity Guarantee bond or policy of insurance

ii)	 the insurer’s liability will not exceed the amount specified in the Schedule against Item 2(c)(i)

c)	 any loss of money:

i)	 in excess of £100 from an unattended vehicle

ii)	 in the custody or control of a security company or similar organisation except for the amount of any loss which 
cannot be recovered from the security company by legal means but not exceeding the relevant Limit specified in 
the Schedule

iii)	 resulting from gradual deterioration, mechanical or electrical defect, breakdown or malfunction of any franking, 
dispensing or similar machines

iv)	 in the mail other than sent by registered post

d)	 an excess the amount of which is specified in the Schedule. Unless stated otherwise, the excess will apply to each 
and every loss.

Section 5 – Special Conditions

Accompaniment
The insurer will not be liable for any loss of money in transit unless accompanied by able-bodied adult persons as follows:

	 Minimum Number 
Amount Carried	 of Persons

Up to £2,500	 One

Over £2,500 and up to £5,000	 Two

Over £5,000 and up to £10,000	 Three

cover for amounts over £10,000 is only applicable if specified in the Schedule.

Condition Precedent
It is a condition precedent to the insurer’s liability that whenever an office, room or area in which a safe or strongroom 
containing money is situated becomes unattended:

a)	 such safe or strongroom is securely locked

b)	 all keys or combination code to such safe or strongroom are removed from the premises or kept on the person of an 
authorised member or employee.

39

Page 108



Part E – Public Liability
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Abuse
any actual or threatened single act or repeated acts of maltreatment that inflict harm or fail to prevent harm including:

a)	 physical abuse

b)	 sexual abuse, including sexual exploitation

c)	 neglect and/or acts of omission

d)	 psychological abuse

e)	 contemptuous, coarse or insulting behaviour.

Abuse Event
one occurrence or all occurrences of a series of Abuse to any one person. 

Data
data of any sort whatever, including without limitation tangible or intangible data, and any programs or software, bandwidth, 
cryptographic keys, databases, documents, domain names or network addresses or anything similar, files, interfaces, 
metadata, platforms, processing capability, storage media, transaction gateways, user credentials, websites, or any 
information whatever.

Financial Loss
economic or pecuniary losses for which the insured may be held legally liable in the law of tort.

Geographical Limits
a)	 the territorial limits

b)	 elsewhere in the world in connection with temporary visits by members and employees not engaging in manual work 
and normally resident in and travelling from the territorial limits

c)	 in respect of Products worldwide other than the United States of America, Canada and any territory within their 
jurisdictions.

Injury
bodily injury including death, illness and disease.

Pollution or Contamination
a)	 all pollution or contamination of buildings or other structures or of water or land or the atmosphere; and

b)	 all loss or damage or Injury directly or indirectly caused by such pollution or contamination.

Products
goods (including containers, packaging, labelling and instructions) sold, supplied, repaired, altered, treated, erected or 
installed by the insured in connection with the business.

Section 2 – Cover
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of all sums which the insured may become legally liable to pay as 
damages and claimants’ costs and expenses for:

a)	 accidental Injury to any person (other than an employee if such Injury arises out of and in the course of employment 
by the insured)

b)	 accidental damage to property:

i) 	 not belonging to nor in the custody or control of the insured

ii)	 not in the custody or control of an employee

c)	 accidental damage to property in the custody or control of the insured or any employee being:

i)	 personal effects including motor vehicles and their contents belonging to any member, employee or visitor

ii)	 buildings including their contents which are not owned, leased, hired or rented by the insured

40

Page 109



d)	 accidental damage to buildings and their contents including fixtures and fittings which are leased, hired or rented by 
the insured but excluding:

i)	 liability assumed by the insured under a tenancy or other agreement which would not have attached in the 
absence of such agreement

ii)	 the first £100 of each claim for damage unless caused by fire or explosion

occurring within the Geographical Limits during the Period of Insurance arising out of the business.

In addition the insurer will pay all costs and expenses incurred with its written consent:

i)	 in defending any claim for damages

ii)	 for representation at any coroner’s inquest or fatal inquiry or court of summary jurisdiction in respect of any occurrence

which may be the subject of indemnity under this Part.

Section 3 – Financial Loss
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of all sums which the insured may become legally liable to pay as 
damages and claimants’ costs and expenses for Financial Loss arising as a result of a negligent and accidental act, 
error or omission committed, or alleged to have been committed, within the Geographical Limits, by an employee, 
member or volunteer in, or about, or in consequence of, their duties (meaning activities approved by the insured where 
the insured is legally entitled to approve such activities) arising out of the business occurring during the Period of 
Insurance.

In addition the insurer will pay all costs and expenses incurred with its written consent:

a)	 in defending any claim for damages

b)	 for representation at any coroner’s inquest or fatal inquiry or court of summary jurisdiction in respect of any occurrence

which may be the subject of indemnity under this Section.

Exceptions
The insurer will not be liable for Financial Loss:

a)	 caused by the failure of the insured to fulfil its obligations under any contract entered into with the claimant

b)	 arising from Products

c)	 arising from libel, slander, defamation, malicious falsehood or injurious falsehood

d)	 arising out of or in connection with the Data Protection Act 2018 or Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (General Data 
Protection Regulation).

Section 4 – Indemnity to the Other Persons
The insurer will also indemnify under the terms of this Part at the insured’s request:

a)	 any employee

b)	 any member

c)	 any volunteer

d)	 any principal for whom the insured is or has been carrying out work but only to the extent required by the contract 
for the work

e)	 any officer or member of the insured’s catering, social, sports and welfare organisations

provided that:

i)	 the insured would have been entitled to indemnity had the claim been made against the insured

ii)	 any person claiming indemnity:

1)	 is not entitled to indemnity from any other source

2)	 was, at the time of the incident giving rise to the claim, acting within the scope of their authority

3)	 will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Part insofar as they can apply

iii)	 the insurer has the sole conduct and control of any claim

iv)	 no indemnity will be provided to any person in respect of the consequences of their own fraud, dishonesty or 
criminal act in respect of Section 3.

41

Page 110



Section 5 – Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974
The insurer will indemnify the insured (and any member or employee if the insured so requests) against legal costs and 
expenses incurred with the insurer’s written consent in defending any prosecution including an appeal against a conviction 
resulting from a prosecution brought under sections 2 to 8 (inclusive) of the Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974 or 
any subsequent legislation in addition thereto or in substitution therefor relating to the health, safety and welfare of persons 
other than employees provided that:

a)	 the prosecution relates to a matter that involves Injury which is or may be the subject of indemnity under this Part

b)	 no indemnity is otherwise available.

Section 6 – Consumer Protection Act 1987
The insurer will indemnify the insured (and any member or employee if the insured so requests) against legal costs and 
expenses incurred with the insurer’s written consent in connection with any criminal proceedings brought in respect of 
a breach or alleged breach of Part II of the Consumer Protection Act 1987 provided that:

a)	 the alleged offence was committed during the Period of Insurance

b)	 no indemnity is otherwise available

c)	 the alleged offence was accidental in origin

d)	 the proceedings relate to a matter that involves Injury or damage to property which is or may be the subject of 
indemnity under this Part.

Section 7 – Overseas Personal Liability
The insurer will indemnify the insured and if the insured so requests any member or employee (and any member of 
their families accompanying them) normally resident within the territorial limits in respect of liability incurred by such 
persons in a personal capacity whilst temporarily outside the territorial limits in connection with the business provided 
that the indemnity will not apply to liability:

a)	 which attaches because of a contract or agreement and which would not otherwise have attached

b)	 arising from any employment, business, profession or trade

c)	 arising from the ownership, occupation, possession or use of land, buildings, motor vehicles, caravans, watercraft 
or aircraft.

Section 8 – Defective Premises Act 1972
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of liability incurred under Section 3 of the Defective Premises Act 1972 
arising from Injury or damage occurring within 7 years from the cancellation or expiry of this Part provided that:

a)	 the insurer will not be liable for the cost of remedying any defect or alleged defect in any premises

b)	 the insured is not entitled to indemnity under any other policy.

Section 9 – Contingent Motor Liability
Notwithstanding Exclusion 9 the insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of all sums which the insured may become 
legally liable to pay as damages and claimants’ costs and expenses arising out of the use of any motor vehicle not owned 
or provided by the insured while being used with the permission of the insured in connection with the business by any 
member or employee other than:

a)	 in respect of damage to the vehicle or its contents

b)	 where indemnity is available under any other policy.

It is a condition that before the insured gives permission to any person to use a vehicle for the business the insured will 
take all reasonable steps to ensure that there is in force a separate policy of motor insurance giving similar indemnity and 
including indemnity to the insured in respect of liability arising from the use of such vehicle in connection with the business.

Section 10 – Compensation for Court Appearance
The insurer will pay the insured the following daily rates for the attendance of any member or employee at Court as a 
witness at the insurer’s request in connection with a claim under this Part:

a)	 any director	 £250

b)	 any employee	 £100

42

Page 111



Section 11 – Data Protection
The insurer will indemnify the insured for legal costs and expenses incurred with the insurer’s prior consent, and all sums 
the insured is required to pay as damages to an individual arising from proceedings brought against the Insured under:

a)	 Sections 168 and 169 of the Data Protection Act 2018

b)	 Article 82 of Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (General Data Protection Regulation).

Provided always that:

i)	 the insurer will not be liable under this Section for:

1)	 fines, penalties, liquidated, punitive or exemplary damages

2)	 the costs of notifying any person regarding loss of personal data

3) 	 the cost of replacing, reinstating, rectifying or erasing any personal data

4)	 any deliberate or intentional criminal act or omission giving rise to any claim under this Section committed by 
the insured

ii)	 the liability of the insurer under this Section will not exceed £1,000,000 in any one period of insurance.

Section 12 – Heat Precautions
If the insured works away from the premises using welding or flame cutting equipment, blow lamps, blow torches or hot 
air guns, no claim under this Part will be payable unless the following conditions have been complied with:

a)	 All movable combustible materials are removed from the vicinity of the work.

b)	 Suitable portable fire extinguishing appliances are kept ready for immediate use as near as practicable to the scene 
of the work and that employees are trained in their use.

c)	 Before heat is applied to any wall or partition or to any material built into or passing through the wall or partition an 
inspection will be made by a responsible person to make sure that there are not combustible materials which may be 
ignited by direct or conducted heat.

d)	 Such equipment is lit or operating for a short a time as possible before use and is extinguished immediately after use 
and is not left unattended whilst lit or operating.

e)	 Blow lamps are filled and gas canisters are changed in the open.

f)	 A fire safety check is made in the vicinity of the work on completion of each period of work and again after 30 minutes.

g)	 Fixed combustible materials in the area in which welding or flame cutting equipment is used will be protected by 
overlapping sheets or screens of non-combustible material.

Section 13 – Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007
The insurer will also indemnify the insured in respect of legal costs and expenses incurred with the insurer’s prior written 
consent in connection with the defence of any criminal proceedings including any appeal against conviction arising 
from any such proceedings brought in respect of a charge and or investigations connected with a charge of corporate 
manslaughter or corporate homicide under the Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 or any 
equivalent legislation in the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man committed or alleged to have been committed during the 
period of insurance in the course of the business and which relates to any event involving Injury which is or may be the 
subject of indemnity under this Part.

Provided always that:

a)	 the insurer’s total liability under this Section will not exceed in the aggregate the sum specified in the Schedule as 
the Limit of Indemnity in any one period of insurance. This limit will form part of and not be in addition to the Limit of 
Indemnity specified in the Schedule

b)	 this Section will only apply to proceedings brought in great Britain, Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man or the 
Channel Islands

c)	 the insurer must consent in writing to the appointment of any solicitor or counsel who are to act for and on the 
insured’s behalf 

d)	 the insured will give insurer immediate notice of any summons or other process served upon the insured which may 
give rise to proceedings under this Section

e)	 in relation to any appeal counsel has advised there are strong prospects of such appeal succeeding

f)	 the insurer will be under no liability for:

i)	 any deliberate or intentional criminal act committed by the insured giving rise to a corporate manslaughter or 
corporate homicide charge

43

Page 112



ii)	 fines or penalties of any kind

iii)	 the defence of any criminal proceedings brought or in an appeal against conviction arising from such proceedings 
in respect of a breach of:

1)	 the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 or the Health and Safety at Work Act (Northern Ireland) Order 1978 
or any regulations made thereunder

2)	 the Food Safety Act 1990 or any regulations made thereunder

3)	 the Consumer Protection Act 1987 or any regulations made thereunder

iv)	 where indemnity for defence costs is available from any other source or is provided under any other insurance 
or where but for the existence of this clause indemnity would have been provided by such other source 
or insurance 

g)	 where the insurer have already indemnified the insured in respect of legal costs or expenses incurred in the 
defence of any criminal proceedings arising out of the same cause or occurrence which gave rise to the charge of 
and or investigation connected with corporate manslaughter or corporate homicide under another clause applicable 
to this part the amount paid under that clause will be taken into account in arriving at the insurer’s liability payable 
under this clause.

Section 14 – Legionella
The insurer will also indemnify the insured in respect of all sums which the insured may become legally liable to pay as 
damages in respect of Pollution or Contamination caused by or arising from any discharge, release or escape of legionella 
or other airborne pathogens from water tanks, water systems, air-conditioning plants, cooling towers and the like.

Provided always that:

a)	 all Pollution or Contamination which arises out of or as a consequence of any discharge, release or escape of 
legionella or other airborne pathogens from water tanks, water systems, air-conditioning plants, cooling towers and 
the like will be deemed to have occurred on the date that the insured first becomes aware of circumstances which 
have given or may give rise to such Pollution or Contamination

b)	 regular assessments are carried out of all water systems to assess the risk of legionella and any risks identified in the 
risk assessment are suitably managed

c)	 the insurer will be under no liability under this clause:

i)	 if before the current period of insurance the insured had become aware of circumstances which have or may 
give rise to such Pollution or Contamination

ii)	 unless the insured at the time Pollution or Contamination which arises out of or as a consequence of discharge, 
release or escape of legionella or other airborne pathogens is deemed to have occurred is in compliance with 
the Health and Safety Commission’s Approved Code of Practice entitled “Legionnaires Disease – the control of 
legionella bacteria in water systems”

d)	 the insured will give notice in writing to the insurer immediately on becoming aware of circumstances which have 
given or may give rise to a claim under this clause

e)	 the total liability of the insurer under this clause will not exceed in the aggregate the sum stated in the schedule as 
the limit of indemnity in any one period of insurance. This limit will form part of and not be in addition to the limit of 
indemnity stated in the schedule.

Special exclusion 8 will not apply to this clause.

The insured will at inception of this Part and annually thereafter provide to the insurer details of the number of premises 
owned or operated by the insured where cooling towers and or evaporative condensers are present.

Section 15 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

1.	 Products Liability under Contract
any liability for Injury of damage caused by Products which attaches solely because of a contract or agreement

2.	 Liquidated or Punitive Damages
any amount in respect of:

a)	 liquidated damages or penalties which attach solely because of a contract or agreement

b)	 exemplary or punitive damages awarded by any court outside the territorial limits

c)	 fines

44

Page 113



3.	 Vessels and Craft
Injury, damage or Financial Loss arising out of the use of or caused by any vessel or craft designed to travel in, on or 
through water, air or space other than waterborne vessels under 5 metres in length

4.	 Airports
Injury, damage or Financial Loss arising out of flying operations and activities incidental to such operations in respect 
of any airport owned or operated by the insured

5.	 Aircraft Products
Injury or damage caused by Products which have been knowingly supplied by the insured for installation in an aircraft 
and are directly concerned with the safety of such aircraft

6.	 Defective Work and Damage to Products
a)	 the cost of rectifying defective work carried out by or on behalf of the insured

b)	 the cost of recalling, removing, repairing, replacing or making any refund on the price of any Products or damage 
to the Products themselves

7.	 Damage to Property
a)	 damage to that part of any property which was caused by faulty workmanship prior to the sale or transfer of the 

property to some other party

b)	 losses consequent upon damage to property designed by the insured or on the insured’s behalf and subsequently 
sold or transferred to some other party

8.	 Professional Liability, Errors and Omissions
Injury, damage or Financial Loss resulting from errors or omissions in advice, treatment, design or specification 
provided by the insured or anything used or supplied in such connection

9.	 Motor
Injury, damage or Financial Loss arising from the ownership, possession or use by or on behalf of the insured or any 
person entitled to indemnity under this Part, of any mechanically propelled vehicle or any attached trailer (or broken 
away after attachment) which is licensed for road use and for which compulsory insurance or security is necessary 
by virtue of the Road Traffic Acts.

Provided the insured is not entitled to indemnity under any other policy or any other Part of this Policy this Exclusion 
will not apply to:

a)	 use of any mechanically propelled vehicle which is confined to the premises

b)	 the loading or unloading of any vehicle or the bringing to or taking away of a load from that vehicle

c)	 the use of any item of plant in circumstances for which the Road Traffic Acts would not require compulsory 
insurance or security where such liability arises solely out of its use as a tool of trade

10.	 Pollution or Contamination
Injury, damage or Financial Loss when such Injury, damage or Financial Loss arises directly or indirectly out of Pollution 
or Contamination other than caused by a sudden, identifiable, unintended and unexpected incident which takes place 
in its entirety at a specific time and place during the Period of Insurance.

All Pollution or Contamination which arises out of one incident will be deemed to have occurred at the time such 
incident takes place.

The insurer’s total liability for all Pollution or Contamination claims arising, or treated by the insurer as arising, directly 
or indirectly from incidents during any one Period of Insurance will not exceed in the aggregate the sum specified in 
the Schedule as the Limit of Indemnity

11.	 Courts Jurisdiction
Any claim made or brought:

a)	 in the United States of America or Canada or territories under their jurisdiction

b)	 under or in consequence of any judgment or order in or under the laws of the United States of America or Canada 
or territories under their jurisdiction

45

Page 114



12.	 Date Recognition
Injury, damage or Financial Loss or costs and expenses or any amounts payable under Sections 6 and 11 of this Part 
directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or consisting of or arising in whole or in part from:

a)	 the way in which any data processing system responds to or deals with or fails to respond to or fails to deal with 
any true calendar date

b)	 any data processing system responding to or dealing in any way with:

i)	 any data denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data did not denote a calendar date or dates

ii)	 any data not denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data denoted a calendar date or dates

whether such data processing system is the property of the insured or not

13.	 Asbestos
liability directly or indirectly caused by, contributed to, by or arising out of any asbestos, asbestos fibres or any 
derivatives of asbestos including any product containing any asbestos fibres or derivatives

14.	 Cyber
liability arising out of any actual (or alleged) unauthorised acts (including malicious acts) which results in access to, 
disruption of, or any failure of any computer or other equipment or component or system or item which processes, 
stores, transmits or receives Data.

This exclusion is not applicable to the indemnity provided by Part E Section 11 – Data Protection.

Section 16 – Special Provisions

Limit of Indemnity
The Limit of Indemnity specified in the Schedule is the insurer’s monetary limit in respect of the insurance provided by 
this Part (other than any Limit otherwise specified) and applies to any one claim or series of claims arising from any one 
cause except for claims caused by Products where the Limit of Indemnity specified applies in the aggregate in any one 
Period of Insurance.

Where the insured becomes liable to pay a sum above the Limit of Indemnity in respect of claims the insurer will pay only 
the proportion of costs and expenses that the Limit of Indemnity bears to the insured’s total liability.

Insurer’s Rights
The insurer may at any time pay any Limit of Indemnity (after deduction of any sum of sums already paid) or any lower 
amount for which any claim or claims can be settled and then relinquish the conduct and control and be under no further 
liability in respect of the claim except for the payment of costs and expenses incurred with its written consent prior to 
the date of such payment.

Terrorism
The Limit of Indemnity in respect of any one claim or series of claims arising directly or indirectly from terrorism is 
£5,000,000 or the Limit of Indemnity specified in the Schedule, whichever is lower.

Abuse
All claims arising from an Abuse Event:

a)	 constitute one claim; and

b) 	 will be deemed to have occurred on the date the first claim was made in writing against the insured; and

c)	 will be subject to the excess stated in the schedule. Such excess will be deemed to apply per Abuse Event.

46

Page 115



Part F – Hirers Liability
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Agreement
the tenancy rental or other contract between the insured and Hirer concerning the use of the premises.

Data
data of any sort whatever, including without limitation tangible or intangible data, and any programs or software, bandwidth, 
cryptographic keys, databases, documents, domain names or network addresses or anything similar, files, interfaces, 
metadata, platforms, processing capability, storage media, transaction gateways, user credentials, websites, or any 
information whatever.

Hirer
any person or organisation hiring the premises under an Agreement with the insured.

Injury
bodily injury including death, illness and disease.

Pollution or Contamination
a)	 all pollution or contamination of buildings or other structures or of water or land or the atmosphere; and

b)	 all loss or damage or injury directly or indirectly caused by such pollution or contamination.

Section 2 – Cover
The insurer will indemnify the Hirer in respect of all sums which the Hirer may become legally liable to pay as damages 
and claimants’ costs and expenses for:

a)	 accidental Injury to any person (other than an employee of the Hirer if such Injury arises out of and in the course of 
employment by the Hirer)

b)	 accidental damage to the premises or the contents of the premises subject to the liability of the insurer not exceeding 
£1,000,000 any one claim in respect of legal liability which attaches to the Hirer solely by reason of the Agreement 
that would not have attached in the absence of such Agreement

c)	 accidental damage to other property not belonging to nor in the custody or control of the Hirer or of any person in 
the Hirer’s service

occurring during the Period of Insurance arising out of the activities of the Hirer at the premises.

In addition the insurer will pay all costs and expenses incurred with its written consent:

i)	 in defending any claim for damages

ii)	 for representation at any coroner’s inquest or fatal inquiry or court of summary jurisdiction in respect of any occurrence

which may be the subject of indemnity under this Part.

Section 3 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

1.	 Products Liability
any liability for Injury or damage caused by goods (including containers, packaging, labelling and instructions) sold, 
supplied, repaired, altered, treated, erected or installed by the Hirer

2.	 Liquidated or Punitive Damages
any amount in respect of:

a)	 liquidated damages fines or penalties which attach solely because of a contract or agreement

b)	 exemplary or punitive damages awarded by any court outside the territorial limits

c)	 fines

3.	 Vessels and Craft
Injury or damage arising out of the use of or caused by any vessel or craft designed to travel in on or through water, 
air or space

47

Page 116



4.	 Defective Work and damage to Products
a)	 the cost of rectifying defective work carried out by or on behalf of the Hirer

b)	 the cost of recalling, removing, repairing, replacing or making any refund on the price of any goods or property 
sold or supplied by the Hirer or damage to the goods or property itself

5.	 Professional Liability, Errors and Omissions
Injury or damage resulting from errors or omissions in advice, treatment, design or specification provided by the Hirer 
or anything used or supplied in such connection

6. 	 Motor
Injury or damage arising from the ownership, possession or use by or on behalf of the Hirer or any person entitled to 
indemnity under this Part, of any mechanically propelled vehicle or any attached trailer (or broken away after attachment) 
which is licensed for road use and for which compulsory insurance or security is necessary by virtue of the Road 
Traffic Acts

7.	 Pollution or Contamination
Injury or damage when such Injury or damage arising directly or indirectly out of Pollution or Contamination other than 
caused by a sudden identifiable unintended and unexpected incident which takes place in its entirety at a specific 
time and place during the Period of Insurance.

All Pollution or Contamination which arises out of one incident will be deemed to have occurred at the time such 
incident takes place.

The insurer’s total liability for all Pollution and Contamination claims arising, or treated by the insurer as arising, directly 
or indirectly from incidents during any one Period of Insurance will not exceed in the aggregate the sum specified in 
the Schedule as the Limit of Indemnity

8.	 Political or Business Use
Injury or damage arising out of the use of the premises for:

a)	 meetings organised by political parties

b)	 commercial or business use

9.	 Excess
the first £100 of each and every claim for damage to the premises or contents caused other than by fire or explosion

10.	 Courts Jurisdiction
any claim made or brought:

a)	 in the United States of America or Canada or territories under their jurisdiction

b)	 under or in consequence of any judgment or order in or under the laws of the United States of America or Canada 
or territories under their jurisdiction

11.	 Date Recognition
Injury or damage directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or consisting of or arising in whole or in part from:

a)	 the way in which any data processing system responds to or deals with or fails to respond to or fails to deal with 
any true calendar date

b)	 any data processing system responding to or dealing in any way with:

i)	 any data denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data did not denote a calendar date or dates

ii)	 any data not denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data denoted a calendar date or dates

whether such data processing system is the property of the insured or not

12.	 Asbestos
liability directly or indirectly caused by, contributed to, by or arising out of any asbestos, asbestos fibres or any 
derivatives of asbestos including any product containing any asbestos fibres or derivatives

13.	 Cyber
liability arising out of any actual (or alleged) unauthorised acts (including malicious acts) which results in access to, 
disruption of, or any failure of any computer or other equipment or component or system or item which processes, 
stores, transmits or receives Data.

48

Page 117



Section 4 – Special Provisions

Limit of Indemnity
The Limit of Indemnity specified in the Schedule is the insurer’s monetary limit in respect of the insurance provided by 
this Part (other than any Limit otherwise specified) and applies to any one claim or series of claims arising from any 
one cause.

Where the insured becomes liable to pay a sum above the Limit of Indemnity in respect of claims the insurer will pay 
only the proportion of costs and expenses that the Limit of Indemnity bears to the insurer’s total liability.

Insurer’s Rights
The insurer may at any time pay any Limit of Indemnity (after deduction of any sum or sums already paid) or any lower 
amount for which any claim or claims can be settled and then relinquish the conduct and control and be under no 
further liability in respect of the claim except for the payment of costs and expenses incurred with its written consent 
prior to the date of such payment.

Terrorism
The Limit of Indemnity in respect of any one claim or series of claims arising directly or indirectly from terrorism is 
£5,000,000 or the Limit of Indemnity specified in the Schedule, whichever is lower.

49

Page 118



Part G – Employers Liability
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Geographical Limits
a)	 the territorial limits

b)	 elsewhere in the world in connection with temporary visits by employees not engaging in manual work and normally 
resident in and travelling from the territorial limits.

Injury
bodily injury including death, illness and disease.

Section 2 – Cover
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of all sums which the insured may become legally liable to pay as damages 
and claimants’ costs and expenses in respect of Injury caused during the Period of Insurance to any employee arising out 
of and in the course of employment by the insured in the business within the Geographical Limits.

In addition the insurer will pay all costs and expenses incurred with its written consent:

a)	 in defending any claim for damages

b)	 for representation at any coroner’s inquest or fatal inquiry or court of summary jurisdiction in respect of any occurrence

c)	 in defending any proceedings in respect of any act or omission or alleged breach of statutory regulations causing or 
relating to any event

which may be the subject of indemnity under this Part.

Section 3 – Indemnity to Other Persons
The insurer will also indemnify under the terms of this Part at the insured’s request:

a)	 any employee

b)	 any member

c)	 any volunteer

d)	 any principal for whom the insured is or has been carrying out work but only to the extent required by the contract 
for the work

e)	 any officer or member of the insured’s catering, social, sports or welfare organisations

provided that:

i)	 the insured would have been entitled to indemnity had the claim been made against the insured

ii)	 any person claiming indemnity:

1)	 is not entitled to indemnity from any other source

2)	 was, at the time of the incident giving rise to the claim, acting within the scope of their authority

3)	 will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Part insofar as they can apply

iii)	 the insurer has the sole conduct and control of any claim.

Section 4 – Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974
The insurer will indemnify the insured (and any member or employee if the insured so requests) against legal costs and 
expenses incurred with the insurer’s written consent in defending any prosecution including an appeal against a conviction 
resulting from a prosecution brought under Sections 2 to 8 (inclusive) of the Health and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974 or 
any subsequent legislation in addition thereto or in substitution therefor relating to the health, safety and welfare of 
employees provided that:

a)	 the prosecution relates to a matter that involves Injury which is or may be the subject of indemnity under this Part

b)	 no indemnity is otherwise available

c)	 the insurer will provide no indemnity in respect of any fines or penalties.

50

Page 119



Section 5 – Unsatisfied Court Judgments
The insurer will pay to any employee (or their personal representative) at the insured’s request the amount of damages 
and awarded costs remaining unsatisfied 6 months after the date judgment was obtained against another party domiciled 
in the territorial limits for Injury to that employee occurring during the Period of Insurance and arising out of and in the 
course of the employee’s engagement by the insured in the business provided that:

a)	 there is no appeal pending

b)	 the employee (or their personal representative) assigns the judgment to the insurer

c)	 the insurer will not be liable for judgments obtained in any Court situated outside the territorial limits.

Section 6 – Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007
The insurer will also indemnify the insured in respect of legal costs and expenses incurred with the insurer’s prior written 
consent in connection with the defence of any criminal proceedings including any appeal against conviction arising 
from any such proceedings brought in respect of a charge and or investigations connected with a charge of corporate 
manslaughter or corporate homicide under the Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 or any 
equivalent legislation in the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man committed or alleged to have been committed during the 
period of insurance in the course of the business and which relates to any event involving Injury which is or may be the 
subject of indemnity under this Part.

Provided always that:

a)	 the insurer’s total liability under this Section will not exceed in the aggregate the sum specified in the Schedule as 
the Limit of Indemnity in any one period of insurance. This limit will form part of and not be in addition to the Limit of 
Indemnity specified in the 

b)	 this Section will only apply to proceedings brought in great Britain, Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man or the 
Channel Islands

c)	 the insurer must consent in writing to the appointment of any solicitor or counsel who are to act for and on the 
insured’s behalf 

d)	 the insured will give insurer immediate notice of any summons or other process served upon the insured which may 
give rise to proceedings under this Section

e)	 in relation to any appeal counsel has advised there are strong prospects of such appeal succeeding

f)	 the insurer will be under no liability for:

i)	 any deliberate or intentional criminal act committed by the insured giving rise to a corporate manslaughter or 
corporate homicide charge

ii)	 fines or penalties of any kind

iii)	 the defence of any criminal proceedings brought or in an appeal against conviction arising from such proceedings 
in respect of a breach of:

1)	 the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 or the Health and Safety at Work Act (Northern Ireland) Order 1978 
or any regulations made thereunder

2)	 the Food Safety Act 1990 or any regulations made thereunder

3)	 the Consumer Protection Act 1987 or any regulations made thereunder

iv)	 where indemnity for defence costs is available from any other source or is provided under any other insurance or 
where but for the existence of this clause indemnity would have been provided by such other source or insurance 

g)	 where the insurer have already indemnified the insured in respect of legal costs or expenses incurred in the defence 
of any criminal proceedings arising out of the same cause or occurrence which gave rise to the charge of and or 
investigation connected with corporate manslaughter or corporate homicide under another clause applicable to this 
part the amount paid under that clause will be taken into account in arriving at the insurer’s liability payable under 
this clause.

51

Page 120



Section 7 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

1.	 Offshore Exposures
any Injury caused in connection with any work carried out offshore.

For the purpose of this Exclusion an employee will be deemed to be ‘offshore’ as from the time when they embark 
onto a conveyance at the point of final departure to an offshore rig or an offshore platform. An employee will 
continue to be deemed to be ‘offshore’ until such time as they disembark from the conveyance onto land upon their 
return from an offshore rig or an offshore platform

2.	 Passengers in Motor Vehicles
any Injury caused to any passenger travelling in or on or mounting or dismounting from any mechanically propelled 
vehicle or attached trailer the property of or in the custody or control of the insured whilst such vehicle or trailer is 
being used by or on behalf of the insured in connection with the business on a road as described in the Road 
Traffic Acts.

For the purpose of this Exclusion passenger will not include the driver or person in charge of the vehicle for the 
purposes of driving.

Section 8 – Special Provisions

Compulsory Insurance
The indemnity provided by this Part is deemed to be in accordance with the provisions of any law relating to compulsory 
insurance of liability to employees in Great Britain, Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man or the Channel Islands, but the insured 
will repay to the insurer all sums paid by the insurer which the insurer would not have been liable to pay but for the 
provision of such law.

Limit of Indemnity
The Limit of Indemnity specified in the Schedule is the insurer’s monetary limit (including all costs and expenses) in 
respect of the insurance provided by this Part (other than any Limit otherwise specified) and applies to any one claim or 
series of claims arising from any one cause.

Insurer’s Rights
The insurer may at any time pay:

a)	 any Limit of Indemnity (after deduction of any sum or sums already paid); or

b)	 any lower amount for which any claim or claims can be settled including costs and expenses incurred with the insurer’s 
written consent prior to the date of such payment

and then relinquish the conduct and control and be under no further liability in respect of the claim.

Terrorism
The Limit of Indemnity in respect of any one claim or series of claims arising directly or indirectly from terrorism is 
£5,000,000 or the Limit of Indemnity specified in the Schedule, whichever is lower.

52

Page 121



Part H – Libel and Slander
Section 1 – Cover
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of all sums which the insured may become legally liable to pay as 
damages for:

a)	 libels appearing in any publications normal in the business by:

i)	 any member provided such publications were specifically authorised by the insured

ii)	 any employee

b)	 slanders in oral utterances made by any member or employee arising out of and in the course of:

i)	 the discharge of official duties on behalf of the insured

ii)	 in the case of a member official business at meetings of the insured or of its committees or sub-committees or 
any occasion when the member is specifically authorised to represent the insured

for which a claim is first made against the insured and notified to the insurer during the Period of Insurance or within 
12 months of this Part ceasing to operate provided that:

i)	 the date of any publication or utterance on which a claim is based occurs during the Period of Insurance

ii)	 any claim notified during the additional 12 month period after this Part ceases to operate will be deemed to have 
been made during the final Period of Insurance.

In addition the insurer will pay all costs and expenses incurred with its written consent in the defence or compromise of 
any proceedings for libel or slander as stated above begun or threatened against the insured and will also pay any costs 
awarded against the insured in any such proceedings.

Provided that the liability of the insurer (including costs and expenses) will not exceed in the aggregate the sum specified 
in the Schedule as the Limit of Indemnity in respect of:

1)	 all claims made during any one Period of Insurance; and

2)	 all damages, costs and expenses incurred or awarded in connection with any one publication or utterance whether 
all claims in respect of such publication or utterance are made during the same Period of Insurance or not.

Section 2 – Indemnity to Other Persons
The insurer will also indemnify under the terms of this Part at the insured’s request:

a)	 any employee

b)	 any member

provided that:

i)	 the insured would have been entitled to indemnity had the claim been made against the insured

ii)	 the total liability of the insurer will not be increased beyond the Limit of Indemnity

iii)	 any person claiming indemnity:

1)	 is not entitled to indemnity from any other source

2)	 will be subject to the terms and conditions of this Part insofar as they can apply

iv)	 the insurer has the sole conduct and control of any claim.

53

Page 122



Section 3 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

1.	 Punitive or Exemplary Damages
any amount in respect of punitive or exemplary damages

2.	 Courts Jurisdiction
any claim made or brought:

a)	 in the United States of America or Canada or territories under their jurisdiction

b)	 under or in consequence of any judgment or order in or under the laws of the United States of America or Canada 
or territories under their jurisdiction

3.	 Malicious Falsehood or Injurious Falsehood
losses arising from malicious falsehood or injurious falsehood

4.	 Excess
an excess the amount of which is specified in the Schedule. Unless stated otherwise, the excess will apply to each 
and every claim or series of claims arising from any one publication or utterance.

Section 4 – Special Provisions

Insurer’s Rights
The insurer may at any time pay the maximum amount payable under this Part (after deduction of any sum or sums 
already paid) or any lower amount for which any claim or claims can be settled and then relinquish the conduct and 
control and be under no further liability in respect of the claim except for the payment of costs and expenses incurred 
with its written consent prior to the date of such payment.

Claims Notification
The notification to the insurer in writing, during the Period of Insurance or the extended 12 months reporting period 
allowed for under this Part after cessation, of any circumstances that might give rise to a claim under this Part will 
constitute a claim first made against the insured during the Period of Insurance in which the notification is received, 
even though no notification of any claim has been received from a third party.

54

Page 123



Part I – Motor Vehicles
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Accessories 
a)	 Parts or products specifically designed to be fitted to or used with the The Insured Vehicle including spare parts 

b)	 permanently fitted entertainment systems, communication, navigation, security equipment or other electronic 
equipment fitted to The Insured Vehicle by the manufacturer. This does not include equipment temporarily sited in 
and removable from the The Insured Vehicle being powered from a cigarette lighter/accessory socket 

c)	 Electric Vehicle charging equipment, being charging cables, adaptors (provided with the Electric Vehicle by the 
manufacturer) and home installed charging points. 

Child Seat
Any car seat designed for children up to 12 years old including infant carriers, combination car seats, forward facing car 
seats and high back booster seats with or without harnesses.

The Insured Vehicle
Any motor vehicle excluding a steam driven vehicle but including an Electric Vehicle as follows: 

a)	 Motor Car 

b)	 Motor Cycle 

c)	 Commercial Vehicle 

d)	 Special Type

which is insured under this part and described in the Certificate but excluding any vehicle registered outside the 
territorial limits unless the insured has requested and the insurer has agreed to cover such vehicle.

Commercial Vehicle
any motor vehicle that is not a Motor Car, Motor Cycle or Special Type.

Electric Vehicle
Any Insured Vehicle that uses one or more electric motors for propulsion that are powered by a self-contained battery 
which requires charging from an external power source.

Motor Car
any private car estate car utility car or passenger carrying vehicle with not more than 16 passenger seats.

Motor Cycle
any motor cycle, motor cycle and sidecar or moped.

Pollution or Contamination
all pollution or contamination of buildings or other structures or of water or land or the atmosphere.

Special Type
any agricultural vehicle or item of mechanically propelled plant.

Windscreen
Glass in the windscreen and windows, sunroof or panoramic glass roof.

55

Page 124



Section 2 – Third Party Liability
a)	 If death or bodily injury or damage to property is caused by or arises out of the use of or in connection with the 

loading or unloading of The Insured Vehicle or an attached trailer the insurer will indemnify:

i)	 the insured

ii)	 any person permitted by the insured to drive The Insured Vehicle provided such person holds a licence to drive 
The Insured Vehicle or has held and is not disqualified from holding or obtaining such a licence unless a licence 
is not required by law

iii)	 any person (other than the driver) permitted by the insured to use The Insured Vehicle for social domestic or 
pleasure purposes

iv)	 at the request of the insured any person being carried in or upon or entering or alighting from The Insured 
Vehicle

v)	 the legal representatives of any person who would be or have been entitled to indemnity under this Section

in respect of their legal liability for such death or bodily injury or damage to property and will in addition pay:

1)	 solicitors’ fees for representation at any coroner’s magistrates’ or similar court in respect of any act which may be 
the subject of indemnity under this Section

2)	 costs for the defence of the insured or at the request of the insured any person entitled to drive The Insured 
Vehicle against a charge of manslaughter or of causing death by reckless driving provided the accident gives 
rise to a valid claim under this Section

3)	 other legal costs and expenses incurred with the insurer’s written consent.

b)	 In respect of any event which may be the subject of indemnity under this Section the insurer will pay legal costs and 
expenses incurred with the insurer’s prior written consent in connection with the defence of any criminal 
proceedings including any appeal against conviction arising from any such proceedings brought in respect of a 
charge and or investigations connected with a charge of corporate manslaughter or corporate homicide under the 
Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 or any equivalent legislation in the Isle of Man or the 
Channel Islands committed or alleged to have been committed during the Period of Insurance in the course of 
the business.

Provided always that:

i)	 the insurer’s liability under this clause will not exceed £5,000,000 in any one Period of Insurance

ii)	 this clause will only apply to proceedings brought in the territorial limits

iii)	 the insurer must consent in writing to the appointment of any solicitor or counsel who are to act for and on the 
insured’s behalf 

iv)	 the insured will give the insurer immediate notice of any summons or other process served upon the insured 
which may give rise to proceedings under this clause

v)	 in relation to any appeal counsel has advised there are strong prospects of such an appeal succeeding

vi)	 the insurer will be under no liability:

1)	 where the insured has committed any deliberate or intentional criminal act giving rise to a corporate 
manslaughter or corporate homicide charge

2)	 in respect of fines or penalties of any kind

3)	 where indemnity for defence costs is available from any other source or is provided by any other insurance or 
where but for the existence of this clause indemnity would have been provided by such other source 
or insurance.

c)	 The insurer will indemnify the insured and any other person indemnified by Clause a) of Section 2 – Third Party 
Liability when liability is caused by or arises out of the charging of an Electric Vehicle irrespective of whether 
compulsory motor insurance legislation operative within the geographical limits defined in Section 18 of this policy 
applies or not. 

d)	 In respect of legal liability for damage to property directly or indirectly caused by, contributed to by, resulting from 
or arising out of or in connection with terrorism the insurer will indemnify the insured 

56

Page 125



Provided always that:

a)	 the insurer’s liability under this clause will not exceed £5,000,000 in respect of any one claim or the minimum 
amount required by the compulsory motor insurance legislation in the country in which the incident occurs 
whichever is the greater

b)	 this clause will only apply to proceedings brought in the geographical limits as defined in Section 18 of this part.

Exceptions
The insurer will not be liable for:

a)	 death or bodily injury to any person arising out of or in the course of that persons employment by the person 
claiming indemnity if insurance cover in respect of liability for such death or bodily injury is provided as a 
requirement of any compulsory employers liability legislation within the geographical limits as detailed in Section 18

b)	 damage to property owned by or held in trust by or in the custody or control of the insured or any other person 
claiming to be indemnified under this Section or being conveyed by The Insured Vehicle

c)	 any amount in excess of that specified in the Schedule as the Limit for damage to property in respect of any one 
claim or number of claims arising out of one cause

d)	 death or bodily injury or damage caused or arising beyond the limits of any carriageway or thoroughfare in 
connection with:

i)	 the bringing of the load to The Insured Vehicle for loading; or

ii)	 the taking away of the load from The Insured Vehicle after unloading

by any person other than the driver or attendant(s) of The Insured Vehicle

e)	 death or bodily injury caused to any person or damage to property arising from the use of any item of mechanically 
propelled plant or attachment of The Insured Vehicle whilst operating as a tool of trade other than in accordance with 
the requirements any compulsory motor insurance legislation operative within the geographical limits as detailed in 
Section 18

f)	 death or bodily injury caused to any person or damage to property in respect of any claim which arises directly or 
indirectly out of Pollution or Contamination unless such Pollution or Contamination arises as a result of a sudden 
identifiable unintended and unexpected incident which takes place in its entirety at the specific time and place 
during the Period of Insurance other than in accordance with the requirements any compulsory motor insurance 
legislation operative within the geographical limits as detailed in Section 18. All Pollution or Contamination which 
arises out of one incident shall be deemed to have occurred at the time such incident takes place

g)	 legal liability directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or arising from the The Insured Vehicle while in or 
on that part of any aerodrome, airfield, airport or military installation provided for:

i)	 the takeoff or landing of aircraft or aerial devices or for the movement of aircraft or aerial devices on the ground

ii)	 aircraft parking including any associated service roads, refuelling areas, ground equipment parking areas, aprons, 
maintenance areas and hangars.

h)	 death or bodily injury to any person arising directly or indirectly from terrorism other than to meet the requirements 
of the compulsory motor insurance legislation in the country in which the incident occurs.

Section 3 – Indemnity to Owner
Where required by a contract entered into by the owner and the insured the insurer will in the terms of and subject to the 
limitations of Section 2 indemnify the owner of The Insured Vehicle loaned or hired to the insured provided that such 
owner is not entitled to indemnity under any other policy.

Section 4 – Cross Liabilities
In respect of claims under Section 2 each insured named in the Schedule will be deemed to be a third party to the other.

Section 5 – Indemnity to Principals
The indemnity provided by Section 2 will extend to indemnify any principal of the insured in respect of liability at law 
arising out of the use of The Insured Vehicle in connection with any contract entered into between the insured and such 
principal provided always that:

a)	 the insurer will not be liable for death or bodily injury or damage to property arising out of the negligence or other 
default of the principal or their servants or agents

b)	 the insurer will have the sole conduct and control of any claim

c)	 the principal is not entitled to indemnity under any other policy.

57

Page 126



Section 6 – Movement of Third Party Vehicles
The indemnity provided by Section 2 will apply to any accident caused by or arising from:

a)	 the driving or movement of a vehicle not the property of the insured when it is interfering with the performance of 
the business directly connected with the legitimate passage of The Insured Vehicle

b)	 the parking or movement by an employee of a vehicle belonging to a customer or visitor of the insured on or within 
the vicinity of the premises.

For the purposes of this Section the words “or in the custody or control of” in Section 2 Exception (b) will not apply to 
such third party vehicles.

Section 7 – Contingent Liability
The indemnity provided by Section 2 will apply in respect of all sums which the insured may become legally liable to pay 
as damages and claimants’ costs and expenses arising out of the use of any motor vehicle not owned or provided by 
the insured while being used with the permission of the insured in connection with the business.

Provided always that:

a) 	 such motor vehicle is not the insured’s property or held by the insured under a hire purchase agreement or hired or 
leased by the insured

b) 	 the insured has taken all reasonable steps to ensure that there is in force in respect of such motor vehicle an 
insurance that is valid for such use

c) 	 if any claim covered by this Section is covered by any other insurance then notwithstanding General Condition 7 
the insurer will not be liable to make any contribution to such claim

d) 	 motor vehicle does not include any vehicle registered outside of the territorial limits.

Section 8 – Towing Disabled Vehicles
If The Insured Vehicle is being used for the purpose of towing any one disabled mechanically propelled vehicle the 
insurer will indemnify the insured in the terms of Section 2 in respect of liability in connection with the towed vehicle 
provided that:

a)	 such vehicle is not towed for reward

b)	 the insurer will not be liable by reason of this Section in respect of damage to the towed vehicle or property being 
conveyed by such vehicle.

Section 9 – Damage to Vehicle – By Fire or Theft
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of damage to The Insured Vehicle or its Accessories caused by fire or 
theft or attempted theft.

Section 10 – Damage to Vehicle – Other than by Fire or Theft
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of damage to The Insured Vehicle or its Accessories other than as 
described in Section 9.

Exceptions to Sections 9 and 10
The insurer will not be liable in respect of:

a)	 depreciation wear and tear mechanical electrical electronic computer and computer software breakdowns or failures 
or faults or breakages

b)	 diminution in the value of The Insured Vehicle

c)	 loss of use

d)	 Section 10 – damage to tyres by application of brakes or by punctures cuts or bursts.

e) 	 damage caused by deception.

f)	 damage to The Insured Vehicle caused directly by pressure waves from aircraft or other aerial devices travelling at 
sonic or supersonic speeds

58

Page 127



Provisions to Sections 9 and 10

1.	 New for Old

	 New for Old
If any Motor Car or goods carrying Commercial Vehicle not exceeding 7.5 tonnes gross vehicle weight is within one 
year of first registration:

a)	 damaged to the extent that the costs of repair would exceed 50% of the manufacturer’s recommended retail 
price plus taxes; or

b) 	 lost by theft and not recovered the insurer will replace it with a new vehicle of the same manufacturer and of the 
same or like type provided always that:

i)	 the insured requests it; and

ii)	 any other interested party known to the insurer consents; and

iii)	 such a replacement is available.

2.	 Theft or Loss of Keys
If the keys or any other removable ignition device or lock transmitter for The Insured Vehicle are stolen or 
accidentally lost the insurer will at the insured’s request pay to replace:

a)	 the door locks and/or boot lock

b)	 the ignition and/or steering lock

c)	 the lock transmitter and/or central locking interface.

Provided that:

i)	 such loss is reported to the police

ii)	 any other interested party known to the insurer consents

iii)	 this indemnity will not exceed the market value of The Insured Vehicle immediately before damage; and

iv)	 the insurer will not be liable for the cost of replacing any alarms or other security devices fitted to The Insured 
Vehicle.

Any such payment will not be subject to any excess which would otherwise be payable. 

3.	 Child Seat Replacement
Where a Motor Car is fitted with a Child Seat, whether or not owned by or provided by the insured, in the event of an 
incident for which indemnity is provided by this section the insurer will replace the Child Seat with a new Child Seat 
of the same or like type, make, model and specification provided that such a replacement is available. Any such 
payment will not be subject to any excess which would otherwise be payable.

4.	 Hotel, Restaurant or Similar Organisation
The insurer will indemnify the insured when The Insured Vehicle is in the custody or control of any hotel, restaurant 
or similar organisation solely for the purposes of parking and that for the purposes of this clause any driving 
restriction specified within this policy will not apply.

5.	 Incorrect Fuelling
The insurer will indemnify the insured for the costs of draining and cleansing the fuel tank of The Insured Vehicle as 
a consequence of accidental filling of the fuel tank with the incorrect fuel for the type of engine. Any such payment 
will not be subject to any excess which would otherwise be payable.

6.	 Emergency Hotel and Travel Expenses
The insurer will pay the cost or provide indemnity in respect of:

a)	 hotel expenses up to £250 for the driver and each passenger up to a maximum amount of £750 in connection 
with any one claim

b)	 travel expenses up to a maximum amount payable in connection with any one claim of £250.

Cover will only apply:

i)	 if The Insured Vehicle is immobilised as a result of damage or loss

ii)	 if The Insured Vehicle is lost as a result of theft covered under Section 9

iii)	 where the damage or loss necessitates an unplanned overnight stop.

59

Page 128



7.	 Battery Coverage (Leased or Hired) 
If damage to an Electric Vehicle gives rise to a valid claim under Sections 9 and 10 any payment may, at the insurer’s 
discretion, be made to the owner of the Electric Vehicle’s battery, or batteries, if the battery is leased or hired. 

8.	 Battery Cover
The insurer will indemnify the insured in the event of damage to an Electric Vehicle’s battery, regardless of whether 
any damage has occurred to the Electric Vehicle itself. This includes damage to the battery as a result of a power 
surge whilst charging but excludes damage caused by construction or material defects on the part of the 
manufacturer.

Section 11 – Age and Inexperienced Driver Excess
In the event of damage to The Insured Vehicle (as detailed in Section 10) whilst being driven by or in charge of any 
persons who is:

a)	 under 25 years of age

b)	 age 25 years or over and:

i)	 holds a provisional licence

ii)	 has held a licence other than a provisional licence for less than 12 months

the insured will be responsible for the excess as specified in the Schedule.

Section 12 – Repairs/Spare Parts
Following a claim under Sections 9 or 10 the insurer will:

a)	 pay the reasonable cost of removal to the nearest competent repairer and delivery to the insured when repairs have 
been completed

b)	 at its discretion repair or replace The Insured Vehicle or its accessory or make a cash settlement not exceeding the 
market value of The Insured Vehicle or its accessory at the time of the damage

c)	 not be liable for a greater sum than the makers’ last list price in the United Kingdom for the supply of any spare part 
and at the insurer’s discretion a cash settlement on this basis may be made if a spare part cannot be obtained. If the 
supply of any spare part is delayed or repair is postponed and the insured uses the vehicle in a damaged condition 
the insurer will not be liable for the cost of any further damage so caused.

Repairs may be commenced if a completed claim form and detailed estimate are sent to the insurer on the day instructions 
are given. Where instructions to repair The Insured Vehicle are given by the insured any damaged part which has been 
replaced should be retained for a period of 10 days following completion of the repairs.

Section 13 – Personal Effects
The insurer will indemnify the insured or at the request of the insured any other person in respect of damage to personal 
effects (other than money) whilst in or on The Insured Vehicle resulting from fire theft attempted theft or accidental means 
provided that:

a)	 the amount payable in respect of any one occurrence will not exceed the sum specified in the Schedule as the Limit

b)	 the insurer may at its option repair replace or pay in cash the current market value of any such personal effects

c)	 receipt by the person indemnified will constitute a discharge in respect of any claim under this Section.

Section 14 – Medical Expenses
The insurer will at the request of the insured pay the cost of medical expenses in respect of any person who sustains 
bodily injury while in The Insured Vehicle caused by accidental means in connection with the use of The Insured 
Vehicle. 

The insurer’s total liability under this section is: 

a)	 the amount stated in the Schedule in respect of each person for any one accident in Great Britain or Northern 
Ireland 

b)	 £5,000 in respect of any accident in the European Union provided that: 

	 i)	 all occupants of the The Insured Vehicle are residents of the United Kingdom 

	 ii)	� the insurer will not be liable for the cost of medical expenses covered by a separate insurance policy with the 
insurer. 

60

Page 129



Section 15 – Hiring Agreements
If to the knowledge of the insurer The Insured Vehicle is the subject of any contract or hire purchase agreement all 
settlements made in cash under Sections 9 and 10 will be to the owner whose receipt will constitute a discharge.

Section 16 – Trailers
The indemnity provided by Section 2 and Sections 9 and 10 if operative will apply in respect of any trailer the property 
of or in the custody or control of the insured provided that:

a)	 for the purpose of Section 2 Exception (b) The Insured Vehicle and any attached trailer will together be deemed to 
constitute one Insured Vehicle

b)	 the insurer will not be liable by virtue of this Section to indemnify the insured in connection with The Insured Vehicle 
or trailer while The Insured Vehicle is drawing a greater number of trailers in all than is permitted by law.

Section 17 – Unauthorised Use
The insurer will indemnify the insured in the terms of Section 2 and Sections 9 and 10 if operative whilst The Insured 
Vehicle is being used without the knowledge or consent of an authorised official of the insured. The insurer will not be 
liable under the terms of this Section to indemnify any person driving or using The Insured Vehicle.

Section 18 – Geographical Limits
This Part applies within the geographical limits of:

a)	 the territorial limits 

b)	 any member country of the European Union

c)	 any other country in respect of which the Commission of the European Union is satisfied that arrangements have 
been made to meet the requirements of Article 7(2) of the EU Directive on insurance of civil liabilities arising from the 
use of motor vehicles (No. 72/166/EEC) 

d)	 any other country for which the insured has requested and the insurer has agreed to provide indemnity 

and in transit (including processes of loading and unloading) between ports in countries within the geographical limits 
provided that such transit is by a recognised route of not longer than 65 hours’ duration under normal conditions

Section 19 – Foreign Use
a)	 The insurer will indemnify the insured against liability for the payment of general average, salvage sue and labour 

charges arising from transportation by sea provided that in respect of The Insured Vehicle Section 10 is operative.

b)	 The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of the enforced payment of customs duty following damage to The 
Insured Vehicle giving rise to a valid claim under Section 9 or 10.

Section 20 – Special Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

1.	 Unauthorised Use
any claim directly or indirectly arising from use of The Insured Vehicle otherwise than in accordance with the 
limitations as to use specified in the Certificate of Motor Insurance except to indemnify the insured only whilst The 
Insured Vehicle is in the custody of a member of the motor trade for the purpose of maintenance or repair

2.	 Licence to Drive
any claim directly or indirectly arising from the driving of The Insured Vehicle by any person who to the knowledge of 
the insured does not hold a licence to drive unless the person has held and is not disqualified from holding or 
obtaining such a licence. This Exclusion will not apply when a licence is not required by law

61

Page 130



3.	 Earthquake, Riot and Civil Commotion
any accident, death, bodily injury or damage to property except under Section 2 arising during or in consequence of: 

a)	 earthquake occurring outside the territorial limits or any member state of the European Union 

b)	 riot or civil commotion occurring: 

i)	 in Northern Ireland

ii)	 outside Great Britain, the Isle of Man, the Channel Islands or any member state of the European Union. 

4.	 Contractual Liability
any liability which attaches by virtue of an agreement which would not have attached in the absence of such 
agreement unless the conduct and control of any claim is vested in the insurer but in any event there will be no 
indemnity provided in respect of liquidated damages or under any penalty clause

5.	 Lessor Negligence
The owner of a vehicle leased to the insured where liability is caused by the negligence of such owner or the 
servant or agent of such owner.

Section 21 – Special Conditions

1. 	 Vehicle Maintenance
The insured will take all reasonable steps to maintain and use The Insured Vehicle in a safe condition and to comply 
with statutory regulations.

2. 	 Law Applicable
This part is governed, in relation to The Insured Vehicles insured under this part, by the law of the place within 
England, Wales,  Scotland, Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man or the Channel Islands where The Insured Vehicle is 
used during the majority of the period of insurance or if there is any disagreement about which law applies, the law 
of the place where The Insured Vehicle is registered. The insured agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of 
the courts in that place.

Section 22 – Cover
Cover applies within the geographical limits as detailed in Section 18 in respect of death of or bodily injury to any person 
or damage to property caused or arising in the Period of Insurance stated in the Schedule. The extent of cover applicable is 
as stated in the Schedule or any relevant Endorsement and the following meanings apply to words and expressions used.

A.	 Comprehensive
Sections 1 to 22 apply.

B	 Comprehensive Excluding Windscreens
Sections 1 to 22 apply apart from Section 10 which is cancelled solely in respect of claims for the breakage of glass 
Windscreens windows or sunroofs.

C	 Third Party, Fire and Theft
Sections 1 to 9 and 12 to 22 apply.

D.	 Third Party and Fire
Sections 1 to 9 and 12 to 22 apply. Section 9 is cancelled other than in respect of damage caused by fire.

E	 Third Party and Theft
Section 1 to 9 and 12 to 22 apply. Section 9 is cancelled other than in respect of damage caused by theft or 
attempted theft.

F.	 Third Party
Sections 1 to 8 and 16 to 22 apply.

Section 23 – Excess
Applicable only where specified in the Schedule(s).

Any excess specified in the Schedule(s) will apply to each of The Insured Vehicles in accordance with the following:

K.	 Accidental Damage
Section 10 damage other than damage to glass Windscreens windows or sunroofs.

62

Page 131



L.	 Fire
Section 9 damage caused by fire.

M.	 Theft
Section 9 damage caused by theft or attempted theft.

N.	 Windscreens
Section 10 breakage of Windscreen requiring replacement.

P.	 Third Party
Section 2.

Q.	 Theft Total Loss
Section 9 damage caused by theft or attempted theft where such damage renders The Insured Vehicle a total loss 
constructive or otherwise.

Any excess specified in the Schedule(s) will be in addition to any other excess which may apply.

Section 24 – Additional Covers
Applicable only where specified in the Schedule(s)

T.	 Continuing Hire Charges 
In the event of the insured being liable to pay continuing hire charges incurred under a contract with the owner of a 
vehicle on temporary hire to the insured as a direct result of loss or damage caused to such vehicle and which is the 
subject of indemnity under Section 9 or 10 the insurer will pay such charges for a period not exceeding 120 days 
from the date of the occurrence provided that:

a)	 the insurer will not be liable for the first 72 hours of such charges

b)	 the amount payable in respect of any one occurrence will not exceed the sum specified in the Schedule as the Limit.

Sections 9 and 10 Exception (c) will not apply to this cover.

U.	 Occasional Business Use
At the request of the insured this Part will apply in respect of any Motor Car not the property of hired lent or 
provided by the insured whilst being used in connection with the business.

General Condition 7 will not apply to this cover.

V.	 Loss of No Claim Discount/Excess
Special Definitions for this Additional Cover

Excess 
the first part of each and every claim under a current Motor Car policy which is not compulsorily imposed following 
an insurer’s underwriting consideration of a proposal form or renewal of such policy.

No Claim Discount 
a discount allowed by an insurer by way of a reduction from normal premium payable in recognition of a period or 
periods of insurance without claim under a Motor Car policy.

Person Insured 
anyone authorised by the insured to use a Motor Car in connection with the business.

Cover 
The insurer will indemnify the Person Insured in respect of:

a)	 loss of or reduction in No Claim Discount

b)	 payment of an Excess

incurred as a result of an accident occurring within the territorial limits involving a Motor Car which at the time of the 
accident was being used by the Person Insured in connection with the business.

63

Page 132



Exceptions 
The insurer will not be liable for:

a)	 any claim which is a direct result of the use of a Motor Car by the Person Insured between their domestic residence 
and their normal place of work

b)	 any temporary payment of an Excess or loss of No Claim Discount

c)	 any amount in excess of:

i)	 £500 in respect of loss of or reduction in No Claims Discount

ii)	 £100 in respect of payment of an Excess

for any Person Insured in any Period of Insurance

Special Conditions 
1.	� In the event of loss of No Claim Discount the insurer will pay the loss of or reduction in the ensuring years 

No Claim Discount between that earned and that which would have been earned had the accident not occurred.

2.	 The calculation of the amount to be paid will be based on the scale of No Claim Discount in force at the time of 
the accident.

3.	 On request the Person Insured will provide from their Motor Car insurer evidence stating:

a)	 the amount of No Claim Discount permanently lost

b)	 the scale of No Claim Discount

c)	 the date of the accident and location

d)	 the amount and reason the Excess applied.

W.	 Hiring Charges
In the event of damage to The Insured Vehicle giving rise to a valid claim under Sections 9 and 10 the insurer will 
indemnify the insured in respect of the cost of hiring a replacement vehicle of a similar model and performance 
provided that:

a)	 the amount payable in respect of any one occurrence will not exceed the sum specified in the Schedule as the Limit

b)	 no cover will apply in respect of the first 48 hours of any period of hire

c)	 the insurer will not be liable as a result of damage occurring elsewhere than within the territorial limits or the 
Republic of Ireland

d)	 the insured shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate loss and expedite repairs reinstatement or replacement of 
The Insured Vehicle.

X.	 Termination Charges
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of termination charges and/or penalty charge and/or loss of advance 
rental incurred by the insured in respect of the early termination of any Motor Car lease agreement entered into by 
the insured provided that:

a)	 the early termination is caused by or is as a direct result of damage giving rise to a valid claim under Sections 9 or 10

b)	 the amount payable in respect of any one occurrence will not exceed the sum specified in the Schedule as the Limit

c)	 the insurer will not be liable in respect of a charge incurred as a result of excess mileage.

64

Page 133



Part J – Motor Legal Expenses and Uninsured 
Loss Recovery
The insurer for this Part of the policy is DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited (‘DAS’). DAS is the underwriter 
and provides the legal protection insurance under this section 

This Part of the policy will apply as specified in the schedule and should be read in conjunction with part I.

Section 1 – Special Definitions
The following wordings have these meanings wherever they commence with a capital letter in this Part of the policy

Costs and Expenses
All reasonable, proportionate and necessary costs chargeable by the Representative and agreed by the insurer in 
accordance with the DAS Standard Terms of Appointment.

Also the costs incurred by opponents in civil cases if an Insured Person has been ordered to pay them or pays them 
with the insurer’s agreement.

DAS Standard Terms of Appointment	
The terms and conditions (including the amount the insurer will pay to a Representative) that apply to the claim, which 
could include a conditional fee agreement (no-win, no-fee).

Where a law firm is acting as a Representative the amount the insurer will pay is currently £100 per hour. This amount 
may vary from time to time.

Date of Occurrence
For civil cases, the date of the event that leads to a claim. If there is more than one event arising at different times from 
the same originating cause, the Date of Occurrence is the date of the first of these events. (This is the date the event 
happened, which may be before the date the insured first became aware of it.)

Insured Person
The insured and any passenger or driver who is in or on the Insured Vehicle with the insured’s permission. Anyone 
claiming under this section must have the insured’s agreement to claim.

Insured Vehicle
Any Vehicle as defined in part I. 

Period of Insurance
The period for which the insurer has agreed to cover the Insured Person. 

Preferred Law Firm	
A law firm, barrister or tax expert the insurer chooses to provide legal or other services. These specialists are chosen as 
they have the proven expertise to deal with the Insured Person’s claim and must comply with the insurer’s agreed 
service standard levels, which the insurer audits regularly. They are appointed according to the DAS Standard Terms of 
Appointment.

Reasonable Prospects	
The prospects that an Insured Person will recover losses or damages, make a successful defence or make a successful 
appeal or defence of an appeal, must be at least 51%. 

A Preferred Law Firm, on the insurer’s behalf, will assess whether there are Reasonable Prospects.

Representative
The Preferred Law Firm, law firm, or other suitably qualified person the insurer will appoint to act on the Insured Person’s 
behalf.

Territorial Limit
The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the European Union, the Isle of Man, the Channel Islands, 
Albania, Andorra, Bosnia Herzegovina, Gibraltar, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Macedonia, Monaco, Montenegro, Norway, 
San Marino, Serbia, Switzerland and Turkey.

65

Page 134



Uninsured Losses
Losses which an Insured Person has incurred as a result of a road traffic accident which was not their fault, and which 
are not covered under the motor insurance to which this policy attaches.

REPORTING A CLAIM
Please do not ask for help from a lawyer, before the insurer has agreed that the insured should do so. If the insured 
does, the insurer will not pay the costs involved even if they accept the claim.

Phone the insurer on 0800 783 6066 as soon as possible after the accident to speak to one of the insurer’s 
dedicated customer claims handlers. If the insured is calling from outside of the UK, please phone the insurer on 
+44 29 2085 4069

Section 2 – Cover

Insured Incidents
Costs and Expenses incurred to recover Uninsured Losses after an event which causes:

(a)	 damage to the Insured Vehicle or to any property belonging to an Insured Person in or on the vehicle; and/or

(b)	 death or bodily injury to an Insured Person whilst travelling in or on the Insured Vehicle.

The insurer agrees to provide the insurance described in this policy section, in return for payment of the premium and 
subject to the terms, conditions, exclusions and limitations set out in this policy section, provided that:

1	 Reasonable Prospects exist for the duration of the claim

2	 the Date of Occurrence of the insured incident is during the Period of Insurance

3	 any legal proceedings will be dealt with by a court, or other body which the insurer agrees to, within the Territorial Limit

4	 the insured incident happens within the Territorial Limit.

What the insurer will pay
The insurer will pay a Representative, on behalf of an Insured Person, Costs and Expenses incurred following an 
insured incident, provided that:

(a)	 the most the insurer will pay for all claims resulting from one or more event arising at the same time or from the same 
originating cause is £100,000

(b)	 the most the insurer will pay in Costs and Expenses is no more than the amount the insurer would have paid to a 
Preferred Law Firm. The amount the insurer will pay a law firm (where acting as a representative) is currently £100 
per hour. The amount may vary from time to time

(c)	 in respect of an appeal or the defence of an appeal, the Insured Person must tell the insurer within the time limits 
allowed that they want to appeal. Before the insurer will pay the Costs and Expenses for appeals, the insurer must 
agree that Reasonable Prospects exist

(d)	 where an award of damages is the only legal remedy to a dispute and the cost of pursuing legal action is likely to be 
more than any award of damages, the most the insurer will pay in Costs and Expenses is the value of the likely award.

What the insurer will not pay 
In the event of a claim, if an Insured Person decides not to use the services of a Preferred Law Firm, they will be responsible 
for any costs that fall outside the DAS Standard Terms of Appointment and these will not be paid by the insurer.

Section 3 – Special Exclusions
This section of the policy does not cover:

1.	 A claim where the Insured Person has failed to notify the insurer of the insured incident within a reasonable time of it 
happening and where this failure adversely affects the Reasonable Prospects of a claim or the insurer considers 
their position has been prejudiced.

2.	 Any Costs and Expenses incurred before the insurer accepts the claim.

3.	 Costs and Expenses arising from or relating to judicial review, coroner’s inquest or fatal accident inquiry.

4.	 Fines, penalties, compensation or damages which the Insured Person is ordered to pay by a court or other authority.

5.	 Any legal action an Insured Person takes which the insurer or the Representative have not agreed to or where the 
Insured Person does anything that hinders the insurer or the Representative.

66

Page 135



6.	 A dispute with the insurer not otherwise dealt with under special condition 7.

7.	 The Insured Vehicle being used by anyone, with the Insured Person’s permission, who does not have valid motor 
insurance.

8. 	 Any claim where an Insured Person is not represented by a law firm or barrister.

Section 4 – Special Conditions
1.	 An Insured Person must:

a)	 co-operate fully with the insurer and the Representative;

b)	 give the Representative any instructions that the insurer asks the insured to.

2.	 a)	� On receiving a claim, if representation is necessary, the insurer will appoint a Preferred Law Firm as the 
insured’s Representative to deal with the insured’s claim. They will try to settle the insured’s claim by 
negotiation without having to go to court.

b)	 If the Representative cannot negotiate settlement of the insured’s claim and it is necessary to go to court and 
legal proceedings are issued or there is a conflict of interest, then the insured may choose a law firm to act as 
the Representative.

c)	 If the insured chooses a law firm as the insured’s Representative who is not a Preferred Law Firm, the insurer 
will give the insured’s choice of law firm the opportunity to act on the same terms as a Preferred Law Firm. 
However if they refuse to act on this basis, the most the insurer will pay is the amount the insurer would have 
paid if they had agreed to the DAS Standard Terms of Appointment. The amount the insurer will pay a law firm 
(where acting as the Representative) is currently £100 per hour. This amount may vary from time to time.

d)	 The Representative must co-operate with the insurer at all times and must keep the insurer up to date with the 
progress of the claim.

3.	 a)	� An Insured Person must tell the insurer if anyone offers to settle a claim and must not agree to any settlement 
without the insurer’s expressed consent.

b)	 If an Insured Person does not accept a reasonable offer to settle a claim the insurer may refuse to pay further 
Costs and Expenses.

c)	 The insurer may decide to pay an Insured Person the reasonable value of the claim that the Insured Person is 
claiming or is being claimed against them instead of starting or continuing legal action. In these circumstances 
an Insured Person must allow the insurer to take over and pursue or settle a claim in their name. An Insured 
Person must allow the insurer to pursue at the insurer’s own expense and for their benefit, any claim for 
compensation against any other person and an Insured Person must give the insurer all the information and help 
the insurer needs to do so.

4.	 a)	� An Insured Person must tell the Representative to have Costs and Expenses taxed, assessed or audited if the 
insurer asks for this.

b)	 An Insured Person must take every step to recover Costs and Expenses that the insurer has to pay and must 
pay the insurer any Costs and Expenses that are recovered.

5.	 If a Representative refuses to continue acting for the Insured Person with good reason or if the Insured Person 
dismisses a Representative without good reason the cover the insurer provides will end at once unless the insurer 
agrees to appoint another Representative.

6.	 a)	� If an Insured Person settles a claim or withdraws their claim without the insurer’s agreement or does not give 
suitable instructions to a Representative, the insurer can withdraw cover and will be entitled to re-claim any 
Costs and Expenses they have paid.

b)	 If during the course of a claim Reasonable Prospects no longer exist the cover the insurer provides will end at 
once. The insurer will pay any Costs and Expenses they have agreed to, up to the date cover was withdrawn.

7.	 If there is a disagreement about the handling of a claim and it is not resolved through the insurer’s internal 
complaints procedure the Financial Ombudsman Service may be able to help. This is a free arbitration service for 
eligible complaints. (Details available from www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk)

If the dispute is not covered by the Financial Ombudsman Service there is a separate arbitration process available. 
The arbitrator will be a jointly agreed barrister, solicitor or other suitably qualified person. If there is a disagreement 
over the choice of arbitrator, the insurer will ask the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators to decide. The arbitrator will 
decide who will pay the costs of the arbitration. For example, costs may be split between the parties or one party 
may pay all the costs.

67

Page 136

http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk


8.	 If there is a disagreement between an Insured Person and the insurer on the merits of the claim or proceedings, or 
on a legal principle, the insurer may suggest the Insured Person obtains at their own expense an opinion on the 
matter from an independent and appropriate expert. The expert must be approved in advance by the insurer and 
the cost expressly agreed in writing between the Insured Person and the insurer. Subject to this the insurer will pay 
the cost of getting the opinion if the expert’s opinion indicates that it is more likely than not that the Insured Person 
will recover damages (or obtain any other legal remedy that the insurer has agreed to) or make a successful defence. 
This does not affect the Insured Person’s rights under Special Condition 7. 

9.	 An Insured Person must:

a)	 keep to the terms and conditions of this section of the policy

b)	 take reasonable steps to avoid and prevent claims

c)	 take reasonable steps to avoid incurring unnecessary costs

d)	 send everything the insurer asks for in writing; and

e)	 report to the insurer full and factual details of any claim as soon as possible and give the insurer any information 
they need.

10.	 If any claim covered under this section of the policy is also covered by another policy, or would have been covered 
if this policy did not exist, the insurer will only pay the insurer’s share of the claim even if the other insurer refuses 
the claim.

11.	 This policy is governed by the law that applies in the part of the United Kingdom, Channel Islands or Isle of Man 
where the insured’s business is registered. Otherwise the law of England and Wales applies. All Acts of Parliament 
mentioned in this policy include equivalent laws in Scotland, Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man and the Channel 
Islands as appropriate.

HOW TO MAKE A COMPLAINT
The insurer will always aim to give the insured a high quality service. If the insured thinks the insurer has let the insured 
down, the insured can contact the insurer by:

•	 phoning 0344 893 9013

•	 emailing customerrelations@das.co.uk

•	 writing to the Customer Relations Department, DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited, DAS House, 
Quay Side, Temple Back, Bristol, BS1 6NH

•	 completing the insurer’s online complaint form at www.das.co.uk/about-das/complaints

Further details of the insurer’s internal complaint-handling procedures are available on request.

If the insured is not happy with the complaint outcome or if the insurer has been unable to respond to the insured’s 
complaint within 8 weeks, the insured may be able to contact the Financial Ombudsman Service for help. This is a free 
arbitration service for eligible complaints.

(Details available from www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk)

The insured can contact them by:

•	 phoning 0800 023 4567 (free from mobile phones and landlines) or 0300 123 9123

•	 emailing complaint.info@financial-ombudsman.org.uk

•	 writing to The Financial Ombudsman Service | Exchange Tower | London | E14 9SR

Further information is available on their website: www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk.

Using this service does not affect your right to take legal action.

DATA PROTECTION
To comply with data protection regulations the insurer of this section of the policy (DAS) is committed to processing 
personal information fairly and transparently. This section is designed to provide a brief understanding of how the 
insurer collects and uses this information. A full copy of the insurer’s privacy notice can be found on their website – 
www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement. If you require a written copy of the insurer’s privacy notice please email 
dataprotection@das.co.uk.

68

Page 137

mailto:customerrelations%40das.co.uk?subject=
http://www.das.co.uk/about-das/complaints
http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk
mailto:complaint.info%40financial-ombudsman.org.uk?subject=
http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk
http://www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement
mailto:dataprotection%40das.co.uk?subject=


HOW THE INSURER COLLECTS THE INSURED PERSONS INFORMATION
The insurer will either collect information directly from you, from someone who has authority to make a claim on your 
behalf, or via the insurer’s partners when you:

•	 purchase a DAS product;

•	 request or obtain a quote;

•	 use the policy, such as making a claim or using one of the insurer’s helplines;

•	 request an update on your claim;

•	 make a complaint;

•	 use the insurer’s websites;

•	 contact the insurer or one of its partners by telephone, by post or email, or when you communicate via online channels.

Types of information the insurer will typically ask for includes basic personal details such as your name, address, e-mail 
address, telephone number, date of birth or age and marital status. The insurer will also need details of your claim, which 
may include sensitive personal information depending on the nature of the claim. The insurer will always be clear why 
they need this information and the purposes for which they will use it.

HOW THE INSURER WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION
The insurer will use your information to:

•	 manage your policy;

•	 manage your claim, including providing updates and in order to make decisions relating to policy coverage;

•	 provide you with the services outlined in your policy;

•	 handle complaints;

•	 provide quotes and sell policies.

Where the insurer uses trusted third parties to provide services under the policy your information will be shared outside of 
the DAS Group. The insurer will also share information with your insurer or insurance intermediary where it is necessary 
to manage your policy. For more information about how the insurer uses your information, including how your information 
is shared outside of the DAS Group please visit the insurer’s website www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement.

Your information may be disclosed when the insurer believes in good faith that the disclosure is:

•	 required by law; or

•	 to protect the safety of DAS; employees, the public or DAS UK Group property; or

•	 required to comply with a judicial proceeding, court order or legal process; or

•	 in the event of a merger, asset sale, or other related transaction; or

•	 for the prevention or detection of crime (including fraud).

WHAT IS THE INSURER’S LEGAL BASIS FOR PROCESSING YOUR INFORMATION?
The insurer will use your personal information:

•	 because it is necessary for the performance of the insurer’s contract with you or to take steps to enter into a 
contract with you;

•	 in order to comply with the insurer’s legal obligations;

•	 because it is in the insurer’s legitimate interests;

•	 for establishing, exercising or defending any legal claims in relation to your policy.

69

Page 138

http://www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement


WHAT ARE THE INSURED’S RIGHTS? 
The following rights are available in relation to the handling of personal data:

•	 the right to access personal data held 

•	 the right to have inaccuracies corrected for personal data held 

•	 the right to have personal data held erased

•	 the right to object to direct marketing being conducted based upon personal data held 

•	 the right to restrict the processing for personal data held, including automated decision-making

•	 the right to data portability for personal data held 

Any requests, questions or objections should be made in writing to the Data Protection Officer:

Data Protection Officer 
DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited 
DAS House 
Quay Side 
Temple Back 
Bristol 
BS1 6NH

Or via Email: dataprotection@das.co.uk  

HOW TO MAKE A COMPLAINT
If there is any dissatisfaction with the way in which personal data has been processed, the Data Protection Officer can 
be contacted in the first instance using the details above.

If you remain dissatisfied, the Information Commissioner’s Office can be approached directly for a decision. The 
Information Commissioner can be contacted at:

Information Commissioner’s Office 
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane 
Wilmslow 
Cheshire 
SK9 5AF

www.ico.org.uk.

70

Page 139

mailto:dataprotection%40das.co.uk?subject=
http://www.ico.org.uk


Part K – Inspection Contract
Section 1 – Definitions
Certain words in this contract have special meanings. These meanings are given below and apply wherever the words 
appear in bold.

Additional Services
all services that fall outside of the inspection service.

Annexes
the annexes forming part of this contract which can be viewed and downloaded from the contractor’s website at  
www.zurich.co.uk/municipal.

CLAW
the Control of Lead at Work Regulations 2002 and regulation 4 of the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health 
(Amendment) Regulations 2004.

Commencement Date
the start date of the period of this contract stated in the schedule as the effective date from which the contractor will 
provide the inspection service.

Competent Person
the competent person as defined in the regulations.

Confidential Information
all technical, business and similar information relating to the business affairs of the contract holder and the contractor 
that is confidential or secret in nature.

Contract
this part including:

a)	 the schedule

b)	 the inspection contract quotation

c)	 the location index.

Contract Holder
the company, person or persons or other legal entity stated in the schedule. 

Contractor
Zurich Management Services Limited whose registered office is: The Zurich Centre, 3000 Parkway, Whiteley, Fareham, 
Hampshire PO15 7JZ Company Number 02741053. 

CoSSH
the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002 (as amended).

Defect
a defect in plant that could reasonably be expected to be detected by a competent person during an inspection and in 
respect of which it is the contractor’s judgment that the contract holder should take action.

EAW
the Electricity at Work Regulations 1989.

Incident
an incident of damage, injury, loss or death caused or alleged to have been caused by a failure of plant following an 
inspection by the contractor.

Inspect, Inspected
to perform an inspection.

71

Page 140

http://www.zurich.co.uk/municipal


Inspection
a visual examination of plant by the contractor in accordance with:

a)	 the regulations including a thorough examination where so required by the regulations

b)	 the scope

c)	 any SAFed guidance; and

d)	 any written scheme of examination agreed between the contractor and the contract holder following a risk assessment.

Inspection Contract Quotation
the written quotation for the inspection service which sets out the proposed inspection fee.

Inspection Fee
the amount payable for the inspection service as stated in the schedule as varied from time to time in accordance with 
clause 2.6.

Inspection Frequency
the maximum interval between inspections as recommended by SAFed or required under any regulations as may be 
varied by the competent person acting in accordance with the regulations.

Inspection Interval
the period between inspections as requested by the contract holder which is no longer than the inspection frequency 
or in accordance with a risk assessment.

Inspection Service
the inspection of plant at inspection intervals and the provision of a report in accordance with this contract.

IRR
the Ionising Radiations Regulations 1999.

LOLER
the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998.

Mid-Term Adjustment
a change in the scope, the list of plant or the inspection interval.

Normal Working Hours
between 08.00 hours and 17.00 hours Monday to Friday except for public holidays.

Plant
the machinery and equipment as stated in the item specification and kept at the site.

PSSR
the Pressure Systems Safety Regulations 2000.

PUWER
the Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998.

Recommendations
any recommendations made or issues highlighted by the contractor in a report including advice on future maintenance 
of plant and recommended follow up tests and inspections.

Regulations
all statutes, statutory instruments, orders, laws, regulations, guidance and codes of practice issued by a regulatory body 
or industry body which are relevant to plant or to which the contract holder or the contractor are subject in respect of 
plant or the inspection service.

72

Page 141



Regulatory Body
any competent governmental, statutory, regulatory or enforcement authority or regulator concerned with plant or its 
inspection including:

a)	 the Health and Safety Executive

b)	 United Kingdom Accreditation Service

c)	 the police

d)	 local authority Environmental Health Departments.

Report
a report in the contractor’s standard format that provides details of plant inspected and the inspection that was undertaken 
including any recommendations and details of tests undertaken. The report is not a Health and Safety certificate.

Risk Assessment
a risk assessment that either:

a)	 the contract holder has provided and that the contractor is able to adopt in accordance with the regulations

b)	 the contractor has provided to the contract holder (which would be an additional service).

SAFed
the Safety Assessment Federation or any successor body.

Scope
the scope of the inspection as limited and explained in this contract.

Site
the locations where plant is located as set out in the item specification.

Thorough Examination
a systematic and detailed visual examination of plant by a competent person which is intended to detect any defects 
which are or may become dangerous and which are apparent at the date of examination.

Zurich Engineering
Zurich Engineering a trading name of Zurich Management Services Limited.

Zurich Group
Zurich Insurance Group, a company incorporated in Switzerland (No. CH020.3.023.083-6) Mythenquai 2, Zürich, 
Switzerland 8002, and its subsidiaries.

Section 2 – Terms and Conditions

2.1 Confidentiality
a)	 Neither the contract holder nor contractor will disclose or communicate to any third party any confidential information 

obtained from the other party as a result of this contract. The contractor is entitled to share confidential information 
within the Zurich Group.

b)	 Nothing in this clause will impose an obligation of confidentiality on information:

i)	 already in the public domain

ii)	 that was rightfully in the possession of such party prior to the commencement date

iii)	 that is required to be disclosed pursuant to any regulations or required by a regulatory body.

c)	 The obligations under this clause will come into effect on the commencement date and will survive termination.

2.2 Continuity Clause
In consideration of a discount being incorporated in the inspection fee the contract holder undertakes to offer annually 
the inspection service under this contract on the terms and conditions in force at the expiry of each period of contract 
and to pay the inspection fee in advance it being understood that:

a)	 the contractor will be under no obligation to accept an offer made in accordance with this condition

b)	 the inspection fee will be amended at each renewal date in line with the change in the Average Weekly Earnings – 
Regular Pay – Whole Economy – 3 month average Index during the period of 12 months which expires 3 months 
prior to the month of renewal.

Payment of the inspection fee or renewal inspection fee will be deemed acceptance by the contract holder of this condition.

73

Page 142



2.3 Contract Duration and Renewal
This contract will start on the commencement date and continue until the end of the period of contract unless the 
contract holder or contractor terminate it in accordance with clause 2.11.

2.4 Contract Holder’s Responsibilities
a)	 Notwithstanding the contractor’s obligations to the contract holder under this contract it remains the contract holder’s 

legal duty to ensure that plant is inspected as required by the regulations and to make any necessary notifications 
or reports confirming that inspection has taken place.

b)	 In particular the contract holder is responsible for ensuring that plant is inspected within the inspection frequency 
or in accordance with a risk assessment which meets the regulations. The contractor recommends that the contract 
holder establish a system to monitor the frequency of inspections in order to ensure compliance with the regulations.

c)	 The contract holder will notify the contractor in advance of the dates before which inspection is required giving 
sufficient notice for the parties to arrange a mutually convenient appointment.

d)	 The contract holder will liaise with the contractor to ensure the planning and carrying out of the inspection service 
as effectively as possible. The contract holder will use reasonable endeavours to assist the contractor to complete 
the inspection and will not act or fail to act in such a way that might prevent the contractor from providing the 
inspection service in line with this contract.

e)	 At or prior to the inspection the contract holder will provide the contractor with relevant information of:

i)	 any changes to the quantity of plant

ii)	 any plant that is being operated outside the scope of usual operating conditions

iii)	 any modification to plant that has been made since the last inspection

iv)	 any recommendations whether made by the contractor or any third party

v)	 the service history of plant

vi)	 any information and documents that the contractor may reasonably request to enable the contractor to perform 
the inspection.

f)	 The contract holder will have plant properly cleaned and prepared for inspection.

g)	 The contract holder will provide the contractor with safe access to the site and a safe working environment on the 
site. The contract holder will make available any of their staff, premises, facilities, ancillary testing equipment and 
access equipment as the contractor may reasonably request to enable the contractor to perform the inspection.

h)	 The contract holder retains sole responsibility for the operation of plant. Where the operation of plant or any ancillary 
equipment is required for an inspection the contract holder will make available a skilled and qualified operator of 
the relevant plant and any ancillary equipment.

i)	 After the contractor has completed the inspection the contract holder is responsible for the reassembly of plant 
except that if the contractor removes an inspection cover to perform the inspection the contractor will put it back 
in place.

j)	 Should an incident occur the contract holder will notify the contractor immediately of such incident and the 
involvement of any regulatory body. The contract holder will provide the contractor with all information, documents 
and assistance as the contractor may reasonably request to enable the contractor to investigate and understand 
the incident, its causes and effects including access to the site, plant, the contract holder’s staff and facilities with 
reasonable notice.

k)	 The contract holder will act on the information provided in Report of Visit or Customer Advice notifications and will 
remove plant from service where the contractor has notified the contract holder that an inspection that was due 
could not be started or completed.

2.5 Contractor’s Responsibilities
a)	 The contractor will inspect plant at the site in line with the scope and within normal working hours. The contractor 

will use reasonable endeavours to carry out inspections at intervals no longer than the inspection frequency or more 
frequently if set out in the scope. The contractor will only carry out inspections less frequently than the inspection 
frequency where it is in accordance with a risk assessment.

b)	 The contractor will act as a competent person for the inspection and will use reasonable endeavours to ensure that 
the person performing the inspection possesses all necessary skills, experience and qualifications to the extent 
required by the regulations for the inspection of the relevant plant.

74

Page 143



c)	 The contractor will only inspect plant that the contract holder makes available to the contractor and which is in a 
suitable condition for the inspection to take place. If plant or any part of plant cannot be located or is not made 
available by the contract holder for inspection the report will state which plant or which part of plant the contractor 
did not inspect and give the reason for this and the contractor will not be liable for any failure to inspect that plant. 
The contractor will notify the contract holder in writing within 14 days of any abortive attempts to arrange or attend 
an inspection.

d)	 The inspection service does not cover the preparation, operation, repair or maintenance of plant. If the contractor 
removes an inspection cover to perform the inspection the contractor will put it back in place.

e)	 While the contractor is on site the contractor will comply with the contract holder’s safe systems of work as notified 
by the contract holder provided they do not conflict with annex 4. The contractor reserves the right not to carry out 
an inspection if in the contractor’s reasonable opinion to do so would pose an unacceptable risk to the health, safety 
or welfare of the contractor, the contract holder or any other person and the contractor will notify the contract holder 
of this.

f)	 The contractor will provide the contract holder with a report setting out:

i)	 plant which has been inspected

ii)	 the scope of the inspection

iii)	 the regulations which have been applied

iv)	 whether any supplementary testing or additional services have been carried out

v)	 the findings of the inspection noting any defects. The contractor will report defects to the regulatory body where 
required to do so by the regulations.

g)	 The contractor will categorise defects as A–immediate, A-timed or B-defects in line with annex 3. In summary:

i)	 A defects pose a risk of injury as specified in the regulations.

ii)	 A-immediate defects are where the risk of injury is immediate or imminent and should be addressed by the 
contract holder before the plant is used.

iii)	 A-timed defects are where the risk of injury is posed in the future and should be addressed by the contract holder 
before the date specified in the contractor’s report.

iv)	 B-defects may pose a risk of injury but a risk other than as specified in or intended to be addressed by the 
regulations.

h)	 The report may bring to the contract holder’s attention other noticeable and obvious defects that fall outside the 
scope although the contractor is not obliged to do so. The contractor will not assess the impact of such other defects 
and it will remain the contract holder’s sole responsibility to assess them and decide what action to take.

i)	 Where the contractor has been unable to start or to complete an inspection that was due for whatever reason the 
contractor will issue a Report of Visit or Customer Advice notification explaining why the inspection could not be 
completed. The Report of Visit or Customer Advice will be given a reporting status as per annex 3.

j)	 The contractor will issue the report to the contract holder within 14 days following completion of the inspection. 
Where any plant is judged to give rise to ‘A’ defects the contractor will also issue a handwritten report prior to leaving 
the site identifying the relevant plant and the danger.

The report is issued electronically by default as well as in paper hard copy format where preferred or necessary.

The contract holder agrees that the report:

i)	 confirms the condition and operability of plant at the date of inspection only; and

ii)	 is not a health and safety certificate nor evidence of full legal compliance of plant.

2.6 Contract Price and Payment
a)	 The contractor is entitled to invoice the contract holder for the inspection fee on the commencement date.

b)	 The inspection fee is set out in the schedule. The contract holder must notify the contractor immediately if the list 
of plant is incorrect.

c)	 The contractor is entitled to adjust the inspection fee where:

i)	 any information the contract holder provides to the contractor or the list of plant is not accurate

ii)	 the contract holder advises the contractor of any alterations, modifications or other information regarding plant

iii)	 the contract holder and contractor agree in writing to any mid term adjustments.

75

Page 144



d)	 The contractor is entitled to increase the inspection fee where:

i)	 inspections are undertaken outside normal working hours at the contract holder’s request

ii)	 the contract holder requires that the contract holder’s representatives undertake training specific to the contract 
holder’s own health, safety and welfare procedures

iii)	 the contractor is unable to carry out an inspection at an agreed time through no fault of the contractor

iv)	 the contract holder requests that the contractor re-inspect any plant through no fault of the contractor

v)	 the contract holder requests paper or duplicate copies of any report.

e)	 Where the contractor notifies the contract holder of an increase to the inspection fee during the period of contract 
the contractor is entitled to invoice the contract holder for the additional amount. Otherwise any change to the 
inspection fee will be set off against the inspection fee for the following period of contract. 

f)	 Unless the contractor agrees otherwise in writing the contract holder must pay all the contractor’s invoices within 
30 days of the date of invoice.

g)	 Unless otherwise agreed in writing the inspection fee is in sterling and exclusive of VAT or any other similar tax or 
duty levied by any government or other authority.

2.7 General
a)	 The contractor is entitled to apply any monies due to the contract holder under this contract in or towards any sum 

the contract holder owes the contractor in relation to any matter whatsoever and at any time.

b)	 All notices to be given under this contract will be in writing and must be delivered by first class post or by email and 
will be deemed to have been delivered 48 hours after posting in the case of first class pre-paid letter and at the time 
stated in the delivery receipt in the case of email unless an undelivered message is received.

c)	 Failure by either party to enforce any of the rights under this contract will not be taken as or deemed to be a waiver 
of such rights.

d)	 If any term or provision of this contract is held illegal or unenforceable the remainder will remain in full force and effect.

e)	 The contract holder may not assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of the contract holder’s rights or obligations under 
this contract without the contractor’s prior written consent. The contractor may assign this contract to another 
company in Zurich Group.

f)	 No variation or modification of this contract will be valid unless in writing and signed by the contract holder and 
contractor.

g)	 Nothing in this contract is intended to or will operate to create a partnership or joint venture of any kind between the 
contract holder and contractor or to authorise the contract holder or contractor to act as agent for the other or bind 
the other in any way.

h)	 No third party is entitled to benefit from this contract whether under The Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 
or otherwise.

i)	 This contract represents the entire agreement between the contract holder and contractor and supersedes all prior 
agreements and representations made orally or in writing. In entering into this contract neither the contract holder 
nor the contractor have relied on nor will have any remedy in respect of any statement or other representation made 
orally or in writing made by the other.

j)	 This contract will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and any dispute under or 
relating to this contract will be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts.

2.8 Responsibility for Issues
a)	 Except for the types of loss or damage set out in paragraphs c) and d) and subject to the limit of liability in paragraph e) 

if the contractor or the contractor’s employees, agents or subcontractors are negligent in providing the inspection 
service or breach the contractor’s obligations in this contract then the contractor will indemnify the contract holder 
against loss or damage which the contract holder suffers as a direct result of:

i)	 property damage

ii)	 injury to or death of any person

iii)	 claims brought against the contract holder by a third party.

76

Page 145



b)	 Except for the types of loss or damage set out in paragraph d) and subject to the limit of liability in paragraph e) 
if the contract holder or the contract holder’s employees, agents or subcontractors are negligent or in breach of 
contract whether or not arising out of an incident then the contract holder will indemnify the contractor against 
loss or damage which the contractor suffers as a direct result of:

i)	 property damage

ii)	 injury to or death of any person

iii)	 claims brought against the contractor by a third party.

c)	 The contractor is not liable for:

i)	 damage to any plant as a result of its failure to withstand a test applied as part of an inspection

ii)	 problems which arise or are made worse by the contract holder after an inspection including any loss or 
damage which is caused or contributed to by the contract holder’s failure to follow or apply the contractor’s 
recommendations

iii)	 loss or damage caused or contributed to by any modification to plant or use of plant outside of normal operating 
conditions where such modification or use has not been notified to the contractor by the contract holder before 
the last inspection prior to the date the loss or damage first arose; and

iv)	 any failure of plant unless the contractor as a result of the contractor’s negligence or breach of this contract 
failed to notify the contract holder of a defect in the report which directly caused the failure of plant.

d)	 Notwithstanding anything else contained in this contract neither the contract holder nor the contractor will be liable 
for loss of profits or contracts, loss of goodwill or any indirect or consequential loss whether arising from negligence, 
breach of contract or otherwise.

e)	 The contract holder’s and contractor’s contract liability will not exceed £10,000,000 in aggregate. For the purposes 
of this clause ”contract liability” means liability howsoever arising under or in relation to this contract or the inspection 
service that is not unlimited under paragraph f) or excluded under paragraphs c) or d).

f)	 Nothing in this contract excludes liability for injury to or death of any person caused by negligence or any other liability 
which cannot be limited or excluded by law (for which no limit applies).

2.9 Sanctions
Notwithstanding any other terms of this contract the contractor will not provide any service or benefit to the contract 
holder or any other party to the extent that such service, benefit and/or any business or activity of the contract holder 
would violate any applicable trade or economic sanctions law or regulation.

2.10 Subcontracting
The contractor may subcontract in whole or in part any of their obligations under this contract. The contractor will retain 
responsibility for the execution of any subcontracted work in accordance with this contract.

2.11 Termination
a)	 The contractor may terminate this contract on 30 days written notice. If the contract holder has paid the inspection 

fee in full the contractor will refund the proportion of the inspection fee that covers any inspections that are outstanding.

b)	 Either the contractor or the contract holder may terminate this contract by giving written notice to the other if the other:

i)	 commits any breach of contract and fails to remedy the breach within 30 days after being required to do so 
in writing

ii)	 goes into liquidation, becomes bankrupt, makes a voluntary arrangement with its creditors or has a receiver or 
administrator appointed.

Any refund is subject to clause 2.7 a)

77

Page 146



Part L – Plant Protection
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Breakdown
a)	 the failure, breaking, distortion, or burning out of any part of the Plant whilst in use arising from either mechanical or 

electrical defect in the Plant or failure or fluctuation of electricity supply necessitating repair or replacement of the 
Plant before it can resume normal working including resultant loss of cooling, lubricating or insulating oil, refrigerant 
or brine

b)	 complete severance of a rope forming part of the Plant designed for lifting but not including breakage of wires or 
strands even if this necessitates replacement of such rope

c)	 fracturing of any part of the Plant by frost when such fracture renders the Plant inoperative.

Collapse
sudden and dangerous distortion (whether or not attended by rupture) of any part of the Plant caused by crushing 
stresses by force of steam or other fluid pressure (other than pressure of ignited flue gases).

Explosion
sudden and violent rending of the Plant by force of internal steam or other fluid pressure (other than pressure of ignited 
flue gases) causing bodily displacement of any part of the Plant together with forcible ejection of the contents.

Fragmentation
Damage to Own Surrounding Property arising from fragmentation of any part of the Plant described in the plant specification.

Insured Damage
damage to Plant described in the Plant Specification as indicated by the applicable Cover Code(s).

Own Surrounding Property Damage
damage to the insured’s own surrounding property directly resulting from Insured Damage to Plant and in the case of:

a)	 boiler and pressure items described in the Plant Specification, damage caused by the escape of contents directly 
consequent upon and solely due to Explosion or Collapse

b)	 lifts or lifting equipment described in the Plant Specification, damage caused by impact through the normal operation 
of such Plant even though the Plant itself is not damaged

but excluding such damage where caused by the escape of contents from the Plant except where specifically stated to 
be covered within this insurance.

Plant
as defined in Part K – Inspection Contract.

Plant Specification
as defined in Part K – Inspection Contract.

Reinstatement
a)	 the rebuilding or replacement of property lost or destroyed which may be carried out:

i)	 in any manner suitable to the requirements of the insured

ii)	 upon another site

provided the liability of the insurer is not increased

b)	 the repair or restoration of property damaged

in either case to a condition equivalent to or substantially the same as but not better or more extensive than its condition 
when new.

78

Page 147



Section 2 – Cover
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of:

a)	 Insured Damage to Plant

b)	 Own Surrounding Property Damage.

The insurer’s liability will not exceed the amount specified in the Schedule as the Limit of Indemnity in respect of all 
claims arising out of any one occurrence or arising out of all occurrences of a series consequent upon or attributable to 
one source or original cause.

In the event of:

i)	 damage to Plant which at the time of such damage is less than 2 years old

ii)	 damage to the insured’s own surrounding property (excluding stock in trade or goods in process of manufacture) 
caused by Explosion or Collapse of Plant

for which indemnity is provided by this Part, subject to the Reinstatement Special Conditions the basis upon which the 
amount payable will be calculated will be the Reinstatement of the Plant or surrounding property suffering damage.

Reinstatement Special Conditions
1.	 The liability of the insurer for the repair or restoration of property which is only partially damaged will not exceed the 

amount which would have been payable had such property been wholly destroyed.

2.	 Any additional amount which may be payable solely due to this Reinstatement provision will be paid only if:

a)	 Reinstatement commences and proceeds without unreasonable delay

b)	 the cost of Reinstatement has been actually incurred

c)	 at the time of its damage the property insured is not insured by any other insurance effected by or on behalf of 
the insured which is not upon the same basis of reinstatement.

Section 3 – Capital Additions
Subject to the Limit of Indemnity any item of Plant of a similar type to the Plant described in the Plant Specification which 
is newly acquired by the insured will be insured for the same cover for a period not exceeding 12 months from the time 
the insured becomes responsible for it provided that:

a)	 such item is as far as the insured is aware, free from material defect, suitable for service, and in satisfactory working 
condition

b)	 the item complies with any relevant statutory provisions for certification or examination prior to commencing operation

c)	 the insured will provide details of the Plant and its location as soon as practical

d)	 the insurer is entitled to withdraw cover if the Plant is found to be unsatisfactory for insurance following inspection.

Section 4 – Temporary Repairs/Expediting Costs
The insurer will pay reasonable additional costs incurred in effecting temporary repairs or for expediting permanent 
repairs to Plant including the cost of reasonable overtime payments provided the insurer’s approval is first obtained and 
that the additional costs do not exceed 50% of the normal cost of repair or £3,000 whichever is the lower.

Section 5 – European Community and Public Authorities Clause
Subject to the following special conditions the insurance of each item of Plant described in the Plant Specification includes 
such additional cost of reinstatement as may be incurred solely by reason of the necessity to comply with the Stipulations of:

1.	 European Community Legislation; or

2.	 Building or other Regulations under or framed in pursuance of any Act of Parliament or Bye-Laws of any Public Authority

(hereafter referred to as ‘the Stipulations’) in respect of damage to property insured

excluding:

a)	 the cost incurred in complying with the Stipulations:

i)	 in respect of loss, destruction, or damage occurring prior to the granting of this extension

ii)	 in respect of loss, destruction, or damage not insured by the policy

iii)	 under which notice has been served upon the insured prior to the happening of the damage

iv)	 for which there is an existing requirement which has to be implemented within a given period

v)	 in respect of any entirely undamaged property

79

Page 148



b)	 the additional cost that would have been required to make good the property lost destroyed or damaged to a 
condition equal to its condition when new had the necessity to comply with the Stipulations not arisen

c)	 the amount of any charge or assessment arising out of capital appreciation which may be payable in respect of the 
property or by the owner thereof by reason of compliance with the Stipulations.

Special Conditions
1.	 The work of reinstatement must be commenced and carried out without unreasonable delay and in any case must be 

completed within 12 months after the damage or within such further time as the insurer may allow (during the said 
12 months) and may be carried out upon another site (if the Stipulations so necessitate) subject to the liability of the 
insurer under this extension not being thereby increased.

2.	 If the liability of the insurer under this Part apart from this Section shall be reduced by the application of any of the 
terms and conditions of this Part then the liability of the insurer under this Section shall be reduced in like proportion.

3.	 The total amount recoverable under any item of this Part will not exceed the Limit of Indemnity.

4.	 Those terms and conditions of this Part which have not been varied by this Section will apply as if they had been 
incorporated in this Section.

Section 6 – Debris Removal
The insurer will pay for costs and expenses necessarily and reasonably incurred by the insured with the consent of the 
insurer in:

a)	 removing debris of

b)	 dismantling or demolishing

c)	 shoring up or propping

the property insured following damage which is not excluded.

The liability of the insurer under this Part including costs and expenses under this Section in respect of any occurrence 
will in no case exceed the Limit of Indemnity stated in the Schedule.

The insurer will not pay any costs or expenses:

i)	 incurred in removing debris except from the site of the property destroyed or damaged and the area immediately 
adjacent to the site

ii)	 arising from pollution or contamination of property not insured by this Part.

Section 7 – Mitigating Costs
Subject to the Limit of Indemnity the insurer will pay reasonable costs incurred by the insured in taking exceptional 
measures to avoid or mitigate impending Insured Damage provided that damage would have been expected to have 
occurred in the absence of such action and does not stem from any defect within the Plant.

Section 8 – Payments on Account
Where liability is admitted under this insurance, the insured shall be entitled to receive payment as agreed with the 
insurer in advance of any final claim settlement.

Section 9 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

1.	 Maintenance
the cost of maintenance, overhauls, alterations, improvements, additions or modifications but Insured Damage 
arising from such work is not excluded

2.	 Wear and Tear
wear and tear or gradual deterioration, gradually developing defects, flaws, deformation, distortion, cracks or partial 
fractures, loose parts or defective joints or seams but Insured Damage arising from such defects is not excluded

3.	 Testing and Repair
loss, destruction, or damage caused by or occurring during testing of Plant or by application of any tool or process 
in the course of maintenance, inspection, repair, alteration, modification or overhaul

4.	 Installation
loss, destruction, or damage to the Plant during installation, erection or dismantling

80

Page 149



5.	 Plant Movements
loss, destruction, or damage to the Plant during re-siting, transportation or removal but such damage to self 
propelled Plant travelling under its own power is not excluded

6.	 Foundations
loss, destruction, or damage to foundations, masonry, brickwork and chimneys

7.	 Batteries, Cables and Hoses
batteries, trailing cables or flexible hoses or parts made of glass all used in connection with mobile Plant

8.	 Tyre Damage
tyres when damaged by the application of brakes, or by cuts, bursts or punctures

9.	 Linings and Surfaces
loss, destruction, or damage to any non-metallic protective lining or the scratching of painted or polished surfaces

10	 Underground Piping
flexible piping or any pipework buried in the ground or encased in concrete, masonry or brickwork used in 
connection with pressure Plant

11.	 Track
the track on which travelling cranes operate

12.	 Fire and Perils
loss, destruction, or damage by fire howsoever caused, lightning, explosion other than Explosion where cover code S 
or EC applies, aircraft or other aerial devices or articles dropped from them, riot, civil commotion, strikers, locked-out 
workers, persons taking part in labour disturbances, malicious persons, theft or attempted theft, earthquake, 
subsidence, ground heave, landslip, storm, flood, escape of water from any tank, apparatus or pipe or impact by any 
vehicle or by goods falling therefrom or by any animal at the Site or at any other premises or working site while 
temporarily removed

13.	 Consequential Loss
compensation in respect of loss of use, delay or detention or any other consequential loss

14.	 Tandem Lifting
loss, destruction, or damage arising from any raising or lowering operation in which a single load is shared between 
more than one item of lifting equipment

15.	 Chemical Action and Fire
loss, destruction, or damage arising from pressure of chemical action or ignited flue gases or ignition of the contents 
of the Plant

16.	 Road Risk
loss, destruction, or damage arising whilst any mobile Plant is travelling under its own power on a public road

17.	 Re-levelling
the cost of re-levelling an item of pressure Plant due to subsidence or ground movement unless accompanied by 
Insured Damage

18.	 Wilful Negligence
loss, destruction, or damage arising from the insured’s wilful negligence or deliberate act

19.	 Goods Lifted
loss, destruction, or damage to property whilst being lifted, conveyed or handled by lifts or lifting equipment unless 
that property comprises personal effects and luggage of passengers being carried in or on a passenger lift, 
escalator or travelator

20.	Date Recognition
loss, destruction, or damage or Mitigating Costs (under Section 7) directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to 
by or consisting of or arising in whole or in part from:

a)	 the way in which any data processing system responds to or deals with or fails to respond to or fails to deal with 
any true calendar date

b)	 any data processing system responding to or dealing in any way with:

i)	 any data denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data did not denote a calendar date or dates

ii)	 any data not denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data denoted a calendar date or dates

whether such data processing system is the property of the insured or not.

81

Page 150



Section 10 – Excess
Each claim will be the subject of an excess the amount of which is shown in the Schedule. Unless stated otherwise the 
excess will apply individually to each and every loss.

Section 11 – Special Conditions

1.	 Obsolete or Foreign Plant
In the event of a claim involving Plant which is obsolete or of foreign manufacture and for which replacement parts 
cannot be supplied by the makers from stock, the insurer’s liability in respect of such parts will be limited to the 
price of corresponding parts of current Plant of similar size and type together with the estimated cost of installing 
such parts.

2.	 Alterations
Any proposed alteration, addition or change of circumstances materially affecting:

a)	 the working conditions of the Plant

b)	 the insurance of the Plant

must be notified to the insurer as soon as possible.

3.	 Premium Adjustments
If during the Period of Insurance items of Plant are added or deleted, additional/return premium up to the next 
renewal date will be charged/returned at 50% of the agreed annual premium for the items of Plant concerned.

Terrorism Exclusion
This Policy does not cover loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense directly or indirectly caused by, contributed to by, 
resulting from, or arising out of or in connection with:

a)	 any act, or preparation in respect of action, or threat of action designed to influence the government de jure or de facto 
of any nation or any political division thereof, or in pursuit of political, religious, ideological, or similar purposes to 
intimidate the public or a section of the public of any nation by any person or group(s) of persons whether acting 
alone or on behalf of or in connection with any organisation(s) or government(s) de jure or de facto, and which:

i)	 involves violence against one of more persons; or

ii)	 involves damage to property; or

iii)	 endangers life other than that of the person committing the action; or

iv)	 creates a risk to health or safety of the public or a section of the public; or

v)	 is designed to interfere with or to disrupt an electronic system

b)	 any action in controlling, preventing, suppressing, retaliating against, or responding to any act, or preparation in respect 
of action, or threat of action described in a) above.

In any action or suit or other proceedings where the insurer alleges that by reason of this Exclusion cover is not provided 
under this Policy, the burden of proving that cover is provided under this Policy shall be upon the insured.

Northern Ireland Exclusion
This Policy does not cover loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense in Northern Ireland occasioned by or happening 
through or in consequence directly or indirectly of civil commotion.

Section 12 – Cover Codes
Applicable as indicated in the Plant Specification

A)	 Alternative Standby Working 
For any item of Plant which is operated alternately with another or is kept for standby purposes only, a reduced 
premium is applied.

B)	 Breakdown 
As defined in Section 1.

E)	 Flue Gas Explosion 
damage (other than by fire) directly consequent upon and solely due to explosion of ignited flue gases in the furnace 
or flues of the Plant.

EC)	Explosion/Collapse 
As defined in Section 1.

82

Page 151



F)	 Fragmentation 
As defined in Section 1.

G)	 Goods Being Lifted 
damage to goods while such goods are being lifted, conveyed or handled by the Plant.

L)	 Loss of Contents
a)	 The loss, contamination or solidification of the contents of the Plant but excluding loss caused by evaporation, 

seepage or any form of normal trade loss.

c)	 The cost of removing any escaped liquid for which liability is admitted under a) above.

R)	 Reinstatement 
Subject to the Reinstatement Special Conditions set out in Section 2, the basis upon which the amount payable will 
be calculated will be the Reinstatement of the property suffering damage.

S)	 Sudden and Unforeseen damage 
damage which is sudden and unforeseen and necessitates immediate repair or replacement of the Plant, but excluding 
the cost of remedying or making good:

a)	 damage to glass or non-metallic parts (other than shells constructed of fibre-glass) or the chipping or scratching 
of painted or polished surfaces

b)	 any gradually developing distortion or deformation or any wearing away or wasting of material

c)	 in respect of pressure Plant included in the Plant Specification:

i)	 any crack, partial fracture, blister, lamination, flaw or grooving which has not penetrated through the entire 
thickness of the material

ii)	 burning or distortion by heat of refractory linings or mechanical parts of furnaces, kilns, stoking or firing units

iii)	 defective joints or seams (other than joints between sections of cast iron sectional boilers or welded or brazed 
seams) unless directly resulting from overheating due to general deficiency of water in Plant under pressure.

U)	 Damage to the insured’s own surrounding property or property for which the insured is responsible arising from 
the normal use of Plant described in the Plant Specification.

W)	 Ingress of Water 
damage of Plant caused by accidental ingress of water.

83

Page 152



Part M – Deterioration of Stock
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Contents of any Refrigerator or Cold Chamber
the term “contents of any refrigerator or cold chamber” will include property which is elsewhere on the premises but 
which would in the normal course be placed in any refrigerator or cold chamber for which cover is provided.

Plant Specification
the Plant Specification sets out details of the refrigerating plant together with the premises in which it is situated including 
the Sum Insured for each item.

Section 2 – Cover
The insurer will indemnify the insured subject to the Sum Insured, in respect of damage to the Contents of any Refrigerator 
or Cold Chamber caused by:

a)	 rise or fall in temperature within the cold chamber of any machine described in the Plant Specification

b)	 action of refrigerant fumes escaping from any machine described in the Plant Specification

resulting from any cause not otherwise excluded.

The insurer’s liability will not exceed the sum insured stated in the schedule in any one period of insurance. 

2.1 Additional Costs 
The insurer will also indemnify the insured in respect of additional costs incurred by the insured with the insurer’s 
consent for: 

a)	 obtaining a condemnation certificate issued by an environmental health officer as proof of loss in respect of any 
valid claim

b)	 the disposal of Stored Goods for which a condemnation certificate has been issued as a result of an Accident for 
which the insurer has admitted liability 

c)	 the cleaning or decontamination of the Refrigeration Plant following an Accident for which the insurer has admitted 
liability. 

The amount payable under additional costs will be in addition to the sum insured stated in the schedule and in respect 
of any one occurrence shall not exceed £25,000 or 10% of the sum insured stated in the schedule, whichever is the 
lesser. 

Section 3 – Automatic Reinstatement
The Sums Insured stated in the Plant Specification will be automatically reinstated without additional premium from the 
date of occurrence of any claim of £1,000 or less.

Section 4 – Mitigating Costs
Subject to the Sum Insured the insurer will pay reasonable costs incurred by the insured in taking exceptional measures 
to avoid or mitigate impending damage provided that damage would have been expected to have occurred in the 
absence of such action.

Section 5 – Special Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for loss, destruction, or damage resulting from:

1.	 Experiments
experiments involving the imposition of abnormal condition

2.	 Maintenance or the Application of Tools
the direct application or misapplication of a tool or process to any refrigerator or cold chamber in the course of 
alteration, maintenance, modification, overhaul or repair

3.	 Wilful Negligence
the wilful negligence or the deliberate act of the insured

84

Page 153



4.	 Fire and Perils 
fire howsoever caused, lightning, explosion, aircraft or other aerial devices or articles dropped from them, riot, civil 
commotion, strikers, locked-out workers, persons taking part in labour disturbances, malicious persons, theft or 
attempted theft, earthquake, subsidence, ground heave, landslip, storm, flood, escape of water from any tank, 
apparatus or pipe or impact by any vehicle or by goods falling therefrom or by any animal at the Site or at any other 
premises or at any other premises or working site while temporarily removed

5.	 Act of the Supply Authority
the deliberate act of any electricity supplier or the exercise by any such supplier of its power to withhold or 
restrict supply

6.	 Date Recognition
loss, destruction, or damage or Mitigating Costs (under Section 4) directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to 
by or consisting of or arising in whole or in part from:

a)	 the way in which any data processing system responds to or deals with or fails to respond to or fails to deal with 
any true calendar date

b)	 any data processing system responding to or dealing in any way with:

i)	 any data denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data did not denote a calendar date or dates

ii)	 any data not denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data denoted a calendar date of dates

whether such data processing system is the property of the insured or not.

Section 6 – Excess
Each claim will be subject to an excess the amount of which is specified in the Schedule. Unless stated otherwise the 
excess will apply individually to each and every loss.

Section 7 – Special Conditions

1.	 Right to Inspect
The insurer will have the right to inspect any refrigerator or cold chamber described in the Plant Specification at all 
reasonable times.

2.	 Average
The Sum Insured by each item is declared to be separately subject to average.

For the avoidance of doubt clause c) iii) of general condition 4 will not apply.

85

Page 154



Part N – Fidelity Guarantee
Section 1 – Cover
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of loss of money or other property belonging to the insured or in the 
insured’s trust or custody for which the insured is legally responsible occurring as a direct result of any act of fraud or 
dishonesty committed by any Person Guaranteed specified in the Schedule during the Period of Insurance, provided 
that such loss is discovered not more than 24 months following:

a)	 the termination of the insurance relative to the Person Guaranteed concerned in such loss; or

b)	 the termination of employment with the insured of the Person Guaranteed or the last of the respective Persons 
Guaranteed if more than one was concerned with the fraud or dishonesty; or

c)	 the termination of this Part

whichever happens first.

Section 2 – Auditors Fees
The insurer will indemnify the insured in respect of costs and expenses incurred by the insured in investigating and 
proving any act of fraud or dishonesty provided that the liability of the insurer will not exceed 10% of the amount otherwise 
payable under this Part in respect of such claim.

Section 3 – Automatic Reinstatement
Upon discovery of a loss leading to a valid claim under this Part the Sum Guaranteed will be reinstated by the amount of 
such loss as subsequently ascertained provided that:

a)	 the amount by which the Sum Guaranteed is reinstated will only apply to acts of fraud or dishonesty committed 
subsequent to the date of such reinstatement

b)	 the insured will pay any additional premium required by the insurer.

Section 4 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable for:

a)	 any loss unless the insured within 6 weeks of engaging any employee obtains written references from former 
employers covering the whole period of 3 years immediately preceding the employee’s engagement by the insured

b)	 any loss unless the original references relating to any defaulting employee have been passed to the insurer

c)	 any loss arising from the engagement of any employee or appointment of any member, who to the insured’s knowledge 
previously committed any fraudulent or dishonest act (except for convictions regarded as spent under the Rehabilitation 
of Offenders Act 1974)

d)	 any loss arising out of any act of fraud or dishonesty committed by any Person Guaranteed after the insured or any 
person acting on behalf of the insured has become aware of, or has reasonable grounds for suspicion of any act of 
fraud dishonesty or improper or irregular conduct on the part of that Person Guaranteed and this Exclusion will also 
be a bar to any claim involving such a Person Guaranteed acting in collusion with another or others even though 
such other person(s) may not have committed or have given reasonable grounds for suspicion of any act of fraud or 
dishonesty or irregular conduct

e)	 any loss of interest or consequential loss of any kind

f)	 any loss directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or consisting of or arising in whole or in part from:

i)	 the way in which any data processing system responds to or deals with or fails to respond to or fails to deal with 
any true calendar date

ii)	 any data processing system responding to or dealing in any way with:

1)	 any data denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data did not denote a calendar date or dates

2)	 any data not denoting a calendar date or dates as if such data denoted a calendar date or dates

whether such data processing system is the property of the insured or not

g)	 an excess the amount of which is specified in the Schedule. Unless stated otherwise, the excess will apply to each 
and every loss.

86

Page 155



Section 5 – Special Provisions

Insurer’s Rights
The commencement of criminal proceedings against any Person(s) Guaranteed alleged by the insured to have committed 
any act of fraud or dishonesty will not be a condition precedent to the right of the insured to indemnity under this Part but 
in the event of the insurer being required to indemnify, the insurer will be entitled to exercise in the name of the insured 
(but at its own expense) for its own benefit all the insured’s rights of action against the Person(s) Guaranteed or their 
estate(s). This Policy will be evidence of the insurer’s leave so to do and the insured will provided all such assistance as 
the insurer may require in pursuit of the said rights.

Reduction of Claim
Any money or the value of any property in the hands of the insured and belonging to or otherwise due to any Person 
Guaranteed whose fraud or dishonesty has given rise to a loss for which a claim is made under this Part and which may 
legally be retained by the insured will be deducted from any amount that would otherwise be payable to the insured.

Sum Guaranteed
The Sum Guaranteed specified in the Schedule is the insurer’s monetary limit in respect of:

a)	 any one loss irrespective of the number of Persons Guaranteed involved

b)	 the total of all losses discovered during any one Period of Insurance. Any losses discovered within the 24 month 
period allowed under Section 1(c) will be treated as having been discovered during the final Period of Insurance

c)	 the total liability of the insurer during any number of Periods of Insurance and for any number of losses forming the 
basis of any one claim whether under this Part or any similar policies issued in addition thereto or in substitution therefor.

Where more than one Sum Guaranteed appears in the Schedule the insurer’s monetary limit will be the higher Sum 
Guaranteed relevant to the Persons Guaranteed involved in the loss or losses.

87

Page 156



Part O – Personal Accident
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Accident
a)	 violent, accidental, external and visible means; or

b)	 unavoidable exposure to the elements.

Activities
official duties in connection with the business including journeys directly connected therewith.

Annual Earnings
a)	 the gross basic annual wage or salary (inclusive of emoluments, guaranteed overtime and local weightings) from the 

insured of the Person Insured at the date of sustaining bodily injury; or

b)	 the gross earnings from the insured of the Person Insured during the 12 months preceding the date of sustaining 
bodily injury

whichever is the greater.

Assault
a)	 violent or criminal assault; or

b)	 attack by animals; or

c)	 explosion or whilst searching for explosives.

Person Insured
as specified in the Schedule.

Weekly Earnings
the gross average weekly earnings from the insured of the Person Insured during the 52 weeks preceding the date of 
sustaining bodily injury.

Section 2 – Accident Cover
In the event of any Person Insured whilst engaged in the Activities sustaining bodily injury by Accident (other than Assault) 
during the Period of Insurance as a result of which death or disablement occurs independently of any other cause within 
24 months of sustaining such injury, the insurer will pay to the insured such of the amounts payable under Section 6 as 
are applicable.

In the event of the disappearance of any Person Insured and where the insurer agrees after a suitable time has elapsed 
that it is reasonable to assume that such Person Insured has died as a result of sustaining bodily injury by Accident (other 
than Assault) whilst engaged in the Activities, the insurer will pay the appropriate amount payable in respect of death to 
the insured subject to a signed undertaking from an authorised person that if the assumption of death is subsequently 
found to be wrong the amount paid in settlement will be refunded.

The insurer will also provide indemnity in respect of damage to personal effects consisting of money, articles of clothing, 
footwear and other property worn or carried by the Person Insured when such damage arises as a result of the Person 
Insured sustaining bodily injury for which the insurer is liable to pay compensation under this Section provided that the 
insurer will not pay more than the sum of £5,000 in respect of damage to personal effects of any one Person Insured.

Section 3 – Assault Cover
In the event of any Person Insured whilst engaged in the Activities sustaining bodily injury by Assault during the Period 
of Insurance as a result of which death or disablement occurs independently of any other cause within 24 months of 
sustaining such injury, the insurer will pay to the insured such of the amounts payable under Section 6 as are applicable.

In the event of the disappearance of any Person Insured and where the insurer agrees after a suitable time has elapsed 
that it is reasonable to assume that such Person Insured has died as a result of sustaining bodily injury by Assault whilst 
engaged in the Activities, the insurer will pay the appropriate amount payable in respect of death to the insured subject 
to a signed undertaking from an authorised person that if the assumption of death is subsequently found to be wrong 
the amount paid in settlement will be refunded.

The insurer will also provide indemnity in respect of damage to personal effects consisting of money, articles of clothing, 
footwear and other property worn or carried by the Person Insured when such damage is sustained as a result of Assault 
arising out of, or in the course of, the Activities during the Period of Insurance, provided that the insurer will not pay more 
than the sum of £5,000 in respect of damage to personal effects of any one Person Insured.

88

Page 157



Section 4 – Exclusions
The insurer will not be liable to pay compensation in respect of death or disablement or provide indemnity for damage 
caused directly or indirectly by:

a)	 intoxication of, or the illegal use of drugs by any Person Insured, or through sexually transmitted disease

b)	 deliberate exposure to unnecessary danger (except in an attempt to save human life)

c)	 racing of any kind other than on foot

d)	 air travel other than as a passenger in a licensed passenger carrying aircraft

e)	 with effect from the 2004 renewal date the insurer will not be liable for any actual loss directly or indirectly arising 
out of, contributed to by, or resulting from actual, threatened, feared or perceived use of biological, chemical, 
radioactive or nuclear agent, material, device or weapon.

Section 5 – Special Conditions
1.	 In the event of any incident giving or likely to give rise to a claim under this Part the insured will as soon as possible 

and at the insured’s own expense:

a)	 inform the insurer in writing

b)	 furnish such information as the insurer may require and render all assistance as may be requested

c)	 supply all necessary certificates including evidence of death or injury with a report from a qualified medical 
practitioner if required.

2.	 In the case of injury the medical representative of the insurer will be allowed to visit and examine the Person Insured 
at all reasonable times and if such visit or examination is not permitted the insurance will be void in respect of that injury.

3.	 The amount payable in respect of death for persons:

a)	 under 18 years of age; and

b)	 who are still in full-time education

at the date of sustaining bodily injury is limited to £7,500.

4.	 For persons over 75 years of age the Scale of Compensation will be limited to Items 1 and 2 only. The amount payable 
will be the Capital Sum specified in the Schedule or £10,000 whichever is the lower.

5.	 It will be a condition precedent to the liability of the insurer that in respect of:

a)	 any hazardous activity or any pursuit requiring special skills the Person Insured has achieved a reasonable standard 
of proficiency in the said activity or pursuit, or is under the direct supervision of a person suitably qualified

b)	 yachting and canoeing, life jackets or buoyancy aids are worn by the Person Insured and for other sailing (except 
in rowing boats) life-saving equipment is carried on the vessel.

6.	 The amount payable in respect of any one Person Insured will not exceed £500,000.

7.	 If the aggregate amount payable under this Part in respect of any one incident exceeds the sum of £2,000,000 
the amount payable for each Person Insured will be proportionately reduced until the total is equal to the sum of 
£2,000,000.

89

Page 158



Section 6 – Scale of Compensation

Item

Amount Payable

The following percentage 
of the Capital Sum 

specified in the Schedule

1.	 Death, total loss of use or total loss by physical severance of one or more hands or feet 
or total loss of sight in one or both eyes 100%

2.	 Permanent total disablement (other than as stated in Item 1) from engaging in or giving 
attention to usual profession or occupation 100%

3.	 Permanent partial disablement (not otherwise provided for above)

a)	 total loss of hearing

b)	 total loss of hearing in one ear

c)	 complete loss of use of hip or knee or ankle

d)	 removal of the lower jaw by surgical operation

e)	 fractured leg or foot with established non-union

f)	 fractured knee cap with established non-union

g)	 shortening of a leg by at least 3 centimetres

60%

15%

20%

30%

25%

20%

15%

h)	 loss by amputation or complete loss of use of:

i)	 one thumb

ii)	 one index finger

iii)	 any other finger

iv)	 one big toe

v)	 any other toe

i)	 complete loss of use of shoulder or elbow

j)	 complete loss of use of wrist

Right

20%

15%

10%

10%

3%

25%

20%

Left

17.5%

12.5%

7.5%

10%

3%

20%

15%

4.	 Permanent facial disfigurement to an extent of not less than 5 square centimetres of 
scar tissue in the area from the hairline to and including the lower jaw and ears 10%

5.	 Loss of or damage to teeth or dentures – the cost of dental treatment or repair or 
replacement of dentures up to a maximum of 2.5%

6.	 Temporary total disablement from engaging in or giving attention to usual profession or 
occupation for a maximum period of 104 weeks from date of disablement

the Weekly Sum  
specified in the Schedule

7.	 Temporary partial disablement from engaging in or giving attention to usual profession 
or occupation for a maximum period of 104 weeks from date of disablement

50% of the Weekly Sum 
specified in the Schedule

Memoranda to the Scale of Compensation
1.	 Applicable to Item 2

If after expiry of 52 weeks of consecutive disablement the Person Insured is still totally disabled from engaging in 
or giving attention to usual profession or occupation but the medical evidence is such that it cannot be said that 
disablement is permanent and total, payments will be made for as long as total disablement continues for a period 
not exceeding 10 years. Payments will be at an annual rate of 10% of the benefit provided under Item 2, and will be 
made by half yearly instalments in arrears. The first payment will be made 18 months after commencement of 
disablement in respect of the first 18 months of disablement.

2	 Applicable to Item 3

a)	 In the case of other permanent partial disablement not specified in Item 3 the amount payable will be such 
percentage of the Capital Sum set out in the Schedule as is commensurate with the degree of permanent partial 
disablement when compared with the degrees of disablement specified in Item 3.

b)	 The benefits under h), i) and j) will be reversed in the case of a left-handed person.

90

Page 159



3.	 Applicable to Items 6 and 7

a)	 Unless otherwise agreed by the insurer weekly compensation will not become payable until the total amount 
due has been ascertained.

b)	 Weekly Sums whether payable for total or partial disablement will not be payable for more than 104 weeks in 
respect of the same incident.

4.	 The total amount payable under Items 1 to 5 for all bodily injury sustained in any one Period of Insurance by any one 
Person Insured will not exceed the Capital Sum specified in the Schedule.

91

Page 160



Part P – Legal expenses
The insurer for this part of the policy is DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited (‘DAS’). DAS is the underwriter 
and Agent and provides the legal protection insurance and additional services under this section 

Section 1 – Special Definitions
The following wordings have these meanings wherever they commence with a capital letter in this Part of the policy

Costs and Expenses
All reasonable, proportionate and necessary costs chargeable by the Representative and agreed by the insurer in 
accordance with the DAS Standard Terms of Appointment.

Also the costs incurred by opponents in civil cases if a Person Insured has been ordered to pay them or pays them with 
the insurer’s agreement.

DAS Standard Terms of Appointment 
The terms and conditions (including the amount the insurer will pay to a Representative) that apply to the relevant type 
of claim, which could include a conditional fee agreement (no win, no fee). 

Where a law firm is acting as a Representative on the insured’s behalf the amount the insurer will pay is currently £100 
per hour. This amount may vary from time to time.

Date of Occurrence
a) 	 For civil cases (other than as specified under (c) to (e) below) the date of the event that leads to a claim. If there is 

more than one event arising at different times from the same originating cause, the Date of Occurrence is the date of 
the first of these events. (This is the date the event happened, which may be before the date the insured or a Person 
Insured first became aware of it.)

b) 	 For criminal cases the Date of Occurrence is when the Person Insured began, or is alleged to have begun to break 
the law.

c)	 For Section 8 – Statutory Licence Protection the date when the insured first became aware of the proposal by the 
relevant licensing or regulatory authority to suspend, alter the terms of, refuse to renew or cancel the insured’s 
licence, mandatory registration or British Standard Certificate of Registration.

d)	 For Section 6 – Tax Protection, the date when HM Revenue & Customs, or the relevant authority, first notifies the 
insured of its intention to carry out an enquiry. 

For VAT or Employer Compliance Disputes, the date the dispute arises during the Period of Insurance following the 
issue of an assessment, written decision or notice of a civil penalty.

e)	 For Section 4 Legal defence (e) Statutory notice appeals, the date when the Person Insured is issued with the 
relevant notice and has the right to appeal.

Employer Compliance Dispute 
A dispute with HM Revenue & Customs concerning the insured’s compliance with Pay As You Earn, Social Security, 
Construction Industry or IR35 legislation and regulations.

Person Insured
The insured, members and employees and any other individuals declared to the insurer by the insured.

Period of Insurance
The period for which the insurer has agreed to cover the Person Insured and for which the premium has been paid.

Preferred Law Firm 
A law firm, barrister or tax expert the insurer chooses to provide legal or other services. These specialists are chosen as 
they have the proven expertise to deal with the Person Insured’s claim and must comply with the insurer’s agreed 
service standard levels, which the insurer audits regularly. They are appointed according to the DAS Standard Terms of 
Appointment.

92

Page 161



Reasonable Prospects 
a) 	 For civil cases (other than Section 3 – Employment disputes and compensation awards and 4 – Legal defence) the 

prospects that the Person Insured will recover losses or damages or a reduction in tax or National Insurance 
liabilities (or obtain any other legal remedy that the insurer has agreed to, including an enforcement of judgment) or 
make a successful defence, must be at least 51%. 

A Preferred Law Firm or tax consultancy, on the insurer’s behalf, will assess whether there are Reasonable 
Prospects.

b)	 For criminal cases there is no requirement for there to be prospects of a successful outcome.

c)	 For civil and criminal appeals the prospects of a successful outcome must be at least 51%.

Representative
The Preferred Law Firm, law firm, tax consultancy, accountant or other suitably qualified person the insurer appoints to 
act on the Person Insured’s behalf.

Tax Enquiry 
A written notice of enquiry, issued by HM Revenue & Customs, to carry out an Income Tax or Corporation Tax 
compliance check which either:

a)	 includes a request to examine any aspect of the insured’s books and records; or

b)	 advises of a check of the insured’s whole tax return.

Territorial Limit
For insured incidents 4 Legal Defence (excluding 4(e)), and 5(B) Bodily Injury 
The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the European Union, the Isle of Man, the Channel Islands, 
Albania, Andorra, Bosnia Herzegovina, Gibraltar, Iceland, Lichtenstein, Macedonia, Monaco, Montenegro, Norway, San 
Marino, Serbia, Switzerland and Turkey.

For all other insured incidents 
The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man and the Channel Islands.

VAT Dispute 
A dispute with HM Revenue & Customs following the issue of an assessment, written decision or notice of a civil 
penalty relating to the insured’s VAT affairs.

To make sure that the insured gets the most from the cover, please take time to read this section of the policy which 
explains the insurance cover and additional services available. 

HOW THIS SECTION OF THE POLICY CAN HELP
Please find below information about the services this section of the policy offers and details of how to make a claim.

If the insured wishes to speak to the insurer about:

•	 Legal Advice – the insured can get telephone legal advice on any legal issue affecting their business.

•	 Insurance Claims – the insured can report a claim 24/7.

•	 Tax Advice – dedicated tax advisers can provide advice on tax issues affecting the business.

Please phone the insurer on 0117 934 2116 . The insurer will ask the insured about their legal issue and if necessary call 
them back to deal with their query.

REPORTING A CLAIM
Please do not ask for help from a lawyer, accountant or anyone else before the insurer has agreed that the insured 
should do so. If the insured does, the insurer will not pay the costs involved even if they accept the claim.

Report a claim by calling the insurer on 0117 934 2116, available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Have the policy number 
ready and the insurer will ask about the claim.

The insurer will assess the claim to check the claim is covered and, if it is, the insurer will send it to a lawyer who 
specialises in that type of claim.

The lawyer will assess the case and tell the insured how likely it is they will win. If they are more likely than not to win, the 
lawyer will manage the case from start to finish.

Please note this is an overview of the claims process for guidance purposes only. The insurer’s claims handlers can 
answer any questions the insured may have when they receive the insured’s claim, alternatively the insured can visit 
www.das.co.uk/legal-protection/how-to-claim 

93

Page 162

http://www.das.co.uk/legal-protection/how-to-claim


Section 2 – Cover
This policy section, the policy schedule and any endorsement shall be considered as one document and describe the 
contract between the insured and the insurer. The insurer agrees to provide the insurance described in this policy 
section for the insured (or where specified, the Person Insured) in respect of any insured incident arising in connection 
with the business, in return for payment of the premium and subject to the terms, conditions, exclusions and limitations 
set out in this policy section, provided that:

a) 	 Reasonable Prospects exist for the duration of the claim (other than insured incidents Employment disputes and 
compensation awards and Legal defence)

b) 	 the Date of Occurrence of the insured incident is during the Period of Insurance; or

c)	 during the currency of a previous equivalent legal expenses insurance policy, provided that:

i)	 the previous legal expenses insurance policy required the insured to report claims during its currency

ii)	 the insured could not have notified a claim previously as the insured could not have reasonably been aware of 
the insured incident

iii)	 cover has been continuously maintained in force

iv)	 the insurer will not cover any claim that should have been covered under a previously operative legal expenses 
insurance policy

v)	 the available limit of indemnity shall be limited to the lesser of the sums payable under this or the insured’s 
previous policy, and

d) 	 any legal proceedings will be dealt with by a court or other body which the insurer agrees to in the Territorial Limit

e) 	 the insured incident happens within the Territorial Limit.

What the insurer will pay
The insurer will pay a Representative, on the insured’s behalf, Costs and Expenses incurred following an insured 
incident, and any compensation awards that the insurer has agreed to, provided that:

1.	 the most the insurer will pay for all claims resulting from one or more event arising at the same time or from the same 
originating cause for Costs and Expenses and compensation awards claims is detailed within the insured’s policy 
schedule

2. 	 the most the insurer will pay for the total of all compensation awards under insured incident 1 - Employment disputes 
and compensation awards (b) Compensation awards in any one Period of Insurance shall not exceed £1,000,000

3.	 the most the insurer will pay in Costs and Expenses is no more than the amount the insurer would have paid to a 
Preferred Law Firm or tax consultancy. The amount the insurer will pay a law firm (where acting on the insured’s 
behalf) is currently £100 per hour. This amount may vary from time to time

4. 	 in respect of an appeal or the defence of an appeal, the insured must tell the insurer within the time limits allowed 
that the insured wants to appeal. Before the insurer pays the Costs and Expenses for appeals, the insurer must 
agree that Reasonable Prospects exist

5. 	 for an enforcement of judgment to recover money and interest due to the insured after a successful claim under this 
section of the policy, the insured must agree that Reasonable Prospects exist

6.	 where an award of damages is the only legal remedy to a dispute and the cost of pursuing legal action is likely to be 
more than any award of damages, the most the insurer will pay in Costs and Expenses is the value of the likely 
award; and

7.	 in respect of Section 4 – Legal defence (f) Jury service and court attendance the maximum the insurer will pay is 
the Person Insured’s net salary or wages for the time that the Person Insured is absent from work less any amount 
the insured, the court or tribunal pays.

What the insurer will not pay
1.	 In the event of a claim, if the insured decides not to use the services of a Preferred Law Firm or tax consultancy, the 

insured will be responsible for any costs that fall outside the DAS Standard Terms of Appointment and these will not 
be paid by the insurer.

2.	 If the insured is registered for VAT the insurer will not pay the VAT element of any Costs and Expenses.

94

Page 163



3.	 the first £500 of any contract dispute claim where the amount in dispute exceeds £5,000 (including VAT). If the 
insured is using a Preferred Law Firm, the insured will be asked to pay this within 21 days of the insured’s claim 
having been assessed as having Reasonable Prospects. If the insured are using the insured’s own law firm, this will 
be within 21 days of their appointment (following confirmation the insured’s claim has Reasonable Prospects). If the 
insured does not pay this amount the cover for the insured’s claim could be withdrawn.

Section 3 – Employment Disputes and Compensation Awards

A)	 Employment Disputes 

	 Insured Incident
Costs and Expenses to defend the insured’s legal rights:

i)	 before the issue of legal proceedings in a court or tribunal;

1)	 following the dismissal of an employee; or

2)	 where an employee or ex-employee has contacted ACAS (‘Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service’) to 
commence the Early Conciliation procedure; or

ii)	 in unfair dismissal disputes under the ACAS Arbitration Scheme; or

iii)	 in legal proceedings in respect of any dispute with:

1)	 a contract of employment with the insured; or

2)	 an alleged breach of the statutory rights of an employee, ex-employee or prospective employee under 
employment legislation.

	 Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:

1.	 unless equivalent legal expenses insurance was continuously in force before:

a)	 any dispute where the originating cause of action arises within the first 90 days of the start of this section of 
the policy

b)	 any dispute with an employee who was subject to a written or oral warning (formal or informal) within 180 days 
immediately preceding the inception date of this section of the policy if the Date of Occurrence was within 
the first 180 days of the start of this section of the policy and the dispute relates directly to the same matter(s) 
which gave rise to that warning

c)	 any notice of redundancy or alleged redundancy or unfair selection for redundancy which arises within the 
first 180 days of the start of this section of the policy

2.	 any claim in respect of damages for personal injury

3.	 employee internal disciplinary or grievance procedures

4. 	 pursuing the insured’s legal rights.

B)	 Compensation Awards

	 Insured Incident
The insurer will pay:

i)	 any basic and compensatory award; and/or

ii) 	 an order for compensation following a breach of the insured’s statutory duties under employment legislation

in respect of a claim the insurer has accepted under insured incident 1 a).

Provided always that:

1	 any sum of money in settlement of a dispute is awarded by a court, tribunal under a judgment made after full 
argument and otherwise than by consent or default or is payable under settlement approved in writing in 
advance by the insurer.

2	 the total amount payable by the insurer for all compensation awards and sums of money in settlement of a 
dispute, in aggregate and in any one Period of Insurance will not exceed £1,000,000.

95

Page 164



	 Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to: 

1.	 any compensation award relating to the following:

a)	 trade union activities, trade union membership or non-membership

b)	 pregnancy or maternity rights, paternity, parental or adoption rights

c)	 health and safety related dismissals brought under section 44 of the Employment Rights Act 1996

d) 	 statutory rights in relation to trustees of occupational pension schemes

2.	 non-payment of money due under a contract 

3.	 any award ordered because the insured has failed to provide relevant records to employees under National 
Minimum Wage legislation

4.	 any compensation award or increase in compensation award relating to failure to comply with a current or 
previous recommendation made by a tribunal

5.	 a settlement agreed and payable following conciliation under the ACAS Early Conciliation procedure.

C)	 Employee Civil Legal Defence
Costs and Expenses to defend the Person Insured’s legal rights if an event arising from a Person Insured’s work as 
an employee leads to civil action being taken against them under legislation for unlawful discrimination. 

D)	 Service Occupancy
Costs and Expenses to recover possession of premises owned by or for which the insured is responsible from the 
insured’s employee or ex-employee. 

	 Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:

1.	 any claim relating to defending the insured’s legal rights other than defending a counter-claim that is an insured 
incident under this section of the policy.

Section 4 – Legal Defence

Insured Incident 
At the insured’s request:

a)	 Costs and Expenses to defend the Person Insured’s legal rights:

i)	 prior to the issue of legal proceedings when dealing with the:

1)	 police; or

2) 	 Health and Safety Executive and/or Local Authority Health and Safety Enforcement Officer

where it is alleged that the Person Insured has or may have committed a criminal offence

ii)	 following an event which leads to the Person Insured being prosecuted in a court of criminal jurisdiction

Provided that for claims relating to the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 the Territorial Limit shall be any place 
where the Act applies.

Please note the insurer will only cover criminal investigations and/or prosecutions which arise in direct connection 
with the activities of the BUSINESS. Please see Section 2-Cover

b)	 Costs and Expenses to defend the Person Insured’s legal rights if civil action is taken against the Person Insured for 
compensation under data protection legislation, when handling personal data in their capacity as a data controller 
and/or a data processor by:

i)	 an individual. The insurer will also pay any compensation award in respect of such a claim

ii)	 a data controller and/or data processor, which arises out of, or relates to, a claim made by an individual for 
compensation against that data controller and/or data processor. Please note the insurer will not pay any 
compensation award in respect of such a claim.

96

Page 165



Provided that in respect of 2(b)(i) any sum of money in settlement of a dispute is awarded by a court under a 
judgment made after full argument and otherwise than by consent or default or is payable under settlement 
approved in advance by the insurer.

Please note the insurer will not cover the cost of fines imposed by the Information Commissioner, or any other 
regulatory and/or criminal body. Please see Special exclusion 3 of this Section.

c) 	 Cost and Expenses to defend the Person Insured’s legal rights following civil action taken against the Person 
Insured for wrongful arrest in respect of an accusation of theft alleged to have been carried out during the Period 
of Insurance

d)	 Costs and Expenses to defend the Person Insured’s (other than the insured’s) legal rights if civil action is being 
taken against them as trustee of a pension fund set up for the benefit of the insured’s employees.

e)	 Costs and Expenses for an appeal against the imposition or terms of any statutory notice issued under legislation 
affecting the insured’s business 

f)	 the insurer will pay for a Person Insured’s absence from work:

i)	 to perform jury service

ii)	 to attend any court or tribunal at the request of the Representative.

The maximum the insurer will pay is the Person Insured’s net salary or wages for the time that they are absent from work 
less any amount the insured, the court or tribunal, have paid them. 

The insurer will reimburse the insured for net salary or wages that they have paid the Person Insured for that time, less 
any amount they have been paid by, or can recover from, the court or tribunal.

Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:

1.	 any criminal investigation or enquiry by, with or on behalf of HM Revenue & Customs. Please note this exclusion 
applies to section a) i) of the Legal defence cover.

2.	 investigations or prosecutions for alleged infringement of road traffic laws or regulations in connection with the 
ownership, driving or use of a motor vehicle. Please note this exclusion applies to sections a) i) and a) ii) of the legal 
defence cover

3.	 a)	 the loss, alteration, corruption or distortion of, or damage to stored personal data; or

b)	 a reduction in the functionality, availability, or operation of stored personal data

resulting from hacking (unauthorised access), malicious or negligent transfer (electronic or otherwise) of a computer 
program that contains any malicious or damaging code, computer virus or similar mechanism.

Please note this exclusion applies to section b) of the Legal defence cover.

4.	 an appeal against the imposition or terms of any Statutory Notice issued in connection with the insured’s licence, 
mandatory registration or British Standard Certificate of Registration

5. 	 a Statutory Notice issued by a Person Insured’s regulatory or governing body.

Please note exclusions 4. and 5. apply to section e) of the Legal defence cover

6.	 any claim if the insured or the Person Insured are unable to prove the loss (Please note, this exclusion applies to 
section f) of the Legal defence cover.

Section 5 – Property Protection and Bodily Injury 

A)	 Property Protection 

	 Insured Incident 
Costs and Expenses for the insured’s legal rights in any civil dispute relating to property which is owned by or the 
responsibility of the insured following:

i)	 any event which causes physical damage to such property

ii)	 a legal nuisance (meaning any unlawful interference with the insured’s use or enjoyment of the insured’s land, 
or some right over, or in connection with it); or

iii) 	 a trespass.

Please note that the insured must have established, or there must be reasonable prospects of the insured 
establishing, the legal ownership or right to the physical property that is the subject of the dispute.

97

Page 166



	 Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:

1.	 a contract entered into by the insured (please refer to insured incident 4 Contract disputes, if operative)

2.	 physical property which is in transit or which is lent or hired out 

3.	 goods at premises other than those occupied by the insured unless the goods are at the premises for the 
purpose of installations or use in work to be carried out by the insured

4.	 mining subsidence

5.	 defending the insured’s legal rights other than in defending a counter-claim

6	 the enforcement of a covenant by or against the insured.

B)	 Bodily Injury 

Insured Incident 
At the insured’s request, Costs and Expenses for a Person Insured’s and their family members’ legal rights following a 
specific or sudden accident that causes the death of or bodily injury to them.

Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:

1.	 any illness or bodily injury which develops gradually

2.	 psychological injury or mental illness unless the condition follows a specific or sudden accident that has caused 
physical bodily injury

3.	 defending a Person Insured’s or their family members’ legal rights other than in defending a counter-claim

4.	 clinical negligence.

Section 6 – Tax Protection 

Insured Incident 
Costs and Expenses for:

a)	 a Tax Enquiry

b)	 an Employer Compliance Dispute

c)	 a VAT dispute.

Provided that the insured has taken reasonable care to ensure that all returns are complete and correct and are 
submitted within the statutory time limits allowed.

Please note the insurer will only cover tax claims which arise in direct connection with the activities of the business. 
Please see Section 2 – Cover

Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:

1.	 a tax avoidance scheme

2.	 any failure to register for Value Added Tax or Pay As You Earn

3.	 any investigation or enquiries by, with or on behalf of HM Revenue & Customs Special Investigations Section, 
Special Civil Investigations, Criminal Investigations Unit, Criminal Taxes Unit, under Public Notice 160 or by the 
Revenue & Customs Prosecution Office

4.	 any claim relating to import or excise duties and import VAT

5.	 any investigation or enquiry by HM Revenue & Customs into alleged dishonesty or alleged criminal offences.

98

Page 167



Section 7 – Contract Disputes
This insured incident is only operative if shown in the schedule.

Insured Incident 
Costs and Expenses for the insured’s legal rights in a contractual dispute arising from that agreement or that alleged 
agreement which has been entered into by or on behalf of the insured for the purchase, hire, sale or provision of goods 
or of services.

Provided that:

a)	 the amount in dispute exceeds £250 (incl. VAT). If the amount in dispute exceeds £5,000 (incl. VAT), the insured 
must pay the first £500 of any claim. If the insured is using a Preferred Law Firm, the insured will be asked to pay 
this within 21 days of the insured’s claim having been assessed as having Reasonable Prospects. If the insured is 
using their own law firm, this will be within 21 days of their appointment (following confirmation the insured’s claim 
has Reasonable Prospects).

If the insured does not pay this amount the cover for the insured’s claim could be withdrawn 

b) 	 if the amount in dispute is payable in instalments the instalments due and payable at the time of making the claim 
exceed £250 (incl. VAT)

c)	 if the dispute relates to money owed to the insured a claim under this section of the policy is made within 90 days of 
the money becoming due and payable.

Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:

1.	 unless equivalent legal expenses insurance was in force immediately before, any dispute arising from an agreement 
entered into prior to the start of this section of the policy if the Date of Occurrence is within the first 90 days of start 
of this section of the policy

2.	 a) a dispute relating to an insurance policy, other than when the insured’s insurer refuses the insured’s claim

b)	 the sale, purchase, terms of a lease, licence or tenancy of land or buildings other than a dispute with a 
professional advisor in connection with these matters

c)	 a loan, mortgage, pension, guarantee or any other financial product other than a dispute with a professional 
adviser in connection with these matters

3.	 a dispute with an employee or ex-employee which arises out of or relates to a contract of employment with the 
insured. (Please refer to insured incident 1 Employment disputes and compensation awards.)

4.	 a dispute which arises out of the:

a)	 sale or provision of computer hardware, software, systems or services

b)	 purchase or hire of computer hardware, software, systems or services tailored by a supplier to the insured’s own 
specification

5.	 a dispute arising from a breach or alleged breach of professional duty by a Person Insured 

6.	 the recovery of money and interest due from another party other than disputes where the other party intimates that a 
defence exists.

Section 8 – Statutory Licence Protection 
Costs and Expenses to represent the insured in appealing to the relevant statutory or regulatory authority, court or 
tribunal following a decision by a licensing or regulatory authority to suspend, or alter the terms, of or refuse to renew, or 
cancel the insured’s licence, mandatory registration or British Standard Certificate of Registration.

Exclusions 
The insurer will not provide indemnity in respect of or arising from or relating to:

1.	 the original application or application for renewal of a statutory licence, mandatory registration or British Standard 
Certificate of Registration

2.	 the ownership, driving or use of a motor vehicle.

99

Page 168



Section 9 – Special Exclusions 
This section of the policy does not cover:

1.	 any claim reported to the insurer more than 180 days after the date the Person Insured should have known about 
the insured incident

2.	 Costs and Expenses incurred before the expressed acceptance of a claim by the insurer

3.	 fines, penalties, compensation or damages which the Person Insured is ordered to pay by a court or other authority 
other than compensation awards as covered under insured incident 1b) Compensation Awards and 2 Legal Defence

4.	 any claim relating to patents, copyrights, trademarks, merchandise marks, registered designs, intellectual property, 
secrecy and confidentiality agreements

5.	 any claim relating to rights under a franchise or agency agreement entered into by the insured 

6.	 any wilful act or omission of a Person Insured deliberately intended to cause a claim under this section of the policy

7.	 a dispute with the insurer not otherwise dealt with under special condition 7

8.	 any claim relating to a shareholding or partnership share in the business 

9.	 Costs and Expenses arising from or relating to judicial review, coroner’s inquest or fatal accident inquiry

10.	 legal action a Person Insured takes which the insurer or the Representative have not agreed to or where the Person 
Insured does anything that hinders the insurer or the Representative

11.	 when either at the start of or during the course of a claim the insured is declared bankrupt or has filed a bankruptcy 
petition or winding-up petition or has made an arrangement with its creditors or has entered into a deed of 
arrangement or is in liquidation or part or all of its affairs or property are in the care or control of a receiver or 
administrator

12.	 any claim relating to written or verbal remarks that damage the Person Insured’s reputation

13.	 any claim where a Person Insured is not represented by a law firm, barrister or tax expert.

Section 10 – Special Conditions
1.	 A Person Insured must:

a)	 co-operate fully with the insurer and the Representative;

b) 	 give the Representative any instructions that the insurer asks the insured to.

2.	 a)	� On receiving a claim, if representation is necessary, the insurer will appoint a Preferred Law Firm or tax 
consultancy as the insured’s Representative to deal with the insured’s claim. They will try to settle the insured’s 
claim by negotiation without having to go to court.

b)	 If the Representative cannot negotiate settlement of the insured’s claim and it is necessary to go to court and 
legal proceedings are issued or there is a conflict of interest, then the insured may choose a law firm or tax 
expert to act as the Representative. The insurer will choose the Representative to represent the insured in any 
proceedings where the insurer is liable to pay a compensation award.

c)	 If the insured chooses a law firm as the insured’s Representative who is not a Preferred Law Firm or tax 
consultancy, the insurer will give the insured’s choice of law firm the opportunity to act on the same terms as a 
Preferred Law Firm or tax consultancy. However if they refuse to act on this basis, the most the insurer will pay is 
the amount the insurer would have paid if they had agreed to the DAS Standard Terms of Appointment. The 
amount the insurer will pay a law firm (where acting as the Representative) is currently £100 per hour. This 
amount may vary from time to time.

d) 	 The Representative must co-operate with the insurer at all times and must keep the insurer up to date with the 
progress of the claim.

3.	 a)	� A Person Insured must tell the insurer if anyone offers to settle a claim and must not agree to any settlement 
without the insurer expressed consent.

b)	 If a Person Insured does not accept a reasonable offer to settle a claim the insurer may refuse to pay further 
Costs and Expenses.

c)	 The insurer may decide to pay a Person Insured the reasonable value of the claim that the Person Insured is 
claiming or is being claimed against them instead of starting or continuing legal action. In these circumstances a 
Person Insured must allow the insurer to take over and pursue or settle a claim in their name. A Person Insured 
must allow the insurer to pursue at the insurer’s own expense and for their benefit, any claim for compensation 
against any other person and a Person Insured must give the insurer all the information and help the insurer 
needs to do so.

100

Page 169



4.	 a)	� A Person Insured must tell the Representative to have Costs and Expenses taxed, assessed or audited if the 
insurer asks for this.

b)	 a Person Insured must take every step to recover Costs and Expenses that the insurer has to pay and must pay 
the insurer any Costs and Expenses that are recovered.

5.	 If a Representative refuses to continue acting for the Person Insured with good reason or if the Person Insured 
dismisses a Representative without good reason the cover the insurer provides will end at once unless the insurer 
agrees to appoint another Representative.

6.	 a)	� If a Person Insured settles a claim or withdraws their claim without the insurer’s agreement or does not give 
suitable instructions to a Representative, the insurer can withdraw cover and will be entitled to re-claim any 
Costs and Expenses they have paid.

b)	 If during the course of a claim Reasonable Prospects no longer exist the cover the insurer provides will end at 
once. The insurer will pay any Costs and Expenses and compensation awards they have agreed to, up to the 
date cover was withdrawn.

7.	 If there is a disagreement about the handling of a claim and it is not resolved through the insurer’s internal 
complaints procedure the Financial Ombudsman Service may be able to help. This is a free arbitration service for 
eligible complaints. (Details available from www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk)

If the dispute is not covered by the Financial Ombudsman Service there is a separate arbitration process available. 
The arbitrator will be a jointly agreed barrister, solicitor or other suitably qualified person. If there is a disagreement 
over the choice of arbitrator, the insurer will ask the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators to decide. The arbitrator will 
decide who will pay the costs of the arbitration. For example, costs may be split between the parties or one party 
may pay all the costs.

8.	 If there is a disagreement between a Person Insured and the insurer on the merits of the claim or proceedings, or on 
a legal principle, the insurer may suggest the Person Insured obtains at their own expense an opinion on the matter 
from an independent and appropriate expert. The expert must be approved in advance by the insurer and the cost 
expressly agreed in writing between the Person Insured and the insurer. Subject to this the insurer will pay the cost 
of getting the opinion if the expert’s opinion indicates that it is more likely than not that the Person Insured will 
recover damages (or obtain any other legal remedy that the insurer has agreed to) or make a successful defence. 
This does not affect the Person Insured’s rights under Special Condition 7. 

9.	 A Person Insured must:

a)	 keep to the terms and conditions of this section of the policy

b)	 take reasonable steps to avoid and prevent claims

c)	 take reasonable steps to avoid incurring unnecessary costs

d)	 send everything the insurer asks for in writing; and

e)	 report to the insurer full and factual details of any claim as soon as possible and give the insurer any information 
they need.

10.	 Apart from the insurer the insured is the only person who may enforce all or any of this section of the policy and the 
rights and interests arising from or connected with it. This means that the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 
1999 does not apply to this section of the policy in relation to any third-party rights or interest.

11.	 If any claim covered under this section of the policy is also covered by another policy, or would have been covered if 
this section of the policy did not exist, the insurer will only pay the insurer’s share of the claim even if the other 
insurer refuses the claim.

12.	 This policy is governed by the law that applies in the part of the United Kingdom, Channel Islands or Isle of Man 
where the insured’s business is registered. Otherwise the law of England and Wales applies. All Acts of Parliament 
mentioned in this policy include equivalent laws in Scotland, Northern Ireland, the Isle of Man and the Channel 
Islands as appropriate.

101

Page 170

http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk


HOW TO MAKE A COMPLAINT
The insurer will always aim to give the insured a high quality service. If the insured thinks the insurer has let the insured 
down, the insured can contact the insurer by:

•	 phoning 0344 893 9013

•	 emailing customerrelations@das.co.uk

•	 writing to the Customer Relations Department, DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited, DAS House, 
Quay Side, Temple Back, Bristol, BS1 6NH

•	 completing the insurer’s online complaint form at www.das.co.uk/about-das/complaints

Further details of the insurer’s internal complaint-handling procedures are available on request.

If the insured is not happy with the complaint outcome or if the insurer has been unable to respond to the insured’s 
complaint within 8 weeks, the insured may be able to contact the Financial Ombudsman Service for help. This is a free 
arbitration service for eligible complaints.

(Details available from www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk)

The insured can contact them by:

•	 phoning 0800 023 4567 (free from mobile phones and landlines) or 0300 123 9123

•	 emailing complaint.info@financial-ombudsman.org.uk

•	 writing to The Financial Ombudsman Service | Exchange Tower | London | E14 9SR

Further information is available on their website: www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk.

Using this service does not affect your right to take legal action.

DATA PROTECTION
To comply with data protection regulations the insurer of this section of the policy (DAS) is committed to processing 
personal information fairly and transparently. This section is designed to provide a brief understanding of how the 
insurer collects and uses this information. A full copy of the insurer’s privacy notice can be found on their website – 
www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement. If you require a written copy of the insurer’s privacy notice please email 
dataprotection@das.co.uk.

HOW THE INSURER COLLECTS THE PERSON INSURED’S INFORMATION
The insurer will either collect information directly from you, from someone who has authority to make a claim on your 
behalf, or via the insurer’s partners when you:

•	 purchase a DAS product;

•	 request or obtain a quote;

•	 use the policy, such as making a claim or using one of the insurer’s helplines;

•	 request an update on your claim;

•	 make a complaint;

•	 use the insurer’s websites;

•	 contact the insurer or one of its partners by telephone, by post or email, or when you communicate via online channels.

Types of information the insurer will typically ask for includes basic personal details such as your name, address, e-mail 
address, telephone number, date of birth or age and marital status. The insurer will also need details of your claim, which 
may include sensitive personal information depending on the nature of the claim. The insurer will always be clear why 
they need this information and the purposes for which they will use it.

102

Page 171

mailto:customerrelations%40das.co.uk?subject=
http://www.das.co.uk/about-das/complaints
http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk
mailto:complaint.info%40financial-ombudsman.org.uk?subject=
http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk
http://www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement
mailto:dataprotection%40das.co.uk?subject=


HOW THE INSURER WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION
The insurer will use your information to:

•	 manage your policy;

•	 manage your claim, including providing updates and in order to make decisions relating to policy coverage;

•	 provide you with the services outlined in your policy;

•	 handle complaints;

•	 provide quotes and sell policies.

Where the insurer uses trusted third parties to provide services under the policy your information will be shared outside of 
the DAS Group. The insurer will also share information with your insurer or insurance intermediary where it is necessary 
to manage your policy. For more information about how the insurer uses your information, including how your information 
is shared outside of the DAS Group please visit the insurer’s website www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement.

Your information may be disclosed when the insurer believes in good faith that the disclosure is:

•	 required by law; or

•	 to protect the safety of DAS; employees, the public or DAS UK Group property; or

•	 required to comply with a judicial proceeding, court order or legal process; or

•	 in the event of a merger, asset sale, or other related transaction; or

•	 for the prevention or detection of crime (including fraud).

WHAT IS THE INSURERS LEGAL BASIS FOR PROCESSING YOUR INFORMATION?
The insurer will use your personal information:

•	 because it is necessary for the performance of the insurer’s contract with you or to take steps to enter into a 
contract with you;

•	 in order to comply with the insurer’s legal obligations;

•	 because it is in the insurer’s legitimate interests;

•	 for establishing, exercising or defending any legal claims in relation to your policy.

WHAT ARE THE INSURED’S RIGHTS? 
The following rights are available in relation to the handling of personal data:

•	 the right to access personal data held 

•	 the right to have inaccuracies corrected for personal data held 

•	 the right to have personal data held erased

•	 the right to object to direct marketing being conducted based upon personal data held 

•	 the right to restrict the processing for personal data held, including automated decision-making

•	 the right to data portability for personal data held 

Any requests, questions or objections should be made in writing to the Data Protection Officer:

Data Protection Officer 
DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited 
DAS House 
Quay Side 
Temple Back 
Bristol 
BS1 6NH

Or via Email: dataprotection@das.co.uk  

103

Page 172

http://www.das.co.uk/legal/privacy-statement
mailto:dataprotection%40das.co.uk?subject=


HOW TO MAKE A COMPLAINT
If there is any dissatisfaction with the way in which personal data has been processed, the Data Protection Officer can 
be contacted in the first instance using the details above.

If you remain dissatisfied, the Information Commissioner’s Office can be approached directly for a decision. The 
Information Commissioner can be contacted at:

Information Commissioner’s Office 
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane 
Wilmslow 
Cheshire 
SK9 5AF

www.ico.org.uk.

104

Page 173

http://www.ico.org.uk


Part Q – Impact Damage (Street Furniture)
Section 1 – Cover
In the event of damage to the property insured as specified in the Schedule from impact by any road vehicle or animal 
the insurer will pay to the insured the value of the property at the time of its damage or at the insurer’s option reinstate 
or replace the property or any part of it.

Section 2 – Exclusions

1.	 Excess
The insurer will not be liable for an excess the amount of which is specified in the Schedule. Unless stated 
otherwise the excess will apply individually to each and every loss.

2.	 Terrorism
a)	 This Policy does not cover loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense occurring anywhere in the world caused 

by or contributed to by or arising or resulting from whether directly or indirectly any act falling within sub-clause 
(b) below the use or threat of which is made for the purpose of advancing a political, religious or ideological 
cause and to intimidate or seek to intimidate the public or a section of the public.

b)	 An act falls within this sub-clause b) if it:

i)	 involves serious violence against a person; and/or

ii)	 involves serious damage to property; and/or

iii)	 endangers a person’s life, other than that of the person committing the act; and/or

iv)	 creates a serious risk to health and safety of the public or a section of the public; and/or

v)	 is designed seriously to interfere with or seriously to disrupt an electronic system.

c)	 This Policy does not cover loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense occurring anywhere in the world caused 
by or contributed to by or arising or resulting from whether directly or indirectly any act or acts of any person or 
persons acting on behalf of or in connection with any organisation which carries out activities directed towards 
the overthrowing or influencing by force or violence of any government de jure or de facto.

d)	 In any action or suit or other proceedings where the insurer alleges that by reason of this exclusion cover is not 
provided under this Policy, the burden of proving that cover is provided under this Policy shall be upon the 
insured.

3.	 Northern Ireland
This Policy does not cover loss, destruction, damage, cost or expense in Northern Ireland occasioned by or 
happening through or in consequence directly or indirectly of Civil Commotion.

Section 3 – Special Condition
The sum insured by each item of this Part is declared to be separately subject to average.

For the avoidance of doubt clause c) iii) of general condition 4 will not apply.

105

Page 174



Part R – Terrorism
Section 1 – Special Definitions

Act of Terrorism
any act or acts of persons acting on behalf of or in connection with any organisation which carries out activities directed 
towards the overthrowing or influencing by force or violence of Her Majesty’s Government in the United Kingdom or any 
other government de jure or de facto.

Computer System
a computer or other equipment or component or system or item which processes, stores, transmits or receives Data.

Data 
data of any sort whatever, including without limitation tangible or intangible data, and any programs or software, 
bandwidth, cryptographic keys, databases, documents, domain names or network addresses or anything similar, files, 
interfaces, metadata, platforms, processing capability, storage media, transaction gateways, user credentials, websites, 
or any information whatever.

Denial of Service Attack
any actions or instructions constructed or generated with the ability to damage, interfere with or otherwise affect the 
availability or performance of networks, network services, network connectivity or Computer Systems.

Denial of Service Attacks include but are not limited to the generation of excess traffic into the network addresses, the 
exploitation of system or network weaknesses and the generation of excess or non-genuine traffic between and 
amongst networks and the procurement of such actions or instructions by other Computer Systems.

Hacking
unauthorised access to any Computer System whether the insured’s property or not.

Phishing
any access or attempted access to Data made by means of misrepresentation or deception.

Virus or Similar Mechanism
program code, programming instruction or any set of instructions intentionally constructed with the ability, or purposely 
used, to damage, interfere with, adversely affect, infiltrate or monitor Computer Systems, Data or operations, whether 
involving self-replication or not. 

Virus or Similar Mechanism includes but is not limited to Trojan horses, worms and logic bombs and the exploitation of 
bugs or vulnerabilities in a computer program to damage, interfere with, adversely affect, infiltrate or monitor as above.

Section 2 – Cover
In the event that:

a)	 Her Majesty’s Government or Her Majesty’s Treasury or any successor relevant authority issue a certificate 
certifying an event or occurrence to have been an Act of Terrorism; or

b)	 Her Majesty’s Government or Her Majesty’s Treasury or any successor relevant authority refuse to issue a certificate 
certifying an event or occurrence to have been an Act of Terrorism and that refusal is reversed by the decision of a 
validly constituted tribunal

the insurer will by this Terrorism cover provide cover for accidental loss of or damage to material property (hereafter 
referred to as ‘Damage’) and consequential loss proximately caused by such Act of Terrorism in so far and to the extent 
that such Damage and consequential loss is insured under parts A, B, C, D and L of this policy.

Provided always that:

1)	 the liability of the insurer will not exceed:

A)	 in the whole the total sum insured

B)	 in respect of any item its sum insured

C)	 any other limit of indemnity

stated in the schedule at the time of the loss or damage

2)	 such Damage and consequential loss occurs in England, Wales or Scotland but not the territorial seas adjacent 
thereto as defined by the Territorial Sea Act 1987 and not Northern Ireland, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man

106

Page 175



3)	 in any action, suit or other proceedings where the insurer alleges that any Damage and consequential loss is not 
covered under section 2 the burden of proving that such Damage and consequential loss is covered will fall upon 
the insured

4)	 the insurance effected by section 2 excludes:

A) 	 any losses whatsoever:

a) 	 occasioned by riot, civil commotion, war, invasion, act of foreign enemy, hostilities (whether war be declared or 
not), civil war, rebellion, revolution, insurrection or military or usurped power 

b) 	 directly or indirectly caused by or contributed to by or arising from or occasioned by or resulting from:

i)	 damage to or the destruction of any Computer System; or 

ii)	 any alteration, modification, distortion, erasure or corruption of Data 

in each case whether the property of the insured or not, where such loss is directly or indirectly caused by or 
contributed to by or arising from or occasioned by or resulting from Virus or Similar Mechanism, Hacking, 
Phishing or Denial of Service Attack

Proviso to exclusion 4) A) b)

save that Covered Loss otherwise falling within this exclusion 4) A) b) will not be treated as excluded by 
exclusion 4) A) b) solely to the extent that such Covered Loss:

i)	 results directly (or, solely as regards ii) 3) below, indirectly) from fire, explosion, flood, escape of water from any 
tank, apparatus or pipe (including any sprinkler system), impact of aircraft or any aerial devices or articles 
dropped from them, impact of any sea-going or water-going vessel or of any vehicle whatsoever or of any 
goods or cargo carried in or on such vessel or vehicle, destruction of, damage to or movement of buildings or 
structures, plant or machinery other than any Computer System; and

ii)	 comprises:

1) 	 the cost of reinstatement, replacement or repair in respect of damage to or destruction of Property 
insured; or

2) 	 the amount of business interruption loss suffered directly by the insured by way of loss of or reduction in 
profits, revenue or turnover or increased cost of working as a direct result of either damage to or 
destruction of Property insured or as a direct result of denial, prevention or hindrance of access to or use 
of the Property insured by reason of an Act of Terrorism causing damage to other Property within one 
mile of the Property insured to which access is affected; or

3) 	 the amount of loss caused by the cancellation, abandonment, postponement, interruption, curtailment or 
relocation of an event as a result of damage to or destruction of Property and any additional costs or 
charges reasonably and necessarily paid by the insured to avoid or diminish such loss

and

iii)	 is not proximately caused by an Act of Terrorism in relation to which the relevant organisation or any persons 
acting on behalf of or in connection with that organisation are controlled by, acting on behalf of or part of any 
de jure or de facto government of any nation, country or state.

iv) 	 for the purposes of this Proviso

1)	 the meaning of ‘Property’ shall exclude:

A) 	 any money (including money), currency, electronic cryptographic or virtual currency including Bitcoin or 
anything similar, negotiable or non-negotiable instruments, financial securities or any other financial 
instrument of any sort whatever; and

B) 	 any Data

2)	 ‘Covered Loss’ means all losses arising as a result of damage to or the destruction of Property insured, 
the proximate cause of which is an Act of Terrorism

v)	 notwithstanding the exclusion of Data from Property, to the extent that damage to or destruction of Property 
within the meaning of sub-paragraph ii) above indirectly results from any alteration, modification, distortion, 
erasure or corruption of Data, because the occurrence of one or more of the matters referred to in 
sub‑paragraph i) above results directly or indirectly from any alteration, modification, distortion, erasure or 
corruption of Data, that shall not prevent cost or business interruption loss directly resulting from damage to 
or destruction of such Property and otherwise falling within sub-paragraphs i) and ii) 1) or 2) nor any loss, cost 
or charges otherwise falling within sub‑paragraphs i) and ii) 3) above from being recoverable under section 2 
of this part. 

107

Page 176



In no other circumstances than the previous sentence, however, will any loss or losses directly or indirectly 
caused by, contributed to by or arising from or occasioned by or resulting from any alteration, modification, 
distortion, erasure or corruption of Data be recoverable under section 2 of this part

B)	 any type of property which has been specifically excluded under parts A, C, D and L

C)	  any nuclear installation or nuclear reactor and all fixtures and fittings situated thereon and attached thereto 
and all pipes, wires, cables, drains or other conduits or service media of any description which are affixed or 
connected to or in any way serve such nuclear installation or nuclear reactor

5)	 save for the exclusions listed in 4) above no other exclusions applicable to parts A, B, C, D and L will apply to the 
insurance effected by section 2 of this part. All the other terms, definitions, provisions and conditions of said parts 
including but not limited to any excess or deductible to be borne by the insured will apply to the insurance effected 
by section 2 of this part except for:

A)	 any Long Term Agreement applying to this policy

B)	 any terms which provide for adjustments of premium based upon declarations on expiry or during the Period 
of Insurance 

C)	 any extension of premises to locations outside England and Wales and Scotland.

2.1 Uncertified Terrorism
In the event that Her Majesty’s Government or Her Majesty’s Treasury or any successor relevant authority refuse to 
issue a certificate certifying an event or occurrence to have been an Act of Terrorism and such refusal is upheld by the 
decision of a validly constituted tribunal general exclusion 3 will not apply to parts A, B, C and L in respect of such event 
or occurrence.

Provided always that:

a)	 such damage and/or consequential loss occurs in England, Wales or Scotland but not the territorial seas adjacent 
thereto as defined by the Territorial Seas Act 1987 and not Northern Ireland, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man

b)	 the liability of the insurer will not exceed:

i)	 in the whole the total sum insured

ii)	 in respect of any item its sum insured

iii)	 any other limit of indemnity

stated in the schedule to parts A, B, C, D and L at the time of the said event or occurrence

c)	 save for proviso a) above the terms, definitions, provisions and conditions applicable to parts A, B, C, D and L will 
apply to this clause.

108

Page 177



DAS Head and Registered Office: 
DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited | DAS House | Quay Side | Temple Back | Bristol | BS1 6NH

Registered in England and Wales | Company Number 103274 
Website: www.das.co.uk

DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Company Limited is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FRN202106) and the Prudential Regulation Authority.

Zurich Management Services Limited 
Registered in England and Wales, number 2741053. 
Registered Office: The Zurich Centre, 3000 Parkway, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire PO15 7JZ.

Zurich Municipal is a trading name of Zurich Insurance Company Ltd 
A public limited company incorporated in Switzerland. Registered in the Canton of Zurich, No. CHE-105.833.114, 
registered offices at Mythenquai 2, 8002 Zurich. UK Branch registered in England and Wales no BR000105. 
UK Branch Head Office: The Zurich Centre, 3000 Parkway, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire PO15 7JZ.

Zurich Insurance Company Ltd is authorised and regulated in Switzerland by the Swiss Financial Market 
Supervisory Authority FINMA. Authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Subject to regulation by the 
Financial Conduct Authority and limited regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Details about the 
extent of our regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority are available from us on request. Our firm 
reference number is 959113. 

Communications may be monitored or recorded to improve our service and for security and regulatory 
purposes.

© Copyright – Zurich Insurance Company Ltd 2023. All rights reserved. Reproduction, adaptation or 
translation without prior written permission is prohibited except as allowed under copyright laws.

MLAACG08 (NP720810008) (03/23) CMS

Page 178

http://www.das.co.uk


Saltash Old Cornwall Society 

 
President: Mrs. Sue Hooper, MBE                                    Vice President: Mr. Duncan Matthews 
 
Secretary: Mr. Martin Lister                                           Treasurer: Prebendary Brian Anderson 
 
 
 
 
Monday July 31st 2023 
 
 
Town Clerk 
Mrs. S Burrows 
Saltash Town Council 
Saltash Guildhall 
PL12 6JX 
 
Dear Mrs. Burrows and Councillors, 
May I, on behalf of the Saltash Old Cornwall Society, thank the Saltash Town Council for the 
most generous grant of £300 to purchase a special sound system for use at our regular 
meetings and educational lectures. 
This sound system will be most valuable and will make all the difference during Public and 
Society meetings. 
At our meeting in September, we will be able to demonstrate and use the new sound system 
with great satisfaction, and once again we thank the Saltash Town Council accordingly. 
Please see the receipts attached and pleasingly, we will be returning £20.01 - which was the 
sum of our underspend. 
Thank you most sincerely once again. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
Martin Lister 
Secretary 
Saltash Old Cornwall Society 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 179

Agenda Item 17a



Saltash United Football Club grant update 

 

Background 

Saltash United Football club applied for a grant of £1,000 towards the cost of refurbishment of 

existing male and female toilets to include the creation of unisex disabled toilet facilities. 

The grant was approved at the Policy and Finance Meeting held on 10th May 2023. 

Minute no 18/23/24 

It was proposed by Councillor Bickford, seconded by Councillor P 
Samuels and RESOLVED to award £300.00. 

 
Application 

Number 
Organisation Amount 

Requested 

CC269 Saltash United 
Football Club 

£1,000.00 

 

It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Mortimore and RESOLVED to 
award £1,000 subject to the incorporation of fully accessible disabled toilet. 
 

The project was due to be completed by 1st August 2023. 

 

Update from Saltash United Football Club 

A contractor has not yet been appointed and planning permission might have to be applied for. A 

funding application to the Football Foundation, who are the main grant funder has not yet been 

approved.  

Representatives from the Football Foundation undertook a site visit on 21st August 2023 and the 

outcome is expected in due course. The Grants Officer estimates that even with the Football 

Foundation’s funding the project could still be £1,000 – 1,500 short of target, a GoFundMe has been 

set up and volunteers from the club are working hard to ensure the project comes to fruition.   

Saltash United Football club will keep the Town Council updated of progress and it is anticipated 

that the project will be completed by the end of 2023. 

 

Proposal 

1. To note the report updating the current status of the project and the project deadline is 

extended until 31st December 2023. 

 

End of report 
Receptionist/Mayor’s Secretary. 

Page 180

Agenda Item 17b



 

Street Piano Project - evaluation 

The Festival Street Piano project brought an unwanted piano back into use for the enjoyment 

of people from across Saltash. It was a fun, accessible, sociable and inspiring experience which: 

 Brought members of the community together. 

 Created a visitor attraction on the Waterside. 

 Provided an instrument for amateur pianists and children play. 

What we did 

A suitable piano was selected from several which were offered to the project 

and was moved to a workshop to be renovated and tuned.  

Notes were put through doors of residents local to the Waterside to inform 

them of the project. Positive replies were received (with some warnings about 

likely vandalism) and one resident volunteered to help look after the piano. 

A professional artist (Georgia Nethercott) was recruited. Georgia has specific 

experience in creating art with and for young people through working at Soap Box Children’s Theatre in 

Plymouth.  

A competition was run through four local primary schools for children to create artwork for the piano on the 

theme of ‘under the sea’.  

 

Georgia Nethercott and Lindsay Endean selected the final winning artwork to 

go on the piano – merging artwork from 7 different entries. Winners were 

informed via schools and prizes were given out in school assemblies. 

Painting, weather-proofing and security work on the piano took 6 days in the 

workshop. A decision was made not to use a pubic space offered at the Original 

Factory Shop because the varnish being used was too smelly for the shop. 

On 9 June the finished piano was moved into position on the waterside and an 

‘opening’ event was held with local musician/composer Judy Whitlock performing on 

the piano. This event was featured on the front cover of the Saltash & Liskeard Voice 

Newspaper.  

All 203 entries for the artwork competition were printed in two folders installed in a 

waterproof display unit on the piano for the public to see.  

The piano was then left in position and was unlocked at 9am and locked at 9pm to 

avoid noise problems for neighbours. The piano was also covered on Friday and 

Saturday nights to protect from vandalism.  

The location and purpose of the piano was advertised through Festival leaflets (one 

delivered to every home in PL12) and on social media. 

Page 181

Agenda Item 17c



 

Requests were made by the public, local businesses and the Saltash Regatta 

committee to keep the piano on the Waterside beyond the end of the Festival. 

On 26 June the piano was moved to a new home outside Livewire. 

 

Numbers  

Piano art competition entries 203 

Piano launch event 35 

Pop-up Piano event 152 

Estimated use of piano over two weeks of Festival  
(based on observing use of piano for 1-hour periods 
on 4 different days = c.30 people per day playing or 
actively listening) 

420 

 810 

 

Digital reach 

A number of videos of performances were shared on social media, generating extensive 

online reach for the project. Two examples are: 

Bohemian Rhapsody performance c.10,000 views and counting 

We ♥ the Festival piano film 1,840+ views  

 

Feedback 

Comments collected before the piano was installed:  

“Good luck  – nice idea let’s see how long it lasts” 

“That will get vandalised – everything gets vandalised down here” 

 

Comments collected during the project (some left in a feedback notebook 

left on the piano): 

“We have loved this piano – such a positive thing for the area” 

“The town needs more projects like this”  

“Such a beautiful instrument” 

“My son asks to come down here every day to play the piano” 

“It was such a pleasure sitting in the evening sun enjoying a pint by the 

river when the piano started to ‘play’” 

“A group of young adults from Livewire gathered around and filled the 

evening air with song and music. It was lovely” 

“Mary Ferguson from Canada played on your piano. So appreciated the opportunity to tickle the ivories in this 

beautiful environment – thank you” 

“I had a lovely time playing the piano and having a drink with the family” 

“A jogger just stopped and taught my daughter to play baby shark” 

“We enjoyed listening and watching our grandchildren play the piano” 

Page 182



 

“It’s really cool and I’m glad to see little things like this improving 

Saltash” 

“Events like this really bring the community together” 

“I played and everyone had a smile on their faces” 

“My son learnt to play from Youtube. We only have a keyboard at home 

and he is loving playing a real piano” 

“A stranger taught me how to play along with her, it was lovely. Just what 

I needed thank you” 

In addition to the above comments the Festival also received a very personal thank you note from a number of 

young people at Livewire who held a wake at the piano, for a friend who sadly passed away a few weeks before 

the piano was installed. 

 

Budget  

Expenditure 

 Estimated Actual 

Delivery and moving £200 £214 

Project insurance £300 £0 * 

Painting £500 £484 

Weather and security £100 £386 ** 

Tuning £125 £163 

 £1225.00 £1250.00 
 

Income 

Saltash Town Council Grant £900 £900 

Festival income from tickets / FEAST etc £325 £350 

 £1225.00 £1250.00 
*The Festival insurer was happy to cover the cost of the piano at no extra cost. 

** Additional cost incurred by installing acrylic folding cover. 

 

Conclusion 

This project was launched with a certain amount of trepidation due to so 

many unknown factors and risks. Feedback from the town suggested that 

while people appreciated the Festival making the effort and they wanted 

it to succeed – they generally were expecting the piano to not to survive 

the two weeks proposed.  

The results of the project definitively proved that it is possible to install a fragile item  

like a piano on the waterside and for it not only withstand rain and wind, but it to also be valued and used by 

people from across the community. The piano was a starting point for conversations, entertainment, 

interactions between strangers and creating positive opinions of the area.  

It was observed that the demographic most likely to be accused of vandalism  

(young boys) were also some of the most enthusiastic users of the piano. Other players ranged from toddlers 

enjoying hitting few notes with parents or grandparents, to people who arrived with folders of music to 

perform. 

The design of the folding acrylic cover has been sent back to project advisors at Streetpiano.com for them to 

add to future advice for other street pianos. 

The piano has now been adopted by Livewire and will stay on the Waterside for as long as 

it survives. Hopefully it will continue to bring pleasure to hundreds of people over the 

summer. 

Page 183



 

      

Page 184



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

Evaluation 2023 
Saltash Songs & Shanties Festival was launched in 2022 and was a 3-day event. It 
was originally intended to be a one-off project that was part of a ‘Covid-recovery’ 
programme for Cornwall and was run by volunteers.  

The response to the 2022 Festival from audiences, venues and artists was overwhelmingly 
positive and there was a great enthusiasm in the town for the event to be repeated.   

Saltash Songs & Shanties Festival 2023 took place 18-24 June with 18 events in 10 historic and 
community venues and spaces around central Saltash. The music celebrates the people, heritage and 
environment of South East Cornwall and the Tamar Valley and features both superb professional 
musicians and fantastic local musicians from the region’s rich amateur music scene. Events included 
concerts and workshops featuring a strong folk music programme, complimented by classical, jazz and 
early music events. The Festival also installed a community street piano which was decorated by local 
school children.  

 

Objectives 

The 2023 Festival aimed to build on the 2022 event to establish an annual Festival that is:  

• Renowned for its excellent and original music programme. 
• Highly sociable, educational, entertaining and a source of local pride. 

The Festival aims to achieve this by: 

• Employing professional artists who have links to, or perform work that reflects the local 
environment, culture and heritage. 

• Establishing an inspiring and high-profile platform to showcase the town’s wealth of amateur 
music groups. 

• Weaving workshops and ‘joining in’ events into the programme to create new music, inspired by 
and made with local people. 

• Unleashing the latent potential of the town’s many historic venues, bringing them into use as 
spaces for live arts events. 

 

The Festival was funded by: 

 

The Festival also received help-in-kind support from:  

         

L-R: Femmes de la Mer at Saltash Social Club, Pop-Up Piano on the Waterside, Shanty workshop at Isambard House. 

Page 185



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

 

 

 

What we did:  
We held 18 public events which included: 
3 workshops 
1 film 
14 concerts 
Plus 1 children’s art activity. 

These were held in partnership with 10 venues in Saltash:

Church of St Nicholas & Faith 
Isambard House (Saltash Station) 
Livewire Youth Music 
Mary Newman’s Cottage 
Saltash Library 

Saltash Social Club 
Saltash Swimming Pool 
The Railway 
The Two Bridges 
The Union Inn

We also used two outdoor public spaces: 
The Waterside 
Victoria Gardens 
 

These events featured a total of 111 performers including: 
53 paid musicians from Cornwall and Devon. 
62 amateur musicians. 
1 professional visual artist. 

The Festival employed 2 professional staff. 
The venues employed 14 professional staff. 

The events involved 9 volunteers working directly with the Festival and 8 volunteers working at venues. 

 

Who came to the Festival? 

1,766 audience and participants attended in 2023 (a 105% increase on 2022): 

769 tickets sold to audience members. 
715 attended free events (no booking required). 
282 took part in an activity or workshop. 

Ticket prices ranged from free to £7. 

71% of tickets were full standard price. 
23% of tickets were ‘Pay-what-you-can’ concessions (minimum £1) 
6% of tickets were ‘Pay extra to support live arts in Saltash’. 

 

L-R: Sirinu at St Nicholas & St Faith Church, Lyndon Forster at Saltash Swimming Pool, Temps Clar Ensemble at Mary Newman’s Cottage 

“Marvellous 
entertainment in a 
wonderful setting on a 
beautiful day. Perfect.” 

 
 

“Genuinely interesting 
event that could only 
happen at this festival.” 

 

 
 

“Lovely introduction to 
Cornish culture.” 

 

 
 

Page 186



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

Saltash 66%

Wider Devon/Cornwall 17%

Plymouth 15%

Locations outside of
Devon/Cornwall 4%

Where did the audience come from?  
We collected postcode data for ticketed events: 

 

 

  

 

 

 

How did they find out about the Festival? 

31%  Leaflet  
24%  Word of Mouth  
12%  Social Media  
7%  Venues 
6%  Performer 

5%  Press 
5%  Poster 
4%  Website/online events listing 
4%  Email 
1%  Through club/society

Online reach:  

www.songsandshanties.co.uk visits 3,200 (average engagement time 1m07s) 

Facebook page reach 61,393 
Facebook engagement 1,600 
Facebook page visits 5,737 

Instagram page reach 343 
Instagram page visits 57 

The Festival was also promoted through the online channels of Great Western Railway, Arts Council 
England, FEAST, Destination Plymouth, Plymouth Culture and Creative Kernow – creating a total 
estimated online reach of over 1,000,000 people. 

 

What did everyone think of the Festival? 
The following data is from 117 feedback forms returned by audience members.  
100% felt that the quality of the event was Good or Excellent (81% Excellent)  
100% felt that their experience of the event was Good or Excellent (82% Excellent) 

The reasons the audience attended: 

85%  Entertainment and enjoyment 
47% Interesting content 
29%  To socialise and meet people 

27% To try something new 
7%  To learn a new skill 
9%  Other reasons 

L-R: Saltash Town Band at Isambard House, Pop-Up Piano on the Waterside, audiences at St Nicholas & St Faith Church. Page 187



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

77% said that the Festival was their main reason to visit Saltash that day.  

Of this group, 61% (c.700 people) said that they also visited a local business. 
69% visited a café, restaurant or pub 
31% visited a shop or another business 

37% spent <=£15 
42% spent £16-£25 
13% spent £31-£50 
3% spent £51-£100 
5% spent £100-£200 (this included two visiting boats who paid mooring fees) 

The estimated income to the local economy from additional spending by audiences is £17k-£22k. 

 

100% of responders said they would like to attend more arts events in Saltash. 

90% Music 
53% Theatre 
50% Exhibitions 
47% Film 

41% Comedy 
37% Dance 
23% Spoken Word 

 

A selection of audience comments: 

Well organised, welcoming, interesting and 
unusual for this town. 
We've come over from Plymouth. Great sense 
of community here! 
Genuinely interesting event that could only 
happen at this festival. 
I learned something today. 
Excellent quality in the performance. 
Excellent singing and entertainment. 
Great music. Very well organised. 
Beautiful singing. Friendly atmosphere and 
smoothly organised. 
Good venue and great group. 
Lovely music and very friendly. An 
amazing session for children. 

Pitched perfectly. My 16 month old enjoyed 
it as much as her 76 year old Grandad. 
Lovely introduction to Cornish culture. 
Everything has been great - performers are 
really good. 
This musical collection gives Saltash a 
distinct identity, rather than as an adjunct 
of Plymouth. 
Marvellous entertainment in a wonderful 
setting on a beautiful day. Perfect. 
Mary Newman's in the sun was a fabulous 
venue. 
Wonderful well attended event. 

Lovely atmosphere. 

L-R: Audiences at Saltash Social Club, Saltash Town Band in Victoria Gardens, Girls Rock workshop at Livewire 

Page 188



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

It was relaxing, unusual, fun, musically 
eye-opening and a great choice alongside 
water. 

Very interesting sound and lovely music 

Very relaxing and a unique experience. 

It was the most hypnotic sound I have ever 
heard and so relaxing. 

All events excellent in their different ways. 

Content was excellent for all events. 

Lovely people with a nice range of different 
pieces. 

Really lovely to see such a great range of 
performers and some super talented people. 

Great local event, reasonable price, great 
venue, talented performers. 

Great bands, lovely venue, amazing staff! 

Was just fab to be able to come and listen to 
people of all ages playing the piano in a 
beautiful setting.  

Enjoyable and everyone joined in. 

Hope to come to more next year. 

It was a great mix of variety and cross 
generational. 

The atmosphere was very friendly and great 
music scene. Very varied. 

Excellent quality of performances and 
evident love of Cornwall. 

Great singers and musicians in lovely 
venues. 

Carnival atmosphere - good music 

 

Artist Comments 

I loved playing for you all, such a lovely gig. Lyndon Forster 

From all of us a big thank you for inviting us to that wonderful place and thanks for the 
opportunity. It was a pleasure to meet so many beautiful people today. Temps Clar Ensemble 
 
Well, what a brilliant weekend!  Such lovely feedback from so many people, a huge well done to 
you for organising! Femmes de la Mer 

 
I just wanted to take the opportunity to thank you for having myself, Amber and Oli onboard for 
this project. We really enjoyed capturing the content and we're very grateful to have had the 
chance to lend our skills. Mostly Film Productions 

We really enjoyed the gig and the audience were fantastic! We do hope the festival continues to 
grow, it seems such a wonderful thing to be happening so close to home. Windjammer 

This festival is bringing some fantastic culture to Saltash – thank you. Barrett’s Privateers 

L-R: Lyndon Forster at Saltash Swimming Pool, Girls Rock workshop at Livewire Youth Music, Pop-Up Piano on the Waterside. 
Page 189



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

Did we meet our objectives? 

Employing professional artists who have links to, or perform work that reflects the local environment, 
culture and heritage. 
Yes: 

- All the artists either had a personal local link or performed music inspired by the region. 
- We exceeded the targets set with funders for the number of musicians performing at the 

Festival. 
- A number of artists had written or arranged music especially for the Festival. 
- 77% of the events featured music by living composers. 

Establishing an inspiring and high-profile platform to showcase the town’s amateur music groups. 
Yes:  

- Four events featured performances by local amateur musicians and music groups including 
Saltash Town Band, members of Plymouth Symphony Orchestra and musicians from Livewire 
Youth Music. 

- Conversations were also started/continued with a number of other groups about performing in 
future years. 
 

Weaving workshops and ‘joining in’ events into the programme to create new music, inspired by and 
made with local people. 
Yes:  

- Three workshop events were held and several other events incorporated opportunities to join in 
with the performance. 

- A number of other events featured music that had been specifically written for the Festival 
performance. 

 
Unleashing the latent potential of the town’s many historic venues, bringing them into use as spaces 
for live arts events. 
Yes: 

- The Festival presented music in 10 venues of which 8 are historic, listed or otherwise 
architecturally significant buildings.  

- 6 of the spaces currently have no regular (or a very limited programme of) live music events. 
- Artists reported that they had “no idea” these venues were in Saltash before this event. 

 

Other achievements 

- We exceeded the target audience and participation figure by 16%. 
- We signed up to support the Keychange Pledge for music and 70% of the professional 

performers were female. 
- 4 local primary schools encouraged their pupils to get involved with the piano-design 

competition, including several setting it as a classroom art activity. 
- The Festival piano was a huge hit and definitively disproved local theories that “everything on 

the Waterside gets vandalised by local boys”. One video of a (local young male) pianist has been 

L-R: Barrett’s Privateers at St Nicholas & St Faith Church, Rue at Livewire Youth Music, Blow Your Own Trumpet workshop at Isambard House. 

Page 190



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

viewed 10,000+ times – and still counting. The piano will now be installed on the Waterside for 
the rest of the summer. 

- Great Western Railway supported the Festival by sharing our trailer film with 875,745 social 
media followers – significantly raising the profile of the Festival. 

- We have launched a Festival Patron Scheme and now have two patrons. 
- We launched Salt Arts CIC as an umbrella organisation to manage the Festival. 
- Income from ticket sales and business help-in-kind made up 17% of the total budget – an 

increase from 14% in 2022. 

Challenges 

Aging population of amateur musicians: 
Working with some local amateur music groups was challenging due to reliance on volunteers and 
elderly participants. One group had to pull out due to ill health of members and another closed during 
the programming process. 

Scheduling: 
Avoiding clashes with other events was much more challenging this year. This resulted in us spreading 
over two weekends in order avoid clashes with Falmouth Shanty Weekend and Glastonbury Festival 
which both made it difficult to programme specific local artists.  Clashing with armed forces day will also 
be avoided in the future. 

Coordinating with commercial establishments: 
Coordinating with local pubs for the ‘Tunes in the Town’ night was difficult because of changing 
management at the pubs. Management at several venues were initially suspicious of the whole proposal 
– feeling sure that they were going to be charged money somewhere in the project. While some then 
became very enthusiastic about the idea, it was then difficult to pin down commitment or obtain details 
of musicians who had been booked.  

Audience development: 
The Festival faced a two-layered audience-development challenge of (1) launching a new event in (2) a 
town where there is currently very little live arts programming. There are no established mailing lists, 
events communications, box office or distribution services and residents are not in the habit of looking 
for arts events communications. Reaching a wide range of local residents required a Royal Mail leaflet-
drop to every household, extensive social media communications, free events and low ticket price 
options.  

Venue capabilities: 
Knowledge amongst venue staff of the technical specification of venues for hosting live events is limited. 
We worked with venues to create floor and seating plans and brought in production equipment.  

 

 

 

L-R: Windjammer at Saltash Social Club, Saltash Town Band in Victoria Gardens, Temps Clar Ensemble at Mary Newman’s Cottage. 

Page 191



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

Key Learning 

All the venues worked well for the programmed events and audiences were keen to visit them again in 
the future. 

We are building a clearer picture of the capacities, accessibility and capabilities of venues across the 
town – including identifying a new venue with a grand piano which we will definitely aim to use in the 
future. 

Much earlier scheduling is required to avoid clashes and book first-choice artists. 

A number of audience members wanted to also eat locally and found it difficult to find out which 
bars/cafes were open – particularly on Sunday.  

Feedback suggests that there is significant demand for year-round live arts events in Saltash. 

Increasing numbers of audience members (particularly tourists) require information about whether they 
can bring dogs to events. 

While there is enthusiasm about the idea of family workshops – it is difficult to schedule these. School 
nights definitely don’t work for family events. 

The name of the Festival is causing confusion with new attendees – many expecting a traditional ‘shanty 
festival’ rather than a more eclectic regional music festival. 

 

Conclusion 

The Festival is now becoming established in Saltash, with a growing reputation for quality events and an 
enthusiastic core audience. We are also building a reputation within the local musical community for 
providing well-supported events and great audiences.  

A clearer picture is forming of the types of events that will cover their costs through ticket sales, the 
areas of programming for which an audience can be developed over time and some events which need 
reconsidering in future years. This will help to shape and refine the programme in the future to build 
audience attendance, while also developing the musical and cultural scene in the region. 

Overall, this year’s Festival exceed expectations and we feel that it has the potential to become a 
significant and valuable cultural event for the region and for the South West. 

 

  

Page 192



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

Saltash Songs & Shanties Festival is produced by Salt Arts CIC, who work 
with artists, performers, venues and organisations to make creative 
productions in the South West. 

From tiny seeds of ideas to full-blown ambitious productions reaching 
thousands of people – if it sparks the imagination we will nurture, support 
and shape to bring that vision to life. www.saltarts.org 

 

All photos with thanks to Mostly Film Productions. 

 

 

Appendix 1: Budget 

Income 

Funders    £20,200  
Tickets    £3,558 
Refreshments   £169 

Help-in-kind   £500 

Total    £24,427 

 

Expenditure 

Artist fees & expenses  £9,050 
Marketing   £6,733  
Management/Producing  £6,021 
Admin & insurance  £783 
Venue hire   £263 
Concert costs   £1,077 

Help-in-kind   £500 

Total    £24,427 

 

  

Page 193



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

Appendix 2: comparing 2022 and 2023 

 2022 2023 
Number of events held 8 18 +125% 
Workshops 1 3 
Performances with participation 2 0 
Concerts 5 14 
Film 0 1 
Children’s art activity 0 1 

 

Venues: 
Venues used 6 10 +200% 
Public spaces used 0 2 

 

Performers/artists: 
Total number of performers 34 111 +226% 
Professional musicians from Devon/Cornwall 2 26 
Professional musicians with links to Saltash 4 4 
Local amateur musicians 29 81 
Visual artists 0 1 

 

Staff: 
Festival paid staff 0 2 
Festival volunteers 7 9 
Venue staff 0 14 
Venue volunteers 0 8 

 

Attendance: 
Tickets sold 376 769 +105% 
Attendance at free events 0 715 
Participation in workshops/activities 30 282 

 

Tickets: 
Standard price tickets sold 67% 71% 
Pay extra tickets 11% 6% 
Pay what you can tickets 22% 23% 

 

Geography of audience for ticketed activities: 
Audience from Saltash 66% 66% 
Audience from Plymouth 21% 15% 
Audience from wider Devon/Cornwall 11% 17% 
Audience from locations outside of 
Devon/Cornwall 

4% 4% 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 194



  
www.songsandshanties.co.uk 

Appendix 3: full list of events and venues from 2023 

Sunday 18 June, 3pm 
Livewire Youth Music 
Girls Rock workshop 
The Eyelids, a 4 piece all female, double-bass 
driven, garage rock band from Cornwall, run a 
fun workshop in all things rock. 

Sunday 18 June, 7pm 
Livewire Youth Music 
The Eyelids + Rue + The Other Woman 
A night celebrating Cornish women who rock. 

Wednesday 21 June, 6.30pm 
Isambard House 
Blow Your Own Trumpet 
Saltash Town Band invite you to have a go on 
their brass instruments. 

Wednesday 21 June, 8pm 
Isambard House 
Film: Son of Cornwall 
The moving biopic of John Treleaven, who left 
his home in Cornwall to become an 
international opera star. 

Thursday 22 June, 7pm 
Saltash Swimming Pool 
Water Music 
Take a relaxing dip accompanied by lovely 
handpan music combining West African 
technique with Celtic rhythms. 

Friday 23 June, 10.15 & 11.15am 
Saltash Library 
Tipil: Music for little people 
Family band Tipil perform a session of Cornish 
traditional and contemporary tunes, with 
opportunities for mini-musicians to sing, dance 
and join in. 

Friday 23 June, 7.30pm 
Isambard House 
Sea Shanty Workshop 
Learn traditional and contemporary sea 
shanties. 

Saturday 24 June, 11am & 12.15pm 
Mary Newman’s Cottage 
Temps Clar Ensemble 
Music from medieval and renaissance Europe 
performed in full period costume. 

Saturday 24 June, 1.30pm 
Church of St Nicholas & St Faith 
Barrett’s Privateers 
Local shanty stars who blend male and female 
voices in lively and hugely entertaining 
performances. 

Saturday 24 June, 3pm 
Victoria Gardens 
Saltash Town Band 
The award-winning Saltash Town Band 
entertain with classics, jazz and contemporary 
favourites. 

Saturday 24 June, 6pm 
Church of St Nicholas & St Faith 
Sirinu’s Songs for Saltash 
A concert of beautiful ballads and tunes of the 
Tamar Valley and moors of East Cornwall, 
written in the 1960s and 70s and celebrating 
local stories, landmarks and characters. 

Saturday 24 June, 8pm 
Church of St Nicholas & St Faith 
Music for the Night Sky 
Abbey Brass Quintet are joined by Cornish 
musicians to perform music inspired by the 
night sky and written by Judy Whitlock.  

Sunday 25 June, 3pm 
Saltash Waterfront 
Pop-Up Piano Session 
Local pianists take centre stage with the 
Festival’s street piano. 

Sunday 25 June, 6pm 
Saltash Social Club 
Femmes de la Mer 
A 15 strong group of women+, hailing from 
across Cornwall who share stories of 
inspirational Cornish women and are 
passionate about singing traditional shanties 
and folk songs of the sea. 

Sunday 25 June, 7.30pm 
Saltash Social Club 
Windjammer 
An up-and-coming trio who blend self-penned 
songs and instrumentals with original versions 
of music drawn from the best traditions of 
British folk. 

Page 195



Extraordinary Services Committee held on 24th August 2023 

RECOMMENDATION 1:  

65/23/24 TO RECEIVE A DRAFT ALLOTMENT POLICY AND    

  CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED    

  EXPENDITURE. 

  It was proposed by Councillor Peggs, seconded by Councillor  

  Bickford and resolved to RECOMMEND to the next Policy and  

  Finance Committee the Draft Allotment Policy as attached. 

Page 196

Agenda Item 18



 

0 
DRAFT 08/2023 

 

  

Policy Group: General 

Allotments Policy 

RESPONSIBLE COMMITTEE: SERVICES 

This is a policy/procedure document of Saltash 

Town Council to be followed by both Council 

Members and Employees. 

Page 197



 

1 
DRAFT 08/2023 

Current Document Status 

Version 1 DRAFT Approved by  

Date  Date  

Responsible 
Officer 

 Minute no.  

Next review date As required 

 

Version History 

Date Version 
Author/ 
editor 

Committee/ 
date 

Minute no. Notes 

08/2023 1 AJT   DRAFT 

      

      

 

 

Document Retention Period 

Until superseded 

 

 

  

Page 198



 

2 
DRAFT 08/2023 

Contents 
1. Introduction and Scope ........................................................................................ 3 

2. Eligibility ............................................................................................................... 3 

3. Allocation of Plots ................................................................................................ 3 

4. Allotment Tenant Responsibilities ........................................................................ 3 

Change of Contact Details ...................................................................................... 4 

Charges .................................................................................................................. 4 

Allotment plot .......................................................................................................... 4 

Conduct .................................................................................................................. 4 

Use of Chemical Sprays and Fertilisers .................................................................. 4 

Subletting ................................................................................................................ 5 

Water ...................................................................................................................... 5 

Parking ................................................................................................................... 5 

5. Buildings and Structures ...................................................................................... 5 

6. Town Council Responsibilities ............................................................................. 5 

Site Management.................................................................................................... 5 

7. Termination of Allotment Tenancy Agreements ................................................... 6 

Cancellation by the Tenant ..................................................................................... 6 

Cancellation by the Town Council:.......................................................................... 6 

Enforcement ........................................................................................................... 6 

Power to Evict ......................................................................................................... 6 

Non payment of charges ......................................................................................... 6 

Breach of residential conditions .............................................................................. 6 

Death of a Tenant ................................................................................................... 7 

Return of land ......................................................................................................... 7 

8. Complaints ........................................................................................................... 7 

9. Personal Data ...................................................................................................... 7 

Appendix 1: Definitions ............................................................................................... 8 

Appendix 2: Relevant Legislation ............................................................................... 9 

Small Holdings and Allotments Act 1908 ................................................................ 9 

Land Settlement Facilities Act 1919 ........................................................................ 9 

Allotments Act 1922 ................................................................................................ 9 

Allotments Act 1925 ................................................................................................ 9 

Allotments Act 1950 ................................................................................................ 9 

Other legislation: ................................................................................................... 10 

Page 199



 

3 
DRAFT 08/2023 

 

Saltash Town Council 

Allotments Policy 

Saltash Town Council reserves the right to change the Allotments Policy, rules and 

procedures from time to time. Any changes will be notified to the tenants in advance 

and tenants will be expected to comply with any rule changes following the 

consultation and notification process.  

1. Introduction and Scope 
Allotments and community gardens are a great way to grow your own food and enjoy 

the fresh air whilst learning about cultivation, observing wildlife and improving mental 

health and wellbeing.  

Saltash Town Council provides three allotments sites in the town, Fairmead Road, 

Grenfell Avenue and Churchtown. Plots are allocated when they become vacant, 

subject to an application process to confirm eligibility and signature of a Tenancy 

Agreement. The Town Council operates a waiting list for all sites. (See allocation of 

plots below.) 

2. Eligibility 
Applicants for tenancy of an allotment must be over the age of 18 and live within the 

Saltash Town Boundary. Where a tenant moves outside of the Town boundary, they 

will be required to end their tenancy.  

The Town Council operates a waiting list for allotments. Where a resident is added to 

the waiting list it is their responsibility to ensure that they notify the Town Council of 

any change to their contact details. 

3. Allocation of Plots 
When a plot becomes vacant the person at the top of the waiting list will be offered the 

plot in writing, usually by email. The offer should be accepted in writing within 10 

working days. Where there is no response the person will be removed from the waiting 

list and the plot offered to the next person on the list.  

A tenant may only start work on a plot on completion of all required paperwork and 

payment of tenancy fees. Fees may be reduced proportionally at the discretion of the 

Town Council where a plot is allocated part way through the year.  

All allotment tenants are required to provide proof of insurance at the start of the 

tenancy agreement and annually at renewal. The Town Council accepts no liability for 

any loss, damage or injury to Tenants, or any other person or their belongings 

occurring on allotment sites. 

4. Allotment Tenant Responsibilities 
When signing the Tenancy Agreement, the Tenant agrees to the terms laid out in the 

agreement. 

Page 200



 

4 
DRAFT 08/2023 

Change of Contact Details 

The Tenant should immediately notify the Town Council in writing of any change in 

contact details. 

Charges 

A deposit is required from all new Allotment Tenants at the commencement of tenancy, 

repayable on termination of the tenancy providing that the allotment plot is left in an 

acceptable condition.  

Charges are reviewed annually by the Town Council as part of the budget setting 

process. Tenants are given twelve months’ notice in writing of any change to charges.  

Tenants will be invoiced annually and fees should be paid in full by 1st April each year 

to retain the tenancy of the allotment.  

Water is provided at two allotment sites. Where water is provided there is an additional 

annual charge to Allotment Tenants on those sites. 

Allotment plot 

The allotment should be maintained in a good state of cultivation and kept free from 

weeds. Pathways should be kept clear. New tenants will be permitted adequate time 

to bring a plot to an acceptable level of cultivation. 

The land is not to be used for any purpose but as allotment gardens cultivating fruit, 

vegetables, herbs and flowers for use and consumption by the Tenant and their family. 

Selling or undertaking of a business in relation to the cultivation on the allotment plot 

is not allowed. Surrounding trees and hedges may not be trimmed by Tenants. Any 

issues of overhanging should be reported to the Town Council. 

The following are prohibited on allotment sites at any time: 

a. Dogs, poultry or livestock (as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance) 
b. Alcohol and/or drugs 
c. Bonfires 
d. Barbed wire 
e. Taking/removal of any mineral/ gravel/ sand/earth or clay. 

 

Conduct 

Tenants should not take, remove or borrow crops, equipment or supplies that belong 

to other Tenants without the prior consent of the owner.  

Tenants should not cause or permit any nuisance or annoyance to any other Tenant 

or obstruct or encroach onto other plots or paths. Disputes between Tenants should 

be referred to the Town Council to investigate. The decision of the Town Council will 

be final and binding.  

Use of Chemical Sprays and Fertilisers 

The Town Council encourages chemical free, organic cultivation methods. However, 

where Tenants use pesticides or fertilisers on their plot they must: 

a. Only use domestic grade pesticides; 

Page 201



 

5 
DRAFT 08/2023 

b. Take all reasonable care to ensure that other plots, pathways, hedges and trees 

are not adversely affected; 

c. Select and use pesticides so that there is minimal risk to members of the public, 

birds and other wildlife, with the exception of vermin or pests; 

d. Comply at all times with current pesticide regulations. Tenants are advised to 

refer to the Health and Safety Executive database to ensure that specific 

products may be lawfully used. 

Storage of pesticides and other potentially toxic chemicals on allotment plots or 

in sheds is not permitted. 

Subletting 

Subletting of the plot is not permitted without the written permission of the Town 

Council. 

Water 

Where water is provided on site it is solely for the use of watering crops. Attachment 

to the water points for automatic continuous watering, sprinklers or drip feed systems 

is not permitted. Tenants should ensure that water is not left running unattended. 

Parking 

Where a parking facility is provided, it should be used. Parking in prohibited areas 

may lead to the termination of the Tenancy Agreement by the Town Council. 

5. Buildings and Structures 
No building or structure may be erected on the allotment without the written consent 

of the Town Council. Buildings/structures must conform to any relevant planning 

conditions laid out by Cornwall Council and specifications of conformity as determined 

by the Town Council. 

All buildings erected with the consent of the Town Council must be maintained in a 

good state of repair and should only be used in connection with the use and 

management of the allotment plot. Residential use or sleeping is not permitted 

When a tenancy agreement is terminated, the Tenant will be required to remove all 

buildings and structures from the plot before it is reallocated.  

6. Town Council Responsibilities 
The Town Council will promote best practice on all allotment sites and encourage 

sustainable environmental management.  

Site Management 

The Town Council will seek to ensure the sites are accessible and usable for all 

allotment tenants. 

The Town Council will undertake regular site inspections and reserves the right to 

access any plot to undertake inspections. Weekly site inspections will include checking 

the condition of paths, gates, site boundaries and identify any other issues that need 

resolving. 

Page 202



 

6 
DRAFT 08/2023 

Plots will be inspected at regular intervals to ensure they are in active use and being 

cultivated.  

Allotment tenants should report any site problems to the Town Council .  

7. Termination of Allotment Tenancy Agreements 

Cancellation by the Tenant 

Tenants wishing to cancel their Tenancy Agreement should do so in writing to the 

Town Council. The Town Council will not refund any rent paid in that year where the 

cancellation is at the request of the tenant.  

Cancellation by the Town Council:  

The Town Council has the right to terminate the tenancy agreement where the Tenant 

is in breach of the allotment rules as agreed by the Tenant when signing the Tenancy 

Agreement. 

Enforcement 

The following enforcement procedure will apply: 

1. Informal warning – Tenants who fail to comply with their tenancy agreement will 

be contacted in writing and requested to address the issues of non-compliance 

within one calendar month. 

2. Formal warning – Tenants who fail to respond to an informal warning within one 

calendar month will be issued with a formal written warning. 

3. Notice to quit – Tenants who fail to respond to a formal warning within one 

calendar month will be given notice to quit.  

4. Where a Tenant has been given notice to quit and fails to vacate the allotment, 

the Town Council is entitled to take possession of the plot and exclude the 

Tenant. 

Power to Evict 

In the event of a serious breach of the Tenancy Agreement or where the Tenant 

becomes bankrupt or compounds with their creditors, the Town Council reserves the 

right to serve immediate notice to quit.  

Non payment of charges 

The Council reserves the right to terminate the Tenancy Agreement giving one 

month’s written notice to quit where the allotment rent is in arrears for 40 days or more.  

Breach of residential conditions 

If it appears to the Town Council that the Tenant, not less than three months after the 

commencement of the tenancy, is resident more than one mile outside of the Town 

Boundary, the Town Council may give the Tenant a month’s written notice terminating 

the Tenancy. 1 

                                            
1 s.30(2), 1908 Act as amended by s.23, 1922 Act 

Page 203



 

7 
DRAFT 08/2023 

Death of a Tenant 

The tenancy of the allotment shall terminate upon the death of the tenant. Next of kin 

will be given adequate time to remove personal possessions and produce from the 

plot. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the tenancy will terminate two months after 

the death of the tenant.  

The plot will be returned to the possession of the Town Council in the interim period 

until a new tenant is assigned. 

Return of land  

Where the land being used as Allotment Gardens is required for providing new 

services, the Town Council shall cancel Tenancy Agreements. In such circumstances 

the Town Council shall give Tenants 12 months written Notice to Quit expiring on or 

before 6 April or on or after 29 September in any year.2 

8. Complaints 
All complaints should directed to the Town Clerk. The Town Council Complaints 

Procedure can be found on the Town Council website.  

9. Personal Data 
Allotment Tenants and residents who supply their personal data to be added to the 

Allotment Waiting List should refer to the Privacy Notice on the Town Council website 

for details on how we use your data. 

  

                                            
2 s.1(1)(a), 1922 Act as amended by s.1,1950 Act 

Page 204



 

8 
DRAFT 08/2023 

Appendix 1: Definitions 
 

Saltash Town Council:  

 includes any committee of the Town Council and/or any Officer of the Town Council 

appointed under the Allotments Acts 1908 and 1950. 

Allotment garden: 

a piece of land not exceeding 250 square metres although there is no set standard 

size.  

Allotment Tenant: 

 a person over the age of 18 who resides within the Saltash Town boundary and has 

entered into a Tenancy Agreement for an allotment on one of the Town Council sites. 

Allotment Tenancy Agreement:   

the legal document signed by the Tenant and Saltash Town Council when renting an 

allotment.  

Allotment Rent: 

 the annual charge for renting an allotment from the Town Council. 

Cultivation: 

actively growing plants or with a plot ready to accept crops during the main growing 

season on not less than 50% of the total plot area. 

Non-cultivation Notice: 

 a formal notice issued by the Town Council notifying the Tenant of the requirement to 

commence cultivation of face further action that might lead to the termination of the 

Allotment Tenancy Agreement. 

  

Page 205



 

9 
DRAFT 08/2023 

Appendix 2: Relevant Legislation 
The Legislation relating to allotments  

Small Holdings and Allotments Act 1908 

Consolidated all previous legislation and laid down basis for all subsequent legislation. 

Placed a duty on local authorities to provided sufficient allotments, according to 

demand.  

Made a provision for local authorities to purchase compulsory land to provide 

allotments. Established the framework for the modern allotments system. 

Land Settlement Facilities Act 1919 

This Act was mainly to assist returning servicemen and opened up allotments to all, 

not just ‘the labouring population’. Made metropolitan borough councils allotment 

authorities for the first time. 

Allotments Act 1922 

This Act was established to provide allotment tenants with some security of tenure. It 

also provided tenants with greater compensation at the termination of their tenancy 

and limited the size of an allotment to one-quarter of an acre, specifying that it should 

be used mostly for growing fruit and vegetables. 

Allotments Act 1925 

Required local authorities to recognise he need for allotments in any town planning 

development. Established ‘statutory’ allotments which a local authority could not sell 

or convert to other purposes without Ministerial consent. This Act was intended to 

facilitate the acquisition and maintenance of allotments, and to make further provision 

for the security of tenure for tenants. 

Allotments Act 1950 

This included: 

 the amendment of the provisions relating to rents that may be charged for 

allotments: 

 the extension of period of notice to quite to 12 months for allotment gardens; 

 compensation payable to plot holder at whatever season of the year a tenancy 

terminates; 

 making plot holders who have allowed their plot to deteriorate through neglect 

liable to pay compensation on quitting; and 

 allowance of certain forms of livestock (hens and rabbits) to be kept although 

this can be, in some cases, restricted by local by-laws*.  

*NOTE: Saltash Town Council does not permit any form of livestock on 

allotment plots.  

Page 206



 

10 
DRAFT 08/2023 

Other legislation: 

The Local Government Act 1972 amended the allotments legislation in a number of 

matters of detail, for example, removing the requirement upon local authorities to 

establish allotments committees (contained in Section 12 of the Allotments Act 1925). 

Other Acts which have impacted upon allotments include the Town and Councilry 

Planning Act 1990, the Local Government Planning and Land act 1980 and the 

Acquisition of Land Act 1981. 

Page 207



 

 

 
  

Policy Group: General 

Communications 
Policy 
RESPONSIBLE COMMITTEE: P&F 

This is a policy/procedure document of Saltash 
Town Council to be followed by both Town 
Council Members and Employees. 

Page 208

Agenda Item 19a



 

2 
  CURRENT 05/2023 
 

Current Document Status 

Version 2023 Approved by ATM 

Date May 2023 Date 04.05.2023 

Responsible 
Officer 

AJT Minute no. 65/23/24c(iii) 

Next review date Annual or as required 

 
 
Version History 

Date Version 
Author/ 
editor 

Committee/ 
date 

Minute no. 
Notes 

01/2021 1 DRAFT AJT   New policy. 

03/2021 1.1 AJT 
P&F 
09.03.2021 

173/20/21c 
New policy – 
deferred to next 
FTC. 

05/2021 1.1 AJT 
ATM 
20.05.2021 

46/21/22c(iii) Adopted 

05/2022 2022 AJT 
ATM 
05.05.2022 

54/22/23b(iii) Readopted. 

05/2023 2023 AJT 
ATM 
04.05.2023 

65/23/24c(iii) Readopted. 

08/2023 2023 v2 AJT   
Updated section 
E1. 

 
 
Document Retention Period 
Until superseded 

 
 
 
  

Page 209



 

3 
  CURRENT 05/2023 
 

SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL  
COMMUNICATIONS POLICY 

 

Aims 

 To set out how we will communicate with staff, Members, partners, local 
residents and the media. 

 To ensure all communications are consistent and co-ordinated across all 
channels. 

 To develop excellent, innovative and cost-effective communications to increase 
awareness of the Town Council’s services and achievements and improve the 
reputation of the Town Council. 

 To promote high quality customer service and ensure that everyone in the Town 
Council understands their role in delivering this. 

 
Outcomes 
 
All communications issued by the Saltash Town Council will be: 
 

 Open and honest – direct, truthful and factual 
 Timely – up to date information communicated regularly, consistently and 

quickly 
 Clear and concise – Plain English and jargon free – easily understood by all 

sectors of the community 
 Accessible – easy to access through appropriate media / channels and in 

mixed format 
 Relevant – targeted at the needs of the intended audience, appropriate 

information, informative and useful 
 Inclusive – face to face communications wherever possible, designed to 

encourage and value discussion and feedback. Information available in suitable 
formats 
 

Scope 
 
This policy covers all types of communications received by and issued by the Town 
Council, its Officers and elected Members and includes: 
 

 Verbal 
 Written 
 Email 
 Social media 
 All correspondence issued by Town Council Officers and staff 
 All correspondence issued by Town Councillors 

 
The Town Council will not consider any anonymous correspondence where the author 
cannot be identified or abusive or aggressive communications1. 
 
                                            
1 Zero Tolerance Policy; Unreasonable Persistent Complaints Policy 

Page 210



 

4 
  CURRENT 05/2023 
 

Data Protection and Freedom of Information 
 
Saltash Town Council is registered with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) 
as a Data Controller. Town Council Officers, staff and Town Council Members are 
Data Processors and have a responsibility to maintain records and process data in 
accordance with the current General Data Protection Regulations. Breaches of the 
regulations may lead to the Town Council being subject to investigation by the ICO, a 
potential fine and loss of reputation.  Anyone – Town Council Officers, staff and Town 
Council Members – should also remember that correspondence issued may be subject 
to release under a Freedom of Information request.  
 
Members: 
 
Members are reminded that the Code of Conduct applies to all forms of 
communications – verbal, written (including social media) and should be adhered to 
at all times. 
 
A. Town Council Correspondence 
 

1. The point of contact for the Town Council is the Town Clerk or the Officer 
delegated to the relevant role or task.   

 
2. No individual Town Councillor or Officer should be the sole custodian of any 

correspondence or information in the name of the Town Council, a committee, 
sub-committee or working party.  Town Councillors and Officers do not have a 
right to obtain confidential information/documentation unless they can 
demonstrate a ‘need to know’ in order to carry out their role on behalf of the 
Town Council. 

 
3. All official communications should be sent in the name of the Town Council 

using Town Council letter headed paper and signed by the Town Clerk or, 
where another Town Council officer is signing, with the approval of a Line 
Manager or from an approved Town Council email address.   
 

4. All official communications issued by the office of the Mayor or other nominated 
member must be authorised by Town Council or relevant committee in 
advance. The Town Clerk or Assistant Town Clerk will be responsible for 
authorising all official communications prior to release.  
 

5. All correspondence issued by Town Councillors where tasks are delegated by 
the Town Council must be copied to the Town Clerk or Officer delegated to the 
relevant role or task. 

 
6. Where correspondence is copied to persons other than the addressee, the 

addressee should be made aware that a copy is being forwarded to that other 
person (e.g. copy to XX) but data protection rules should be observed. 

 
7. All communications should be compliant with the relevant data protection 

legislation, the Town Council’s code of conduct, respect confidentiality and any 
other relevant Town Council policies in place at the time. 

Page 211



 

5 
  CURRENT 05/2023 
 

 
8. A copy of correspondence with Unitary Authority Town Councillors will be sent 

to Ward Town Councillors2. 
 
 

B. Agenda Items for Town Council, Committees, Sub-Committees and 
Working Parties 

 
1. The agenda should be clear and concise.  It should contain sufficient 

information to enable Town Councillors to make an informed decision, and for 
the public to understand what matters are being considered and what decisions 
are to be taken at a meeting. 

 
2. Items for information will be circulated with the agenda and papers for the 

meeting and will be kept to a minimum.   
 

3. Where a Town Councillor wishes to circulate matters for “information only”, this 
information will be circulated via the Town Clerk’s office, and circulated to all 
Town Councillors. 
 

4. Motions for an agenda will be submitted to the Proper Officer in writing following 
the procedure laid out in Standing Orders.3 
 

5. The Policy for Receiving Public Questions at Meetings will be followed where 
these are received.  
 

6. Discussion and decision making should only take place by email or Survey Poll 
where it is used in exceptional circumstances under a scheme of delegation 
and in accordance with standing orders.   

 
C. Communications with the Press and Public 
 

1. The Town Clerk, or Assistant Town Clerk will clear all press releases, or 
comments to the media, with the Town Mayor4 or the Chair of the relevant 
committee as appropriate. 

 
2. Press releases from the Town Council, its committees or working parties should 

be from the Town Clerk or an officer delegated to the task or via the reporter’s 
own attendance at a meeting. 
 

3. All articles for the Town Messenger will be checked and approved by the 
Assistant Town Clerk or delegated Officer prior to publication. 
 

4. Requests from the press/media for comments or statements should be sent to 
the Town Clerk’s office5. 
 

                                            
2 Standing Order 26b 
3 Standing Order 10 
4 Mayor’s Protocol Guide p9 
5 Standing Order 24 

Page 212



 

6 
  CURRENT 05/2023 
 

5. Unless a Town Councillor has been authorised by the Town Council to speak 
to the media on an issue, Town Councillors who are asked for comment by the 
press should make it clear that it is a personal view and ask that it be clearly 
reported as their personal view. The Mayor is the normal authorised 
spokesperson for the Town Council6.   
 

6. When representing the Town Council at a “Meet your Town Councillors” event 
Town Councillors should follow GDPR and data protection guidance, the Code 
of Conduct and relevant sections of this policy. 
 

7. Unless a Town Councillor is certain that they are reporting the view of the Town 
Council, they must make it clear to members of the public that they are 
expressing a personal view.  
 

8. If Town Councillors receive a complaint from a member of the public, this should 
be passed immediately to the Town Clerk who will process it under the 
Customer Feedback Policy7.  
 

9. Designated staff are authorised to promote the work of the Town Council on 
social media platforms, the website and noticeboards but operate strictly in 
accordance with the approved Social Media policy8 of the Town Council.  
 

10. In making public comments, Town Councillors must respect decisions made by 
a majority vote and abide at all times to the Code of Conduct9. 
 

11. The Town Council may undertake consultations with residents from time to 
time. Where possible and practicable there will be multiple means of 
participation to ensure all consultees are contacted and able to respond, 
particularly taking account of difficult to reach groups.  

 
D.  Town Councillor Correspondence to external parties   

 
1. Individual Town Councillors are responsible for their own ward member 

correspondence. The Town Council does not provide administrative support for 
such purpose. Town Councillors must ensure they make clear where they are 
informing on official policy and where they are stating their personal views. 
 

2. When using a Town Council email account, Town Councillors must always 
reflect the view of the Town Council. 
 

3. Correspondence (including emails) sent in relation to Town Council business 
where a Town Councillor has been delegated to a task, should be openly copied 
to the Town Clerk or officer responsible for the task.   
 

4. Town Councillors should be aware that all emails sent and received from their 
STC email account may be subject to release under FOI legislation. 

                                            
6 Mayor’s Protocol Guide p9 
7 Customer Feedback Policy p3 
8 Social Media Policy 
9 Code of Conduct Part 2, General Obligations 

Page 213



 

7 
  CURRENT 05/2023 
 

E. Communications with Town Council Staff10 
 

1. It is unlawful for Members to instruct members of staff. Town Councillors must 
not give instructions to any member of staff11, unless authorised to do so 
through the Town Council’s decision-making process and with their line 
manager’s agreement. 

 
2. No individual Town Councillor, regardless of whether or not they are the Town 

Mayor or the Chair of a committee or other meeting, may give instructions to 
the Town Clerk or to another employee which are inconsistent or conflict with 
Town Council decisions or arrangements for delegated power. 
 

3. Telephone calls should be appropriate to the work of the Town Council.  
 

4. Instant replies should not be expected to e-mails to the Town Clerk or other 
members of staff; reasons for urgency should be clearly stated. 
 

5. Town Councillors should acknowledge their e-mails when requested to do so. 
 

6. For meetings with the Town Clerk or other Officers an appointment should be 
made wherever possible, meetings should be relevant to the work of that Officer 
and Town Councillors should be clear that the matter is legitimate Town Council 
business and not matters driven by personal or political agendas. 
 

Summary 
 
Saltash Town Council is committed to effective communications to ensure the Town 
Council’s operations, priorities, objectives, values, ambitions and challenges are better 
understood by all our audiences - both internal and external. 
 
 

 

                                            
10 Protocol for Officer Member Relations ; Standing Orders 
11 Standing Order 27a(ii) 

Deleted: Staff Members Relations Policy

Page 214



 

 

 

 

  

Policy Group: Employees 

Protocol for Member 
Officer Relations 
RESPONSIBLE COMMITTEE: PERSONNEL 

This is a policy/procedure document of Saltash 
Town Council to be followed by both Council 
Members and Employees. 

 

Page 215

Agenda Item 19b



 

2 
CURRENT 05/2023 

 

Current Document Status 

Version 1/2023 Approved by ATM 

Date July 2022 Date 04.05.2023 

Responsible 
Officer 

AJT Minute no. 65/23/24a(vi) 

Next review date Annual or as required 

 

 

Version History 

Date Version 
Author/
editor 

Committee/
date 

Minute no. 
Notes 

03/2012 1 AK 
FTC 
05.04.2012 

09/12/13 
Adopted (Rec from 
Staffing Cttee 
20.03.2012) 

09/2019 2 AJT 
Personnel 
24.09.2019 

38/19/20d 

Updated reflecting 
new line 
management 
structure 

04/2021 2/2021 AJT 
ATM 
20.05.2021 

46/21/22a(vi) 
Reviewed for 
reapproval – new 
Town Council 

05/2022 2/2022 AJT 
ATM 
05.05.2022 

54/22/23a(vi) Readopted 

07/2022 3/2022 AJT 
FTC 
04.08.2022 

151/22/23d 

Review & redraft of 
policy/protocol. 
Approved. 
 

05/2023 2023 AJT 
ATM 
04.05.2023 

65/23/24a(vi) Readopted 

08/2023 2023 v2 AJT   10.1 amended 

 

 

Document Retention Period 
Until superseded 

 

  

Page 216



 

3 
CURRENT 05/2023 

Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 

1. Introduction 
 
The purpose of this protocol is to guide Members and Officers of the Town Council in 
their relations with one another. A strong, constructive and trusting relationship 
between Members and Officers is essential to ensure the effective and efficient 
working of the Town Council.  

The individual roles of Members and Officers can be summarized as follows: 

Both Members of the Town Council and Officers serve the public and are essential to 
one another but their responsibilities and roles are distinct. Members are responsible 
to the electorate and serve only so long as their term of office lasts. Officers are 
responsible to the Town Council. They give advice to the Members and the Town 
Council and carry out the Town Council’s work under the direction of the Town Council 
and the relevant committees. 

Following this protocol should ensure that Members receive objective and impartial 
advice and that Officers are protected from accusations of bias and any undue 
influence from Members. 

2. Principles underlying the protocol 
 
The provisions of this protocol seeks to reflect the principles underlying the Members’ 
Code of Conduct, the Employee Handbook and the Town Council’s adopted policies, 
procedures and processes.1 The shared object of the Code of Conduct and other 
documents, policies and procedures is to enhance and maintain the integrity (real and 
perceived) of Local Government and they therefore demand very high standards of 
personal conduct. 

Principles: 

 Selflessness – serving only the public interest. 

 Honesty and integrity – not allowing these to be questioned; not behaving 
improperly. 

 Objectivity – taking decisions on merit. 

 Accountability – to the public; being open to scrutiny. 

 Openness – giving reasons for decisions. 

 Personal judgement – reaching one’s own conclusions and acting accordingly. 

 

                                            
1 Employees are also directed to their contract of employment, job description, the Green Book and 
policies relevant to their employment. They may also wish to consult their Line Manager or take 
advice from their union or professional association. 

Page 217



 

4 
CURRENT 05/2023 

 

 Respect for others – promoting equality; avoiding discrimination; respecting 
others (Member/Member as well as Member/Officer and Officer/Officer) and not 
denigrating their work in public or making unsubstantiated allegations against 
any individual connected with the Town Council. 

 Duty to uphold the law – not acting unlawfully. 

 Stewardship – ensuring the prudent use of the Town Council’s resources. 

 Leadership – acting in a way that has public confidence. 

3. Roles 

3.1. Members 

3.1.1. Members have four main areas of responsibility: 

 To determine Town Council policy and provide community leadership; 

 To monitor and review Town Council performance in delivering 
services; 

 To represent the Town Council externally; and 

 To act as advocates for their constituents. 

 In addition, all Members of the Town Council should be aware of 
and adhere to their responsibilities as Corporate Employers. 
When Members join the Town Council guidance is provided and 
Members of the Personnel Committee are required to undertake 
additional training.2 

3.1.2. All Members have the same rights and obligations in their relationship 
 with the Town Clerk and other employees, regardless of their status and 
 should be treated equally. 

3.2. Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of Committees 

It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship between 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees and the Officers who support 
and/or interact with them.  However, such relationships should never be allowed 
to become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into question the 
officer's ability to deal impartially with other Members. Officers should never be 
asked to do anything which may prejudice their impartiality. 

3.3. Officers 

                                            
2 NALC Being a Good Employer 
 

Page 218



 

5 
CURRENT 05/2023 

The following key principles reflect the way in which Officers generally relate to 
Members: 

 Officers are employed by, and accountable to, the Town Council as a 
whole; 

 Officers are impartial; 

 Officers are responsible for operational delivery of all of the Town 
Council’s functions including support to all Town Council Committees; 

 Day to day managerial and operational decisions remain the responsibility 
of the Town Clerk and Line Managers. 

4. Expectations 
 

4.1. Members can expect:  

 A commitment from Officers to the Town Council as a whole, not to any 
individual Member or group of Members; 

 A working partnership3; 

 That Officers understand and support respective roles, workloads and 
pressures; 

 Respond to enquiries and complaints in accordance with the Town 
Council’s standards; 

 Professional, impartial advice and information, not influenced by political 
views or personal preferences; 

 Regular, up to date information on appropriate and relevant matters, 
having regard to individual responsibilities or positions held; 

 Respect, courtesy, integrity and appropriate confidentiality from Officers; 

 Not to have personal issues raised with them by Officers outside the Town 
Council’s agreed procedures; 

 That Officers will not use their contact with Members to advance their 
personal interests or to influence decisions improperly; 

 That Officers at all times will comply with relevant policies and procedures; 

 If representing the Town Council on an outside body, to be required to 
provide update reports in a timely manner with an appropriate level of 
detail. 

4.2. Officers can expect from Members: 

 A working partnership and to be treated in a professional manner; 

                                            
3 Members may find the following publication helpful: LGA Effective Member Officer Relations 

Page 219



 

6 
CURRENT 05/2023 

 An understanding of, and support for, respective roles, workloads and 
pressures; 

 Timely responses to emails and/or telephone calls; 

 Leadership and direction; 

 Respect, courtesy, integrity and appropriate confidentiality; 

 Not to be bullied or to be put under undue pressure; 

 That Members will not use their position or relationship with Officers to 
advance their personal interests or those of others or to influence 
decisions improperly; 

 That Members will at all times abide by the Nolan Principles and with the 
Town Council’s adopted Code of Conduct, policies and procedures. 

5. Meetings 

The interaction between Members and Officers at meetings of the Town Council and 
Committees should reflect the formality of the situation.  

Any Officer carrying out a statutory role has specific responsibilities placed on them 
by law. These responsibilities go beyond their obligations as employees of the Town 
Council. Where an Officer is discharging their responsibilities under any statutory 
office a Member/Members shall not: 

 Improperly interfere with or obstruct the Officer in exercising those 
responsibilities; 

 Victimize any Officer who is discharging or has discharged their responsibilities 
of the Statutory Office. 

Members and Officers may attend all formal meetings for the consideration of Part I 
(i.e. non-confidential) items, as may any member of the public. When a body is 
considering Part II information (i.e. exempt from publication under Access to 
Information legislation), Members and Officers do not have an automatic right of 
attendance. 

6. Members’ Access to information and Town Council documents 
 

6.1. Members are free to approach the Town Clerk to provide them with such 
information, explanation and advice, as they may reasonably need in order to 
assist them in discharging their role as Members of the Town Council. This 
can range from a request for general information about some aspect of the 
Town Council’s activities to a request for specific information on behalf of a 
constituent. 

6.2. As regards the legal rights of Members to inspect Town Council documents, 
these are covered partly by statute and partly by the common law. 

Page 220



 

7 
CURRENT 05/2023 

6.3. Members have a statutory right to inspect any Town Council document that 
contains material relating to any business which is to be transacted at a Town 
Council, Committee or Sub-Committee meeting. This right applies irrespective 
of whether the member is a member of the Committee or Sub-Committee 
concerned and extends not only to reports which are to be submitted to the 
meeting, but also to any relevant background papers. This right does not 
however apply to documents relating to certain items which may appear in 
Part II (exempt) of the Agenda for meetings. Examples are documents that 
contain exempt information relating to employees, occupiers of Town Council 
property, applicants for grants and other services, contract and industrial 
relations negotiations, advice from Counsel and criminal investigations. 

6.4. The common law right of Members is much broader and is based on the 
principle that any Member has a prima facie right to inspect Town Council 
documents so far as his/her access to the documents is reasonably necessary 
to enable the member properly to perform his/her duties as a member of the 
Town Council. This principle is commonly referred to as the “need to know” 
principle. 

6.5. The exercise of this common law right depends therefore upon the Member’s 
ability to demonstrate that they has the necessary “need to know”. In this 
respect a Member has no right to “a roving commission” to go and examine 
documents of the Town Council. Mere curiosity is not sufficient. 

6.6. In some circumstances (e.g. a Committee Member wishing to inspect 
documents relating to the functions of that Committee) a Member’s “need to 
know” will normally be presumed. In other circumstances (e.g. a Member 
wishing to inspect documents which contain personal information about third 
parties) a Member will normally be expected to justify the request in specific 
terms. 

6.7. Whilst the term “Town Council document” is very broad and includes, for 
example, any document produced with Town Council resources, it is accepted 
by convention that a Member of one party group will not have a “need to know”, 
and therefore a right to inspect, a document which forms part of the internal 
workings of another party group. 

6.8. Finally, any Town Council information provided to a Member must only be 
used by the Member for the purpose for which it was provided i.e. in 
connection with the proper performance of the Member’s duties as a Member 
of the Town Council. 

6.9. The Code of Conduct states that a Member must not disclose confidential 
information or information which he or she believes to be of a confidential 
nature, except in some specific circumstances as detailed in the Code. 

6.10. For completeness, Members do, of course, have the same right as any other 
member of the public to make requests for information under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000. 

Page 221



 

8 
CURRENT 05/2023 

7. Correspondence 

7.1. Correspondence between an individual Member and an Officer should not 
normally be copied by the Officer (or the Member) to any other Member. 
Where it is necessary to copy the correspondence to another Member, this 
should be done in a transparent manner with the original Member clearly 
informed. The system of silent copies (bcc) should not be used. Members and 
Officers should note that all correspondence may be subject to disclosure 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 or UK GDPR. 

7.2. Official correspondence, by email or any other means, on behalf of the Town 
Council should normally be sent in the name of the appropriate Officer, rather 
than in the name of a Member. It shall, be appropriate in certain circumstances 
for correspondence to appear in the name of the Chairman of the Town 
Council or a Committee Chairman. Correspondence which, for example, 
creates legal obligations or gives instruction on behalf of the Town Council 
should never be sent out in the name of a Member.  

8. Press and Social Media Comments, Press Releases and Local Publicity 

8.1. Members and Officers are reminded to follow the procedure for 
communicating with the press in the Communications Policy. 

8.2. Any press or media release that may be necessary to clarify the Town 
Council’s position should be cleared by the Town Clerk or their nominated 
deputy in consultation with the Mayor or Chairman of the relevant committee. 

8.3. On no account must an Officer expressly or implicitly make any political 
opinion, comment or statement. 

8.4.  Particular care should be taken with publicity/media comments/press 
releases around the time of an election and more so during the heightened 
period of sensitivity during the pre-election period known as Purdah. Advice 
will be available from CALC and the Monitoring Officer where appropriate.  

9. Use of Town Council resources 

The Code of Conduct states that a Member must, when using or authorizing the 
use of the resources of the Town Council, act in accordance with the Town Council’s 
requirements. Support from Officers can only lawfully be provided where this is to 
assist the Member in discharging their role on Town Council business and should 
never be used in connection with political or other campaigning activity or for private 
purposes. The use of computers (or other IT devices) provided to Members of the 
Town Council is governed by the policies and procedures adopted by the Town 
Council, including the IT Acceptable Use Policy.  

  

Page 222



 

9 
CURRENT 05/2023 

10. General guidelines 
 

10.1. It is accepted that Members may wish to call on Officers to discuss various 
issues. However, it should be noted that Officers may have significant 
workloads and deadlines to meet. Any discussions likely to take more than 
five minutes should be by appointment except where urgent and unforeseen. 
It is unlawful for Members to instruct members of staff. All requests for tasks 
to be undertaken must be submitted through the Line Managers.  

10.2. Equally, Officers should only contact Members by telephone or email where 
necessary and should avoid circulating superfluous information. 

10.3. All matters relating to particular committees should be copied to the Chairman 
of the Committee. Requests for agenda items should be submitted to both the 
Chairman and the Town Clerk. 

10.4. Close personal relationships between Members and Officers can confuse their 
separate roles and get in the way of the proper conduct of Town Council 
business, not least by creating a perception that a particular Member or Officer 
is getting preferential treatment.  

11. If things go wrong 

From time to time the relationship between Members and Officers may break down 
or become strained. Whilst it is always preferable to resolve matters informally, if 
appropriate through conciliation by an appropriate third party, the law requires all 
employers to have disciplinary and grievance procedures. The Town Council will 
maintain and regularly review separate disciplinary and grievance procedures and 
ensure they comply with good practice. 

The Chairman of the Town Council should not attempt to deal with grievances or 
work related performance or line management issues. The Town Council has 
delegated authority on employment/human resources matters to the Personnel 
Committee. 

Members and Officers should never personally criticise or undermine respect for 
the other in any public or external forum. This damages working relationships and 
has an adverse impact on the public image of the Town Council. Whilst Members 
have the right to criticise reports, advice or recommendations put before them at 
meetings, they should not address their criticism to the conduct or capabilities of 
individual Officers. Officers have no means of responding to such criticism in public. 

Procedure for Members: 

A Member who is dissatisfied with the conduct, behaviour or performance of an 
Officer should raise the matter with the Town Clerk or the Chairman of the 
Personnel Committee if the Officer is the Town Clerk in the first instance. If it is not 
possible to resolve the matter informally, it may be necessary to invoke the Town 
Council’s disciplinary procedure. 

Members should at all times: 

Page 223



 

10 
CURRENT 05/2023 

 Avoid personal attacks on, or abuse of the Officer at all times; 

 Ensure that any criticism is well founded and constructive; 

 Ensure that any criticism is made in private. 

Procedure for Officers: 

The Town Council’s adopted grievance procedure enables individual employees to 
raise concerns, problems or complaints about their employment in an open and fair 
way. Where possible informal resolution should be sought via the procedure 
outlined in the Employee Handbook. 

Where there is a potential breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct: 

Officers are advised to contact the Cornwall Town Council Monitoring Officer and 
request that an investigation is carried out in line with the Code of Conduct adopted 
under the Localism Act 2011. They may also wish to seek advice from their union 
or professional organisation. 

Any questions about this protocol should be addressed in the first instance to the 
Town Clerk. 

 

Recommended reading for Members of the Town Council: 

NALC Being a Good Employer 

Local Government Association Town Councillor Workbook: Effective Member and 
Officer Relations 

 

Page 224



Saltash Town Council Standing Orders: 
 
27. Restrictions on Councillor activities  
 

a. Unless authorised by a resolution, no Councillor shall:  

i. inspect any land and/or premises which the Town Council has a right 
or duty to inspect; or  

ii. issue orders, instructions or directions - it is unlawful for Members to 
instruct members of staff. All requests for tasks to be undertaken 
must be submitted through the Line Managers.; 

iii. issue any order respecting any works which are being carried out by 
or on behalf of the Town Council;  

iv. incur any expenditure on behalf of the Town Council or issue an 
instruction to incur expenditure. 

 

Page 225

Agenda Item 19c



The Core 

Quarterly report to Saltash Town Council – Sept 2023 
 

What the money has been spent on and what has been delivered. 
The money that Saltash Town Council awarded The Core Youth Project continues to 

employ our Youth Work Coordinator who manages and develops the youth provision at 

the centre. We have a staff team of 1 full time youth worker, 2 part time youth support 

workers and 4 sessional youth support worker, which has enabled us to continue to offer 

various youth work sessions. The following projects are funded by STC plus the match 

funding we have secured from other grants.  

 

The following sessions are offered weekly at The Core for young people;  

 

Open Access Youth Sessions 
Senior club for 13-18 year olds every Monday evening 7-9pm 

Junior club for 11-13 year olds every Thursday evening 6.30-8.30pm 

 

Grub Club 

Cooking workshop every Monday 3.15-5pm (Years 7-13) 

 

Craft Club 

Arts and crafts workshop every Thursday 3.15-4.30pm (Years 7-13)  

 

Just be You 

LGBT+ support and social group every Monday 3.15-4.30pm 

 

Home Education Group 

First Monday of the month 10.30-12.30pm for parents and children who are home 

educated. 

 

Climbing Club 

Wednesdays - 3.45-6pm for young people to learn climbing skills on our climbing and 

traversing walls.  

 

Saltash Amateur Boxing Club and Climbing Club – Both of these clubs also run out of 

the centre and offer activities to young people 4 times per week.  

 

Starting this term – Tabletop Gaming Club on Mondays 3-6.30pm 

 

Match funding  

IWill Social Action fund - £5120 

Police & Crime Commissioners Fund – £4,997 

Coop Local Causes Fund - £3990 

Howton Solar Farm - £2416 

 

Total = £16,523 

Page 226

Agenda Item 20a



 

Plus - In house funding to include;  

 Weekly subscriptions for youth club  

 Revenue from room hire at the centre – Approx. £25,000 per year. Whilst this 

money is essentially raised to pay for the general running costs and other staffing 

costs, it does show that we are bringing in revenue to help keep the centre open 

for both the community and the young people.  

 Fundraising and donations – Family Fun Days and Craft fairs.  

 

Outcomes and outputs achieved  

 

Total current number of members at The Core = 250 

 

Number of open access sessions delivered this quarter = 51 

 

Number of young people receiving individual support = 12 

 

Number of young people helped back in to employment, training or work = 8 

 

Number of youth volunteer hours worked = 60 

 

 

Young volunteers 

We offer a variety of opportunities for young people to volunteer and enable them to gain 

skills for their CV’s and a deeper understanding of youth and community work. They can 

help out at our Junior Youth Club, in the tuck shop, helping organise sport or craft 

activities, they can use this as their placement for D of E or become a member of our 

Youth Committee.  

Our Youth Committee has helped with our summer activities programme, volunteering at 

our Family Fun Days and offering crafts for children, helping with climbing and in the 

café. They are an invaluable part of our team and are learning essential life skills. In 

addition to being part of the committee they are also members of our youth club and have 

enjoyed participating in our summer trips and activities this summer.  

 

We have also set up an opportunity where young people who have shown significant 

commitment to volunteering in the youth sessions have been offered a trainee youth 

support worker post, this has proved to be very successful and we are on our second 

trainee, the first person we had is now over 18 and has been given a permanent position 

as a Youth Support Worker. This shows the progression we are able to offer the young 

people who are keen to volunteer and has a significant impact on them.  

 

 

Youth Sessions 
Our regular youth sessions continue to be well attended which is evidence that young 

people need places to go and socialise and take part in activities. It is essential that youth 

centre’s continue to open their doors and provide professional youth work, a safe and 

Page 227



non-judgmental space, advice and information and most importantly…fun! 

 

This quarter we have completed our very popular summer programme, where we offer 

low cost activities during the summer holidays. This year we were fortunate enough to 

obtain grant funding to enable us to offer three in house ‘Food and Fun’ afternoons where 

we provided a free lunch and a fun activity such as tag archery, inflatables and VR 

gaming. These sessions ran for 4 hours where young people could drop in, have 

something healthy to eat and take part in an activity.  

The sessions proved very successful and it was felt that we had more young people who 

had additional needs or whose families were struggling financially this year than in the 

past.  

We also offered three trips, all of which were only £10 to keep the cost manageable for 

families and where we felt even this cost was a stretch we were able to cover the cost to 

enable it to be fully inclusive and accessible. The trips are always a great way of building 

relationships and having the opportunity to get to know the young people better and enjoy 

fun activities. We took 45 young people by coach on each trip and they had a fantastic 

time! 

 

It is so important that we can continue to offer young people not only a safe space to meet 

and socialise but also a range of support and activities to keep them healthy and happy 

and ensure that we make our programme diverse and interesting. Our programme offers; 

Cooking courses, Craft club, a range of sporting activities, LGBT+ support group, 1:1 

advice and guidance, Sexual health advice, training and volunteering opportunities. 

 

We have great plans for some new projects this Autumn to include a Community 

Workshop where we can share skills and have people within our community teaching 

young people practical skills, offering bike maintenance and repairs, plus the new 

addition of a new table top gaming club which will start soon.  

 

Our new term will begin on August 31st with a transition evening for our new Year 7 

member, offering them a taster session so they can see what we do at youth club and ask 

any questions they need to about starting school.  

 

We would like to thank STC for their continued support in funding our youth work and 

hope that you can see by this report how valuable it is.  

Page 228



Report to Saltash Town Council from Livewire youth project for June, July and August 2023 

1. Number of open access sessions run: 29  

During these sessions young people have been able to have music lessons [guitar, bass, drums, 

keyboard, vocals, live sound and music technology], lessons in stage lighting, rehearsal space, 

perform on stage, take part in single issue programmes, have youth work support or counselling, 

volunteer, socialise and take part in our development group or our recycling project and on 

Wednesday evenings our junior members can take part in Art workshops and older young people 

can volunteer.  

In addition to our open access sessions we have also had a young women’s music session on 

Tuesday evenings 11 in total and during these sessions young women are encouraged to come 

along and make music with 2 musicians these sessions are also run by a JNC qualified youth worker, 

so young women can also access youth work support.  

We have also continued to run our wellbeing sessions on Friday evenings, 12 in total, these sessions 

are designed to cater to young people that might be too anxious for open access sessions as they 

are quieter and young people attending these sessions can access the art workshops or support 

with a counsellor or JNC qualified youth worker who runs the session or they can make music with 

a musician, we also have a wellbeing volunteer at these sessions as well as a therapy dog.  

On Saturday we also run a recording session 11 in all for bands and individual young people with 

music to record.  

 

2. Number of detached/outreach youth work sessions run: 19  

Again we have concentrated on the waterside area and found that the young people are lovely 

both the local young people and those from further afield we signposted a few to the core who 

expressed an interest in boxing and climbing and a couple have started to attend Livewire that were 

into music making. 

 

3. There have been 2 single issue programmes during this period. Mental health and wellbeing has 

remained a priority of the young people attending Livewire as has body image so these two have 

taken our time and become the single issue programmes over the summer.        

 

 

4. Approximately 360 individual young people have been engaged with through open access sessions, 

detached/outreach sessions, young women’s music making sessions, well being group sessions, 

counselling, daytime referral sessions and Saturday recording sessions.  

 

 

5. All young people engaged with have received or are currently receiving individual or group support. 

 

6. 2 young people have been supported in getting into employment in this period and 1 young person 

has been supported in going back to school and 1 young person has been supported in getting into 

or back into training during this period. 

 

7. 130 young people have measurable distance travelled. By this we mean that they have progressed 

positively over the period and shown real change. Page 229

Agenda Item 20b



 

8. This period we have had 36 young people referred to livewire from other agencies, 10 from schools, 

2 through social care, 2 from CAMHS, 3 from youth offending team, 0 from the Police, 10 from GP’s, 

and 9 from the zone. These young people have been referred for Counselling, daytime sessions, 

youth support sessions and for the open access sessions.  

 

 

9.  415 volunteer support worker hours have taken place in this period. 

 

10. We have currently got a group of 10 young people making up our development group who meet 

regularly to discuss issues and young people’s desires for development at Livewire.  

 

 

11. This year we have been very fortunate to receive £29,938 from Saltash Town Council for youth 

work. The match funding secured to date includes the Big Lottery funding of £219,000 over 5 years 

of which £15,000 per year is towards youth work (we are currently in year 2). Plus £11,000 per year 

gift from AC/DC for youth work and we have had a £10,000 anonymous gift. 

 We have had a busy summer, mental health and wellbeing of young people are still priorities of ours, 

tragically losing one of our members to epilepsy has had a lasting impact on some of her friends who we 

have been supporting.  

We are still getting referrals coming in for counselling and youth work support sessions.  

Community events in this period have included Saltash Regatta where 20 young people performed and 

Boardmasters where 119 young people from all over Cornwall performed, both events were brilliant and 

well attended and most importantly the young people had a wonderful time.  

With support from PL12 Community Kitchen we are still feeding a great many young people each week. 

Our recycled fashion project is going really well although it has also become an opportunity for young 

people who are experiencing financial issues to get free clothes or adapt existing ones. We are also 

planning our first fashion show which is to take place just before Christmas this year. 

We have just returned to work after our summer shut down (the last two weeks of August) and look 

forward to supporting more young people in their transition into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 230


	Agenda
	5 To receive and approve the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee held on 11th July 2023 as a true and correct record.
	8 To receive and note a report on VAT.
	9 To receive and note a report on investments.
	11 To receive the current STC and Committee budget statements and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	Overall Budget July 23
	Burial Authority July 23
	Burial Board July 23
	Guildhall July 23
	Library July 23
	Maurice Huggins July 23
	P&F July 23
	Personnel July 23
	Services July 23
	Station July 23

	12 To receive a report from the Finance Officer and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	13 To receive a report on insurance claims and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	14 To receive the Town Council Insurance Policy Renewal and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	TAP Policy Schedule
	8.1TAP Terrorism Policy
	Local Councils Notice to Policy Holders
	Local Councils Policy Wording
	Data protection statement
	Important notes 
	Our complaints procedure
	Helpline Services
	Your Select for Local Councils policy
	General Definitions (not applicable to Part K)
	General Exclusions (not applicable to Part K)
	General Conditions (not applicable to Part K)
	Part A – Material Damage
	Part B – Business Interruption
	Insured Perils
	Part C – All Risks
	Additional Covers
	Special Conditions
	Exclusions to Parts A, B and C
	Endorsements
	Part D – Money
	Part E – Public Liability
	Part F – Hirers Liability
	Part G – Employers Liability
	Part H – Libel and Slander
	Part I – Motor Vehicles
	Part J – Motor Legal Expenses and Uninsured Loss Recovery
	Part K – Inspection Contract
	Part L – Plant Protection
	Part M – Deterioration of Stock
	Part N – Fidelity Guarantee
	Part O – Personal Accident
	Part P – Legal expenses
	Part Q – Impact Damage (Street Furniture)
	Part R – Terrorism


	17a CC268  Saltash Old Cornwall Society.
	17b CC269 Saltash United Football Club.
	17c FF114 Saltash Sea Shanty Festival.
	FF114 SSSF evaluation 2023 final

	18 To receive the recommended Draft Allotment Policy and consider any actions.
	Allotment Policy DRAFT

	19a Communications;
	19b Protocol for Member Officer Relations;
	19c Standing Orders.
	20a The Core;
	20b Livewire;

	Button 117: 
	Close Button 3: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 2: 

	Print Button 3: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 

	Next Button 3: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 

	Previous Button 3: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 

	Home Button 3: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 

	Print Button 2: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 
	Page 76: 
	Page 77: 
	Page 78: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 81: 
	Page 82: 
	Page 83: 
	Page 84: 
	Page 85: 
	Page 86: 
	Page 87: 
	Page 88: 
	Page 89: 
	Page 90: 
	Page 91: 
	Page 92: 
	Page 93: 
	Page 94: 
	Page 95: 
	Page 96: 
	Page 97: 
	Page 98: 
	Page 99: 
	Page 100: 
	Page 101: 
	Page 102: 
	Page 103: 
	Page 104: 
	Page 105: 
	Page 106: 
	Page 107: 
	Page 108: 

	Next Button 2: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 
	Page 76: 
	Page 77: 
	Page 78: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 81: 
	Page 82: 
	Page 83: 
	Page 84: 
	Page 85: 
	Page 86: 
	Page 87: 
	Page 88: 
	Page 89: 
	Page 90: 
	Page 91: 
	Page 92: 
	Page 93: 
	Page 94: 
	Page 95: 
	Page 96: 
	Page 97: 
	Page 98: 
	Page 99: 
	Page 100: 
	Page 101: 
	Page 102: 
	Page 103: 
	Page 104: 
	Page 105: 
	Page 106: 
	Page 107: 
	Page 108: 

	Previous Button 2: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 
	Page 76: 
	Page 77: 
	Page 78: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 81: 
	Page 82: 
	Page 83: 
	Page 84: 
	Page 85: 
	Page 86: 
	Page 87: 
	Page 88: 
	Page 89: 
	Page 90: 
	Page 91: 
	Page 92: 
	Page 93: 
	Page 94: 
	Page 95: 
	Page 96: 
	Page 97: 
	Page 98: 
	Page 99: 
	Page 100: 
	Page 101: 
	Page 102: 
	Page 103: 
	Page 104: 
	Page 105: 
	Page 106: 
	Page 107: 
	Page 108: 

	Home Button 2: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 
	Page 76: 
	Page 77: 
	Page 78: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 81: 
	Page 82: 
	Page 83: 
	Page 84: 
	Page 85: 
	Page 86: 
	Page 87: 
	Page 88: 
	Page 89: 
	Page 90: 
	Page 91: 
	Page 92: 
	Page 93: 
	Page 94: 
	Page 95: 
	Page 96: 
	Page 97: 
	Page 98: 
	Page 99: 
	Page 100: 
	Page 101: 
	Page 102: 
	Page 103: 
	Page 104: 
	Page 105: 
	Page 106: 
	Page 107: 
	Page 108: 

	Close Button 10: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 
	Page 76: 
	Page 77: 
	Page 78: 
	Page 79: 
	Page 80: 
	Page 81: 
	Page 82: 
	Page 83: 
	Page 84: 
	Page 85: 
	Page 86: 
	Page 87: 
	Page 88: 
	Page 89: 
	Page 90: 
	Page 91: 
	Page 92: 
	Page 93: 
	Page 94: 
	Page 95: 
	Page 96: 
	Page 97: 
	Page 98: 
	Page 99: 
	Page 100: 
	Page 101: 
	Page 102: 
	Page 103: 
	Page 104: 
	Page 105: 
	Page 106: 
	Page 107: 
	Page 108: 

	Close Button 6: 
	Page 109: 

	Print Button 6: 
	Page 109: 

	Previous Button 6: 
	Page 109: 

	Home Button 6: 
	Page 109: 



